

INTERNATIONAL AGENCY FOR RESEARCH ON CANCER

IARC MONOGRAPHS on the EVALUATION OF THE CARCINOGENIC RISKS TO HUMANS

Chemicals, Industrial Processes and Industries Associated with Cancer in Humans IARC Monographs, Volumes 1 to 29

IARC MONOGRAPHS SUPPLEMENT 4

IARC, LYON, FRANCE

OCTOBER 1982



INTERNATIONAL AGENCY FOR RESEARCH ON CANCER

IARC MONOGRAPHS

ON THE

EVALUATION OF THE CARCINOGENIC RISK OF CHEMICALS TO HUMANS

Chemicals, Industrial Processes and Industries Associated with Cancer in Humans IARC Monographs, Volumes 1 to 29

SUPPLEMENT 4

Report of an IARC ad hoc Working Group which met in Lyon, 8-12 February 1982 to advise the Director, IARC, on chemicals, industrial processes and industries that are carcinogenic for humans

October 1982

INTERNATIONAL AGENCY FOR RESEARCH ON CANCER

IARC MONOGRAPHS

In 1971, the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) initiated a programme on the evaluation of the carcinogenic risk of chemicals to humans involving the production of critically evaluated monographs on individual chemicals.

The objective of the programme is to elaborate and publish in the form of monographs critical reviews of data on carcinogenicity for groups of chemicals to which humans are known to be exposed, to evaluate these data in terms of human risk with the help of international working groups of experts in chemical carcinogenesis and related fields, and to indicate where additional research efforts are needed.

The present investigation was supported in part by the US National Cancer Institute under contract NO1 CP 15751.

International Agency for Research on Cancer 1982

ISBN 92 832 1406 4

PRINTED IN FRANCE

CONTENTS

LIST OF PARTICIPANTS	1
NOTE TO THE READER	5
INTRODUCTION	7
METHODS	11 11 12 12 13
RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS	14
Table 1. Summary evaluations of carcinogenic risk to humans from chemicals, industrial processes and industries, based on evidence for carcinogenicity to humans and to animals and for activity in short-term tests	17
Descriptive summaries of the data on the basis of which the chemicals, industrial processes and industries were evaluated for carcinogenicity to humans:	
Acrylonitrile	25 27 29 31 35 37 38 41 47 49 50 53
Azathioprine Benzene Benzidine Benzidine-based dyes: Direct-Black 38 (technical-grade) Direct Blue 6 (technical-grade) Direct Brown 95 (technical-grade)	55 56 57 59 59
Beryllium and beryllium compounds	60 62 63 64 66
1.4 Butanedial dimethanesulphonate (Myleran)	60

Cadmium and cadmium compounds	71
Carbon tetrachloride	74
Certains combined chemotherapy for lymphomas (including MOPP)	75
Chlorambucil	77
Chloramphenicol	79
Chlordane/Heptachlor	80
1-(2-Chloroethyl)-3-cyclohexyl-1-nitrosourea (CCNU)	83
Chlorinated toluenes (production of):	- 4
Benzyl chloride	84
Benzoyl chloride	84
Benzal chloride	84
Benzotrichloride	84
Chloroform	87
Chlorophenols (occupational exposure to)	88
Chloroprene	89
Chromium and certain chromium compounds	91
Cisplatin	93
Clofibrate	95
Clomiphene	96
Cyclamates	97
Cyclophosphamide	99
2,4-D and esters	101
Dacarbazine	103
Dapsone	104
DDT	105
ortho-Dichlorobenzene and para-dichlorobenzene	108
3,3'-Dichlorobenzidine	110
Dichloromethane	111
Dieldrin	112
Diethyl sulphate	115
3,3'-Dimethoxybenzidine (ortho-Dianisidine)	116
Dimethylcarbamoyl chloride	118
Dimethyl sulphate	119
1,4-Dioxane	121
Epichlorohydrin	122
Ethylene dibromide	124
Ethylene oxide	126
Ethylene thiourea	128
5-Fluorouracil	130
Formaldehyde (gas)	131
Hexachlorocyclohexane	133
Hydralazine	135
Hýdrazine	136
Industries:	
Boot and shoe manufacture and repair (certain occupations)	138
Carpentry and joinery (certain exposures)	139
Furniture manufacture	140
Leather goods manufacture	
Leather tanning	142
Lumber and sawmill industry	143
Pulp and paper manufacture (certain exposures)	
Rubber industry (certain occupations)	144

Iron dextran complex	145
Isonicotinic acid hydrazide	146
Lead and lead compounds	149
Manufacture of isopropyl alcohol (strong-acid process)	151
Isopropyl oils	151
Manufacture of magenta	152
Magenta (technical grade)	152
Melphalan	154
6-Mercaptopurine	155
Methotrexate	157
Methoxsalen with ultra-violet A therapy (PUVA)	158
Metronidazole	160
Mustard gas	163
1-Naphthylamine	164
2-Naphthylamine	166
Nickel refining	167
Nickel and certain nickel compounds	167
Nitrogen mustard	170
Oestrogens and progestins	173
Combined oral contraceptives	
Sequential oral contraceptives	173
Other oestrogen-progestin combinations	177
Conjugated oestrogens	178
Oestrogens:	179
	400
Dienoestrol	183
Diethylstilboestrol	184
Ethinyloestradiol	186
Mestranol	
17ß-Oestradiol	190
Oestrone	191
Progestins:	
Chlormadinone acetate	192
Dimethisterone	193
Ethynodiol diacetate	194
17α-Hydroxyprogesterone acetate	
Lynoestrenol	195
Medroxyprogesterone acetate	196
Megestrol acetate	198
Norethisterone	199
Norethynodrel	201
Norgestrel	202
Progesterone	202
Oxymetholone	203
Pentachlorophenol	205
Phenazopyridine	207
Phenelzine	207
Phenobarbital	208
Phenoxyacetic acid herbicides (occupational exposure to)	211
Phenylbutazone	212
N-Phenyl-2-naphthylamine	213
Phenytoin	215
Polychlorinated biphenyls	217

1

Prednisone	219
Procarbazine	220
Propylthiouracil	222
Reserpine	222
Saccharin	224
Soots, tars and oils	227
Benzo[a]pyrene	227
Benzolajpyrene	
Spironolactone	
Styrene	
Styrene oxide	
Sulfafurazole	
Sulfamethoxazole	235
2,4,5-T and esters	
Tetrachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (TCDD)	
Tetrachloroethylene	
ortho-Toluidine	
Treosulphan	
Trichloroethylene	247
2.4.5-Trichlorophenol	243
2.4.6-Trichlorophenol	243
Tris(aziridinyl)-para-benzoquinone (Triaziquone)	251
Tris/1_aziridinyl\phosphine sulphide (Thiotepa)	202
Underground haematite mining (with exposure to radon)	254
Haematite	254
Uracil mustard	256
Vinblastine	257
Vincristine	259
Vinvl chloride	260
Vinylidene chloride	. 262
·	
APPENDIX 1. IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of	
Chemicals to Humans	. 265
APPENDIX 2. Chemicals evaluated in IARC Monographs, Volumes 1-29, for which	1
there is considered to be sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals	s 267
APPENDIX 3. Summary table of results from short-term tests	. 27
CUMULATIVE INDEX TO IARC MONOGRAPHS VOLUMES 1-29 ON THE EVALUATION	NC
OF THE CARCINOGENIC RISK OF CHEMICALS TO HUMANS	. 27

IARC WORKING GROUP ON THE EVALUATION OF THE CARCINOGENIC RISK OF CHEMICALS TO HUMANS: CHEMICALS, INDUSTRIAL PROCESSES AND INDUSTRIES ASSOCIATED WITH CANCER IN HUMANS

Lyon, 8-12 February, 1982

Members*

- E.D. Acheson, Director, MRC Unit of Environmental Epidemiology, Southampton General Hospital, Southampton SO9 4XY, UK
- B.K. Armstrong, Director, NH & MRC Research Unit in Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine, Department of Medicine, Medical School Building, The Queen Elizabeth II Medical Centre, Nedlands, Western Australia 6009, Australia (*Vice-Chairman*)
- W.J. Blot, Environmental Epidemiology Branch, National Cancer Institute, Landow Building, C307, Bethesda, MD 20205, USA
- A.L. Brown, Dean, School of Medicine, University of Wisconsin, Medical Science Center, 1300 University Avenue, Madison, WI 53706, USA (*Chairman*)
- I.N. Chernozemsky, Head, Laboratory of Chemical Carcinogenesis and Testing, Institute of Oncology, Medical Academy, Sofia 1156, Bulgaria
- G. Della Porta, Director, Division of Experimental Oncology A, Istituto Nazionale per lo Studio e la Cura dei Tumori, Via G. Venezian 1, 20133 Milan, Italy
- H.J. Evans, Director, MRC Clinical and Population Cytogenetics Unit, Western General Hospital, Crewe Road, Edinburgh EH4 2XU, UK (*Vice-Chairman*)
- R.A. Griesemer, Director, Biology Division, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, PO Box Y, Oak Ridge, TN 37830, USA

^{*} Unable to attend: D.J. Brusick, Director, Department of Molecular Toxicology, Litton Bionetics, Kensington, MD 20795, USA; R. Owen, Trades Union Congress, Congress House, Great Russell Street, London WC1 3LS, UK; F. Valic, International Programme on Chemical Safety, Division of Environmental Health, World Health Organization, 1211 Geneva 27, Switzerland

- J.M. Harrington, The University of Birmingham, Institute of Occupational Health, The Medical School, Birmingham BI5 2TJ, UK
- S. Hernberg, Scientific Director, Institute of Occupational Health, Haartmanninkatu 1, 00290 Helsinki 29, Finland
- D.G. Hoel, Chief, Environmental Biometry Branch, National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, PO Box 12233, Research Triangle Park, NC 27709, USA
- D.G. Kaufman, Department of Pathology, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Preclinical Educational Building 228H, Chapel Hill, NC 27514, USA
- L.J. Kinlen, University of Oxford, Radcliffe Infirmary, Oxford OX2 6HE, UK
- T.M. Mack, Director, Cancer Surveillance Program, Department of Family and Preventive Medicine, University of Southern California School of Medicine, 2025 Zonal Avenue, Los Angeles, CA 90033, USA
- P.N. Magee, Director, Fels Research Institute, Temple University, School of Medicine, Philadelphia, PA 19140, USA (*Vice-Chairman*)
- T. Matsushima, Chairman, Institute of Medical Science, Department of Molecular Oncology, 4-6-1, Shirokanedai, Minato-ku, Tokyo 108, Japan
- R. Preussmann, Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum, Institut für Toxikologie und Chemotherapie, Im Neuenheimer Feld 280, Postfach 101949, 6900 Heidelberg 1, Federal Republic of Germany
- S. Shapiro, Co-Director, Drug Epidemiology Unit, School of Public Health, Boston School of Medicine, 777 Concord Avenue, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA
- V. Turusov, Cancer Research Center, USSR Academy of Medical Sciences, Karshirskoye Shosse 6, 115478 Moscow, USSR
- H.A. Tyroler, Department of Epidemiology, The School of Public Health, The University of North Carolina, Rosenau Hall 201H, Chapel Hill, NC 27514, USA
- S. Venitt, Chester Beatty Research Institute, Institute of Cancer Research, Chemical Carcinogenesis Division, Pollards Wood Research Station, Nightingales Lane, Chalfont St Giles, Buckinghamshire HP8 4SP, UK
- I.B. Weinstein, Institute of Cancer Research, College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University, 701 West 168th Street, New York, NY 10032, USA
- G.M. Williams, Associate Director, Naylor Dana Institute for Disease Prevention, American Health Foundation, 1 Dana Road, Valhalla, NY 10595, USA

Representative from the National Cancer Institute

H.F. Kraybill, Scientific Coordinator for Environmental Cancer, Division of Cancer Cause and Prevention, National Cancer Institute, Landow Building, Room 3C37, Bethesda, MD 20205, USA

Representative from the Chemical Manufacturers' Association

J. Norris, Dow Chemicals USA, 1803 Building, Midland, MI 48640, USA

Representatives from the Commission of the European Communities

- A. Berlin, Commission of the European Communities, Health and Safety Directorate, Bâtiment Jean Monnet, Avenue Alcide-de-Gasperi, Kirchberg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg
- H. Ott, Commission of the European Communities, Environment and Raw Materials Research Programmes, 200 rue de la Loi, 1049 Brussels, Belgium

Representative from the European Chemical Industry Ecology and Toxicology Centre

J. Ishmael, ICI Central Toxicology Laboratory, Alderley Park, Macclesfield, Cheshire SK10 4TJ, UK

Secretariat

- C. Agthe, Division of Epidemiology and Biostatistics
- A. Aitio, Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis
- H. Bartsch, Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis
- J. Cabral, Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis
- W. Davis, Unit of Research Training and Liaison
- N. Day, Division of Epidemiology and Biostatistics
- J. Estève, Division of Epidemiology and Biostatistics
- M. Friesen, Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis
- L. Haroun, Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis (Co-Secretary)

IARC MONOGRAPHS SUPPLEMENT 4

E. Heseltine, Lyon (Editor)

4

- A. Likhachev, Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis
- A. Linsell, Division of Epidemiology and Biostatistics
- D. Mietton, Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis (Library assistant)
- R. Montesano, Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis
- C. Muir, Division of Epidemiology and Biostatistics
- N. Muñoz, Division of Epidemiology and Biostatistics
- I. O'Neill, Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis
- C. Partensky, Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis (Technical officer)
- I. Peterschmitt, Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis, Geneva, Switzerland (*Bibliographic researcher*)
- R. Saracci, Division of Epidemiology and Biostatistics
- L. Simonato, Division of Epidemiology and Biostatistics
- L. Tomatis, Director of IARC
- A. Tuyns, Division of Epidemiology and Biostatistics
- J. Wahrendorf, Division of Epidemiology and Biostatistics
- J. Wilbourn, Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis (Co-Secretary)
- H. Yamasaki, Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis

Secretarial assistance

- M.-J. Ghess
- K. Masters
- J. Mitchell
- S. Reynaud

NOTE TO THE READER

The term 'carcinogenic risk' in the *IARC Monograph* series is taken to mean the probability that exposure to a chemical or complex mixture or employment in a particular occupation will lead to cancer in humans.

The fact that a monograph has been prepared on a chemical, complex mixture or occupation does not imply that a carcinogenic hazard is associated with the exposure, only that the published data have been examined. Equally, the fact that a chemical, complex mixture or occupation has not yet been evaluated in a monograph does not mean that it does not represent a carcinogenic hazard.

Anyone who is aware of published data that may alter an evaluation of the carcinogenic risk of a chemical, complex mixture or employment in an occupation is encouraged to make this information available to the Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis, International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, France, in order that the chemical, complex mixture or occupation may be considered for re-evaluation by a future Working Group.

Although every effort is made to prepare the monographs as accurately as possible, mistakes may occur. Readers are requested to communicate any errors to the Division of Environmental Carcinogenesis, so that corrections can be reported in future volumes.

CHEMICALS, INDUSTRIAL PROCESSES AND INDUSTRIES ASSOCIATED WITH CANCER IN HUMANS

INTRODUCTION

The programme on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans has existed since 1971 and involves the preparation and publication of monographs that evaluate individual chemicals and, more recently, carcinogenic risks resulting from exposures to complex mixtures, since it is in this way that human populations are often exposed. Exposures occurring in the wood and leather industries and in the rubber manufacturing industry were thus the subject of recent IARC monographs. (A full list of IARC Monographs, both published and in press, is given in Appendix 1.) The evaluations contained in each volume of monographs are made by independent international Working Groups and provide governments and their advisers with authoritative scientific opinions on which to base preventive measures.

The criteria used for preparing draft monographs, for judging the adequacy of available data and for evaluating carcinogenic risk to humans were first established in 1971, and these criteria (with minor modifications) were adopted by the Working Groups whose deliberations resulted in the first 16 volumes of the IARC Monographs. In 1977, a further ad hoc Working Group revised the criteria¹, and these have appeared as the Preamble² to the Monographs since Volume 17.

The terms 'sufficient evidence' and 'limited evidence' of carcinogenicity used in those criteria refer only to the amount of evidence available and not to the potency of the carcinogenic effect nor to the mechanism involved. However, in the case of chemicals for which there is sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals, it was considered reasonable to recommend that, for practical purposes, such chemicals be regarded as if they presented a carcinogenic risk to humans. In the case of chemicals for which there is only limited evidence of carcinogenicity, further experimental and epidemiological research was deemed to be desirable.

The use of the expressions 'for practical purposes' and 'as if they presented a carcinogenic risk' indicates that at the present time a correlation between carcinogenicity in animals and possible human risk cannot be made on a purely scientific basis, but only pragmatically. Such a pragmatic correlation may be useful to regulatory agencies in making decisions related to the primary prevention of cancer.

An international *ad hoc* Working Group of 20 experts in cancer research met in Lyon in January 1979 to re-evaluate the epidemiological and experimental carcinogenicity data on 54 chemicals, groups of chemicals or industrial processes which had been evaluated in Volumes 1-20 of the *IARC Monographs*. Of these, 18 chemicals and industrial processes were considered to be carcinogenic for humans. A further 18 chemicals and groups of chemicals were considered to be probably carcinogenic for humans, although the data were considered inadequate to establish a causal association. To reflect different degrees of evidence within the latter group, it was subdivided: six chemicals were found to have

a higher degree of evidence and 12 chemicals a lower degree. Data on the remaining 18 chemicals were considered to be insufficient to allow an evaluation of their carcinogenicity for humans. A report summarizing the background, purpose and overall conclusions of the Working Group, and the evidence on which the evaluation for each chemical was based was published as Supplement 1 of the *IARC Monographs*³ and as a leading article in *Cancer Research*⁴.

In the first 29 volumes of the *IARC Monographs*, 585 chemicals, groups of chemicals, industrial processes and occupational exposures were evaluated or re-evaluated. Previous analyses of these evaluations indicated that for 44 of these, the working groups found that there was positive evidence of or a suspicion of an association with human cancer. For the remaining 541 exposures, epidemiological data were either unavailable or were considered to be inadequate to evaluate carcinogenicity to humans; one exception was fluorides used in drinking-water and dental preparations, for which no evidence of a carcinogenic effect was found. For 147 of the exposures, there was considered to be *sufficient evidence* of carcinogenicity in animals, and for a further 157 exposures there was *limited evidence*. The data were inadequate to evaluate the presence or absence of a carcinogenic effect for the remaining 236 exposures.

A list of all exposures for which it is currently considered that there is sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in experimental animals is given in Appendix 2.

Objective

The aim of the present *ad hoc* Working Group was to update Supplement 1 of the *IARC Monographs*. All chemicals, groups of chemicals, industrial processes and occupational exposures for which some data on carcinogenicity in humans were available were reevaluated, on the basis both of studies summarized previously in the monographs and of data published subsequently. Similar data from studies on experimental animals and from short-term tests were also summarized.

Short-term tests for the detection of potential chemical carcinogens

The induction of cancer is thought to proceed by a series of steps, some of which have been distinguished experimentally⁵⁻⁹. The first step - 'initiation' - is thought to involve damage to DNA resulting in heritable modifications in, or rearrangements of, genetic information. Proliferation of cells whose properties have been permanently altered during initiation (which may involve somatic mutation) is thought to result in the formation of clones of cells whose further progress to malignancy is dependent on a series of events - 'promotion' and 'progression' - the underlying mechanisms of which are largely unknown. Although this is a useful model, it should be kept in mind that the carcinogenic process may not always proceed by such a multi-step mechanism.

The idea that damage to DNA is a critical event in the initiation of carcinogenesis is based on a large body of data which show that many carcinogens are reactive

electrophiles *per se*, or can be readily converted to reactive electrophiles by enzymic pathways characteristic of eukaryotic metabolism¹⁰. A variety of DNA-carcinogen adducts, formed by reaction of electrophilic moieties with nucleophilic centres in DNA, have been identified in DNA recovered from reactions performed with carcinogens *in vitro*, or from cultured cells or intact organisms treated with carcinogens^{8,11,12}. Moreover, the recognition that many classes of carcinogens (including ionizing and ultra-violet radiation and chemicals of a very wide range of structure and reactivity) are mutagenic¹³ supports the idea that DNA is a critical target of carcinogenic agents. Assays for mutagenicity and allied effects, such as the induction of DNA repair, the misincorporation of nucleotide triphosphates during in-vitro nucleic acid synthesis, and various manifestations of chromosomal damage, in organisms ranging from bacteriophages to mammals, all exploit this characteristic ability of carcinogens to cause DNA damage or chromosomal anomalies either directly or indirectly. It should be noted, however, that some carcinogens may act by mechanisms that do not involve DNA damage¹⁴ and thus would not cause such genetic effects.

A number of short-term tests for carcinogens employ as endpoints well-defined genetic markers in prokaryotes and lower eukaryotes (e.g., bacteria and fungi) and in mammalian cell lines. Many of these cells do not possess or have lost, following culture, the range of enzyme systems known in intact mammals to metabolize chemically unreactive carcinogens to reactive electrophiles. It is often necessary, therefore, to provide an exogenous source of such activity in the form of a tissue extract or cell feeder-layer or whole-cell systems prepared from mammalian sources¹⁵. In-vitro metabolic systems may not accurately reflect the fate of a chemical subjected to the checks and balances afforded by absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion in mammals¹⁵, and this must be borne in mind when evaluating the results from short-term tests which employ invitro metabolic activation. In addition, the organization of genetic material and its repair processes in mammalian cells is highly complex and is not fully reflected in some lower biological systems.

Tests have been devised which exploit the useful attributes of microbial or cellular genetic systems without compromising the integrity of mammalian pharmacodynamics and metabolism. Such 'host-mediated' assays involve the inoculation of indicator organisms into mammals (usually rodents) which are then dosed with the test chemical. There are limitations to both the numbers and types of organisms which can be introduced and recovered from dosed animals and to the access of indicator organisms to activated metabolites. Lack of sensitivity may therefore be a problem.

A group of short-term tests use 'transformation' of cultured mammalian cells, rather than manifestation of DNA damage or chromosomal anomalies, as an indicator of carcinogenic potential. Some of the assays also employ an exogenous metabolic activation system. Cell transformation is assessed by scoring characteristic changes in cellular and colonial morphology, or changes in growth characteristics (e.g., growth of colonies in soft agar) following treatment with the test compound. In some protocols, the ability of transformed cells to produce tumours is tested by injecting the cells into appropriate animals.

Manifestations of damage to DNA and other components of the genetic apparatus can also be assayed directly by exposing animals to the test compound and assaying the effect in these animals or in their offspring. For example, the following endpoints can be scored: mutations in the fruit fly, chromosomal anomalies in bone-marrow cells and blood lymphocytes of rodents, and specific-locus mutations in rodents treated with the test agent and in their offspring.

Similar studies may be conducted on cells taken from people exposed to putative chemical carcinogens and by examining the cells for mutation and for chromosomal anomalies either directly or after short-term culture *in vitro*. Samples of sperm from such individuals may also be analysed for morphological abnormalities. Evidence of absorption of putative carcinogens may be adduced from the assay of body fluids and excreta for DNA-damaging activity, using, for example, bacterial mutation assays.

Results from several studies^{16,17} of the predictive value of various short-term tests show that some chemicals of proven carcinogenicity in experimental animals are, as far as could be judged, inactive in tests that utilize DNA or chromosomal damage as endpoints. These include, for example, certain hormones, metals, minerals and tumour promoters¹⁴, which do not appear to exert their effects through modifications of DNA that are expressed in the form of mutations or chromosomal anomalies. No well-validated short-term tests for putative promoters are yet available, although several lines of investigation are being pursued¹⁸⁻²¹.

Uses of short-term tests

Validated short-term tests of the type described above are useful (a) for predicting potential carcinogenicity in the absence of data on animal carcinogenicity, (b) as a contribution in deciding which chemicals should be tested or retested in animals, (c) for identifying active fractions of complex mixtures containing putative carcinogens, (d) for recognizing active metabolites of known carcinogens in human or animal body fluids, (e) in helping to elucidate mechanisms of carcinogenesis and (f) as additional evidence in interpreting ambiguous data from experimental or epidemiological studies.

In view of the limitations of current knowledge about mechanisms of carcinogenesis, certain cautions should be emphasized: (1) at present, these tests should not be used by themselves to conclude whether or not an agent is carcinogenic; (2) even when positive results are obtained in one or more of these tests, it is not clear that they can be used reliably to predict the relative potencies of compounds as carcinogens in intact animals; (3) since the currently available tests do not detect all classes of agents that are active in the carcinogenic process (e.g., hormones, promoters), one must be cautious in utilizing these tests as the sole criterion for setting priorities in carcinogenesis research and in selecting compounds for animal bioassays.

The present state of knowledge does not permit the selection of a specific test(s) as the most appropriate for identifying all classes of potential carcinogens, although certain systems are more sensitive to some classes. Before the results of a particular test can be considered to be fully acceptable for predicting potential carcinogenicity, certain criteria should be met: (a) the test should have been validated with respect to known animal carcinogens and noncarcinogens, and (b) when possible, a structurally related carcinogen(s) and noncarcinogen(s) should have been tested simultaneously with the chemical in question. The results should have been confirmed in additional test systems. Confidence in positive results is increased if a mechanism of action can be deduced and if appropriate dose-response data are available. Ideally, a compound should be tested in a battery of short term tests. For optimum usefulness, data on purity must be given. For several recent reviews on the use of short-term tests see IARC^{15,16}, de Serres and Ashby¹⁷, Bartsch *et al.*²³ Hollstein *et al.*²³ and Sugimura *et al.*²¹.

METHODS

The data on each chemical were reviewed in detail before the meeting by selected members of the group: the animal studies and short-term test results were evaluated by experimentalists and the human studies by an epidemiologist. During the meeting of the Working Group these assessments were debated and adopted, and overall evaluations of carcinogenicity for humans were made on the basis of the combined evidence from humans and experimental systems (Table 1). Brief descriptions of the data on which the assessments and evaluations were based are given in the section on Results, together with references to the *Monographs* volumes in which they were evaluated previously and, when applicable, to papers published subsequently.

Assessment of evidence for carcinogenicity from studies in humans

Evidence of carcinogenicity from human studies comes from three main sources:

- 1. Case reports of individual cancer patients who were exposed to the chemical or process.
- 2. Descriptive epidemiological studies in which the incidence of cancer in human populations was found to vary in space or time with exposure to the agents.
- 3. Analytical epidemiological (case-control and cohort) studies in which individual exposure to the chemical or group of chemicals was found to be associated with an increased risk of cancer.

Three criteria must be met before a causal association can be inferred between exposure and cancer in humans:

- 1. There is no identified bias which could explain the association.
- 2. The possibility of confounding has been considered and ruled out as explaining the association.
 - 3. The association is unlikely to be due to chance.

In general, although a single study may be indicative of a cause-effect relationship, confidence in inferring a causal association is increased when several independent studies are concordant in showing the association, when the association is strong, when there is a dose-response relationship, or when a reduction in exposure is followed by a reduction in the incidence of cancer.

The degrees of evidence for carcinogenicity from studies in humans were categorized as:

- i. Sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity, which indicates that there is a causal relationship between the agent and human cancer.
- ii. Limited evidence of carcinogenicity, which indicates that a causal interpretation is credible, but that alternative explanations, such as chance, bias or confounding, could not adequately be excluded.
- iii. Inadequate evidence, which indicates that one of three conditions prevailed: (a) there were few pertinent data; (b) the available studies, while showing evidence of association, did not exclude chance, bias or confounding; (c) studies were available which do not show evidence of carcinogenicity.

Assessment of evidence for carcinogenicity from studies in experimental animals

These assessments were classified into four groups:

- i. Sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity, which indicates that there is an increased incidence of malignant tumours: (a) in multiple species or strains; or (b) in multiple experiments (preferably with different routes of administration or using different dose levels); or (c) to an unusual degree with regard to incidence, site or type of tumour, or age at onset. Additional evidence may be provided by data on dose-response effects, as well as information from short-term tests or on chemical structure.
- ii. Limited evidence of carcinogenicity, which means that the data suggest a carcinogenic effect but are limited because: (a) the studies involve a single species, strain, or experiment; or (b) the experiments are restricted by inadequate dosage levels, inadequate duration of exposure to the agent, inadequate period of follow-up, poor survival, too few animals, or inadequate reporting; or (c) the neoplasms produced often occur spontaneously and, in the past, have been difficult to classify as malignant by histological criteria alone (e.g., lung and liver tumours in mice).
- iii. Inadequate evidence, which indicates that because of major qualitative or quantitative limitations, the studies cannot be interpreted as showing either the presence or absence of a carcinogenic effect; or that within the limits of the tests used, the chemical is not carcinogenic. The number of negative studies is small, since, in general, studies that show no effect are less likely to be published than those suggesting carcinogenicity.
 - iv. No data indicates that data were not available to the Working Group.

The categories sufficient evidence and limited evidence refer only to the strength of the experimental evidence that these chemicals are carcinogenic and not to the extent of their carcinogenic activity nor to the mechanism involved. The classification of any chemical may change as new information becomes available.

Assessment of data from short-term tests

Because of the large number and wide variety of short-term tests that may be relevant for the prediction of potential carcinogens, the data relative to each compound have been summarized in the form of tables. These indicate both the type of test used and the biological complexity of the test system. 'DNA damage' includes evidence for covalent binding to DNA, induction of DNA breakage or repair, induction of prophage in bacteria, and a positive response in tests of comparative survival in DNA repair-proficient and DNA repair-deficient bacteria. 'Mutagenicity' refers to induction of mutations in cultured cells or in organisms (e.g., heritable alterations in phenotype, including forward or reverse point mutations, recombination, gene conversion, and specific-locus mutation). 'Chromosomal anomalies' refers to the induction of chromosomal aberrations, including breaks, gaps, rearrangements and micronuclei, sister chromatid exchange and aneuploidy. 'Other' refers to various additional endpoints, including cell transformation (T), i.e., morphological transformation and colony formation in agar; dominant lethal (DL) tests; morphological abnormalities in sperm (SA); and mitochondrial mutation (Mt). The biological systems include: 'Prokaryotes', i.e., bacteria, in the presence or absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system, and cellular systems; 'Fungi and green plants'; 'Insects', usually Drosophila melanogaster; 'Mammalian cells (in vitro)';,either rodent or human somatic cells or cell lines in culture; 'Mammals (in vivo)', studies in which the test compound was administered to intact experimental animals; and 'Humans (in vivo)', studies of cells from groups of individuals drawn from a population exposed to the substance in question.

METHODS 13

In these tables, a '+' indicates that the result was judged by the Working Group to be significantly positive in one or more assays; '-' indicates that it was judged to be negative from an evaluation of one or more assays; and '?' indicates that contradictory results were obtained in assays from different laboratories or in different biological systems, or that the result was judged to be equivocal. The individual tables for each compound are summarized, for purposes of comparison, in Appendix 3.

The overall evidence summarized in the table was adjudged to fall into one of three categories. *sufficient*, *limited* and *inadequate*:

- i. Sufficient evidence, when there were at least three positive results in at least two of three test systems measuring DNA damage, mutagenicity or chromosomal effects. When two of the positive results were for the same genetic effect, they had to be derived from systems of different biological complexity.
- ii. Limited evidence, when there were at least two positive results, either for different endpoints or in systems representing two levels of biological complexity.
- iii. Inadequate evidence, when there were generally negative or only one positive test results. Up to two positive test results were considered inadequate if they were accompanied by two or more negative test results.

The Working Group was unable to define criteria for 'negative' evidence.

In establishing these categories the Working Group gave greater weight to the three primary endpoints - DNA damage, mutagenicity and chromosomal effects - and judgements were made on the quality as well as on the quantity of the evidence. In a minority of cases, strict interpretation of these criteria was tempered by consideration of a variety of other factors (such as the purity of the test compound, problems of metabolic activation, appropriateness of the test system) which, in the judgement of the Working Group, would place a compound in a category above or below that indicated by the summary table.

Evaluation of carcinogenic risk to humans

At present, no objective criteria exist to interpret data from studies in experimental animals or from short-term tests directly in terms of human risk. Thus, in the absence of sufficient evidence from human studies, evaluation of the carcinogenic risk to humans was based on consideration of both the epidemiological and experimental evidence. The breadth of the categories of evidence defined above allows substantial variation within each. The decisions reached by the Group regarding overall risk incorporated these differences, even though they could not always be reflected adequately in the placement of an exposure into a particular category, as listed in Table 1.

The chemicals, groups of chemicals, industrial processes or occupational exposures were thus put into one of three groups:

Group 1

The chemical, group of chemicals, industrial process or occupational exposure is carcinogenic to humans. This category was used only when there was sufficient evidence from epidemiological studies to support a causal association between the exposure and cancer.

Group 2

The chemical, group of chemicals, industrial process or occupational exposure is probably carcinogenic to humans. This category includes exposures for which, at one extreme, the evidence of human carcinogenicity is almost 'sufficient', as well as exposures for which, at the other extreme, it is inadequate. To reflect this range, the category was divided into higher (Group A) and lower (Group B) degrees of evidence. Usually, category 2A was reserved for exposures for which there was at least limited evidence of carcinogenicity to humans. The data from studies in experimental animals played an important role in assigning studies to category 2, and particularly those in Group B; thus, the combination of sufficient evidence in animals and inadequate data in humans usually resulted in a classification of 2B.

In some cases, the Working Group considered that the known chemical properties of a compound and the results from short-term tests allowed its transfer from Group 3 to 2B or from Group 2B to 2A.

Group 3

The chemical, group of chemicals, industrial process or occupational exposure cannot be classified as to its carcinogenicity to humans.

RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS

The assessments of degrees of evidence for carcinogenicity to humans and in experimental animals and for activity in short-term tests, as well as the summary evaluations of carcinogenic risk to humans are given in Table 1.

Group 1: The Working Group concluded that the following 7 industrial processes and occupational exposures and 23 chemicals and groups of chemicals are causally associated with cancer in humans*.

Industrial processes and occupational exposures:

Auramine manufacture
Boot and shoe manufacture and repair
(certain occupations)
Furniture manufacture
Isopropyl alcohol manufacture
(strong-acid process)
Nickel refining
Rubber industry (certain occupations)
Underground haematite mining
(with exposure to radon)

^{*} This list does not include known human carcinogens such as tobacco smoke, betel quid and alcoholic beverages, since they have not yet been covered in the *Monographs* programme.

Chemicals and groups of chemicals:

4-Aminobiphenyl

Analgesic mixtures containing phenacetina

Arsenic and arsenic compounds^a

Asbestos

Azathioprine

Benzene

Benzidine

N,N-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-2-naphthylamine (Chlornaphazine)

Bis(chloromethyl)ether and technical-grade chloromethyl methyl ether

1,4-Butanediol dimethanesulphonate (Myleran)

Certain combined chemotherapy for lymphomas^a (including MOPP^b)

Chlorambucil

Chromium and certain chromium compounds^a

Conjugated oestrogens^a

Cyclophosphamide

Diethylstilboestrol

Melphalan

Methoxsalen with ultra-violet A therapy (PUVA)

Mustard gas

2-Naphthylamine

Soots, tars and oilsa,c

Treosulphan

Vinyl chloride

Group 2: The following 61 chemicals, groups of chemicals or industrial processes are probably carcinogenic to humans

Group 2A

Acrylonitrile

Aflatoxins

Benzo[a]pyrene

Beryllium and beryllium compounds^a

Combined oral contraceptives^a

Diethyl sulphate

Dimethyl sulphate

Manufacture of magenta^a

Nickel and certain nickel compounds

Nitrogen mustard

Oxymetholone

Phenacetin

Procarbazine

ortho-Toluidine

^a The compound(s) responsible for the carcinogenic effect in humans cannot be specified.

^b Procarbazine, nitrogen mustard, vincristine and prednisone

Mineral oils may vary in composition, particularly in relation to their content of carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons.

Group 2B

Actinomycin D

Adriamycin

Amitrole

Auramine (technical grade)

Benzotrichloride

Bischloroethyl nitrosourea (BCNU)

Cadmium and cadmium compounds

Carbon tetrachloride

Chloramphenicol

1-(2-Chloroethyl)-3-cyclohexyl-1-nitrosourea (CCNU)

Chloroform

Chlorophenols (occupational exposure to)^a

Cisplatin

Dacarbazine

DDT

3.3'-Dichlorobenzidine

Dienoestrol

3,3'-Dimethoxybenzidine (ortho-Dianisidine)

Dimethylcarbamoyl chloride

1,4-Dioxane

Direct Black 38 (technical grade)

Direct Blue 6 (technical grade)

Direct Brown 95 (technical grade)

Epichlorohydrin

Ethinyloestradiol

Ethylene dibromide

Ethylene oxide

Ethylene thiourea

Formaldehyde (gas)

Hydrazine

Mestranol

Metronidazole

Norethisterone

Oestradiol-17β

Oestrone

Phenazopyridine

Phenytoin

Phenoxyacetic acid herbicides (occupational exposure to)a

Polychlorinated biphenyls

Progesterone

Propylthiouracil

Sequential oral contraceptives^a

Tetrachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (TCDD)

2,4,6-Trichlorophenol

Tris(aziridinyl)-para-benzoguinone (Triaziguone)

Tris(1-aziridinyl)phosphine sulphide (Thiotepa)

Uracil mustard

Group 3: The remaining 64 chemicals, groups of chemicals, industrial processes and occupational exposures could not be classified as to their carcinogenicity to humans.

^a The compound(s) responsible for the probable carcinogenic effect in humans cannot be specified.

Table 1. Summary evaluations of carcinogenic risk to humans from chemicals, industrial processes and industries* based on evidence for carcinogenicity to humans and to animals and for activity in short-term tests†

Chemical, process or industry	Evidence for carci- nogenicity in humans	Evidence for carci- nogenicity in animals	Evidence for activity in short-term tests	Summary evaluation of carcino- genic risk to humans
Acrylonitrile	limited	sufficient	sufficient	2A
Actinomycin D	inadequate	limited	sufficient	2B
Adriamycin	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2B
Aflatoxins	limited	sufficient	sufficient	2A
Aldrin	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
4-Aminobiphenyl	sufficient	sufficient	sufficient	1
Amitrole	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B
Anaesthetics, volatile	inadequate	inadequate	inadequate	3
Analgesic mixtures containing		•		
phenacetin	sufficient	limited	no data	1
Phenacetin	limited	sufficient	lim:ted	2A
Aniline	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Arsenic and certain arsenic				
compounds	sufficient	inadequate	limited	1
Asbestos	sufficient	sufficient	inadequate	1
Auramine (technical grade)	limited	limited	sufficient	2B
Manufacture of auramine	sufficient	-	-	1
Azathioprine	sufficient	limited	sufficient	1
Benzene	sufficient	limited	limited	1
Benzidine	sufficient	sufficient	sufficient	1
Benzidine-based dyes Direct Black 38 (technical				
grade) Direct Blue 6 (technical	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B
grade) Direct Brown 95 (technical	inadequate	sufficient	no data	2B
grade)	inadequate	limited	no data	2B
Beryllium and beryllium compounds N,N-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-2-	limited	sufficient	inadequate	2A
naphthylamine (Chlornaphazine)	sufficient	limited	limited	1
Bischloroethyl nitrosourea (BCNU)	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2B
Bis(chloromethyl)ether and technical-grade chloromethylmethyl ether	sufficient	sufficient	limited	1

^{*} In IARC Monographs 1-29, for which data in humans were available

[†] This table does not include known human carcinogens such as tobacco smoke, betel quid and alcohol beverages, since they have not yet been considered in the *IARC Monographs*.

Chemical, process or industry	Evidence for carci- nogenicity in humans	Evidence for carci- nogenicity in animals	Evidence for activity in short-term tests	Summary evaluation of carcino- genic risk to humans
Bleomycins 1,4-Butanediol	inadequate	inadequate	sufficient	3
dimethanesulphonate (Myleran) Cadmium and cadmium	sufficient	limited	sufficient	1
compounds	limited	sufficient	inadequate	2B
Carbon tetrachloride	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B
Certain combined chemotherapy for lymphomas	madequate	Sumolent	madequate	20
(including MOPP)	sufficient	-	inadequate	1
Chlorambucil	sufficient	sufficient	sufficient	1
Chloramphenicol	limited	inadequate	inadequate	2B
Chlordane/Heptachlor	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
1-(2-Chloroethyl)-3-cyclohexyl-	·		•	
1-nitrosourea (CCNU)	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2B
Chlorinated toluenes				
(production of):				
Benzyl chloride	inadequate	limited	sufficient	3
Benzoyl chloride	inadequate	inadequate	inadequate	3
Benzal chloride	inadequate	limited	limited	3
Benzotrichloride	inadequate	sufficient	limited	2B
Chloroform	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B
Chlorophenols (occupational				
exposure to)	limited	-	-	2B
Chloroprene	inadequate	inadequate	sufficient	3
Chromium and certain				
chromium compounds	sufficient	sufficient	sufficient (Cr VI) inadequate (Cr III)	1
Cisplatin	inadequate	limited	sufficient	2B
Clofibrate	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Clomiphene	inadequate	inadequate	no data	3
Cyclamates	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Cyclophosphamide	sufficient	sufficient	sufficient	1
2,4-D and esters (See also Phenoxyacetic acid herbicides, occupational				
exposure to)	inadequate	inadequate	inadequate	3
Dacarbazine	inadequate	sufficient	limited	2B
Dapsone	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
DDT	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B
ortho-Dichlorobenzene and para-Dichlorobenzene	inadequate	inadequate	inadequate	3

Chemical, process or industry	Evidence for carci- nogenicity in humans	Evidence for carci- nogenicity in animals	Evidence for activity in short-term tests	Summary evaluation of carcino- genic risk to humans
3,3'-Dichlorobenzidine	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2B
Dichloromethane	inadequate	inadequate	limited	3
Dieldrin	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Diethyl sulphate	limited	sufficient	sufficient	2A
3,3'-Dimethoxybenzidine (ortho-				
Dianisidine)	inadequate	sufficient	limited	2B
Dimethylcarbamoyl chloride	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2B
Dimethyl sulphate	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2A
1,4-Dioxane	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B
Epichlorohydrin	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2B
Ethylene dibromide	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2B
Ethylene oxide	inadequate	limited	sufficient	2B
Ethylene thiourea	inadequate	sufficient	limited	2B
5-Fluorouracil	inadequate	inadequate	limited	3
Formaldehyde (gas)	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2B
Hexachlorocyclohexane	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Hydralazine	inadequate	limited	sufficient	3
Hydrazine Industries	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2B
Boot and shoe manufacture				
and repair (certain				
occupations)	sufficient	_		1
Carpentry and joinery (certain	ouo.o			•
exposures)	inadequate	_	_	3
Furniture manufacture	sufficient	-	_	1
Leather goods manufacture	inadequate	-	_	
Leather tanning	inadequate	-	-	3 3 3
Lumber and sawmill industry	inadequate	-	-	3
Pulp and paper manufacture	•			
(certain exposures)	inadequate	-	-	3
Rubber industry (certain	•			
occupations)	sufficient	-	-	1
Iron dextran complex	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	3 3
Isonicotinic acid hydrazide	inadequate	limited	limited	3
Lead and lead compounds	inadequate	sufficient (for some salts)	inadequate	3
Manufacture of isopropyl		Juito)		
alcohol (strong-acid process)	sufficient	_	_	1
Isopropyl oils	inadequate	inadequate	no data	3
Manufacture of magenta	limited	-		3 2A
Magenta (technical grade)	inadequate	inadequate	inadequate	3
Melphalan	sufficient	sufficient	sufficient	3 1
6-Mercaptopurine	inadequate	inadequate	sufficient	3

Chemical, process or industry	Evidence for carci- nogenicity in humans	Evidence for carci- nogenicity in animals	Evidence for activity in short-term tests	Summary evaluation of carcino- genic risk to humans
Methotrexate	inadequate	inadequate	sufficient	3
Methoxsalen with ultraviolet A				
therapy (PUVA)	sufficient	sufficient	sufficient	1
Metronidazole	inadequate	sufficient	limited	2B
Mustard gas	sufficient	limited	sufficient	1
1-Naphthylamine	inadequate	inadequate	sufficient	3
2-Naphthylamine	sufficient	sufficient	sufficient	1
Nickel refining	sufficient	-	-	1
Nickel and certain nickel				
compounds	limited	sufficient	inadequate	2A
Nitrogen mustard (See also				
Certain combined			afficions	0.4
chemotherapy for lymphomas)	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2A
Oestrogens and progestins			to a de accesso	0.4
Combined oral contraceptives	limited*	-	inadequate	2A
Sequential oral contraceptives	limited	-	-	2B
Other oestrogen-progestin				0
combinations	inadequate			3
Conjugated oestrogens	sufficient	inadequate	inadequate	1
Oestrogens				
Dienoestrol	limited	inadequate	inadequate	2B
Diethylstilboestrol	sufficient	sufficient	inadequate	1
Ethinyloestradiol	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B
Mestranol	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B
Oestradiol-17β	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B
Oestrone	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B
Drogoetine:				
Progestins: Chlormadinone acetate	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Dimethisterone	inadequate	inadequate	inadequate	3
	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Ethynodiol diacetate	illauequate	minico	maacquato	•
17α-Hydroxyprogesterone	inadequate	inadequate	no data	3
caproate	•	inadequate	inadequate	3
Lynoestrenol	inadequate	mauequate	madequate	9
Medroxyprogesterone	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
acetate	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Megestrol acetate	inadequate	mintea	mauequate	0
Norethisterone	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B
Norethynodrel	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Norgestrel	inadequate	inadequate	no data	3
Progesterone	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B

^{*} Sufficient for liver adenomas.

Chemical, process or industry	Evidence for carci- nogenicity in humans	Evidence for carci- nogenicity in animals	Evidence for activity in short-term tests	Summary evaluation of carcino- genic risk to humans
Oxymetholone Pentachlorophenol (See also Chlorophenols, occupational	limited	no data	no data	2A
exposure to)	inadequate	inadequate	inadequate	3
Phenazopyridine	inadequate	sufficient	no data	2B
Phenelzine	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Phenobarbital	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Phenoxyacetic acid herbicides				
(occupational exposure to)	limited	-		2B
Phenylbutazone	inadequate	no data	inadequate	3
N-Phenyl-2-naphthylamine	inadequate	inadequate	inadequate	3
Phenytoin	limited	limited	inadequate	2B
Polychlorinated biphenyls Prednisone (See also Certain combined chemotherapy for	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B
lymphomas) Procarbazine (See also Certain combined chemotherapy for	inadequate	inadequate	inadequate	3
lymphomas)	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2A
Propylthiouracil	inadequate	sufficient	no data	2B
Reserpine	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Saccharin	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Soots, tars and oils	sufficient	sufficient	-	1
Benzo[a]pyrene	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2A
Spironolactone	inadequate	limited	no data	3
Styrene	inadequate	limited	sufficient	3
Styrene oxide	inadequate	limited	sufficient	3
Sulfafurazole	inadequate	inadequate	inadequate	3 3 3 3
Sulfamethoxazole 2,4,5-T and esters (See also Phenoxyacetic acid herbicides, occupational	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
exposure to) Tetrachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin	inadequate	inadequate	inadequate	3
(TCDD)	inadequate	sufficient	inadequate	2B
Tetrachloroethylene	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
ortho-Toluidine	inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2A
Treosulphan	sufficient	no data	inadequate	1
Trichloroethylene 2,4,5-Trichlorophenol (See also	inadequate	limited	inadequate	3
Chlorophenols, occupational exposure to) 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol (See also	inadequate	inadequate	no data	3
Chlorophenols, occupational exposure to)	inadequate	sufficient	no data	2B

IARC MONOGRAPHS SUPPLEMENT 4

Evidence for carci- nogenicity in humans	Evidence for carci- nogenicity in animals	Evidence for activity in short-term tests	Summary evaluation of carcino- genic risk to humans
inadequate	limited	sufficient	2B
inadequate	sufficient	sufficient	2B
			•
			l
•	•	•	3
•			2B
inadequate	inadequate	inadequate	3
inadequate	inadequate	inadequate	3
sufficient	sufficient	sufficient	1
inadequate	limited	sufficient	3
	inadequate inadequate inadequate inadequate inadequate inadequate inadequate inadequate inadequate sufficient	for carcinogenicity in humans in animals inadequate limited inadequate sufficient inadequate inadequate inadequate inadequate inadequate inadequate sufficient inadequate sufficient sufficient sufficient sufficient sufficient sufficient sufficient	for carcinogenicity in humans in animals for activity in short-term tests inadequate limited sufficient sufficient inadequate sufficient inadequate sufficient sufficient sufficient inadequate sufficient sufficient sufficient sufficient sufficient

REFERENCES

- ¹ IARC (1977) IARC Monograph Programme on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans Preamble (IARC intern. tech. Rep. No. 77/002), Lyon
- ² IARC (1978) *IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans*, Vol. 17, *Some* N-nitroso compounds, Lyon
- ³ IARC (1979) IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans, Suppl. 1, Chemicals and Industrial Processes Associated With Cancer in Humans, IARC Monographs, Volumes 1 to 20, Lyon
- ⁴ IARC Working Group (1980) An evaluation of chemicals and industrial processes associated with cancer in humans based on human and animal data: *IARC Monographs* Volumes 1-20. *Cancer Res.*, 40, 1-12
- ⁵ Berenblum, I. (1975) Sequential aspects of chemical carcinogenesis: Skin. In: Becker, F.F., ed., Cancer. A Comprehensive Treatise, Vol. 1, New York, Plenum Press, pp. 323-344
- ⁶ Foulds, L. (1969) Neoplastic Development, Vol. 2, London, Academic Press
- ⁷ Farber, E. & Cameron, R. (1980) The sequential analysis of cancer development. *Adv. Cancer Res.*, *31*, 125-226
- ⁸ Weinstein, I.B. (1981) The scientific basis for carcinogen detection and primary cancer prevention. Cancer, 47, 1133-1141
- ⁹ Slaga, T.J., Sivak, A. & Boutwell, R.K., eds (1978) *Mechanisms of Tumor Promotion and Cocarcinogenesis*, Vol. 2, New York, Raven Press
- ¹⁰ Miller, E.C. & Miller, J.A. (1981) Mechanisms of chemical carcinogenesis. *Cancer*, *47*, 1055-1064
- ¹¹ Brookes, P. & Lawley, P.D. (1964) Evidence for the binding of polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons to the nucleic acids of mouse skin: relation between carcinogenic power of hydrocarbons and their binding to deoxyribonucleic acid. *Nature*, 202, 781-784
- ¹² Lawley, P.D. (1976) Carcinogenesis by alkylating agents. In: Searle, C.E., ed., Chemical Carcinogens (ACS Monograph 173), Washington DC, American Chemical Society, pp. 83-244
- ¹³ McCann, J. & Ames, B.N. (1976) Detection of carcinogens as mutagens in the Salmonella/microsome test: Assay of 300 chemicals: Discussion. Proc. natl Acad. Sci. USA, 73, 950-954
- ¹⁴ Weisburger, J.H. & Williams, G.M. (1980) Chemical carcinogens. In: Doull, J., Klaassen, C.D. & Amdur, M.O., eds, Casarett and Doull's Toxicology: The Basic Science of Poisons, 2nd ed., New York, MacMillan, pp. 84-138

- ¹⁵ IARC (1980) *IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Humans*, Suppl. 2, *Long-term and Short-term Screening Assays for Carcinogens: A Critical Appraisal*, Lyon
- ¹⁶ Montesano, R., Bartsch, H. & Tomatis, L., eds (1980) *Molecular and Cellular Aspects of Carcinogen Screening Tests (IARC Scientific Publications No. 27)*, Lyon
- ¹⁷ de Serres, F.J. & Ashby, J., eds (1981) Evaluation of Short-Term Tests for Carcinogens. Report of the International Collaborative Program, Amsterdam, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press
- Weinstein, I.B. (1981) Effects of phorbol esters in cell culture and their relevance to short-term assays for tumor promoters. In: Mishra, N., Dunkel, V. & Mehlman, M., eds, Advances in Modern Environmental Toxicology, Vol. 1, Mammalian Cell Transformation by Chemical Carcinogens, Princeton Junction, NJ, Senate Press Inc., pp. 427-446
- ¹⁹ Trosko, J.E., Yotti, L.P., Warren, S.T., Tsushimoto, G. & Chang, C.-C. (1982) *Inhibition of cell-cell communication by tumor promoters*. In: Hecker, E., Fusenig, N.E., Kunz, W., Marks, F. & Thielmann, H.W., eds, *Cocarcinogenesis and Biological Effects of Tumor Promoters*, New York, Raven Press, pp. 565-585
- ²⁰ Yamasaki, H., Weinstein, I.B. & Van Duuren, B.L. (1981) Induction of erythroleukemia cell adhesion by plant diterpene tumour promoters: a quantitative study and correlation with *in vivo* activities. *Carcinogenesis*, 2, 537-543
- ²¹ Sugimura, T., Sato, S., Nagao, M., Yahagi, T., Matsushima, T., Seino, Y., Takeuchi, M. & Kawachi, T. (1976) Overlapping of carcinogens and mutagens. In: Magee, P.N., Takayama, S., Sugimura, T. & Matsushima, T., eds, Fundamentals in Cancer Prevention, Tokyo/Baltimore, University of Tokyo/University Park Press, pp. 191-215
- ²² Bartsch, H., Tomatis, L. & Malaveille, C. (1982) Qualitative and quantitative comparison between mutagenic and carcinogenic activities of chemicals. In: Heddle, J.A., ed., New Horizons in Genetic Toxicology, New York, Academic Press (in press)
- ²³ Hollstein, M., McCann, J., Angelosanto, F.A. & Nichols, W.W. (1979) Short-term tests for carcinogens and mutagens. *Mutat. Res.*, *65*, 133-226

DESCRIPTIVE SUMMARIES OF THE DATA ON THE BASIS OF WHICH THE CHEMICALS, INDUSTRIAL PROCESSES AND INDUSTRIES WERE EVALUATED FOR CARCINOGENICITY TO HUMANS

ACRYLONITRILE (Group 2A)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited)

As reported previously, 1345 male workers potentially exposed to acrylonitrile and observed for 20 or more years had a greater than expected incidence of lung cancer (8 observed, 4.4 expected) and cancer of the large-intestine (3 observed, 2.2 expected) and prostate (3 observed, 0.9 expected) than other workers in the same company. Mortality from lung cancer was also greater than expected^{1,2}. In a similar study, of 1111 male workers exposed to acrylonitrile between 1950 and 1968 and followed for 10 years or more, 5 stomach cancers (1.9 expected), 2 colon cancers (1.1), 2 brain cancers (0.7) and 9 cancers of the respiratory tract (7.6) were observed, 3 of the latter in relatively young men. No allowance was made for latency, however³. Two further studies^{4,5} are difficult to evaluate because of weaknesses in design and reporting. One of them⁵ showed an excess of bronchial cancer (11/5.7) and of tumours of the lymphatic system (4/1.70). Increases in all cancers were seen in three studies: 16/5.8^{1,2}, 21/18.6³ and 23/17.5⁵.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

In studies on male and female rats, administration orally and by inhalation of acrylonitrile resulted in tumours of the brain, forestomach and Zymbal gland¹. A presumed follow-up of one of these studies, in which rats were administered acrylonitrile in drinking-water, showed increased incidences of tumours of the central nervous system, Zymbal gland, squamous stomach, tongue, small intestine and mammary gland at all doses tested⁶.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Acrylonitrile induced DNA strand breakage *in vitro*⁷. It was mutagenic in bacteria, in the presence or absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system^{1,8,10}. Urine from rats exposed to acrylonitrile by i.p. injection was also mutagenic to *Salmonella*^{11,12}. It did not induce chromosomal damage or micronuclei in bone-marrow cells of mice exposed *in vivo*¹³, but positive results were obtained in rat bone marrow *in vivo*¹⁴ and in Chinese hamster ovary cells cocultivated with rat hepatocytes as an activation system¹⁵. It induced cell transformation in Syrian hamster embryo cells⁷. Workers exposed to acrylonitrile did not exhibit evidence of increased chromosomal aberrations in peripheral lymphocytes¹⁶.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+		
Fungi/Green plants		**************************************	***************************************	
Insects	,,		MERIOD .	
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+		+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			?	
Humans (in vivo)		· ···· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-	

T = cell transformation

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 19, 73-133, 1979
- ² O'Berg, M.T. (1980) Epidemiologic study of workers exposed to acrylonitrile. *J. occup. Med.*, *22*, 245-252
- Werner, J.B. & Carter, J.T. (1981) Mortality study of United Kingdom acrylonitrile polymerisation workers. Br. J. ind. Med., 38, 247-253
- ⁴ Kiesselbach, N., Korallus, U., Lange, H.-J., Neiss, A. & Zwingers, T. (1979) Acrylonitrile epidemiological study Bayer 1977. Zbl. Arbeitsmed., 29, 257-259
- ⁵ Thiess, A.M., Frentzel-Beyme, R., Link, R. & Wild, H. (1980) Mortality study of skilled workers in the chemical industry in different production operations with concomitant exposure to acrylonitrile (Ger.). *Zbl. Arbeitsmed.*, 30, 259-267
- ⁶ Quast, J.F., Humiston, C.G., Wade, C.E., Carreon, R.M., Hermann, E.A., Park, C.N. & Schwetz, B.A. (1981) Results of a chronic toxicity and oncogenicity study in rats maintained on water containing acrylonitrile for 24 months (Abstract no. 467). *Toxicologist*, 1, 129
- ⁷ Parent, R.A. & Casto, B.C. (1979) Effect of acrylonitrile on primary Syrian golden hamster embryo cells in culture: Transformation and DNA fragmentation. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, 62, 1025-1029
- ⁸ Duverger-van Bogaert, M., Lambotte-Vandepaer, M., de Meester, C., Poncelet, F. & Mercier, M. (1980) Effect of various factors influencing the mutagenicity of acrylonitrile (ACN) (Abstract no. 77). *Mutat. Res.*, 74, 207
- ⁹ Duverger, M., Lambotte, M., de Meester, C., Roberfroid, M., Poncelet, F. & Mercier, M. (1980) Mutagenicity of acrylonitrile: A new experimental approach to investigate the activation mechanism. *Arch. int. Physiol. Biochim.*, 88, B29-B30
- Meester, C., Duverger-Van Bogaert, M., Lambotte-Vandepaer, M., Roberfroid, M., Poncelet, F. & Mercier, M. (1979) Liver extract mediated mutagenicity of acrylonitrile. Toxicology, 13, 7-15

- ¹¹ Lambotte, M., Duverger, M., Garny, V., Poncelet, F. & Mercier, M. (1981) Mutagenicity of metabolites of acrylonitrile detected in urine (Abstract). *Mutat. Res.*, *80*, 269
- ¹² Lambotte-Vandepaer, M., Duverger-van Bogaert, M., de Meester, C., Poncelet, F. & Mercier, M. (1980) Mutagenicity of urine from rats and mice treated with acrylonitrile. *Toxicology*, 16, 67-71
- ¹³ Leonard, A., Garny, V., Poncelet, F. & Mercier, M. (1981) Mutagenicity of acrylonitrile in mouse. *Toxicol. Lett.*, *7*, 329-334
- ¹⁴ Kawachi, T., Yahagi, T., Kada, T., Tazima, Y., Ishidate, M., Sasaki, M., Sugiyama, T. (1980) Cooperative programme on short-term assays for carcinogenicity in Japan. In: Montesano, R., Bartsch, H. & Tomatis, L., eds, Molecular and Cellular Aspects of Carcinogen Screening Tests (IARC Scientific Publications No. 27), Lyon, pp. 323-330
- 15 Ved Drat, S. & Williams, G.M. (1982) Hepatocyte-mediated production of sister chromatid exchange in cocultured cells by acrylonitrile: Evidence for extracellular transport of a stable reactive intermediate. Cancer Lett. (in press)
- ¹⁶ Thiess, A.M. & Fleig, I. (1978) Analysis of chromosomes of workers exposed to acrylonitrile. *Arch. Toxicol.*, *41*, 149-152

ACTINOMYCIN D (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Second malignant neoplasms have occurred in patients treated for primary neoplasms with actinomycin and radiation and usually, but not always, with other chemotherapeutic agents¹. The single analytical study available compared survivors of childhood cancer who developed a second neoplasm with comparable matched survivors who did not, and found that more controls had received treatment with actinomycin D than cases, whose second primary tumours included sarcomas, haematological malignancies, thyroid cancer and other solid tumours². [This observation has not been repeated, but is plausible in view of the radiomimetic properties of actinomycin D, the simultaneous exposure to radiation of patients treated with it, and the modal shape of radiation dose-effect curves in certain laboratory systems.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Actinomycin D produces peritoneal sarcomas in rats, but not in mice, following repeated intraperitoneal injections^{3,4}. A low incidence of subcutaneous sarcomas occurred in mice following repeated subcutaneous injections³. No tumour was observed in rats after intragastric administration, but the duration of the experiment was short⁵.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Actinomycin D was not mutagenic to bacteria⁶ but produced mutations in fungi^{3,6,7} and *Drosophila*^{3,8}. It induced chromosomal aberrations in mammalian cells *in vitro*^{3,9-11}. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			+	
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ¹ Meadows, A.T., Strong, L.C., Li, F.P., D'Angio, G.J., Schweisguth, O., Freeman, A.I., Jenkin, R.D.T., Morris-Jones, P. & Nesbit, M.E. (1980) Bone sarcoma as a second malignant neoplasm in children: Influence of radiation and genetic predisposition. *Cancer*, 46, 2603-2606
- ² D'Angio, G.J., Meadows, A., Miké, V., Harris, C., Evans, A., Jaffe, N., Newton, W., Schweisguth, O., Sutow, W. & Morris-Jones, P. (1976) Decreased risk of radiation-associated second malignant neoplasms in actinomycin-D-treated patients. *Cancer*, 37, 1177-1185
- ³ IARC Monographs, 10, 29-41, 1976
- ⁴ Weisburger, J.H., Griswold, D.P., Prejean, J.D., Casey, A.E., Wood, H.B. & Weisburger, E.K. (1975) The carcinogenic properties of some of the principal drugs used in clinical cancer chemotherapy. *Recent Results Cancer Res.*, *52*, 1-17
- ⁵ Philips, F.S. & Sternberg, S.S. (1975) Tests for tumor induction by antitumor agents. *Recent Results Cancer Res.*, *52*, 29-35
- ⁶ Nestmann, E.R., Nasim, A., Haynes, R.H. & Kowbel, D.J. (1981) Genetic activity of actinomycin D in Saccharomyces cerevisiae but not in Escherichia coli. Mutat. Res., 89, 229-236
- ⁷ Fisher, C.R., Malling, H.V., de Serres, F.J. & Snyder, S. (1975) Mutagenicity of actinomycin D in *Neurospora crassa*. *Mutat. Res.*, *33*, 187-192
- ⁸ Proust, J.P., Sankaranarayanan, K. & Sobels, F.H. (1972) The effects of treating Drosophila females with actinomycin-D on the yields of dominant lethals, translocations and recessive lethals recovered from X-irradiated spermatozoa. Mutat. Res., 16, 65-76
- ⁹ Banerjee, A. & Benedict, W.F. (1979) Production of sister chromatid exchanges by various cancer chemotherapeutic agents. *Cancer Res.*, *39*, 797-799

- ¹⁰ Pater, M.M. & Mak, S. (1974) Actinomycin D-induced breakage of human KB cell DNA. Nature, 250, 786-788
- ¹¹ Au, W.W., Johnston, D.A., Collie-Bruyere, C. & Hsu, T.C. (1980) Short-term cytogenetic assays of nine cancer chemotherapeutic drugs with metabolic activation. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 2, 455-464

ADRIAMYCIN (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia¹⁻³ and osteosarcoma⁴ have occurred in patients following treatment in which adriamycin was given in combination with radiotherapy and alkylating agents as treatment for primary neoplasms. No epidemiological study of adriamycin as a single agent was available to the Working Group. [See also the summary of data on 'Certain combined chemotherapy for lymphomas (including MOPP)'.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Adriamycin is carcinogenic in rats, producing mammary tumours after a single intravenous injection⁵⁻⁸ and local sarcomas after single or repeated subcutaneous injections^{9,10}.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Adriamycin bound non-covalently to DNA⁵. It was mutagenic in bacteria^{5,11} and mammalian cells *in vitro*^{11,12}. It caused chromosomal anomalies in hamster cells and human lymphocytes *in vitro*^{5,13} and in mouse bone-marrow cells *in vivo*¹⁴⁻¹⁶. Adriamycin induced sister chromatid exchanges *in vitro*¹⁷ and in mouse embryo cells following injections to pregnant females¹⁶. It produced cell transformation in Fischer rat embryo cells⁵. Patients treated with adriamycin showed significant increases in the incidence of chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges^{18,19}.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			+	
Humans (in vivo)			+	

T = cell transformation

References

- ¹ Foucar, K., McKenna, R.W., Bloomfield, C.D., Bowers, T.K. & Brunning, R.D. (1979) Therapy-related leukemia. A panmyelosis. *Cancer*, *43*, 1285-1296
- ² Garand, R., Nomballais, F., Le Mevel, A., Mouraud, E. & Le Mevel, B. (1981) Acute myeloblastic leukaemia after Ewing's sarcoma: An iatrogenic complication? *Bull. Cancer (Paris)*, *68*, 25-31
- ³ May, J.T., Hsu, S.D. & Costanzi, J.J. (1981) Acute leukemia following combination chemotherapy for cancer of the lung. *Oncology*, *38*, 134-137
- ⁴ Strong, L.C., Herson, J., Osborne, B.M. & Sutow, W.W. (1979) Risk of radiation-related subsequent malignant tumors in survivors of Ewing's sarcoma. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, 62, 1401-1406
- ⁵ IARC Monographs, 10, 43-49, 1976
- ⁶ Marquardt, H., Philips, F.S. & Sternberg, S.S. (1976) Tumorigenicity in vivo and induction of malignant transformation and mutagenesis in cell cultures by adriamycin and daunomycin. Cancer Res., 36, 2065-2069
- ⁷ Solcia, E., Ballerini, L., Bellini, O., Sala, L. & Bertazzoli, C. (1978) Mammary tumors induced in rats by adriamycin and daunomycin. *Cancer Res.*, 38, 1444-1446
- ⁸ Bucciarelli, E. (1981) Mammary tumor induction in male and female Sprague-Dawley rats by adriamycin and daunomycin. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *66*, 81-84
- ⁹ Maltoni, C. & Chieco, P. (1975) Adriamicin: A new, potent carcinogen (Ital.). Osp. Vita, 2, 107-109
- ¹⁰ Casazza, A.M., Bellini, O., Formelli, F., Giuliani, F., Lenaz, L. & Magrini, U.(1977) Tumors and dental and ocular abnormalities after treatment of infant rats with adriamycin. *Tumori*, 63, 331-338
- ¹¹ Matheson, D., Brusick, D. & Carrano, R. (1978) Comparison of the relative mutagenic activity for eight antineoplastic drugs in the Ames *Salmonella*/microsome and TK^{+/-} mouse lymphoma assays. *Drug Chem. Toxicol.*, 1, 277-304
- ¹² Suter, W., Brennand, J., McMillan, S. & Fox, M. (1980) Relative mutagenicity of antineoplastic drugs and other alkylating agents in V79 Chinese hamster cells, independence of cytotoxic and mutagenic responses. *Mutat. Res.*, 73, 171-181
- ¹³ Au, W.W., Johnston, D.A., Collie-Bruyere, C. & Hsu, T.C. (1980) Short-term cytogenetic assays of nine cancer chemotherapeutic drugs with metabolic activation. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 2, 455-464
- ¹⁴ Au, W.W. & Hsu, T.C. (1980) The genotoxic effects of adriamycin in somatic and germinal cells of the mouse. *Mutat. Res.*, *79*, 351-361
- ¹⁵ Thorgeirsson, S.S., Levitt, D.S., Everson, R.B., Schut, H.A.J., Staiano, N. & Mattison, D.R. (1979) Relative mutagenicity and ovotoxicity of antitumor agents (Abstract no. 227). *Pharmacologist*, 21, 187

- ¹⁶ Kram, D., Bynum, G.D., Senula, G.C. & Schneider, E.L. (1979) *In utero* sister chromatid exchange analysis for detection of transplacental mutagens. *Nature*, *279*, 531
- ¹⁷ West, C., Stratford, I.J., Barrass, N. & Smith, E. (1981) A comparison of adriamycin and mAMSA *in vitro*: Cell lethality and SCE studies. *Br. J. Cancer*, *44*, 798-809
- ¹⁸ Musilova, J., Michalova, K. & Urban, J. (1979) Sister-chromatid exchanges and chromosomal breakage in patients treated with cytostatics. *Mutat. Res.*, 67, 289-294
- ¹⁹ Lambert, B., Ringborg, U., Lindblad, A. & Sten, M. (1981) Sister-chromatid exchange in peripheral lymphocytes of human subjects: The effect of cigarette smoking and anticancer chemotherapy (Abstract). *Mutat. Res.*, 85, 235

AFLATOXINS (Group 2A)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited)

A positive correlation between estimated aflatoxin intake (or the level of aflatoxin contamination of market food samples) of populations and the incidence of primary liver cancer was observed in epidemiological studies undertaken to test this specific hypothesis¹⁻⁴. A few case reports of cancer (not liver cancer) in scientists working with aflatoxin have been published^{5,6}. No study has been carried out, however, which could link an increased risk of liver cancer to actual aflatoxin intake in individuals.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Aflatoxins produced liver tumours in mice, rats, fish, ducks, marmosets, tree shrews and monkeys after administration by several routes, including orally. Cancers of the colon and kidney were produced in addition in rats¹. Recent papers have extended these findings. All rats fed 5 mg/kg of diet aflatoxin B_1 for six weeks developed hepatocarcinomas²; rats fed peanut oil containing 5-7 μ g/kg aflatoxin B_1 developed parenchymal liver damage but no liver-cell tumours³. A series of studies³¹¹¹0 have established that aflatoxin B_1 can induce liver tumours in monkeys; osteogenic sarcoma, adenocarcinoma of the gall bladder or bile duct, and carcinomas of the pancreas were also observed. Aflatoxin B_1 also induced liver tumours in the subhuman primate tree shrew *Tupaia glis*¹¹¹. The feeding of aflatoxin B_1 to pregnant rats induced liver and other tumours in the mothers and tumours in the progeny¹².

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Aflatoxin B_1 is an extremely potent mutagen in the *Salmonella*/ microsome assay^{1,13-21}. It induced forward mutations in *S. typhimurium*²², induction and mutagenesis of prophage

 λ in *Escherichia coli* K12²³ and mutations in *Neurospora crassa*^{1,24}, in V79 Chinese hamster cells²⁵ following metabolic activation and in *Drosophila* melanogaster^{1,26-29}. It induced chromosomal aberrations³⁰ and sister chromatid exchanges in mammalian cells *in vitro*³¹⁻³⁵, and chromosomal aberrations in mouse bone marrow *in vivo*³⁶. It induced DNA repair¹ and mutagenesis in mammalian cells *in vitro*³⁷ and transformation of Syrian hamster cells³⁸, guinea-pig cells³⁹ and 3T3 cells⁴⁰. Aflatoxin B₁ also induced DNA-repair synthesis in human peripheral lymphocytes⁴¹ and formed the same DNA adducts in human cells as in rodent cells⁴². No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			+	
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 10, 51-72, 1976
- ² Linsell, C.A. & Peers, F.G. (1977) Aflatoxin and liver cell cancer. *Trans. R. Soc. trop. Med. Hyg.*, 71, 471-473
- ³ van Rensberg, S.J. (1977) Role of epidemiology in the elucidation of mycotoxin health risks. In: Rodrics, J.V., Hesseltine, C.W. & Mehlman, M.A., eds, Mycotoxins in Human and Animal Health, Park Forest South, IL, Pathotox, pp. 699-711
- ⁴ Peers, F.G., Gilman, G.A. & Linsell, C.A. (1976) Dietary aflatoxins and human liver cancer. A study in Swaziland. *Int. J. Cancer*, *17*, 167-176
- ⁵ Deger, G.E. (1976) Aflatoxin human colon carcinogenesis? *Ann. intern. Med.*, *85*, 204-205
- ⁶ Dvorácková, I. (1976) Aflatoxin inhalation and alveolar cell carcinoma. *Br. med. J.*, *i*, 691
- ⁷ Butler, W.H. & Hempsall, V. (1981) Histochemical studies of hepatocellular carcinomas in the rat induced by aflatoxin. *J. Pathol.*, *134*, 157-170

- ⁸ Fong, L.Y.Y. & Chan, W.C. (1981) Long-term effects of feeding aflatoxin-contaminated market peanut oil to Sprague-Dawley rats. *Food Cosmet. Toxicol.*, 19, 179-183
- ⁹ Adamson, R.H., Correa, P., Sieber, S.M., McIntire, K.R. & Dalgard, D.W. (1976) Carcinogenicity of aflatoxin B₁ in rhesus monkeys: Two additional cases of primary liver cancer. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *57*, 67-78
- ¹⁰ Sieber, S.M., Correa, P., Dalgard, D.W. & Adamson, R.H. (1979) Induction of osteogenic sarcomas and tumors of the hepatobiliary system in nonhuman primates with aflatoxin B₁. Cancer Res., 39, 4545-4554
- ¹¹ Reddy, J.K., Svoboda, D.J. & Rao, M.S. (1976) Induction of liver tumors by aflatoxin B₁ in the tree shrew (*Tupaia glis*), a nonhuman primate. *Cancer Res.*, *36*, 151-160
- ¹² Goerttler, K., Löhrke, H., Schweizer, H.-J. & Hesse, B. (1980) Effects of aflatoxin B₁ on pregnant inbred Sprague-Dawley rats and their F₁ generation. A contribution to transplacental carcinogenesis. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, 64, 1349-1354
- ¹³ Ames, B.N., McCann, J. & Yamasaki, E. (1975) Methods for detecting carcinogens and mutagens with the *Salmonella*/mammalian-microsome mutagenicity test. *Mutat. Res.*, 31, 347-364
- ¹⁴ Malaveille, C., Kuroki, T., Brun, G., Hautefeuille, A., Camus, A.-M. & Bartsch, H. (1979) Some factors determining the concentration of liver proteins for optimal mutagenicity of chemicals in the Salmonella/microsome assay. Mutat. Res., 63, 245-258
- ¹⁵ Simon, V.F. (1979) *In vitro* mutagenicity assays of chemical carcinogens and related compounds with *Salmonella typhimurium*. *J. natl Cancer Res.*, *62*, 893-899
- ¹⁶ Uwaifo, A.O., Emerole, G.O., Bababunmi, E.A. & Bassir, O. (1979) Comparative mutagenicity of palmotoxin Bo and aflatoxins B₁ and M₁. *J. environ. Pathol. Toxicol.*, 2, 1099-1107
- ¹⁷ Hesbert, A., Cavelier, C., Bottin, M.-C. & Lemonnier, M. (1979) Mutagenic effect of a chemical on bacterial strain of *Salmonella typhimurium* (Ames test): Method and results for several known carcinogens (Fr.). *Arch. Mal. prof. Méd. Trav. Séc. soc.*, 40, 437-457
- ¹⁸ Norpoth, K., Grossmeier, R., Bösenberg, H., Themann, H. & Fleischer, M. (1979) Mutagenicity of aflatoxin B₁, activated by S-9 fractions of human, rat, mouse, rabbit, and monkey liver, towards S. typhimurium TA98. Int. Arch. occup. environ. Health, 42, 333-339
- Wheeler, L., Halula, M. & Demeo, M. (1981) A comparison of aflatoxin B₁-induced cytotoxicity, mutagenicity and prophage induction in *Salmonella typhimurium* mutagen tester strains TA1535, TA1538, TA98 and TA100. *Mutat. Res.*, 83, 39-48
- ²⁰ Baker, R.S.U., Bonin, A.M., Stupans, I. & Holder, G.M. (1980) Comparison of rat and guinea pig as sources of the S9 reaction in the *Salmonella*/mammalian microsome mutagenicity test. *Mutat. Res.*, 71, 43-52

- ²¹ Decloitre, F. & Hamon, G. (1980) Species-dependent effects of dietary lindane and/or zineb on the activation of aflatoxin B₁ into mutagenic derivatives. *Mutat. Res.*, 79, 185-192
- Stark, A.A., Essigmann, J.M., Demain, A.L., Skopek, T.R. & Wogan, G.N. (1979) Aflatoxin B₁ mutagenesis, DNA binding, and adduct formation in *Salmonella typhimurium*. *Proc. natl Acad. Sci. USA*, *76*, 1343-1347
- ²³ Goze, A., Sarasin, A., Moulé, Y. & Devoret, R. (1975) Induction and mutagenesis of prophage λ in *Escherichia coli* K12 by metabolites of aflatoxin B₁. *Mutat. Res.*, 28, 1-7
- ²⁴ Ong, T.-M. (1978) Use of the spot, plate and suspension test systems for the detection of the mutagenicity of environmental agents and chemical carcinogens in *Neuros*pora crassa. Mutat. Res., 53, 297-308
- ²⁵ Kuroki, T., Malaveille, C., Drevon, C., Piccoli, C., MacLeod, M. & Selkirk, J.K. (1979) Critical importance of microsome concentration in mutagenesis assay with V79 Chinese hamster cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *63*, 259-272
- ²⁶ Chinnici, J.P., Erlanger, L., Charnock, M., Jones, M. & Stein, J. (1979) Sensitivity differences displayed by *Drosophila melanogaster* larvae of different ages to the toxic effects of growth media containing aflatoxin B₁. *Chem.-biol. Interactions*, 24, 373-380
- ²⁷ Nguyen, T.D., Boyd, J.B. & Green, M.M. (1979) Sensitivity of *Drosophila* mutants to chemical carcinogens. *Mutat. Res.*, *63*, 67-77
- ²⁸ Fahmy, M.J., Fahmy, O.G. & Swenson, D.H. (1978) Aflatoxin B_1 -2,3-dichloride as a model of the active metabolite of aflatoxin B_1 in mutagenesis and carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res.*, 38, 2608-2616
- ²⁹ Chinnici, J.P. (1980) Genetic resistance to aflatoxin B₁ toxicity in *Drosophila melano-gaster*: Chromosome substitution analysis. *J. Hered.*, *71*, 275-278
- 30 Iskandar, O. & Vijayalaxmi, E.T. (1981) The enhancement of the effect of aflatoxin B₁ by metabolic activation with rat-liver microsomes on human lymphocytes assayed with the micronucleus test. *Mutat. Res.*, 91, 63-66
- ³¹ Thomson, V.E. & Evans, H.J. (1979) Induction of sister-chromatid exchanges in human lymphocytes and Chinese hamster cells exposed to aflatoxin B₁ and *N*-methyl-*N*-nitrosourea. *Mutat. Res.*, *67*, 47-53
- ³² Todd, L.A. & Bloom, S.E. (1980) Differential induction of sister chromatid exchanges by indirect-acting mutagen-carcinogens at early and late stages of embryonic development. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 2, 435-445
- ³³ Nakanishi, Y. & Schneider, E.L. (1979) In vivo sister-chromatid exchange: A sensitive measure of DNA damage. Mutat. Res., 60, 329-337
- ³⁴ Ray-Chaudhuri, R., Kelley, S. & Iype, P.T. (1980) Induction of sister chromatid exchanges by carcinogens mediated through cultured rat liver epithelial cells. *Carcinogenesis*, 1, 779-786

ALDRIN 35

³⁵ Batt, T.R., Hsueh, J.L., Chen, H.H. & Huang, C.C. (1980) Sister chromatid exchanges and chromosome aberrations in V79 cells induced by aflatoxin B₁, B₂, G₁ and G₂ with or without metabolic activation. *Carcinogenesis*, 1, 759-763

- ³⁶ Fabry, L. & Roberfroid, M. (1981) Mutagenicity of aflatoxin B₁: Observations *in vivo* and their relation to *in vitro* activation. *Toxicol. Lett.*, 7, 245-250
- ³⁷ Tong, C. & Williams, G.M. (1978) Induction of purine analog-resistant mutants in adult rat liver epithelial lines by metabolic activation-dependent and independent carcinogens. *Mutat. Res.*, 58, 339-352
- ³⁸ Pienta, R.J., Poiley, J.A. & Lebherz, W.B. III (1977) Morphological transformation of early passage golden Syrian hamster embryo cells derived from cryopreserved primary cultures as a reliable *in vitro* bioassay for identifying diverse carcinogens. *Int. J. Cancer*, 19, 642-655
- ³⁹ Evans, C.H. & DiPaolo, J.A. (1975) Neoplastic transformation of guinea pig fetal cells in culture induced by chemical carcinogens. *Cancer Res.*, *35*, 1035-1044
- ⁴⁰ DiPaolo, J.A., Takano, K. & Popescu, N.C. (1972) Quantitation of chemically induced neoplastic transformation of BALB/3T3 cloned cell lines. *Cancer Res.*, 32, 2686-2695
- ⁴¹ Lake, R.S., Kropko, M.L., McLachlan, S., Pezzutti, M.R., Shoemaker, R.H. & Igel, H.J. (1980) Chemical carcinogen induction of DNA-repair synthesis in human peripheral blood monocytes. *Mutat. Res.*, 74, 357-377
- ⁴² Hangen, A., Groopman, J.D., Hsu, I.-C., Goodrich, G.R., Wogan, G.N. & Harris, C.C. (1981) Monoclonal antibody to aflatoxin B₁-modified DNA detected by enzyme immunoassay. *Proc. natl Acad. Sci. USA*, 78, 4124-4127

ALDRIN (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Specific mention of aldrin in analytic epidemiological studies is limited to reports of follow-up of a cohort of men employed in its manufacture in a plant where dieldrin, and later endrin and telodrin, were also manufactured^{1,2}. In the most recent report, of 166 men exposed to these compounds for more than four years and 15 or more years before the end of follow-up, two cases of cancer were observed. No estimate was provided of the expected number, and description of follow-up was limited².

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Aldrin has been tested by the oral route in mice and rats. It was carcinogenic in mice, producing malignant liver neoplasms^{1,3,4}; and thyroid tumours were found in rats³. Three further studies in rats were negative^{1,5} and one was inadequate¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Aldrin did not produce damage to *Escherichia coli* plasmid DNA⁶ and was not mutagenic to *Salmonella typhimurium*⁷ or to yeast⁸. It did not induce recessive lethal mutations in *Drosophila melanogaster*⁹. Aldrin was suggested to induce DNA repair in cultured human fibroblasts and lymphocytes^{10,11}, but it did not elicit unscheduled DNA synthesis in cultured rat hepatocytes¹². It was claimed to produce chromosomal aberrations in bone-marrow cells of rats and mice exposed *in vivo* and in blood cells of humans *in vitro*¹³, but it did not elicit a positive response in the mouse bone-marrow micronucleus test¹⁴. No data on humans were available. For a recent review, see reference 15.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	-	-		
Fungi/Green plants		•		
Insects		-		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-		?	
Mammals (in vivo)			-	
Humans (in vivo)				

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 5, 25-38, 1974
- ² Van Raalte, H.G.S. (1977) Human experience with dieldrin in perspective. *Ecotoxicol. environ. Saf.*, 1, 203-210
- ³ Reuber, M.D. (1976) Histopathology of carcinomas of the liver in mice ingesting dieldrin or aldrin. *Tumori*, *62*, 463-472
- ⁴ National Cancer Institute (1978) Bioassays of Aldrin and Dieldrin for Possible Carcinogenicity (Technical Report Series No. 21, DHEW Publication No. (NIH) 78-821), Bethesda, MD, Carcinogenesis Testing Program, Division of Cancer Cause and Prevention
- ⁵ Deichmann, W.B., Macdonald, W.E. & Lu, F.C. (1979) Effects of chronic aldrin feeding to two strains of female rats and a discussion on the risks of carcinogens in man. In: Deichmann, W.B., ed., Toxicology and Occupational Medicine, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 407-413
- ⁶ Griffin, D.E., III & Hill, W.E. (1978) *In vitro* breakage of plasmid DNA by mutagens and pesticides. *Mutat. Res.*, *52*, 161-169
- ⁷ Van Dijck, P. & Van de Voorde, H. (1976) Mutagenicity *versus* carcinogenicity of organochlorine insecticides. *Med. Fac. Landbouniv. Rijksuniv. Gent*, 41, 1491-1498

- 8 Fahrig, R. (1974) Comparative mutagenicity studies with pesticides. In: Montesano, R. & Tomatis, L., eds, Chemical Carcinogenesis Essays (IARC Scientific Publications No. 10), Lyon, pp. 161-181
- ⁹ Benes, V. & Sram, R. (1969) Mutagenic activity of some pesticides in *Drosophila* melanogaster. Ind. Med., 38, 442-444
- ¹⁰ Rocchi, P., Perocco, P., Alberghini, W., Fini, A. & Prodi, G. (1980) Effect of pesticides on scheduled and unscheduled DNA synthesis of rat lymphocytes and human lymphocytes. *Arch. Toxicol.*, 45, 101-108
- ¹¹ Ahmed, F.E., Hart, R.W. & Lewis, N.J. (1977) Pesticide induced DNA damage and its repair in cultured human cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *42*, 161-174
- ¹² Probst, G.S., McMahon, R.E., Hill, L.E., Thompson, C.Z., Epp, J.K. & Neal, S.B. (1981) Chemically-induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary rat hepatocyte cultures: A comparison with bacterial mutagenicity using 218 compounds. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 11-32
- ¹³ Georgian, L. (1975) The comparative cytogenetic effects of aldrin and phosphamidon. *Mutat. Res.*, *31*, 103-108
- ¹⁴ Usha Rani, M.V., Reddi, O.S. & Reddy, P.P. (1980) Mutagenicity studies involving aldrin, endosulfan, dimethoate, phosphamidon, carcaryl and ceresan. *Bull. environ. Contam. Toxicol.*, 25, 277-282
- ¹⁵ Ashwood-Smith, M.J. (1981) The genetic toxicology of aldrin and dieldrin. *Mutat. Res.*, 86, 137-154

4-AMINOBIPHENYL (Group 1)*

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Epidemiological studies, confined to one series of workers exposed occupationally to commercial 4-aminobiphenyl, showed a high incidence of bladder cancer¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

4-Aminobiphenyl is carcinogenic in mice, rats, rabbits and dogs after oral administration, producing cancer principally of the urinary bladder¹.

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the earlier Working Group, and data on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

4-Aminobiphenyl elicited DNA repair in cultured rat hepatocytes² and was mutagenic in bacteria in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system^{3,4}. It was also mutagenic in yeast⁵. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	Andrew Annual	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+			
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 22, 1979
- ² Probst, G.S., MacMahon, R.E., Hill, L.E., Thompson, C.Z., Epp, J.K. & Neal, S.B. (1981) Chemically-induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary rat hepatocyte cultures: A comparison with bacterial mutagenicity using 218 compounds. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 11-32
- ³ Simmon, V.F., Rosenkranz, H.S., Zeiger, E. & Poirier, L.A. (1979) Mutagenic activity of chemical carcinogens and related compounds in the intraperitoneal host-mediated assay. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, 62, 911-918
- ⁴ Takemura, N. & Shimizu, H. (1978) Mutagenicity of some aromatic amino- and nitro-compounds (Abstract no. 35). *Mutat. Res.*, *56*, 256
- ⁵ Simmon, V.F. (1979) *In vitro* assays for recombinogenic activity of chemical carcinogens and related compounds with *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* D3. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *62*, 901-909

AMITROLE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A cohort of 348 railroad workers exposed for 45 days or more to amitrole, 2,4-D or 2,4,5-T were studied in a follow-up study. There was a deficit of deaths from all causes (45 observed, 49 expected) but an excess from malignant neoplasms (17 observed, 11.9

expected). Among those exposed to amitrole but not 2,4-D or 2,4,5-T, there were 5 deaths from cancer (2 lung cancers, 1 pancreatic cancer, 1 reticulum-cell sarcoma and 1 maxillary sinus cancer), with 3.3 expected; and 3 deaths with 2.0 expected in those first exposed 10 years or more before death. Among those exposed to amitrole and 2,4-D or 2,4,5-T there were 6 deaths from cancer with 2.9 expected, of which all 6, with 1.8 expected (p < 0.005), occurred in those first exposed 10 years or more before death. The men were also exposed to other organic (e.g., monurone and diurone) and inorganic chemicals (e.g., potassium chlorate) $^{1-3}$. In a case-control study covering 110 patients with soft-tissue sarcoma and 220 matched controls, one case and one control had been exposed to amitrole⁴.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Amitrole is carcinogenic in mice^{1,5} and rats^{1,6,7}, producing thyroid and liver tumours following oral or subcutaneous administration.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Amitrole was not mutagenic in the *Salmonella* assay^{8,9}, was negative in the *Escherichia coli* pol A system⁸ and was not mutagenic to *Drosophila melanogaster*¹⁰. It was mutagenic and produced chromosomal aberrations in fungi¹¹ and caused cell transformation in the Syrian embryo transformation assay¹². No chromosomal abnormality was seen in human lymphocytes *in vitro*¹³. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	•	-		
Fungi/Green plants		+	+	
Insects		-		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation

¹ IARC Monographs, 7, 31-43, 1974

² Axelson, O. & Sundell, L. (1974) Herbicide exposure, mortality and tumor incidence. An epidemiological investigation on Swedish railroad workers. *Work environ. Health*, 11. 21-28

- ³ Axelson, O., Sundell, L., Anderson, K., Edling, C., Hogstedt, C. & Kling, H. (1980) Herbicide exposure and tumor mortality. An updated epidemiologic investigation on Swedish railroad workers. *Scand. J. Work environ. Health*, *6*, 73-79
- ⁴ Eriksson, M., Hardell, L., Berg, N.O., Möller, T. & Axelson, O. (1981) Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to chemical substances: A case-referent study. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, *38*, 27-33
- ⁵ Feinstein, R.N., Fry, R.J.M. & Staffeldt, E.F. (1978) Carcinogenic and antitumor effects of aminotriazole on acatalasemic and normal catalase mice. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, 60, 1113-1116
- ⁶ Tsuda, H., Hananouchi, M., Tatematsu, M., Hirose, M., Hirao, K., Takahashi, M. & Ito, N. (1976) Tumorigenic effect of 3-amino-1*H*-1,2,4-triazole on rat thyroid. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *57*, 861-864
- ⁷ Tsuda, H., Takahashi, M., Murasaki, G., Ogiso, T. & Tatematsu, M. (1981) Effect of 3-amino-1*H*-1,2,4-triazole or low iodine diet on rat thyroid carcinogenesis induced by ethylenethiourea. *Nagoya med. J.*, *23*, 83-92
- ⁸ Bamford, D., Sorsa, M., Gripenberg, U., Laamanen, I. & Meretoja, T. (1976) Mutagenicity and toxicity of amitrole. III. Microbial tests. *Mutat. Res.*, 40, 197-202
- ⁹ Torracca, A.M., Cardamone, G., Ortali, V., Carere, A., Raschetti, R. & Ricciardi, G. (1976) Mutagenicity of pesticides as pure compounds and after metabolic activation with rat liver microsomes (Abstract). Atti Assoc. Genet. Ital., 21, 28-29
- ¹⁰ Laamanen, I., Sorsa, M., Bamford, D., Gripenberg, U. & Meretoja, T. (1976) Mutagenicity and toxicity of amitrole. I. *Drosophila* tests. *Mutat. Res.*, 40, 185-190
- ¹¹ Bignami, M., Aulicino, F., Velcich, A., Carere, A. & Morpurgo, G. (1977) Mutagenic and recombinogenic action of pesticides in *Aspergillus nidulans*. *Mutat. Res.*, *46*, 395-402
- Pienta, R.J., Poiley, J.A., Lebherz, W.B., III (1977) Morphological transformation of early passage golden Syrian hamster embryo cells derived from cryopreserved primary cultures as a reliable in vitro bioassay for identifying diverse carcinogens. Int. J. Cancer, 19, 642-655
- ¹³ Meretoja, T., Gripenberg, U., Bamford, D., Laamanen, I. & Sorsa, M. (1976) Mutagenicity and toxicity of amitrole. II. Human lymphocyte culture tests. *Mutat. Res.*, 40, 191-196

ANAESTHETICS, VOLATILE* (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Published data on cancer in humans exposed to anaesthetics have come from postal surveys of cancer incidence among working populations and studies of the mortality of anaesthetists. Among the former¹⁻⁴, a higher rate of self-reported cancer was found in one study² among female operating room personnel than among controls, partly reflecting an excess of leukaemia and lymphoma. In another study4, a higher rate of cancers was reported by dental assistants with relatively heavy exposure to anaesthetics; the latter reflected a higher prevalence of cervical and uterine cancer in women with a heavier exposure to anaesthetics than in those with a lighter exposure. All these postal surveys had major shortcomings5, with response rates varying from 55 to 84.5%. Four mortality studies of anaesthetists⁶⁻⁹ all found a deficiency of deaths from cancer; in only one study⁶ was there an excess of deaths from lymphomas and myelomas (17 versus 8.9 expected). In a study of the incidence of cancer among offspring born to nurseanaesthetists¹⁰, three neoplasms occurred in two of 434 children born to anaesthetists who had worked during pregnancy (a neuroblastoma and a carcinoma of the thyroid in one and a carcinoma of the parotid in the other), and one malignancy (leukaemia) occurred among the 261 children born to anaesthetists who had not worked during pregnancy.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

Isoflurane was reported to induce liver tumours in mice¹; but no increase in tumour incidence was seen in mice of the same strain exposed by inhalation to isoflurane, enflurane, halothane, methoxyflurane or nitrous oxide both *in utero* and after delivery and examined after 15 months¹¹. No carcinogenic effect was seen in rats exposed chronically to a low level of halothane alone or with nitrous oxide¹². Halothane, enflurane, methoxyflurane and nitrous oxide were not carcinogenic to mice¹³.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

The following anaesthetics and their metabolites were negative in bacterial mutation assays employing exogenous metabolic activation: halothane and its metabolite 2-chloro-1,1,1-trifluoroethane^{14,15}; enflurane; isoflurane; methoxyflurane; nitrous oxide; cyclopropane; diethyl ether¹⁴. Two other metabolites of halothane, 2-chloro-1,1-difluoroethylene and 2-bromo-2-chloro-1,1-difluoroethylene, were weakly mutagenic to *Salmonella typhimurium* at near-toxic doses in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system¹⁵. Fluroxene and divinyl ether gave positive results in bacterial mutation assays employing exogenous metabolic activation systems¹⁴. A report that anaesthesiologists working in unscavenged operating rooms produced urine mutagenic to bacteria¹⁶ was not confirmed in a later study using larger numbers of subjects¹⁴. Halothane induced

^{*} This heading includes a variety of compounds which cannot be distinguished one from another in the available studies of human exposure. Chloroform and trichloroethylene, which may occur or have occurred in such exposures, are considered separately.

mitotic gene conversion and gene-reversion in Saccharomyces cerevisiae¹⁷. Halothane and methoxyflurane induced aneuploidy and tetraploidy but not chromosomal breakage in Vicia faba18. Nitrous oxide increased the mutation rate of petal- and stamen-hair cells of Tradescantia19; it also induced sex-linked recessive mutations in Drosophila melanogaster²⁰. The slight increases in sex-linked recessive mutations seen following long-term treatment of flies with halothane were considered indicative of a weak mutagenic effect. although of borderline statistical significance²¹. Nitrous oxide, halothane, enflurane, isoflurane and methoxyflurane did not induce sister chromatid exchanges in cultured Chinese hamster CHO cells, in the presence or absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system. In the same study, the three vinyl-containing compounds, divinyl ether. fluroxene and ethyl vinyl ether, all induced sister chromatid exchanges in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system²². In assays conducted in the absence of such a system, nitrous oxide, halothane and enflurane did not induce 8-azaquanineresistant mutants in Chinese hamster V79 cells in culture14. Exposure of Chinese hamsters or NMRI-strain mice to clinically-used doses of halothane failed to induce structural chromosomal aberrations, micronuclei, sister chromatid exchanges or dominant lethal mutations²³. The frequencies of sister chromatid exchanges in lymphocytes cultured from peripheral blood of hospital personnel exposed to anaesthetics were lower than those in lymphocytes from an unexposed group²⁴.

Halothane

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants		+	?	
Insects	*****	?		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	
Mammals (in vivo)				DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)				
DL = dominant lethal mutations				
Cyclopropane				

Prokaryotes Fungi/Green plants Insects Mammalian cells (in vitro) Mammals (in vivo) Humans (in vivo)

Methoxyflurane

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

Isoflurane

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		1
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

Nitrous oxide

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		_		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			4+	
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

IARC MONOGRAPHS SUPPLEMENT 4

Enflurane

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		-	-	
Mammals (in vivo)			West (1995) (Man (1995)	
Humans (in vivo)				

Fluroxene

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			+	
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)			<u>" " " " " " " " " " " " " " " " " " " </u>	

Divinyl ether

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			+	
Mammals (in vivo)			,	
Humans (in vivo)				

Diethyl ether

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes				
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 11, 285-293, 1976
- ² American Society of Anesthesiologists Ad Hoc Committee on the Effect of Trace Anesthetics on the Health of Operating Room Personnel (1974) Occupational disease among operating room personnel: A national study. *Anesthesiology*, 41, 321-340
- ³ Spence, A.A., Cohen, E.N., Brown, B.W., Jr, Knill-Jones, R.P. & Himmelberger, D.U. (1977) Occupational hazards for operating room-based physicians. *J. Am. med. Assoc.*, 238, 955-959
- ⁴ Cohen, E.N., Brown, B.W., Wu, M.L., Whitcher, C.E., Brodsky, J.B., Gift, H.C., Greenfield, W., Jones, T.W. & Driscoll, E.J. (1980) Occupational disease in dentistry and chronic exposure to trace anesthetic gases. *J. Am. dent. Assoc.*, 101, 21-31
- ⁵ Vessey, M.P. (1978) Epidemiological studies of the occupational hazards of anaesthesia a review. *Anaesthesia*, *33*, 430-438
- ⁶ Bruce, D.L., Eide, K.A., Linde, H.W. & Eckenhoff, J.E. (1968) Causes of death among anesthesiologists: A 20-year survey. *Anesthesiology*, *29*, 565-569
- ⁷ Bruce, D.L., Eide, K.A., Smith, N.J., Seltzer, F. & Dykes, M.H.M. (1974) A prospective survey of anesthesiologist mortality, 1967-1971. *Anesthesiology*, 41, 71-74
- ⁸ Lew, E.A. (1979) Mortality experience among anesthesiologists, 1954-1976. *Anesthesiology*, *51*, 195-199
- ⁹ Doll, R. & Peto, R. (1977) Mortality among doctors in different occupations. *Br. med. J.*, i, 1433-1436
- ¹⁰ Corbett, T.H., Cornell, R.G., Endres, J.L. & Lieding, K. (1974) Birth defects among children of nurse-anesthetists. *Anesthesiology*, *41*, 341-344

- ¹¹ Eger, E.I., II, White, A.E., Brown, C.L., Biava, C.G., Corbett, T.H. & Stevens, W.C. (1978) A test of the carcinogenicity of enflurane, isoflurane, halothane, methoxyflurane, and nitrous oxide in mice. *Anesthesiol. Analg.*, 57, 678-694
- ¹² Coate, W.B., Ulland, B.M. & Lewis, T.R. (1979) Chronic exposure to low concentrations of halothane-nitrous oxide. Lack of carcinogenic effect in the rat. *Anesthesiology*, 50, 306-309
- ¹³ Baden, J.M., Mazze, R.I., Wharton, R.S., Rice, S.A. & Kosek, J.C. (1979) Carcinogenicity of halothane in Swiss/ICR mice. *Anesthesiology*, *51*, 20-26
- ¹⁴ Baden, J.M. & Simmon, V.F. (1980) Mutagenic effects of inhalational anesthetics. *Mutat. Res.*, 75, 169-189
- ¹⁵ Edmunds, H.N., Baden, J.M. & Simmon, V.F. (1979) Mutagenicity studies with volatile metabolites of halothane. *Anesthesiology*, *51*, 424-429
- ¹⁶ McCoy, E.C., Hankel, R., Rosenkranz, H.S., Giuffrida, J.G. & Bizzari, D.V. (1977) Detection of mutagenic activity in the urines of anesthesiologists: A preliminary report. *Env. Health Perspect.*, 21, 221-223
- ¹⁷ Callen, D.F., Wolf, C.R. & Philpot, R.M. (1980) Cytochrome P-450 mediated genetic activity and cytotoxicity of seven halogenated aliphatic hydrocarbons in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mutat. Res.*, 77, 55-63
- ¹⁸ Grant, C.J., Powell, J.N. & Radford, S.G. (1977) The induction of chromosomal abnormalities by inhalational anaesthetics. *Mutat. Res.*, *46*, 177-184
- ¹⁹ Sparrow, A.H. & Schairer, L.A. (1974) Mutagenic response of *Tradescantia* to treatment with X-rays, EMS, DBE, ozone, SO₂, N₂O and several insecticides (Abstract no. 2). *Mutat. Res.*, 26, 445
- ²⁰ Garrett, S. & Fuerst, R. (1974) Sex-linked mutations in *Drosophila* after exposure to various mixtures of gas atmospheres. *Environ. Res.*, 7, 286-293
- ²¹ Kramers, P.G.N. & Burm, A.G.L. (1979) Mutagenicity studies with halothane in *Droso-phila melanogaster*. *Anesthesiology*, *50*, 510-513
- White, A.E., Takehisa, S., Eger, E.I., II, Wolff, S. & Stevens, W.C. (1979) Sister chromatid exchanges induced by inhaled anesthetics. *Anesthesiology*, 50, 426-430
- ²³ Basler, A. & Röhrborn, G. (1981) Lack of mutagenic effects of halothane in mammals in vivo. Anesthesiology, 55, 143-147
- ²⁴ Husum, B. & Wulf, H.C. (1980) Sister chromatid exchanges in lymphocytes in operating room personnel. *Acta anaesth. scand.*, *24*, 22-24

ANALGESIC MIXTURES CONTAINING PHENACETIN (Group 1) and PHENACETIN (Group 2A)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient for analgesic mixtures containing phenacetin; limited for phenacetin)

There have been many case reports of renal pelvic cancer associated with abuse of analgesic mixtures containing phenacetin. Cases of other urinary-tract tumours have also been reported in association with analgesic abuse, but analytical studies have been inconclusive¹. Recently reported studies include case series²⁻⁶, which replicate the association of cancer of the urinary tract, particularly of the renal pelvis, with analgesic abuse nephropathy. These studies are consistent with earlier reports of younger age at onset, higher case fatality rate and greater female susceptibility to analgesic abuse. One case report7 indicated a progression of only four months from non-detectable to a surgically resectable papillary transitional-cell carcinoma of the renal pelvis. A report of a large-scale computerized drug prescription screening programme found a nonstatistically significant deficit of all cancers, an excess of cancer of the mouth floor, a deficit of breast cancer and no reported deviation from expectation of urinary tract cancer for a combination of aspirin-phenacetin-caffeine-butalbital8. In a hospital-based study, patients with interstitial nephritis associated with analgesic abuse had a statistically significantly higher prevalence of transitional-cell carcinoma than patients with interstitial nephritis not associated with analgesic abuse (4/48 versus 0/98)9.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (*limited* for analgesic mixtures containing phenacetin; *sufficient* for phenacetin)

In one study in rats, phenacetin induced benign and malignant tumours of the urinary tract and of the nasal cavity in males. When given in combination with aspirin and caffeine to rats or mice, no significant association was found between the administration of the mixture and the incidence of tumours. Phenacetin alone enhanced the urinary bladder carcinogenesis of *N*-nitrosobutyl-*N*-(4-hydroxybutyl)amine in rats¹. In a recent study, renal pelvic tumours and urinary bladder tumours were observed in male rats receiving phenacetin alone or in combination with caffeine. Half of the rats treated with phenacetin, phenazone and caffeine in combination developed hepatomas⁹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (*no data* for analgesic mixtures containing phenacetin; *limited* for phenacetin)

Phenacetin was mutagenic to *Salmonella typhimurium* in the presence of hamster liver microsome preparations, but not in the presence of mouse or rat liver preparations^{1,10}. *N*-Hydroxyphenacetin, a minor metabolite of phenacetin in humans, was, however, mutagenic to *Salmonella typhimurium* in the presence of rat liver microsomes¹. The urine of hamsters treated with phenacetin was mutagenic¹¹. Phenacetin did not produce recessive lethals in *Drosophila melanogaster*¹. It produced chromosomal aberrations in Chinese hamster fibroblasts exposed *in vitro*, particularly in the presence of rat liver microsomes¹. It did not induce micronuclei in mouse erythrocytes exposed *in vivo*¹⁰; but it produced marginal increases in aberrations and a doubling of sister chromatid exchange frequencies in rat lymphocytes exposed *in vivo*¹². No data on humans were available.

Phenacetin

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects	1991	-		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			+	
Mammals (in vivo)			?	
Humans (in vivo)				

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 24, 135-161, 1980
- ² Christensen, T.E. & Ladefoged, J. (1979) Carcinomata in the urinary tract in patients with contracted kidneys and massive abuse of analgesics (phenacetin) (Swed.). *Ugeskr. Laeg.*, 141, 3522-3524
- ³ Gonwa, T.A., Corbett, W.T., Schey, H.M. & Buckalew, V.M., Jr (1980) Analgesic-associated nephropathy and transitional cell carcinoma of the urinary tract. *Ann. intern. Med.*, 93, 249-252
- ⁴ Mihatsch, M.J., Manz, T., Knüsli, C., Hofer, H.O., Rist, M., Guetg, R., Rutishauser, G. & Zollinger, H.U. (1980) Phenacetin abuse. III. Malignant urinary tract tumours with phenacetin abuse in Basel, 1963-1977 (Ger.). Schweiz. med. Wochenschr., 110, 255-264
- ⁵ Orell, S.R., Nanra, R.S. & Ferguson, N.W. (1979) Renal pelvic carcinoma in the Hunter Valley. *Med. J. Aust.*, *524*, 555-557
- ⁶ McCredie, M., Ford, J.M., Taylor, J.S. & Stewart, J.H. (1982) Cancer of the renal pelvis in New South Wales. Relationship to analgesic consumption and smoking. *Cancer*, 49, 2617-2625
- ⁷ Burnett, K.R., Miller, J.B. & Greenbaum, E.I. (1980) Transitional cell carcinoma: Rapid development in phenacetin abuse. *Am. J. Roentgenol.*, 134, 1259-1261
- ⁸ Friedman, G.D. & Ury, H.K. (1980) Initial screening for carcinogenicity of commonly used drugs. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *65*, 723-733
- ⁹ Johansson, S.L. (1981) Carcinogenicity of analgesics: Long-term treatment of Sprague-Dawley rats with phenacetin, phenazone, caffeine and paracetamol (acetamidophen). *Int. J. Cancer*, 27, 521-529
- Weinstein, D., Katz, M. & Kazmer, S. (1981) Use of a rat/hamster S-9 mixture in the Ames mutagenicity assay. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 1-9

ANILINE 49

- ¹¹ Camus, A.-M., Friesen, M., Croisy, A. & Bartsch, H. (1982) Species specific activation of phenacetin into bacterial mutagens by hamster liver enzymes and identification of *N*-hydroxyphenacetin *O*-glucuronide as promutagen in the urine. *Cancer Res.* (in press)
- ¹² Granberg-Oêhman, I., Johansson, S. & Hjerpe, A. (1980) Sister chromatid exchanges and chromosomal aberrations in rats treated with phenacetin, phenazone and caffeine. *Mutat. Res.*, 79, 13-18

ANILINE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

The excess of bladder cancer deaths observed in clusters of cases in workers in the aniline dye industry has been attributed to exposure to chemicals other than aniline. Epidemiological studies of workers exposed to aniline but to no other known bladder carcinogen have shown little evidence of increased risk. These studies are generally methodologically inadequate due to incomplete follow up of workers who left the industry and to absence of estimates of expected numbers of bladder cancers. The most methodologically rigorous study reported one death from bladder cancer in 1223 men producing or using aniline, with 0.83 deaths expected from population rates¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Aniline hydrochloride was not carcinogenic to mice when administered orally. In one experiment in rats by dietary administration it produced fibrosarcomas, sarcomas and haemangiosarcomas of the spleen or the peritoneal cavity¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Aniline did not induce DNA repair in bacteria or unscheduled DNA synthesis in mammalian cells¹. It was not mutagenic in bacteria in the presence or absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system^{1,2} but was mutagenic in bacteria exposed to urine from rats treated with aniline, or when the bacteria were exposed in the presence of norharman¹. It was not mutagenic to yeast^{1,2} or insects² but induced mutations in mouse lymphoma cells *in vitro*¹. It did not induce chromosomal aberrations in mammalian cells *in vitro*¹, although marginal increases in sister chromatid exchanges were reported^{1,3}. It did not induce chromosomal anomalies in rats or in rat bone-marrow cells *in vivo*^{1,2} and did not induce cell transformation in Syrian hamster embryo or BHK cells¹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	-	?		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects		_	***	·····
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-	+	-	T(-)
Mammals (in vivo)			-	
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 27, 39-62, 1982
- ² Kawachi, T., Yahagi, T., Kada, T., Tazima, Y., Ishidate, M., Sasaki, M. & Sugiyama, T. (1980) Cooperative programme on short-term assays for carcinogenicity in Japan. In: Montesano, R., Bartsch, H. & Tomatis, L., eds, Molecular and Cellular Aspects of Carcinogen Screening Tests (IARC Scientific Publications No. 27), Lyon, pp. 323-330
- ³ Wilmer, J.L., Kligerman, A.D. & Erexson, G.L. (1981) Sister chromatid exchange induction and cell cycle inhibition by aniline and its metabolites in human fibroblasts. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 627-638

ARSENIC AND CERTAIN ARSENIC COMPOUNDS (Group 1)*

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Exposure to inorganic arsenic compounds in drugs, drinking-water and occupational environments is causally associated with the development of skin cancer in humans. The risk of lung cancer was increased 4 to 12 times in certain smelter workers who inhaled high levels of arsenic trioxide; however, the influence of other constituents in the working environment could not be excluded. Case reports have suggested an association between exposure to arsenic compounds and the occurrence of blood dyscrasias and liver tumours¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)†

Information on the carcinogenicity of arsenic compounds in experimental animals was considered inadequate to make an evaluation¹.

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the earlier Working Group, and data on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

[†] Subsequent to the meeting of the present Group, the Secretariat became aware of a paper by Rudnay et al. (Magyar Onkologia, 25(2), 73-77, 1981) indicating an increased incidence of lung tumours in mice exposed to arsenic trioxide pre- and post-natally.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (limited)

Sodium arsenite induced DNA damage in a *rec* assay^{2,3}. Although arsenic has been reported to be mutagenic in *Escherichia coli*^{2,3}, microbial assays are generally negative for arsenic derivatives^{3,4}. It was not mutagenic in mammalian cells *in vitro*². It induced chromosomal anomalies in *Drosophila melanogaster* and in a wide range of mammalian cells³, including human peripheral leucocytes^{2,3,5}. Sodium arsenite caused a slight increase in chromosomal aberrations in bone-marrow cells of mice treated *in vivo* but did not induce dominant lethal mutation². Cytogenetic analysis of people exposed to arsenic showed significant increases of chromosomal aberrations in peripheral blood lymphocytes³, but the data did not show a strong correlation between aberration frequency and level of exposure⁶.

			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects			+	
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		-	+	
Mammals (in vivo)			?	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)			+	

DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 22-23, 1979
- ² IARC Monographs, 23, 39-141, 1980
- ³ Léonard, A. & Lauwerys, R.R. (1980) Carcinogenicity, teratogenicity and mutagenicity of arsenic. *Mutat. Res.*, 75, 49-62
- ⁴ Rossman, T.G., Stone, D., Molina, M. & Troll, W. (1980) Absence of arsenite mutagenicity in *E. coli* and Chinese hamster cells. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, *2*, 371-379
- ⁵ Nordenson, I., Sweins, A. & Beckman, L. (1981) Chromosome aberrations in cultured human lymphocytes exposed to trivalent and pentavalent arsenic. *Scand. J. Work environ. Health*, *7*, 277-281
- ⁶ Beckman, G., Beckman, L., Nordenson, I. & Nordström, S. (1979) Chromosomal aberrations in workers exposed to arsenic. In: Berg, K., ed., Genetic Damage in Man Caused by Environmental Agents, New York, Academic Press, pp. 205-211

ASBESTOS (Group 1)*

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Occupational exposure to chrysotile, amosite, anthophyllite and mixtures containing crocidolite has resulted in a high incidence of lung cancer. A predominantly tremolitic material mixed with anthophyllite and small amounts of chrysotile also caused an increased incidence of lung cancer. Pleural and peritoneal mesotheliomas have been observed after occupational exposure to crocidolite, amosite and chrysotile asbestos. Gastrointestinal cancers occurred in increased incidence in groups exposed occupationally to amosite, chrysotile or mixed fibres containing crocidolite. An excess of cancer of the larynx was also observed in exposed workers. Mesotheliomas have occurred in individuals living in the neighbourhood of asbestos factories and crocidolite mines, and in people living with asbestos workers. Cigarette smoking and occupational exposure to asbestos fibres increase lung cancer incidence independently; when they occur together, they act multiplicatively¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

All types of commercial asbestos fibre that have been tested are carcinogenic to mice, rats, hamsters and rabbits, producing mesotheliomas and lung carcinomas after inhalation exposure and after administration intrapleurally, intratracheally or intraperitoneally¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Asbestos was not mutagenic in Salmonella typhimurium or Escherichia coli². It has been claimed to be weakly mutagenic in Chinese hamster cells³, but negative results in rat epithelial cells were published recently⁴. It has been reported that asbestos produces chromosomal anomalies in mammalian cells in culture^{5,6}, but this may be secondary to toxic damage. No increase in chromosomal anomalies was seen in cultured human cells treated with asbestos⁷. Sister chromatid exchanges were not increased in treated Chinese hamster cells⁸. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects			<u> </u>	
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		-	?	
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the earlier Working Group, and data on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 23, 1979
- ² Chamberlain, M. & Tarmy, E.M. (1977) Asbestos and glass fibres in bacterial mutation tests. *Mutat. Res.*, *43*, 159-164
- ³ Huang, S.L. (1979) Amosite, chrysotile and crocidolite asbestos are mutagenic in Chinese hamster lung cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *68*, 265-274
- ⁴ Reiss, B., Solomon, S., Tong, C., Levenstein, M., Rosenberg, S.H. & Williams, G.M. (1982) Absence of mutagenic activity of three forms of asbestos in liver epithelial cells. *Environ. Res.*, *27* (in press)
- ⁵ Huang, S.L., Saggioro, D., Michelmann, H. & Malling, H.V. (1978) Genetic effects of crocidolite asbestos in Chinese hamster lung cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *57*, 225-232
- ⁶ Sincock, A. & Seabright, M. (1975) Induction of chromosome changes in Chinese hamster cells by exposure to asbestos fibres. *Nature*, *257*, 56-58
- ⁷ Sincock, A.M., Delhanty, J.D.A. & Casey, G. (1982) A comparison of the cytogenetic response to asbestos and glass fibre in Chinese hamster and human cell lines. Demonstration of growth inhibition in primary human fibroblasts. *Mutat. Res.*, 101, 257-268
- 8 Price-Jones, M.J., Gubbings, G. & Chamberlain, M. (1980) The genetic effects of crocidolite asbestos; comparison of chromosome abnormalities and sister-chromatid exchanges. *Mutat. Res.*, 79, 331-336

AURAMINE (TECHNICAL-GRADE) (Group 2B) and MANUFACTURE OF AURAMINE (Group 1)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (*limited* for auramine and *sufficient* for manufacture of auramine)

The manufacture of auramine (which also involves exposure to other chemicals) was judged to be causally associated with an increased incidence of bladder cancer¹ on the basis of one study². An increased risk of bladder cancer was reported to be associated with the manufacture of auramine in two further studies^{3,4}. No information on exposure to auramine alone was available to the Working Group.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited for auramine)

Commercial auramine (of unknown purity) is carcinogenic to mice and rats after its oral administration, producing liver tumours, and after its subcutaneous injection in rats, producing local sarcomas¹. Two-year feeding of technical-grade auramine to rats resulted

in a slight increase in the incidence of liver-cell tumours and of cholangiomas in females receiving the highest dose (200 mg/kg of diet), but no evidence of a dose-response relationship was noted³.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient for auramine)

Auramine was positive in tests for DNA repair in bacteria and in mammalian cells in culture, in the presence of exogenous metabolic activation⁵. It gave contradictory results in bacterial mutation tests⁵. In one experiment in yeast it was mutagenic in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system⁶. In single experiments, auramine induced sister chromatid exchanges in mammalian cells in culture⁵ and cell transformation (in BHK21 cells)⁵. It was negative in a micronucleus test in mice⁵. No data on humans were available.

Auramine (technical-grade)

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	?		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+		+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			_	
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 1, 69-73, 1972
- ² Case, R.A.M. & Pearson, J.T. (1954) Tumours of the urinary bladder in workmen engaged in the manufacture and use of certain dyestuff intermediates in the British chemical industry. Part II. Further consideration of the role of aniline and of the manufacture of auramine and magenta (fuchsine) as possible causative agents. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, 11, 213-216
- ³ Kirsch, P., Fleig, I., Frentzel-Beyme, R., Gembardt, C., Steinborn, J., Theiss, A.M., Koch, W., Siebert, W., Wellenreuther, G. & Zeller, H. (1978) Auramine. Toxicology and occupational health. *Arbeitsmed. Sozialmed. Präventivmed.*, 13, 1-28
- ⁴ Thiess, A.M., Link, R. & Wellenreuther, G. (1982) Mortality study of employees exposed to auramine. In: Proceedings of the IX Medichem Congress, Cairo, 1981 (in press)

- ⁵ de Serres, F.J. & Ashby, J., eds (1981) *Evaluation of Short-Term Tests for Carcinogens. Report of the International Collaborative Program*, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 181, 288, 299, 303, 325, 393, 535, 562, 634, 639, 690, 711
- ⁶ Simmon, V.F. (1979) *In vitro* assays for recombinogenic activity of chemical carcinogens and related compounds with *Saccharomyces cerevisae* D3. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *62*, 901-909

AZATHIOPRINE (Group 1)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Two large prospective epidemiological studies have shown that renal transplant patients (who receive azathioprine and prednisone almost routinely) experience increased incidences of non-Hodgkin's lymphomas, squamous-cell cancers of the skin, hepatobiliary carcinomas and mesenchymal tumours. One study of non-transplant patients treated with azathioprine showed an increased incidence of the same cancers as in transplant recipients, although to a lesser extent, indicating that the presence of the graft may contribute to the higher incidence¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Suggestive evidence was obtained that lymphomas are induced in mice after intraperitoneal, subcutaneous or intramuscular injection of azathioprine, and that ear-duct carcinomas are induced in rats after its oral administration. Because of limitations in design and reporting, however, the results were considered to be inconclusive¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Azathioprine produced mutations in bacteria, fungi and *Drosophila melanogaster*¹. Conflicting results have been obtained regarding the induction of chromosomal abnormalities in mammalian cells and in human lymphocytes *in vitro* and regarding dominant lethal effects in mice^{1,2}. Azathioprine caused morphological abnormalities in spermatids and increases in micronuclei in mice treated *in vivo*¹. Lymphocytes from patients treated with this compound showed no chromosomal abnormalities².

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Insects		+		DL(+)
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			?	
Mammals (in vivo)			+	DL(?) SA(+)
Humans (in vivo)			-	

DL = dominant lethal mutations; SA = sperm abnormalities

References

BENZAL CHLORIDE (Group 3) (See Chlorinated toluenes, production of)

BENZENE (Group 1)*

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Several case reports and an epidemiological case-control study suggest a relationship between exposure to benzene and the occurrence of leukaemia. Two cohort studies demonstrated an increased incidence of acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia in workers exposed to benzene. There has been an additional report of a large number of cases of leukaemia (most of which were acute nonlymphocytic) among a group of workers exposed to benzene¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

No evidence of carcinogenicity was seen in mice that received benzene by skin application. Other experiments in animals were considered to be inadequate to evaluate the carcinogenicity of benzene¹.

¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 47-78, 1981

² Apelt, F., Kolin-Gerresheim, J. & Bauchinger, M. (1981) Azathioprine, a clastogen in human somatic cells? Analysis of chromosome damage and SCE in lymphocytes after exposure *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Mutat. Res.*, 88, 61-72

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the earlier Working Group, and data on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

BENZIDINE 57

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (limited)

Benzene was not mutagenic in bacteria, yeast, *Drosophila melanogaster*, mouse lymphoma cells in culture or mammalian cells *in vivo*². It induced chromosomal anomalies in mammalian cells *in vitro*² and in mice and rats but not in Chinese hamsters³ *in vivo*. It did not induce dominant lethal mutations in mice². Benzene induced chromosomal anomalies in occupationally exposed people².

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants		_		
Insects		-		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		-	+	
Mammals (in vivo)		-	+	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)		<u></u>	+	

DL = dominant lethal mutations

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 24, 1979
- 2 IARC Monographs, 29, 93-148, 1982
- ³ Siou, G., Conan, L. & el Haitem, M. (1981) Evaluation of the clastogenic action of benzene by oral administration with 2 cytogenetic techniques in mouse and Chinese hamster. *Mutat. Res.*, 90, 273-278

BENZIDINE (Group 1)*

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Case reports and follow-up studies of workers provide sufficient evidence that occupational exposure to benzidine is causally associated with an increased risk of bladder cancer. The causal association is strengthened by data which suggest that the incidence of this cancer in workers decreased after a reduction in industrial exposure¹.

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the earlier Working Group, and data on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Benzidine is carcinogenic to experimental animals after its oral and subcutaneous administration, producing liver tumours in rats and hamsters, and bladder cancer in dogs¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Benzidine produces indirect evidence of DNA repair in bacteria; there are conflicting reports of its ability to induce DNA repair in mammalian cells *in vitro*². It was mutagenic to bacteria in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system^{2,3}. There are conflicting reports of its genetic activity: it probably induced mutation, gene conversion and aneuploidy in yeasts^{2,3}; one study in *Drosophila melanogaster* was positive for mutations² and three others negative³. Benzidine induced mutation, sister chromatid exchanges and chromosomal aberrations in mammalian cells treated *in vitro*, in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system³. There are conflicting reports on its ability to induce chromosomal anomalies in mice treated *in vivo*³, and it gave inconsistent results in sperm abnormality assays in mice treated *in vivo*³. It caused cell transformation (in BHK21 cells)³. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants	***************************************	+	+	
Insects		?		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	?	+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)		***************************************	?	SA(?)
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation; SA = sperm abnormalities

¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 25, 1979

² IARC Monographs, 29, 151-183, 1982

³ de Serres, F.J. & Ashby J., eds (1981) *Evaluation of Short-Term Tests for Carcinogens.* Report of the International Collaborative Program, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 180, 190, 251, 264, 426, 473, 530, 535, 632, 657, 663, 669, 675, 714

BENZIDINE-BASED DYES:

DIRECT BLACK 38 (TECHNICAL-GRADE) (Group 2B)
DIRECT BLUE 6 (TECHNICAL-GRADE) (Group 2B)
DIRECT BROWN 95 (TECHNICAL-GRADE) (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate for Direct Black 38, Direct Blue 6 and Direct Brown 95)

The epidemiological data were inadequate to evaluate the carcinogenicity to man of the three benzidine-based dyes, Direct Black 38, Direct Blue 6 and Direct Brown 95. However, a study of silk dyers and painters who had had multiple exposure to benzidine-based and other dyes indicated that those exposures were strongly associated with the occurrence of bladder cancer. Benzidine has been detected in the urine of workers exposed to direct azo dyes¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient for Direct Black 38 and Direct Blue 6, limited for Direct Brown 95)

Commercial *Direct Black 38* is carcinogenic to experimental animals after oral exposure: administration to mice in drinking-water produced liver and mammary tumours; administration to rats in the diet produced hepatocellular carcinomas within 13 weeks. In another study in rats, in which the dye was administered in drinking-water, small numbers of carcinomas were found in the urinary bladder, liver and colon. Commercial material may contain small quantities of two other animal carcinogens, 4-aminobiphenyl and 2,4-diaminobenzene¹.

In a single study, *Direct Blue 6* produced hepatocellular carcinomas in rats within 13 weeks after its oral administration. The commercial product contains small amounts of benzidine¹.

Direct Brown 95 produced neoplastic nodules in the liver and one hepatocellular carcinoma in 10 female rats after its oral administration, in a single study terminated after 13 weeks. The finding of preneoplastic lesions after such a short exposure period indicates a carcinogenic effect similar to that of Direct Black 38 and Direct Blue6¹. In rats, mice and monkeys, oral administration of Direct Brown 95 is followed by excretion of benzidine in the urine.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate for Direct Black 38, no data for Direct Blue 6 and Direct Brown 95)

Direct Black 38 was mutagenic to *Salmonella typhimurium* in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system¹. No data on the mutagenicity of Direct Blue 6 or Direct Brown 95 were available to the Working Group. No data on humans were available.

Direct Black 38

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other	
Prokaryotes		+			
Fungi/Green plants					
Insects					
Mammalian cells (in vitro)					
Mammals (in vivo)					
Humans (in vivo)					
·					

Reference

¹ IARC Monographs, 29, 295-330, 1982

BENZO[a]PYRENE (Group 2A) (See Soots, tars and oils)

BENZOTRICHLORIDE (Group 2B) (See Chlorinated toluenes, production of)

BENZOYL CHLORIDE (Group 3) (See Chlorinated toluenes, production of)

BENZYL CHLORIDE (Group 3) (See Chlorinated toluenes, production of)

BERYLLIUM AND CERTAIN BERYLLIUM COMPOUNDS (Group 2A)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited)

Four early epidemiological studies and three recent ones of occupational exposure to beryllium were considered to provide limited evidence that exposure to beryllium may lead to human lung cancer¹. The data for most of the studies were derived from two beryllium plants and from the Beryllium Case Registry. Although 55 new cases of beryllium disease were registered between 1973 and 1977², no further data were available on the incidence of lung cancer. An analysis of the pathology of the 47 lung cancers noted in one study³ confirmed the post-mortem diagnosis of lung cancer in 32 of the 37 cases available for review⁴; no one cell type predominated. Of the 47 cases, 21 were noted to have been smokers, but the smoking histories of the other cases were not given.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Beryllium compounds are carcinogenic in rats, rabbits and monkeys. Beryllium metal, beryllium-aluminium alloy, beryl ore, beryllium chloride, beryllium fluoride, beryllium hydroxide, beryllium sulphate (or its tetrahydrate)¹ and beryllium oxide⁵ all produce lung tumours in rats exposed by inhalation or intratracheally. Beryllium oxide and beryllium sulphate produce lung tumours in monkeys after intrabronchial implantation or inhalation. Beryllium metal, beryllium carbonate, beryllium oxide, beryllium phosphate, beryllium silicate and zinc beryllium silicate all produce osteosarcomas in rabbits following their intravenous and/or intramedullary administration¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Beryllium sulphate did not elicit unscheduled DNA synthesis in mammalian cells in culture. It was not mutagenic in bacteria¹. There is some evidence that beryllium induces mutation in V79 cells *in vitro*⁶, and conflicting evidence that it induces chromosomal aberrations in cultured mammalian cells¹. It induced cell transformation in Syrian hamster embryo cells¹. It caused misincorporation of nucleotides in an in-vitro DNA-transcription assay¹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		_		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-	?	?	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation

¹ IARC Monographs, 23, 185-190, 1980

² Sprince, N.L. & Kazemi, H. (1980) US Beryllium Case Registry through 1977. *Environ. Res.*, *21*, 44-47

³ Wagoner, J.K., Infante, P.F. & Bayliss, D.L. (1980) Beryllium: An etiologic agent in the induction of lung cancer, nonneoplastic respiratory disease, and heart disease among industrially exposed workers. *Environ. Res.*, 21, 15-34

- ⁴ Smith, A.B. & Suzuki, Y. (1980) Histopathologic classification of bronchogenic carcinomas among a cohort of workers occupationally exposed to beryllium. *Environ. Res.*, 21, 10-14
- ⁵ Ishinishi, N., Mizunoe, M., Inamasu, T. & Hisanaga, A. (1980) Experimental study on carcinogenicity of beryllium oxide and arsenic trioxide to the lung of rats by an intratracheal instillation (Jpn.). *Fukuoka Acta med.*, 71, 19-26
- ⁶ Miyaki, M., Akamatsu, N., Ono, T. & Koyama, H. (1979) Mutagenicity of metal cations in cultured cells from Chinese hamster. *Mutat. Res.*, *68*, 259-263
- ⁷ Pienta, R.J. (1980) Evaluation and relevance of the Syrian hamster embryo cell system. In: Williams, G.M., Kroes, R., Waaijers, H.W. & van de Poll, K.W., eds, *The Predictive Value of Short-Term Screening Tests in Carcinogenicity Evaluation*, Amsterdam, Elsevier/North Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 149-169

N,N-BIS(2-CHLOROETHYL)-2-NAPHTHYLAMINE (CHLORNAPHAZINE) (Group 1)*

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

The administration of chlornaphazine together with radioactive phosphorus (³²P-sodium phosphate) caused bladder cancer in 10 of 61 patients treated in this way for polycythemia vera. No case of bladder cancer was found among 46 patients treated with ³²P-sodium phosphate alone¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Chlornaphazine produces lung tumours in mice following its intraperitoneal injection, and local sarcomas in rats after its subcutaneous administration¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (limited)

N,N-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-2-naphthylamine was weakly mutagenic in Salmonella typhimurium; its activity was substantially increased by the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system². It was also mutagenic in Drosophila melanogaster, producing sexlinked recessive lethal mutations and small chromosome deletions³. No data on humans were available.

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the earlier Working Group, and data on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, p. 26, 1979
- ² Benedict, W.F., Baker, M.S., Haroun, L., Choi, E. & Ames, B.N. (1977) Mutagenicity of cancer chemotherapeutic agents in the *Salmonella*/microsome test. *Cancer Res.*, *37*, 2209-2213
- ³ Fahmy, O.G. & Fahmy, M.J. (1970) Gene elimination in carcinogenesis: Reinterpretation of the somatic mutation theory. *Cancer Res.*, *30*, 195-205

BISCHLOROETHYL NITROSOUREA (BCNU) (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

BCNU has been associated in case reports with the development of acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia following its use for the treatment of primary malignant diseases. In all such cases, BCNU was administered with other anticancer therapies known or suspected of being carcinogenic¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

BCNU is carcinogenic to rats, producing tumours of the lung after its intraperitoneal or intravenous administration, and intra-abdominal tumours after its intraperitoneal administration. Tests in mice by intraperitoneal administration and in rats by oral administration could not be evaluated. When tested in mice by skin application together with ultra-violet B irradiation, BCNU caused an earlier appearance of skin tumours¹. Two studies by skin painting in mice were inadequate^{1,2}.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

BCNU, a directly-acting alkylating agent, reacted with DNA *in vitro* and induced mutations in bacteria and *Drosophila melanogaster* and in mammalian cells *in vitro*¹. It produced chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchange in bone-marrow cells of mice exposed *in vivo*³. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+		,
Mammals (in vivo)			+	
Humans (in vivo)				,

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 79-95, 1981
- ² Zackheim, H.S. & Smuckler, E.A. (1980) Tumorigenic effect of topical mechlorethamine, BCNU and CCNU in mice. *Experientia*, *36*, 1211-1212
- ³ Biegel, J.A., Boggs, S.S. & Conner, M.K. (1980) Comparison of BCNU induced SCE in bone marrow cells of AKR/J and BDF₁ mice (Abstract no. Ad-4). *Environ. Mutagenesis*, *2*, 245

BIS(CHLOROMETHYL)ETHER AND TECHNICAL-GRADE CHLORO-METHYL METHYL ETHER (Group 1)*

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Two studies of workers exposed to bis(chloromethyl)ether (BCME) and technical-grade chloromethyl methyl ether (CMME) showed that they had an increased risk of lung cancer, mainly oat-cell carcinoma. Two subsequent studies showed a positive association

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the earlier Working Group, and data.on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

between the presence of atypical cells in bronchial excretions and exposure to BCME, which was not related to cigarette smoking. Several studies have demonstrated significant excesses of lung cancer, predominantly oat-cell carcinoma, among workers exposed to BCME or CMME, which were related directly to intensity and duration of exposure. The excesses of mortality from respiratory cancer were most marked among workers under 55 years of age. The evaluation of the carcinogenicity of CMME alone is complicated by the presence in it of 1-8% BCME as a contaminant¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

BCME produces tumours at the site of its administration after exposure by inhalation, skin application or subcutaneous injection, and in rats after inhalation or subcutaneous administration. Technical-grade CMME produces local sarcomas in mice after subcutaneous administration and is an initiator of skin tumours¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (limited)

BCME

BCME is an alkylating agent which forms adducts with DNA *in vitro*^{2,3}. It is mutagenic to bacteria in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system⁴⁻⁶. CMME is mutagenic to bacteria⁶. No data on humans were available.

Prokaryotes + + + Fungi/Green plants Insects Mammalian cells (in vitro) Mammals (in vivo) Humans (in vivo) CMME DNA damage Mutation Chromosomal Other anomalies

СММЕ				
	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			***************************************	
Mammals (in vivo)				*******
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 26-27, 1979
- ² Goldschmidt, B.M., Van Duuren, B.L. & Frenkel, K. (1975) The reaction of ¹⁴C-labelled bis(chloromethyl)ether with DNA (Abstract no. 263). *Proc. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.*, 16, 66
- ³ Goldschmidt, B.M., Katz, C., Melchionne, S., Sivak, A. & Van Duuren, B.L. (1970) Carcinogenicity and chemical reactivity of chloroethers (Abstract no. 7). *Int. Cancer Congr. Abstr.*, 10, 7
- ⁴ Anderson, D. & Styles, J.A. (1978) Appendix II. The bacterial mutation test. *Br. J. Cancer*, 37, 924-930
- ⁵ McCann, J., Choi, E., Yamasaki, E. & Ames, B.N. (1975) Detection of carcinogens as mutagens in the *Salmonella*/microsome test: Assay of 300 chemicals. *Proc. natl Acad. Sci. USA*, 72, 5135-5139
- ⁶ Mukai, F.H. & Hawryluk, I. (1973) Mutagenicity of some halo-ethers and halo-ketones (Abstract no. 33). *Mutat. Res.*, *21*, 228

BLEOMYCINS (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

The development of acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia following the administration of bleomycins with many other cytotoxic agents has been described in patients with Hodgkin's disease or non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. In a small epidemiological study of short duration, no excess of subsequent neoplasms was observed in patients treated with a regimen consisting of bleomycins, adriamycin, vinblastine and dacarbazine¹. [See also the summary of data on 'Certain combined chemotherapy for lymphomas (including MOPP)'.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

The two available studies could not be evaluated because of incomplete reporting.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Bleomycin induced single- and double-strand DNA breaks and chromosomal damage in mammalian cells in culture^{2,3}; it was also positive in the inductest in *Escherichia coli*⁴. The compound was negative in the *Salmonella*/microsome mutagenesis assay¹, but reports of the induction of point mutations are contradictory⁵. In *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, positive¹, negative and antimutagenic effects have been reported; an abstract

reported that it was mutagenic in *Aspergillus nidulans*⁶. It was mutagenic in *Drosophila melanogaster*^{1,7}. Bleomycin produced chromosomal aberrations in cultured mammalian cells² and in spermatogonia and bone-marrow cells of mice treated *in vivo*⁸. Bleomycin caused cell transformation in C3H $10T\frac{1}{2}$ cells¹. Lymphocytes and bone-marrow cells from patients treated with bleomycin alone^{1,9} or with radiation¹⁰ showed chromosomal aberrations.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	•		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+		+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			+	
Humans (in vivo)			+	

T = cell transformation

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 97-113, 1981
- ² Vig, B.K. & Lewis, R. (1978) Genetic toxicology of bleomycin. *Mutat. Res.*, 55, 121-145
- ³ Sognier, M.A. & Hittelman, W.N. (1979) The repair of bleomycin-induced DNA damage and its relationship to chromosome aberration repair. *Mutat. Res.*, *62*, 517-527
- ⁴ Elespuru, R.K. & Yarmolinsky, M.B. (1979) A colorimetric assay of lysogenic induction designed for screening potential carcinogenic and carcinostatic agents. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 1, 64-78
- ⁵ Traut, H. (1980) Mutagenic effects of bleomycin in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, *2*, 89-96
- ⁶ Demopoulos, N., Pelecanos, M. & Kappas, A. (1980a) Bleomycin: A strong mutagen in *Aspergillus nidulans* (Abstract). *Mutat. Res.*, *80*, 233
- ⁷ Demopoulos, N.A., Stamatis, N.D. & Yannopoulos, G. (1980b) Induction of somatic and male crossing-over by bleomycin in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Mutat. Res.*, *78*, 347-351
- ⁸ van Buul, P.P.W. & Goudzwaard, J.H. (1980) Bleomycin-induced structural chromosomal aberrations in spermatogonia and bone-marrow cells of mice. *Mutat. Res.*, *69*, 319-324

- ⁹ Schinzel, A. & Schmid, W. (1976) Lymphocyte chromosome studies in humans exposed to chemical mutagens. The validity of the method in 67 patients under cytostatic therapy. *Mutat. Res.*, 40, 139-166
- ¹⁰ Obe, G., Matthiessen, W. & Göbel, D. (1981) Chromosomal aberrations in the peripheral lymphocytes of cancer patients treated with high-energy electrons and bleomycin. *Mutat. Res.*, 81, 133-141

BOOT AND SHOE MANUFACTURE AND REPAIR (CERTAIN OCCUPATIONS) (Group 1) (See Industries)

1,4-BUTANEDIOL DIMETHANESULPHONATE (MYLERAN) (Group 1)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Many cytological abnormalities, including giant nuclei1, cytomegaly2 and dysplasia3 have been observed in leukaemia patients treated with myleran; in one instance, cytomegaly was seen in an infant who was in utero during treatment of the mother4. A patient treated with myleran for polycythemia vera developed acute and chronic haemolysis, pancytopenia, erythroid hyperplasia, dyserythropoiesis, and circulating normoblasts, all of which reverted to normal after cessation of myleran therapy⁵. Carcinoma of the breast⁶ and of the vulva⁷ have been seen in association with similar cytological abnormalities in the respective solid tissues. One case of acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia has also been reported in a patient with polycythemia vera treated with myleran8. After surgical removal of all visible intrathoracic lung cancer, 726 patients in London were allocated at random to treatment with myleran (243), cyclophosphamide (234) or placebo (249)9. After five years, 69 patients who received myleran, 63 who received cyclophosphamide and 85 who received placebo were still alive. By nine years, pancytopenia had developed in 20 of the patients, 19 of whom had received myleran; of these 19, four developed and died from acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia. While none of these were among the 15% of patients treated with myleran who also received radiotherapy and/or other cytotoxic drugs, no relationship was observed between cumulative dose of myleran and either pancytopenia or leukaemia. Solid tumours occurred in 19 other patients in the study but were approximately equally divided among the three drug groups.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Intraperitoneal administration of myleran to mice did not increase the incidence of tumours in two studies^{6,10} but induced T-cell lymphoma in male mice in another study¹¹; the effect was markedly enhanced by combined administration with chloramphenicol.

This result was confirmed 12 , but the experiment could not be evaluated due to incomplete reporting. Intravenous administration of myleran to mice significantly increased the incidence of thymic and ovarian tumours 6 , and treatment of mice by an unspecified route induced a variety of pulmonary lesions including a 6% incidence of adenomas 13 . Oral administration to rats of myleran did not increase the incidence of tumours 6 , and the incidence of mammary tumours was not increased after intraperitoneal injection, but near lethal doses were used and the animals were followed for only five months 14 . It was reported that intravenous administration of 7% of the LD₅₀ dose induced a variety of tumours in male rats, however the experiments could not be evaluated 15 .

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Myleran is an alkylating agent. It was positive in a test for DNA damage and was mutagenic in *Salmonella typhimurium*¹⁶, *Drosophila melanogaster*¹⁷ and barley¹⁸. Myleran induced chromosomal aberrations in barley¹⁸ and in intact rodents^{19,20} and chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in cultured human cells^{21,22}. It induced dominant lethal mutations in a teleost fish²³ and in rodents²⁴ but was negative in the mouse specific locus test²⁵. It induced cell transformation in BHK cells¹⁶. Myleran induced chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in lymphocytes and bonemarrow cells from patients treated with this drug for chronic myeloid leukaemia²⁶.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+	+	
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			+	DL(+)
Humans (in vivo)			+	

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ Waller, U. (1960) Giant nuclei after myleran therapy and spleen irradiation for chronic myeloid leukaemia (Ger.). *Pathol. Microbiol.*, *23*, 283-290
- ² Güreli, N., Denham, S.W. & Root, S.W. (1963) Cytologic dysplasia related to busulfan (myleran) therapy. *Obstet. Gynecol.*, *21*, 466-470
- ³ Japp, H. (1974) Toxic effect of busulfan (myleran) with irradiation for chronic myeloid leukaemia (Ger.). *Schweiz. med. Wochenschr.*, 104, 1115-1119

- ⁴ Diamond, I., Anderson, M.M. & McCreadie, S.R. (1960) Transplacental transmission of busulfan (Myleran^R) in a mother with leukaemia. Production of fetal malformation and cytomegaly. *Pediatrics*, *25*, 85-90
- ⁵ Pezzimenti, J.F., Kim, H.C. & Lindenbaum, J. (1976) Erythroleukemia-like syndrome due to busulfan toxicity in polycythemia vera. *Cancer*, *38*, 2242-2246
- 6 IARC Monographs, 4, 247-253, 1974
- ⁷ Feingold, M.L. & Koss, L.G. (1969) Effects of long-term administration of busulfan. Report of a patient with generalized nuclear abnormalities, carcinoma of vulva, and pulmonary fibrosis. *Arch. intern. Med.*, 124, 66-71
- ⁸ Dittmar, K. (1979) Acute myeloblastic leukemia with polycythemia vera. Treated with busulfan and phlebotomy. *N.Y. State J. Med.*, *79*, 758-760
- ⁹ Stott, H., Fox, W., Girling, D.J., Stephens, R.J. & Galton, D.A.G. (1977) Acute leukaemia after busulfan. *Br. med. J.*, *ii*, 1513-1517
- 10 Stoner, G.D., Shimkin, M.B., Kniazeff, A.J., Weisburger, J.H., Weisburger, E.K. & Gori, G.B. (1973) Test for carcinogenicity of food additives and chemotherapeutic agents by the pulmonary tumor response in strain A mice. *Cancer Res.*, 33, 3069-3085
- ¹¹ Robin, E., Berman, M., Bhoopalam, N., Cohen, H. & Fried, W. (1981) Induction of lymphomas in mice by busulfan and chloramphenicol. *Cancer Res.*, *41*, 3478-3482
- ¹² Morley, A. & Blake, J. (1974) An animal model of chronic aplastic marrow failure. I. Late marrow failure after busulfan. *Blood*, *44*, 49-57
- ¹³ Lin, L.M.T. (1973) Pulmonary lesions following administration of bisulfan to mice. *Dissertation Abstracts Int. B.*, *33(12)*, 3934-3936
- ¹⁴ Philips, F.S. & Sternberg, S.S. (1975) Tests for tumor induction by antitumor agents. *Recent Results Cancer Res.*, *52*, 29-35
- ¹⁵ Schmähl, D. (1975) Experimental investigations with anti-cancer drugs for carcinogenicity with special reference to immunodepression. *Recent Results Cancer Res.*, *52*, 18-28
- ¹⁶ Strobel, R., Basler, A., Theiss, I. & Röhrborn, G. (1980) Carcinogenic and mutagenic effects induced by busulfan (Abstract no. 131). *Mutat. Res.*, 74, 234-235
- ¹⁷ Vogel, E., Blijleven, W.G.H., Klapwijk, P.M. & Zijlstra, J.A. (1980) Some current perspectives of the application of Drosophila in the evaluation of carcinogens. In: Williams, G.M., Kroes, R., Waaijers, H.W. & van de Poll, K.W., eds, *The Predictive Value of Short-Term Screening Tests in Carcinogenicity Evaluation*, Amsterdam, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 125-147
- ¹⁸ Nilan, R.A. (1964) *The Cytology and Genetics of Barley*, Seattle, Washington State University, p. 65
- ¹⁹ Miltenburger, H.G., Metzger, P. & Krause, C. (1980) Busulphan-induced chromosomal aberrations in intestinal cells of Chinese hamster. *Mutat. Res.*, 79, 257-262

- ²⁰ Léonard, A. & Léonard, E.D. (1978) Cytogenetic effects of myleran in vivo on bone-marrow cells from male mice. Mutat. Res., 56, 329-333
- ²¹ Honeycombe, J.R. (1978) The effects of busulphan on the chromosomes of normal human lymphocytes. *Mutat. Res.*, *57*, 35-49
- ²² Honeycombe, J.R. (1981) Spontaneous and busulphan-induced sister-chromatid exchange (SCE) frequencies in haematologically normal human bone marrow and lymphocytes. *Mutat. Res.*, *84*, 399-407
- ²³ Wardhaugh, A.A. (1981) Dominant lethal mutations in *Tilapia mossambica* (Peters) elicited by myleran. *Mutat. Res.*, *88*, 191-196
- ²⁴ Generoso, W.M., Huff, S.W. & Stout, S.K. (1971) Chemically induced dominant-lethal mutations and cell killing in mouse oocytes in the advanced stages of follicular development. *Mutat. Res.*, 11, 411-420
- ²⁵ Russell, L.B., Selby, P.B., Halle, E., von, Sheridan, W. & Valcovic, L. (1981) The mouse specific-locus test with agents other than radiations. Interpretation of data and recommendations for future work. *Mutat. Res.*, 86, 329-354
- ²⁶ Honeycombe, J.R. (1981) The cytogenetic effects of busulphan therapy on the Ph'-positive cells and lymphocytes from patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia. *Mutat. Res.*, 81, 81-102

CADMIUM AND CERTAIN CADMIUM COMPOUNDS (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited)

Studies have suggested that human exposure to cadmium (primarily as the oxide) is associated with increased risks of prostatic, respiratory and genito-urinary cancers1,2, although in some cases the excess risk was not statistically significant. Three further studies have been reported. One is a follow-up of an investigation of 269 cadmium-nickel battery workers and 94 cadmium-copper alloy factory workers³. Additional cases of nasopharyngeal, colorectal, prostatic and lung cancer increased the already elevated relative risks. A separate study⁴ of 347 cadmium-copper alloy workers exposed to cadmium fume has been reported, in which their mortality is compared with that of workers exposed indirectly to cadmium but also to arsenic. A third group of iron or brass founders was included, and the mortality rates were compared separately with statistics for the general population. The study shows a significant increase in deaths from prostatic, genito-urinary and lung cancers in people working in the vicinity, but not in the cadmium workers themselves. Insufficient information is given regarding the movement of men between or out of the three adjacent plants to assess the relative contribution of arsenic, cadmium or smoking to the results (which run counter to those of most other studies). A preliminary report has been published⁵ of a mortality study of 3026 nickelcadmium battery workers over the period 1923-1975, with an analysis of 659 deaths. The standardized mortality ratio for all cancers was 100, and no statistically significant excess was noted for cancer at any major site, including the prostate. The limitations and inconsistencies in the epidemiological studies persuaded the Group that it was still far from clear which were the target organs for the putative carcinogenic action of cadmium in humans.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Cadmium chloride, oxide, sulphate and sulphide are carcinogenic in rats, causing local sarcomas after their subcutaneous injection. Cadmium powder and cadmium sulphide produce local sarcomas in rats following their intramuscular administration. Cadmium chloride and cadmium sulphate produce testicular atrophy followed by testicular tumours in mice and rats after their subcutaneous administration^{1,6}. Administration of up to 50 mg/kg (ppm) cadmium chloride in the diet to rats did not produce tumours⁷.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

There are conflicting data with regard to the induction by cadmium of DNA damage and mutagenicity in bacteria and yeast⁸⁻¹⁰. Cadmium was not mutagenic in *Drosophila melanogaster*¹⁰. It produced chromosomal aberrations in human and mammalian cells *in vitro*¹¹⁻¹⁴. It did not induce dominant lethal effects or sperm abnormalities in mice^{10,15}, but cadmium acetate transformed Syrian hamster embryo cells¹⁶. There was conflicting evidence with regard to the production of chromosomal aberrations in exposed people^{1,17}.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	?	?		
Fungi/Green plants		?		
Insects		-		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)				DL(-) SA(-)
Humans (in vivo)			?	

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations; SA = sperm abnormalities

¹ IARC Monographs, 11, 39-74, 1976

² Piscator, M. (1982) Role of cadmium in carcinogenesis - with special reference to cancer of the prostate. *Environ. Health Perspect.* (in press)

- ³ Kjellström, T. (1980) Further evaluation of cancer morbidity in Swedish cadmium exposed workers. In: Edited Proceedings. Second International Cadmium Conference, Cannes, 1979, Worcester Park, Surrey, Metal Bulletin Ltd
- ⁴ Holden, H. (1980) Further mortality studies on workers exposed to cadmium fume. In: Seminar on Occupational Exposure to Cadmium, London, Cadmium Association
- ⁵ Sorahan, T. (1981) A mortality study of nickel-cadmium battery workers. In: Edited Proceedings. Third International Cadmium Conference, Miami, 1980, Worcester Park, Surrey, Metal Bulletin Ltd, pp. 138-141
- ⁶ Reddy, J., Svoboda, D., Azarnoff, D. & Dawar, R. (1973) Cadmium-induced Leydig cell tumors of rat testis: morphologic and cytochemical study. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *51*, 891-903
- ⁷ Löser, E. (1980) A 2 year oral carcinogenicity study with cadmium on rats. *Cancer Lett.*, 9, 191-198
- ⁸ Rinkus, S.J. & Legator, M.S. (1979) Chemical characterization of 465 known or suspected carcinogens and their correlation with mutagenic activities in the *Salmonella typhimurium* system. *Cancer Res.*, 39, 3289-3318
- ⁹ De Flora, S. (1981) Study of 106 organic and inorganic compounds in the *Salmo-nella*/microsome test. *Carcinogenesis*, *2*, 283-298
- ¹⁰ Degraeve, N. (1981) Carcinogenic, teratogenic and mutagenic effects of cadmium. Mutat. Res., 86, 115-135
- ¹¹ Horvat, D., Rozgaj, R. Bauman, A. & Racicé, J. (1981) Cytogenetic effect of uranyl nitrate and cadmium chloride on V79 Chinese hamster cells (Abstract). *Mutat. Res.*, 80, 188
- ¹² Röhr, G. & Bauchinger, M. (1976) Chromosome analyses in cell cultures of the Chinese hamster after application of cadmium sulphate. *Mutat. Res.*, *40*, 125-130
- ¹³ Gasiorek, K. & Bauchinger, M. (1981) Chromosome changes in human lymphocytes after separate and combined treatment with divalent salts of lead, cadmium, and zinc. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, *3*, 513-518
- ¹⁴ Deaven, L.L. & Campbell, E.W. (1980) Factors affecting the induction of chromosomal aberrations by cadmium in Chinese hamster cells. Cytogenet. Cell Genet., 26, 251-260
- ¹⁵ Sutou, S., Yamamoto, K., Sendota, H., Tomomatsu, K., Shimizu, Y. & Sugiyama, M. (1980) Toxicity, fertility, teratogenicity, and dominant lethal tests in rats administered cadmium subchronically. 1. Toxicity studies. *Ecotoxicol. environ. Saf.*, 4, 39-50
- ¹⁶ DiPaolo, J.A. & Casto, B.C. (1979) Quantitative studies of in vitro morphological transformation of Syrian hamster cells by inorganic metal salts. Cancer Res., 39, 1008-1013
- ¹⁷ O'Riordan, M.L., Hugues, E.G. & Evans, H.J. (1978) Chromosome studies on blood lymphocytes of men occupationally exposed to cadmium. *Mutat. Res.*, *58*, 305-311

CARBON TETRACHLORIDE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Three case reports describe the occurrence of liver tumours associated with cirrhosis in people who had been exposed to carbon tetrachloride¹. A mortality study of laundry and dry-cleaning workers exposed to a variety of solvents suggests excesses of respiratory cancers (17 observed, 10.0 expected), cervical cancers (10 observed, 4.8 expected), liver tumours (4 observed, 1.7 expected) and leukaemia (5 observed, 2.2 expected)².

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Carbon tetrachloride is carcinogenic to mice and rats, producing liver neoplasms after its administration by various routes^{1,3} and mammary neoplasms in rats following its subcutaneous injection¹. It also produced liver tumours in trout and hamsters following its oral administration¹, although these studies were not totally adequate.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Carbon tetrachloride was not mutagenic in bacteria^{1,4}. It was mutagenic in yeast at almost lethal doses⁵. It did not induce chromosomal damage in cultured rat liver epithelial cells⁶ and did not induce unscheduled DNA synthesis in the hepatocytes of rats exposed in vivo⁷. Studies of DNA binding were inadequate^{1,8,9}. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes			and the second s	
Fungi/Green plants		?		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	
Mammals (in vivo)	_			
Humans (in vivo)				

¹ IARC Monographs, 20, 371-399, 1979

² Blair, A., Decouflé, P. & Grauman, D. (1979) Causes of death among laundry and dry cleaning workers. *Am. J. publ. Health*, *69*, 508-511

- ³ Kalashnikova, M.M., Rubetskoi, L.S. & Zhuravlena, M.V. (1980) Electron-microscopic and histochemical characteristics of hepatomas arising after prolonged administration of carbon tetrachloride (Russ.). *Bjull. eksp. Biol. Med.*, 89, 744-747
- ⁴ De Flora, S. (1981) Study of 106 organic and inorganic compounds in the *Salmonella*/microsome test. *Carcinogenesis*, *12*, 283-298
- ⁵ Callen, D.F., Wolf, C.R. & Philpot, R.M. (1980) Cytochrome P-450 mediated genetic activity and cytotoxicity of seven halogenated aliphatic hydrocarbons in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mutat. Res.*, 77, 55-63
- ⁶ Dean, B.J. & Hodson-Walker, G. (1979) An *in vitro* chromosome assay using cultured ratliver cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *64*, 329-337
- ⁷ Mirsalis, J.C. & Butterworth, B.E. (1980) Detection of unscheduled DNA synthesis in hepatocytes isolated from rats treated with genotoxic agents: An *in vivo-in vitro* assay for potential carcinogens and mutagens. *Carcinogenesis*, 1, 621-625
- 8 Kubinski, H., Gutske, G.E. & Kubinski, Z.O. (1980) DNA-cell-binding (DCB) assay for suspected carcinogens and mutagens. *Mutat. Res.*, 89, 95-136
- ⁹ Lutz, W.K. (1979) *In vivo* covalent binding of organic chemicals to DNA as a quantitative indicator in the process of chemical carcinogenesis. *Mutat. Res.*, *65*, 289-356

CARPENTRY AND JOINERY (CERTAIN OCCUPATIONS) (Group 3) (See Industries)

CERTAIN COMBINED CHEMOTHERAPY FOR LYMPHOMAS (INCLU-DING MOPP) (Group 1)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Many cases of malignancy have been reported following chemotherapy for Hodgkin's disease and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma¹. Most have been acute nonlymphocytic leukae-mia¹.², but there have also been cases of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma¹.³-6 and solid tumours¹.²-8. In 613 consecutive patients with Hodgkin's disease followed for two to ten years after treatment with chemotherapy (152), radiotherapy (117) or chemotherapy plus radiotherapy (344)³, acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia appeared in 2, 0 and 5 patients, respectively, and solid tumours (central nervous system, thyroid, stomach, lung, nasal) in 1, 0 and 4 of them. The actuarial frequency of leukaemia and of solid tumours five to seven years after therapy was about 2%; while no expected number of second malignancies was computed, it is presumed to be much lower. Of 1094 patients with

Hodgkin's disease treated with MOPP, 31 developed solid tumours (at various sites), a frequency estimated to comprise an actuarial risk of over 5% at 10 years. This risk was consistently higher in subsets receiving combined chemotherapy^{10,11}. Five cases of acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia arose after treatment for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, mostly with MOPP¹², representing an actuarial risk of 4.5% at five years. No expected risk was calculated. No difference between the observed (31) and expected (26) numbers of second malignant neoplasms was found in a review of 630 cases of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma diagnosed from 1968-1978¹³. The cases survived for a total of 2059 person-years beginning six months after diagnosis. No case of acute leukaemia was seen.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals

No data were available.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

An increase in the frequency of sister chromatid exchange was seen in nurses handling cytostatic drugs¹⁴.

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 311-339, 365-384, 1981
- ² Blanc, A.P., Gastaut, J.A. & Carcassonne, Y. (1979) Secondary malignancies during Hodgkin's disease. An observation (Fr.). Sem. Hôp. Paris, 55, 80-82
- ³ Kim, H.D., Bedetti, C.D. & Boggs, D.R. (1980) The development of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma following therapy for Hodgkin's disease. *Cancer*, *46*, 2596-2602
- ⁴ Andrieu, J.M., Casassus, P., Degos, L., Preud'homme, J.L., Berger, R. & Flandrin, G. (1980) Burkitt's lymphoma occurring 6 years after Hodgkin's disease. *Acta haematol.*, 63, 330-332
- ⁵ Lowenthal, R.M., Harlow, R.W.H., Mead, A.E., Tuck, D. & Challis, D.R. (1981) T-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma after radiotherapy and chemotherapy for Hodgkin's disease. *Cancer*, 48, 1586-1589
- ⁶ Arkin, C.F., Kurtz, S.R. & Sparks, J.T. (1981) Acute B-cell leukemia occurring with Hodgkin's disease. *Am. J. clin. Pathol.*, *75*, 406-410
- ⁷ Chan, K.W., Miller, D.R. & Tan, C.T.C. (1980) Osteosarcoma and acute myeloblastic leukemia after therapy for childhood Hodgkin disease a case report. *Med. Pediatr. Oncol.*, *8*, 143-149
- 8 Nelson, D.F., Cooper, S., Weston, M.G. & Rubin, P. (1981) Second malignant neoplasms in patients treated for Hodgkin's disease with radiotherapy or radiotherapy and chemotherapy. Cancer, 48, 2386-2393
- ⁹ Baccarani, M., Bosi, A. & Papa, G. (1980) Second malignancy in patients treated for Hodgkin's disease. *Cancer*, 46, 1735-1740

- ¹⁰ Auclerc, G., Jacquillat, C., Auclerc, M.F., Weil, M. & Bernard, J. (1979) Post-therapeutic acute leukaemia. *Cancer*, 44, 2017-2025
- ¹¹ Unger, P.F., Auclerc, G., Weil, M. & Jacquillat, C. (1981) Solid tumours after treatment for Hodgkin's disease (Fr.). *Nouv. Presse méd.*, 10, 1463-1467
- ¹² Harousseau, J.L., Andrieu, J.M., Dumont, J., Montagnon, B., Asselain, B., Daniel, M.T. & Flandrin, G. (1980) Acute myeloblastic leukaemias during the course of malignant non-Hodgkin's lymphomas (Fr.). *Nouv. Presse méd.*, *9*, 3513-3516
- ¹³ MacDougall, B.K., Weinerman, B.H. & Kemel, S. (1981) Second malignancies in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Cancer*, *48*, 1299-1301
- ¹⁴ Norpa, H., Sorsa, M., Vainio, H., Grölin, P., Heinonen, E., Holsti, L. & Nordman, E. (1980) Increased sister chromatid exchange frequencies in lymphocytes of nurses handling cytostatic drugs. Scand. J. Work environ. Health, 6, 299-301

CHLORAMBUCIL (Group 1)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

At least 46 cases of leukaemia, mostly acute nonlymphocytic, and some solid tumours have been reported to occur in patients treated for nonmalignant disease with courses of chlormabucil, mostly in the absence of radiation or other cytotoxic drugs¹⁻⁴. Following chlorambucil therapy for malignant diseases (mostly Hodgkin's disease, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and ovarian cancer), at least 43 subsequent neoplasms have been reported, of which 40 were acute leukaemia^{1,5-7}. In four cases, chlorambucil was the only therapy used¹. An equivalent number of non-Hodgkin's lymphomas have occurred in patients treated with chlorambucil for chronic lymphatic leukaemia8, but such occurrences had been recognized before the use of chlorambucil9 and may therefore reflect the natural history of the underlying disease. Two patients treated with chlorambucil and cyclophosphamide were reported to have developed bladder cancer¹. Of 300 infants treated with chlorambucil for glomerulonephritis over a 10-year period, two developed acute leukaemia and one a hypernephroma. One of the patients with leukaemia had also received nitrogen mustard. Three of 40 children with severe juvenile arthritis treated with chlorambucil and followed for up to 15 years developed acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia, whereas none occurred in 160 other children not treated with chlorambucil1.

Excesses of acute leukaemia were reported in a number of epidemiological studies of people treated with chlorambucil, either alone or in combination with other therapies, for both nonmalignant and malignant diseases¹. Other cancers have also been associated with use of chlorambucil and other agents¹. An excess of acute leukaemia in association with chlorambucil was seen in a further study¹⁰, in which 431 previously untreated patients with polycythemia vera were given phlebotomy alone, chlorambucil with phlebotomy or radioactive phosphorus with phlebotomy, and followed for a mean of 6.5 years. Of the 26 cases of acute leukaemia that occurred, 16 were in the group receiving chlorambucil. The risk increased with increasing dose and time of treatment.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Chlorambucil has been tested in mice and rats by intraperitoneal injection: it produced tumours of the lung in mice and probably produced tumours of the haematopoietic system and ovary in mice and haematopoietic tumours in male rats. It was also tested in a two-stage skin carcinogenesis experiment in mice, in which it had an initiating effect¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Chlorambucil is an alkylating agent and interacts with DNA in mammalian cells *in vitro*. It induced mutations in bacteria and fungi in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system; it caused chromosomal aberrations in human cells *in vitro* and in rat embryos *in vivo*. Small increases in chromatid-type chromosomal damage have been observed in bone-marrow cells and peripheral lymphocytes from patients treated with chlorambucil for a variety of diseases¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+	***************************************	
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects				****
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+		+	
Mammals (in vivo)			+	
Humans (in vivo)			?	

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 115-136, 1981
- ² Aymard, J.P., Frustin, J., Witz, F., Colomb, J.N., Lederlin, P. & Herbeuval, R. (1980) Acute leukaemia after prolonged chlorambucil treatment for non-malignant disease: Report of a new case and literature survey. *Acta haematol.*, 63, 283-285
- ³ Blanc, A.P., Gastaut, J.A., Sébahoun, G., Dalivoust, P., Murisasco, A. & Carcassone, Y. (1981) Acute leukaemia during immunosuppressive treatment with chlorambucil. An observation (Fr.). *Nouv. Presse méd.*, 10, 1717-1719
- ⁴ Müller, W. & Brandis, M. (1981) Acute leukemia after cytotoxic treatment for nonmalignant disease in childhood. A case report and review of the literature. Eur. J. Pediatr., 136, 105-108
- ⁵ Dumont, J., Thiery, J.P., Mazabraud, A., Natali, J.C., Trapet, P. & Vilcoq, J.R. (1980) Acute myeoloid leukemia following non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: Danger of prolonged use of chlorambucil as maintenance therapy. *Nouv. Rev. fr. Hématol.*, 22, 391-404

- ⁶ Goldhirsch, A., Pirovino, M., Coninx, S., Tschopp, L. & Sonntag, R.W. (1980) Case report. Acute erythroleukemia following chemotherapy for Hodgkin's disease. *Am. J. med. Sci.*, 280, 53-56
- ⁷ Harousseau, J.L., Andrieu, J.M., Dumont, J., Montagnon, B., Asselain, B., Daniel, M.T. Flandrin, G. (1980) Acute myeloblastic leukaemia in the course of malignant non-Hodgkin's lymphomas (Fr.). *Nouv. Presse méd.*, *9*, 3513-3516
- ⁸ Gallo, J.H. & Phadke, K.P. (1981) Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and Hodgkin's disease in the same patient: case report and review of the literature. *Pathology*, *13*, 365-370
- ⁹ Richter, M.N. (1928) Generalized reticular cell sarcoma of lymph nodes associated with lymphatic leukemia. *Am. J. Pathol.*, 4, 285-292
- ¹⁰ Berk, P.D., Goldberg, J.D., Silverstein, M.N., Weinfeld, A., Donovan, P.B., Ellis, J.T., Landaw, S.A., Laszlo, J., Najean, Y., Pisciotta, A.V. & Wasserman, L.R. (1981) Increased incidence of acute leukemia in polycythemia vera associated with chlorambucil therapy. *New Engl. J. Med.*, 304, 441-447

CHLORAMPHENICOL (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited)

Case reports have described leukaemia in patients following chloramphenicol-induced aplastic anaemia^{1,2}. A follow-up study described three cases of leukaemia in 126 patients who had had bone-marrow depression following treatment with chloramphenicol¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

No adequate test for the carcinogenicity of chloramphenicol in experimental animals was available 1,3.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Chloramphenicol did not induce DNA damage or mutation in bacteria^{1,4}. There is questionable evidence that chromosomal aberrations were induced in human lymphocytes *in vitro*^{5,6}. Chloramphenicol did not induce dominant lethal mutations⁷ and did not produce chromosomal aberrations in mice *in vivo*⁸. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	-			
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			?	
Mammals (in vivo)			-	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 10, 85-98, 1976
- ² Schmitt-Gräff, A. (1981) Chloramphenicol-induced aplastic anemia terminating with acute nonlymphocytic leukemia. *Acta haematol.*, *66*, 267-268
- ³ Robin, E., Berman, M., Bhoopalam, N., Cohen, H. & Fried, W. (1981) Induction of lymphomas in mice by busulfan and chloramphenicol. *Cancer Res.*, 41, 3478-3482
- ⁴ Mukherjee, S.K. & Poddar, R.K. (1980) Evidence for chloramphenicol-insensitive rec A+dependent single-stranded DNA repair. Mutat. Res., 72, 161-164
- ⁵ Byarugaba, W., Rüdiger, H.W., Koske-Westphal, T., Wöhler, W. & Passarge, E. (1975) Toxicity of antibiotics on cultured human skin fibroblast. *Humangenetik*, *28*, 263-267
- ⁶ Goh, K.-O. (1979) Chloramphenicol and chromosomal morphology. J. Med., 10, 159-166
- ⁷ Epstein, S.S., Arnold, E., Andrea, J., Bass, W. & Bishop, Y. (1972) Detection of chemical mutagens by the dominant lethal assay in the mouse. *Toxicol. appl. Pharmacol.*, *23*, 288-325
- Benes, L., Rotreklová, E., Velcovsky, V. & Pospísil, M. (1980) Inhibition of bone marrow cell proliferation and DNA replication induced by chloramphenicol. Folia biol (Praha), 26, 408-414

CHLORDANE/HEPTACHLOR (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

These compounds were evaluated together because they are structurally similar and because technical-grade chlordane contains 3-10% heptachlor.

Domestic use of chlordane has been reported to be associated with cases of neuroblastoma and acute leukaemia. Aplastic anaemia and blood dyscrasias have also been associated with exposure to chlordane and heptachlor¹. Follow-up of 16 126 pesticides applicators in the US² showed a deficit of deaths from all cancers but small excesses of deaths from cancer of the lung, skin and bladder. These site-specific excesses were no more evident in termite-control workers (with particular exposure to chlordane and heptachlor) than in other pesticide applicators, and did not appear to be related to intensity of exposure or time since first exposure to pesticides. Follow-up of 1403 men in two factories where chlordane, and heptachlor and endrin were manufactured, respectively³, also showed a deficit of deaths from all cancers and a small excess of lung cancer. The latter did not relate positively to time since first exposure. Neither study documented smoking habits.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Chlordane and heptachlor (which contained about 20% chlordane) were carcinogenic in mice, producing liver neoplasms following their oral administration^{1,4}. Data concerning rats were inconclusive¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Neither chlordane nor heptachlor was mutagenic in bacterial systems¹, and neither produced breaks in *Escherichia coli* plasmid DNA⁵. Heptachlor was not mutagenic in *Drosophila melanogaster*¹. Although chlordane and heptachlor were claimed to have produced unscheduled DNA synthesis in human fibroblasts¹, neither compound did so in cultured mouse, rat or hamster hepatocytes⁶⁻⁸. Chlordane was claimed to have induced ouabain-resistant mutants in Chinese hamster V79 cells¹ and was possibly weakly mutagenic at the HGPRT locus in cultured rat liver epithelial cells⁶. Chlordane was not mutagenic to human foreskin fibroblasts in a rat hepatocyte-mediated mutagenesis assay⁹, and heptachlor was not mutagenic in cultured rat liver epithelial cells⁶. Heptachlor was claimed to have produced chromosomal aberrations in the bone-marrow cells of mice¹. Chlordane and heptachlor were both negative in dominant lethal tests in mice¹. No data on humans were available.

Chlordane

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	-	-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-	•		
Mammals (in vivo)				DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)				

Heptachlor

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	•	-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects		_		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-	-	?	
Mammals (in vivo)				DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 20, 45-65, 129-154, 1979
- ² Wang, H.H. & MacMahon, B. (1979a) Mortality of pesticide applicators. *J. occup. Med.*, 21, 741-744
- ³ Wang, H.H. & MacMahon, B. (1979b) Mortality of workers employed in the manufacture of chlordane and heptachlor. *J. occup. Med.*, 21, 745-748
- ⁴ Becker, F.F. & Sell, S. (1979) α-Fetoprotein levels and hepatic alterations during chemical carcinogenesis in C57BL/6N mice. *Cancer Res.*, *39*, 3491-3494
- ⁵ Griffin, D.E., III & Hill, W.E. (1978) *In vitro* breakage of plasmid DNA by mutagens and pesticides. *Mutat. Res.*, *52*, 161-169
- ⁶ Williams, G.M. (1979) Liver cell culture systems for the study of hepatocarcinogenesis. In: Margison, G.P., ed., Advances in Medical Oncology, Research and Education, Vol. 1, Oxford, Pergamon Press, pp. 273-280
- Maslansky, C.J. & Williams, G.M. (1981) Evidence for an epigenetic mode of action in organochlorine pesticide hepatocarcinogenicity: A lack of genotoxicity in rat, mouse and hamster hepatocytes. J. Toxicol. environ. Health, 8, 121-130
- ⁸ Probst, G.S., McMahon, R.E., Hill, L.E., Thompson, C.Z., Epp, J.K. & Neal, S.B. (1981) Chemically-induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary rat hepatocyte cultures: A comparison with bacterial mutagenicity using 218 compounds. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 11-32
- ⁹ Tong, C., Fazio, M. & Williams, G.M. (1981) Rat hepatocyte-mediated mutagenesis of human cells by carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons but not organochlorine pesticides. *Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med.*, 167, 572-575

1-(2-CHLOROETHYL)-3-CYCLOHEXYL-1-NITROSOUREA (CCNU) (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Several case reports describe the development of acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia in cancer patients who had received CCNU. With one exception, all such patients had also received other cytotoxic agents and/or irradiation¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

CCNU is carcinogenic in rats following its intraperitoneal or intravenous injection, producing lung carcinomas. It was also tested in mice by intraperitoneal injection: a slight increase in the incidence of lymphomas was observed. In one study by skin application to mice², no skin tumour was observed, but the duration of the experiment was inadequate.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

CCNU, a directly-acting alkylating agent, reacts with DNA³. It induced mutations in bacteria in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system and induced mutations in Chinese hamster cells *in vitro*¹. It induced sister chromatid exchanges in blood lymphocytes from patients treated *in vivo*^{1,4}.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+		
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)			+	

¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 137-145, 1981

² Zackheim, H.S. & Smuckler, E.A. (1980) Tumorigenic effect of topical mechlorethamine, BCNU and CCNU in mice. *Experientia*, *36*, 1211-1212

- ³ Kubinski, H., Gutzke, G.E. & Kubinski, Z.O. (1981) DNA-cell-binding (CDB) assay for suspected carcinogens and mutagens. *Mutat. Res.*, *89*, 95-136
- ⁴ Lambert, B., Ringborg, U., Lindblad, A. & Sten, M. (1981) Sister-chromatid exchange in peripheral lymphocytes of human subjects: The effect of cigarette smoking and anticancer chemotherapy (Abstract). *Mutat. Res.*, 85, 235

CHLORINATED TOLUENES, PRODUCTION OF:

BENZAL CHLORIDE (Group 3)
BENZOTRICHLORIDE (Group 2B)
BENZOYL CHLORIDE (Group 3)
BENZYL CHLORIDE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate for benzal chloride, benzotrichloride, benzoyl chloride and benzyl chloride)

Six cases of respiratory cancer were reported among workers in two small factories where benzoyl chloride and its chlorinated precursors were produced¹. As the production processes involved exposures to all four compounds, no evaluation of any one compound alone could be made. However, the epidemiological data provide limited evidence that employment in the production of chlorinated toluenes, which involves potential exposure to each, presents a carcinogenic risk to man.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient for benzotrichloride, limited for benzyl chloride and benzal chloride and inadequate for benzoyl chloride)

Benzyl chloride was tested in mice by skin application and in rats by subcutaneous injection. Sarcomas at the injection site were observed in rats; a few skin carcinomas were observed in a limited number of mice, but their incidence was not statistically significant¹. Benzoyl chloride was tested in two sets of experiments by skin application to female mice. A few skin carcinomas were observed, but their incidence was not statistically significant¹.

In one experiment in which benzal chloride was tested by skin application to female mice, it produced squamous-cell carcinomas of the skin. In a concurrent experiment in which it was tested for a shorter duration, a low incidence of skin papillomas was observed¹.

Benzotrichloride was tested in three studies by skin application to female mice. It produced squamous-cell carcinomas of the skin in all three experiments; upper-digestive-tract tumours were also observed in two of the three experiments. An increase in the incidence of tumours at other sites was reported.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient for benzyl chloride, limited for benzal chloride and benzotrichloride and inadequate for benzoyl chloride)

Benzyl chloride, an alkylating agent, produced DNA damage in bacteria and induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in mammalian cells *in vitro*². It was mutagenic in bacteria in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system, in mammalian cells *in vitro* and in yeasts^{1,2}. There were conflicting results concerning its mutagenicity to *Drosophila melanogaster*². Benzyl chloride alkylated the DNA of brain, testis, liver, lung and spleen of mice given single intravenous injections¹. It induced chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in rodent cells *in vitro*^{1,2} and no chromosomal anomaly but sister chromatid exchanges in human lymphocytes *in vitro*². It transformed Syrian hamster embryo cells¹. No sperm abnormality was seen in mice *in vivo*, and it was negative in micronucleus tests in mice². No data on humans were available.

Benzoyl chloride did not induce DNA damage in prokaryotes or cause mutations in bacteria in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system¹. No data on humans were available.

Benzal chloride was mutagenic in the Salmonella typhimurium assay¹. Reversion of Escherichia coli WP₂ (hcr) and positive results in the Bacillus subtilis rec assay have also been reported¹. No data on humans were available.

Benzotrichloride induced DNA damage in prokaryotes and caused mutations in bacteria in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system¹. No data on humans were available.

Benzyl chloride

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects	166 AUG 170	?		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)	+		-	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations

Benzoyl chloride

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	*	-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects	,			
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				
Benzal chloride				
	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		, " total		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				
Benzotrichloride				
	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants	_			
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

¹ IARC Monographs, 29, 49-91, 1982

² Parry, J.M., ed. (1982) The U.K.E.M.S. genotoxicity trial 1981. The results of a collaborative exercise in mutagenicity and carcinogenicity testing. *Mutat. Res.*, 100, 1-433

³ Walles, S.A.S. (1981) Reaction of benzyl chloride with haemoglobin and DNA in various organs of mice. *Toxicol. Lett.*, *9*, 379-387

CHLORMADINONE ACETATE (Group 3) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

CHLOROFORM (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

No adequate study has been devoted to chloroform as a cause of human cancer¹. In two studies of trihalomethane levels in drinking-water supplies and community-based rates of cancer mortality².³, correlations were found between these levels and various site-specific cancer mortality rates, especially of bladder cancer, but also of cancer of rectumintestine and brain, lymphoma and kidney cancer. Since the results were markedly dependent on the different methods used to analyse the data, no causal inference can be made. A mortality study of anaesthesiologists who worked at the time chloroform was used⁴ provided no significant information.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Chloroform is carcinogenic following its oral administration, producing benign and malignant liver neoplasms in mice, and kidney and thyroid neoplasms in rats¹. It was tested inadequately by subcutaneous and intraperitoneal injection in mice¹. No carcinogenic effect was observed in dogs⁵.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

There was no indication that chloroform binds to DNA⁸. Negative results were obtained with chloroform in a variety of bacterial systems employing DNA repair and mutation as endpoints¹,⁶⁻⁸ and in yeast⁸, with the exception of one report⁹. It was inactive in a number of other short-term tests, including tests for mutagenicity in *Drosophila melanogaster*⁶, those for chromosomal anomalies in human peripheral blood lymphocytes¹⁰ and the micronucleus test in mouse bone-marrow erythrocytes⁸. Results of tests for cell transformation (in BHK) were equivocal⁸. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	-	-		
Fungi/Green plants	1000 70 7000	-		
Insects		_		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	T(?)
Mammals (in vivo)			-	
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 20, 401-417, 1979
- ² Hogan, M.D., Chi, P.-Y., Hoel, D.G. & Mitchell, T.J. (1979) Association between chloroform levels in finished drinking water supplies and various site-specific cancer mortality rates. *J. environ. Pathol. Toxicol.*, 2, 873-887
- ³ Cantor, K.P., Hoover, R., Mason, T.J. & McCabe, L.J. (1978) Association of cancer mortality with halomethanes in drinking water. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, 61, 979-985
- ⁴ Linde, H.W. & Mesnick, P.S. (1980) Causes of Death of Anesthesiologists from the Chloroform Era (PB 80-125172 (EPA/600/1-79-043)), Springfield, VA, National Technical Information Service
- ⁵ Heywood, R., Sortwell, R.J., Noel, P.R.B., Street, A.E., Prentice, D.E., Roe, F.J.C., Wadsworth, P.F., Worden, A.N. & Van Abbé, N.J. (1979) Safety evaluation of toothpaste containing chloroform. III. Long-term study in beagle dogs. *J. environ. Pathol. Toxicol.*, 2, 835-851
- ⁶ Gocke, E., King, M.-T., Eckhardt, K. & Wild, D. (1981) Mutagenicity of cosmetic ingredients licensed by the European Communities. *Mutat. Res.*, *90*, 91-109
- ⁷ Kirkland, D.J., Smith, K.L. & Van Abbe, N.J. (1981) Failure of chloroform to induce chromosome damage or sister-chromatid exchanges in cultured human lymphocytes and failure to induce reversion in *Escherichia coli*. Food Cosmet. Toxicol., 19, 651-656
- ⁸ de Serres, F.J. & Ashby, J., eds (1981) Evaluation of Short-Term Tests for Carcinogens. Report of the International Collaborative Program, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 190, 634, 689, 711
- ⁹ Callen, D.F., Wolf, C.R. & Philpot, R.M. (1980) Cytochrome P-450 mediated genetic activity and cytotoxicity of seven halogenated aliphatic hydrocarbons in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mutat. Res., 77, 55-63
- ¹⁰ Kirkland, D.J., Smith, K.L. & Van Abbe, N.J. (1981) Failure of chloroform to induce chromosome breakage or sister-chromatid exchanges in cultured human lymphocytes (Abstract). *Mutat. Res.*, 85, 248

CHLOROPHENOLS (OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE TO) (Group 2B)

Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited)

In two case-control studies of soft-tissue sarcoma^{1,2} and one of lymphoma³, exposure to chlorophenols (mainly 2,4,6-trichlorophenol, 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol and pentachlorophenol⁴) was associated with three- to eight-fold increases in risk of those diseases. Cases of soft-tissue sarcoma, apparently substantially in excess of the expected number,

have also been reported in cohorts of men involved in the manufacture of trichlorophenols (mainly, if not entirely, 2,4,5-trichlorophenol)⁵⁻⁸. Cases of leukaemia, Hodgkin's disease and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma have also been reported in individuals exposed to pentachlorophenol⁹⁻¹¹. In all of these studies, exposure to chlorophenols probably involved exposure also to dioxins, as well as to other chemicals. (See also the summaries of data on 2,4,5- and 2,4,6-trichlorophenols and pentachlorophenol.)

References

- ¹ Hardell, L. & Sandström, A. (1979) Case-control study: Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to phenoxyacetic acids or chlorophenols. *Br. J. Cancer*, *39*, 711-717
- ² Eriksson, M., Hardell, L., Berg, N.O., Möller, T. & Axelson, O. (1981) Soft tissue sarcomas and exposure to chemical substances: A case-referent study. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, 38, 27-33
- ³ Hardell, L., Eriksson, M., Lenner, P. & Lundgren, E. (1981) Malignant lymphoma and exposure to chemicals, especially organic solvents, chlorophenols and phenoxy acids: A case-control study. *Br. J. Cancer*, *43*, 169-176
- ⁴ Hardell, L. (1981) Epidemiological Studies on Soft-tissue Sarcoma and Malignant Lymphoma and their Relation to Phenoxy Acid or Chlorophenol Exposure (Umeå University Medical Dissertations. New Series No. 65), Umeå, Centraltryckeriet
- ⁵ Honchar, P.A. & Halperin, W.E. (1981) 2,4,5-T, trichlorophenol, and soft tissue sarcoma. *Lancet*, *i*, 268-269
- ⁶ Cook, R.R. (1981) Dioxin, chloracne and soft tissue sarcoma. Lancet, i, 618-619
- Moses, M. & Selikoff, I.J. (1981) Soft tissue sarcoma, phenoxy herbicides and chlorinated phenols. *Lancet*, i, 1370
- ⁸ Johnson, F.E., Kugler, M.A. & Brown, S.M. (1981) Soft tissue sarcomas and chlorinated phenols. *Lancet*, *ii*, 40
- ⁹ Anon. (1980) Leukaemia from pentachlorophenol? BIBRA Bull., 19, 107
- ¹⁰ Greene, M.H., Brinton, L.A., Fraumeni, J.F. & D'Amico, R. (1978) Familial and sporadic Hodgkin's disease associated with occupational wood exposure. *Lancet*, *ii*, 626-627
- ¹¹ Bishop, C.M. & Jones, A.H. (1981) Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma of the scalp in workers exposed to dioxins. *Lancet*, *ii*, 369

CHLOROPRENE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

In one study, an excess of lung and skin cancers was related to occupational exposure to chloroprene. [The results were inconclusive, since epidemiological measures of cancer frequency were not defined.] In another investigation, no excess of lung or other type of

cancer was reported among chloroprene workers. There is one case report of an angiosarcoma of the liver in a worker exposed to chloroprene¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

A number of experimental studies were considered to be inadequate for an evaluation of the carcinogenicity of chloroprene¹. In a further study², chloroprene was given orally to pregnant rats on the 17th day of gestation, and their offspring were treated weekly from weaning for life with 50 mg/kg bw by stomach tube. The total incidence of tumours was similar in treated and untreated animals.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Chloroprene vapours were weakly mutagenic to Salmonella typhimurium TA100 in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system¹ and produced a low but statistically significant increase in X-linked recessive lethals in Drosophila melanogaster¹.³. It was not mutagenic to mammalian cells in culture⁴. It has been claimed that chloroprene induced chromosomal aberrations and dominant lethal mutations in rat bone-marrow cells in vivo¹. It induced cell transformation in normal hamster lung cells in vitro⁵. Workers exposed to chloroprene exhibited increases in chromosomal aberrations in peripheral lymphocytes. These data and reports of reproductive disturbances in such workers and in their wives suggest that chloroprene is mutagenic to humans¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		_		T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			?	DL(?)
Humans (in vivo)			+	

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 19, 131-156, 1979
- ² Ponomarkov, V. & Tomatis, L. (1980) Long-term testing of vinylidene chloride and chloroprene for carcinogenicity in rats. *Oncology*, *37*, 136-141
- ³ Vogel, E. (1979) Mutagenicity of chloroprene, 1-chloro-1,3-trans- butadiene, 1,1-dichlorobutene-2 and 1,4-dichloro-2,3-epoxybutane in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Mutat. Res.*, *67*, 377-381

- ⁴ Drevon, C. & Kuroki, T. (1979) Mutagenicity of vinyl chloride, vinylidene chloride and chloroprene in V79 Chinese hamster cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *67*, 173-182
- Menezes, S., Papadopoulo, D., Lévy, S. & Markovits, P. (1979) Transformation in vitro of lung cells from young hamsters by 2-chlorobutadiene (CB) (Fr.). C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris, 288, 923-926

CHROMIUM AND CERTAIN CHROMIUM COMPOUNDS (Group 1)*

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

An increased incidence of lung cancer has been observed among workers in the chromate-producing industry and possibly also among chromium platers and chromium alloy workers. There is a suggestion that cancers at other sites are also increased in such populations. The chromium compound(s) responsible has not been specified¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Calcium chromate is carcinogenic to rats after its administration by several routes, including intrabronchial implantation. Chromium chromate, strontium chromate and zinc chromate produce local sarcomas in rats at the sites of their application. Inadequate evidence was available for the carcinogenicity in mice and rats of barium chromate, lead chromate, chromic acetate, sodium dichromate and chromium carbonyl¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient for Cr VI, inadequate for Cr III)

Hexavalent chromium caused DNA damage²⁻⁵ and misincorporation of nucleotides in an in-vitro DNA transcription assay². It was mutagenic in bacteria in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system^{2,5,6} and mutagenic in fungi^{2,5} and in mammalian cells in vitro^{2,5} and in vivo². Potassium dichromate induced dominant lethal mutations in mice treated in vivo⁷. Hexavalent chromium caused chromosomal aberrations in mammalian cells in vitro^{2,5,8} and micronuclei in mice in vivo². It produced cell transformation in a number of systems^{2,5}. Micronuclei were formed in peripheral lymphocytes from exposed workers².

There is no good evidence that *trivalent chromium* causes mutations in bacteria, fungi or mammalian cells in culture or that it transforms mammalian cells *in vitro*². The few positive results in assays for chromosomal aberrations were obtained only with very high doses and could be explained by non-specific toxic effects^{9,10}. No data on humans were available.

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the earlier Working Group, and data on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

Hexavalent chromium

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)		+	+	DL(+)
Humans (in vivo)			+	

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations

Trivalent chromium

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		?		
Fungi/Green plants		?		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		?	?	T(?)
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation

- ¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 29-30, 1979
- ² IARC Monographs, 23, 205-323, 1980
- ³ Matsui, S. (1980) Evaluation of a *Bacillus subtilis rec*-assay for the detection of mutagens which may occur in water environments. *Water Res.*, *14*, 1613-1619
- ⁴ Warren, G., Schultz, P., Bancroft, D., Bennett, K., Abbott, E.H. & Rogers, S. (1981) Mutagenicity of a series of hexacoordinate chromium (III) compounds. *Mutat. Res.*, 90, 111-118

CISPLATIN 93

- ⁵ Levis, A.G. & Bianchi, V. (1982) Mutagenic and cytogenetic effects of chromium compounds. In: Langard, S., ed., Biological and Environmental Aspects of Chromium, Amsterdam, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press (in press)
- ⁶ Knudsen, I. (1980) Effects of welding fume particles, hexavalent chromium and cyclophosphamide in the mammalian spot test (Abstract no. 84). *Mutat. Res.*, 74, 211
- ⁷ Paschin, Y.V., Zacepilova, T.A. & Kozachenko, V.I. (1982) Induction of dominant lethal mutations in male mice by potassium dichromate. *Mutat. Res.*, *103*, 345-347
- ⁸ Léonard, A. & Lauwerys, R.R. (1980) Carcinogenicity and mutagenicity of chromium. *Mutat. Res.*, 76, 227-239
- ⁹ Fornace, A.J., Jr, Seres, D.S., Lechner, J.F. & Harris, C.C. (1981) DNA-protein cross-linking by chromium salts. *Chem.-biol. Interactions*, *36*, 345-354
- ¹⁰ Kubinski, H., Gutzke, G.E. & Kubinski, Z.O. (1981) DNA-cell-binding (DCB) assay for suspected carcinogens and mutagens. *Mutat. Res.*, 89, 95-136

CISPLATIN (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A patient with metastatic seminoma treated with cisplatin, as well as with radiation, bleomycin and vinblastine, developed acute myeloid leukaemia¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Cisplatin, tested by intraperitoneal administration in mice, increased the incidence of lung tumours. When it was administered intraperitoneally, alternately with croton oil application to the skin, papillomas and carcinomas of the skin were produced, along with small numbers of internal neoplasms².

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Cisplatin, a DNA-binding agent, produced DNA damage³ and mutation in bacteria^{2,4-6}. It was also mutagenic in *Drosophila melanogaster*⁷ and in mammalian cells *in vitro*^{2,8}. It produced chromosomal aberrations in human and rodent cells *in vitro*² and sister chromatid exchanges and chromosomal aberrations in mouse bone-marrow cells *in vivo*². It did not induce dominant lethal mutations in mice but induced cell transformation (in Syrian hamster embryo cells)². No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			+	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ Stewart, A.L. & Wilkinson, P.M. (1981) Rapid onset of acute myeloid leukaemia following radiotherapy and chemotherapy for metastatic seminoma of the testis. *J. Cancer Res. clin. Oncol.*, 100, 109-111
- ² IARC Monographs, 26, 151-164, 1981
- ³ Konishi, H., Usui, T., Sawada, H., Uchino, H. & Kidani, Y. (1981) Effects of anticancer platinum compounds on *Escherichia coli* strains with normal and defective DNA repair capacity. *Gann*, 72, 627-630
- ⁴ Peer, R.L. & Litz, D.A. (1981) The mutagenic effect of *cis* diamminedichloroplatinum (II) and its degradation products in the Ames microbial assay. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, *3*, 555-563
- ⁵ Lecointe, P., Macquet, J.-P., Butour, J.-L. & Paoletti, C. (1977) Relative efficiencies of a series of square-planar platinum (II) compounds on *Salmonella* mutagenesis. *Mutat. Res.*, 48, 139-144
- ⁶ Beck, D.J. & Brubaker, R.R. (1975) Mutagenic properties of *cis* platinum(II)diamminodichloride in *Escherichia coli*. *Mutat. Res.*, *27*, 181-189
- ⁷ Woodruff, R.C., Valencia, R., Lyman, R.F., Earle, B.A. & Boyce, J.T. (1980) The mutagenic effect of platinum compounds in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 2. 133-138
- ⁸ Hsie, A.W. (1980) Quantitative mutagenesis and mutagen screening with Chinese hamster ovary cells. In: Williams, G.M., Kroes, R., Waaijers, H.W. & van de Poll, K.W., eds, *The Predictive Value of Short-Term Screening Tests in Carcinogenicity Evaluation*, Amsterdam, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 89-102

CLOFIBRATE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Available information relating clofibrate to cancer in humans consists of a single case report of an adenocarcinoma of the jejunum in a man who had received clofibrate (among other drugs) for 15 years, and of data from randomized trials of clofibrate in men with elevated serum cholesterol levels¹. A five-year trial was completed by 3586 men receiving clofibrate, 3608 receiving a high-cholesterol placebo and 3509 given a low-cholesterol placebo. Increased mortality from cancer (mainly gastrointestinal) was observed in the clofibrate group during the trial and in the following year (58 deaths) as compared with that in the high-cholesterol group (42 deaths); this difference is not statistically significant. No excess of cancer was found in two other trials of clofibrate¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Clofibrate was tested in two studies by oral administration to male rats; it produced hepatocellular carcinomas. An increased incidence of tumours at sites other than the liver was also observed¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Clofibrate was not mutagenic to bacteria. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		. =		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)	,			

¹ IARC Monographs, 24, 39-51, 1980

CLOMIPHENE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

There are a few case reports of malignant and benign tumours occurring at various sites in patients treated with clomiphene citrate, but there is no evidence of a causal relationship^{1,2}.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

Clomiphene citrate was tested in an inadequate experiment in newborn rats by subcutaneous injection; uterine and ovarian tumours were reported¹. In two subsequent reports^{3,4}, one-day-old female Sprague-Dawley rats received a single subcutaneous injection of clomiphene citrate (mixed *cis* and *trans* isomers); uterine tumours were reported to have occurred in treated animals. Hilar-cell tumours of the ovary were also reported, but it is not clear whether they occurred in animals treated with clomiphene, nafoxidine, or both. In none of the reports are the numbers of tumours produced by clomiphene given, and none are illustrated.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests

No data were available.

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 551-561, 1979
- ² Neoptolemos, J.P., Locke, T.J. & Fossard, D.P. (1981) Testicular tumour associated with hormonal treatment for oligospermia. *Lancet*, *ii*, 754
- ³ Clark, J.H. & McCormack, S.A. (1980) The effect of clomid and other triphenylethylene derivatives during pregnancy and the neonatal period. *J. Steroid Biochem.*, 12, 47-53
- ⁴ Clark, J.H., McCormack, S.A., Kling, R., Hodges, D. & Hardin, J.W. (1980) Effect of clomiphene and other triphenylethylene derivatives on the reproductive tract in the rat and baboon. In: Iacobelli, S., King, R.J.B., Lindner, H.R. & Lippman, M.E., eds, Hormones and Cancer, New York, Raven Press, pp. 295-307

CONJUGATED OESTROGENS (Group 1) (See Destrogens and progestins)

CYCLAMATES (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

There is no consistent evidence that the risk of cancer is increased among users of artificial sweeteners1. Three case-control studies have shown no overall excess of bladder cancer in association with use of artificial sweeteners²⁻⁴. The largest was a populationbased survey in 10 areas of the US, involving interviews with 3010 bladder cancer patients and 5783 controls randomly selected from the areas in which the patients resided². The relative risk of bladder cancer associated with any use of artificial sweeteners was 0.99 (95% confidence limits, 0.89-1.10) among men and 1.07 (0.89-1.29) among women, compared with a risk of 1.0 among non-users. However, significant trends of increasing risk with increasing average daily consumption and with duration of use were observed in certain subgroups, namely female non-smokers (with a low baseline risk of bladder cancer) and male heavy smokers (with a high baseline risk). Since these subgroups were considered a priori to be worthy of special attention on the basis of hypotheses derived from animal experimentation, the findings raise the possibility that cyclamates may act as weak carcinogens and/or promoters. In one of the two other studies, a populationbased survey of 592 patients with lower-urinary-tract cancer3, the relative risk among women associated with any use of diet drinks or sugar substitutes was 1.6, and exceeded by two-fold that for non-smokers. The risk for any use among men was 0.8.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Sodium cyclamate has been tested either alone or in combination with other chemicals by several routes of administration. Oral administration at several dose levels to different strains of mice and rats resulted in a few benign and malignant bladder tumours in rats, although their incidence was not statistically different from that in controls; and an increased incidence of lymphosarcomas in female mice in one experiment. Several other experiments in mice, rats, hamsters and monkeys were inadequately conducted and/or reported. A 10:1 mixture of sodium cyclamate:sodium saccharin was given in one multigeneration experiment in mice and in two experiments in rats: transitional-cell carcinomas in the bladder were induced only in male rats of one strain given the highest dose. Instillation of low doses of *N*-nitroso-*N*-methylurea into the bladder of rats fed sodium cyclamate resulted in dose-related induction of transitional-cell neoplasms of the bladder¹. After subcutaneous injection to rats, no tumours were observed at the site of injection (the only site reported)¹. A significant increase in the incidence of bladder carcinomas was observed in mice after implantation of a pellet containing sodium cyclamate in the bladder.

Calcium cyclamate did not alter tumour incidence when tested by oral administration in a two-generation experiment in rats but produced local tumours in another experiment following its subcutaneous injection¹.

Cyclohexylamine has been tested by oral administration at several dose levels in different strains of mice and rats, including one multigeneration study in mice. The tumour incidence was similar in treated and control animals¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Generally negative results have been obtained with cyclamates in short-term tests¹. They were not mutagenic in bacteria⁵. Chromosome breaks have been observed in human leucocytes treated with cyclamates *in vitro*¹. High doses of sodium cyclamate did not produce sister chromatid exchanges in bone-marrow cells of Chinese hamsters exposed *in vivo*⁶. Cyclamates did not transform BHK cells in culture, did not induce sperm abnormalities in mice^{1,8,9} and were negative in the dominant lethal test in mice^{5,7}. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			+	T(-)
Mammals (in vivo)			_	DL(-) SA(-)
Humans (in vivo)		And the state of t		

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations; SA = sperm abnormalities

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 22, 55-109, 1980
- ² Hoover, R.N. & Strasser, P.H. (1980) Artificial sweeteners and human bladder cancer. Preliminary results. *Lancet*, *i*, 837-840
- ³ Morrison, A.S. & Buring, J.E. (1980) Artificial sweeteners and cancer of the lower urinary tract. *New Engl. J. Med.*, *302*, 537-541
- ⁴ Wynder, E.L. & Stellman, S.D. (1980) Artificial sweetener use and bladder cancer: A case-control study. *Science*, 207, 1214-1216
- ⁵ Buselmaier, W., Röhrborn, G. & Propping, P. (1972) Mutagenic studies with pesticides in host-mediated assay and dominant lethal test in the mouse (Ger.). *Biol. Zbl.*, *91*, 311-325
- ⁶ Renner, H.W. (1979) Possible mutagenic activity of saccharin. Experientia, 35, 1364-1365

- ⁷ Styles, J.A. (1979) Cell transformation assays. In: Paget, G.E., ed., Mutagenesis in Sub-Mammalian Systems: Status and Significance, Baltimore, University Park Press, pp. 147-163
- ⁸ Lorke, D. (1973) Study of the mutagenic action of cyclamate in the dominant lethal test in the mouse (Ger.). *Hum. Genet.*, *18*, 165-170
- ⁹ Topham, J.C. (1980) Do induced sperm-head abnormalities in mice specifically identify mammalian mutagens rather than carcinogens? *Mutat. Res.*, *74*, 379-387

CYCLOPHOSPHAMIDE (Group 1)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

More than 100 case reports were available describing cancer in patients treated with cyclophosphamide for malignant and nonmalignant diseases. Many but not all such patients had also been given other cytostatic drugs and/or radiation. Five epidemiological studies were available in which treated patients with malignant or nonmalignant disease were compared with similarly afflicted controls. These were consistent in demonstrating excesses of various neoplasms, especially of bladder cancer and leukaemia, in the treated groups, although the numbers in all five studies were small¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Cyclophosphamide is carcinogenic to rats after its oral or intravenous administration, producing benign and malignant tumours at various sites, including the bladder. It is carcinogenic to mice following its subcutaneous injection, producing benign and malignant tumours at the site of injection and at distant sites. There was some evidence of its oncogenicity in mice and rats following its intraperitoneal injection¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Cyclophosphamide is metabolized to an alkylating intermediate. It produced DNA damage^{2,3} and was mutagenic in bacteria, yeast, *Drosophila melanogaster* and human and mammalian cells *in vitro* and in mammalian cells *in vivo*^{1,4-6}. It induced chromosomal aberrations in fungi and in mammalian cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*¹. Cyclophosphamide induced dominant lethal mutations in rodents but not in *Drosophila*^{1,2}. It induced cell transformation (in BHK⁷ and C3H10T½ cells)¹, and induced heritable translocation in mice⁸. Chromosomal aberrations were induced in the lymphocytes of patients treated with cyclophosphamide⁹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+	+	
Insects		+		DL(-)
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)		+	+	DL(+)
Humans (in vivo)			+	

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 165-202, 1981
- ² Kubinski, H., Gutzke, G.E. & Kubinski, Z.O. (1981) DNA-cell-binding (DCB) assay for suspected carcinogens and mutagens. *Mutat. Res.*, *89*, 95-136
- ³ Leifer, Z., Kada, T., Mandel, M., Zeiger, E., Stafford, R. & Rosenkranz, H.S. (1981) An evaluation of tests using DNA repair-deficient bacteria for predicting genotoxicity and carcinogenicity. A report of the US EPA's Gene-Tox Program. *Mutat. Res.*, 87, 211-297
- ⁴ Bridges, B.A., Greaves, M., Polani, P.E. & Wald, N. (1981) Do treatments available for psoriasis patients carry a genetic or carcinogenic risk? *Mutat. Res.*, *86*, 279-304
- ⁵ Sandor, P. (1980) Inducibility of somatic colour and white spots in the mammalian spot test, examination with, and experience in using, cyclophosphamide. *Mutat. Res.*, 70, 103-108
- ⁶ Kligerman, A.D., Strom, S.C. & Michalopoulos, G. (1980) Sister chromatid exchange studies in human fibroblast-rat hepatocyte co-cultures: A new *in vitro* system to study SCEs. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, *2*, 157-165
- ⁷ Styles, J.A. (1978) Mammalian cell transformation in vitro. Br. J. Cancer, 37, 931-936
- ⁸ Sotomayor, R.E. & Cumming, R.B. (1975) Induction of translocations by cyclophosphamide in different germ cell stages of male mice: Cytological characterization and transmissions. *Mutat. Res.*, *27*, 375-388
- ⁹ Kucerovä, M., Polivkovä, Z., Reneltovä, I., Kocandrle, V. & Smetanovä, J. (1980) Dynamics of chromosomal aberrations and SCE in patients treated with Imuran and cyclophosphamide (Abstract no. 12). *Mutat. Res.*, 74, 173

2,4-D AND ESTERS (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Cases of soft-tissue sarcoma and lymphoma were reported in men exposed occupationally to 2,4-D and/or its esters and to 2,4,5-T1.2. Subsequent case-control studies of people exposed to phenoxyacetic acids gave relative risks of 5.3 (95% confidence limits, 2.4-11.5)3 and 6.8 (95% confidence limits, 2.6-17.3)4 for soft-tissue sarcomas and 4.8 (95% confidence limits, 2.9-8.1)⁵ for lymphoma. In one of these studies⁴, patients who had been exposed to 2,4-D, 4-chloro-2-methyl phenoxyacetic acid or phenoxypropionic acids but not to 2.4.5-T also appeared to be at increased risk of soft-tissue sarcoma (relative risk, 4.2). In the study of lymphoma⁵, seven cases and one control were apparently exposed only to 2,4-D [relative risk, 19.6; 95% confidence interval, 4.3-89.8]. Other men in these studies were exposed to a variety of other chemicals, but for none did the relative risk approach those cited above. Follow-up studies of cohorts of men exposed to 2,4-D together with other herbicides and pesticides⁶⁻⁸ showed evidence (although not entirely consistent and derived from small numbers of cases) of an increased risk of cancer. There was one death from lymphoma among men exposed to phenoxyacetic acids in two of these cohorts but none from soft-tissue sarcoma. [See also the summary of data on 'Phenoxyacetic acid herbicides (occupational exposure)'.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

2,4-D and several of its esters were tested in rats and mice by oral administration and in mice by subcutaneous administration. All of these studies had limitations, due either to inadequate reporting or to the small number of animals used. Therefore, although increased incidences of tumours were observed in one study in which rats received 2,4-D orally and in another in which mice received its isooctyl ester by subcutaneous injection, no evaluation of the carcinogenicity of this compound could be made⁹.

[Phenoxyacetic acid herbicides have been shown to cause peroxisome proliferation in Chinese hamsters¹⁰. Certain agents known to cause this proliferation are carcinogenic, and the phenomenon has been suggested to have mechanistic significance in the induction of tumours.]

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

2,4-D produced unscheduled DNA synthesis in cultured human fibroblasts¹¹ but not in rat hepatocytes¹². It was not mutagenic in bacterial systems⁹; however, it has been pointed out¹³ that the phenoxy acids occur in their dissociated form at pHs of around 7 and that such compounds with low pK values should be tested at low pH levels. 2,4-D was mutagenic in yeast when tested at low pH¹⁴, but was not active under other conditions, including those of the host-mediated assay⁹. It produced a small increase in recessive lethal mutations and somatic mutations in *Drosophila melanogaster*¹⁵, although in other studies negative results were obtained^{9,16}. It was mutagenic for cultured Chinese

hamster cells¹⁷. Chromosomal anomalies have been observed in plants^{9,18}, but some of these effects may be the result of general toxicity. 2,4-D has been reported to increase the number of chromatid aberrations and chromosomal aberrations in cultured human lymphocytes⁹, but no aberration was detected in bovine peripheral blood cells exposed *in vitro*⁹. Toxic concentrations of 2,4-D produced chromosomal aberrations but did not induce micronuclei in the bone-marrow cells of mice treated *in vivo*⁹. 2,4-D did not induce dominant lethal mutations in mice⁹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	and the second s	-		
Fungi/Green plants		?	?	
Insects		?		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	?	+	?	
Mammals (in vivo)			?	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ Hardell, L. (1977) Malignant mesenchymal tumours and exposure to phenoxy acids a clinical observation (Swed.). *Särtryck Lakartidningen*, *74*, 2753-2754
- ² Hardell, L. (1979) Malignant lymphoma of histiocytic type and exposure to phenoxyace-tic acids or chlorophenols. *Lancet*, *i*, 55-56
- ³ Hardell, L. & Sandström, A. (1979) Case-control study: Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to phenoxyacetic acids or chlorophenols. *Br. J. Cancer*, *39*, 711-717
- ⁴ Eriksson, M., Hardell, L., Berg, N.O., Möller, T. & Axelson, O. (1981) Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to chemical substances: A case-referent study. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, 38, 27-33
- ⁵ Hardell, L., Eriksson, M., Lenner, P. & Lundgren, E. (1981) Malignant lymphoma and exposure to chemicals, especially organic solvents, chlorophenols and phenoxy acids: A case-control study. *Br. J. Cancer*, *43*, 169-176
- ⁶ Barthel, E. (1976) High incidence of lung cancer in persons with chronic professional exposure to pesticides in agriculture. *Z. Erkrank. Atm.-Org.*, 146, 266-274
- ⁷ Axelson, O., Sundell, L., Anderson, K., Edling, C., Hogstedt, C. & Kling, H. (1980) Herbicide exposure and tumor mortality. An updated epidemiologic investigation on Swedish railroad workers. *Scand. J. Work environ. Health*, 6, 73-79

- 8 Hogstedt, C. & Westerlund, B. (1980) Cohort study on causes of death of forestry workers with and without exposure to phenoxyacid preparations (Swed.). L(aêkartidningen, 77, 1828-1831
- 9 IARC Monographs, 15, 111-138, 1977
- ¹⁰ Vainio, H., Nickels, J. & Linnainmaa, K. (1982) Phenoxy acid herbicides cause peroxisome proliferation in Chinese hamsters. *Cancer Lett.* (in press)
- ¹¹ Ahmed, F.E., Hart, R.W. & Lewis, N.J. (1977) Pesticide induced DNA damage and its repair in cultured human cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *42*, 161-174
- ¹² Probst, G.S., McMahon, R.E., Hill, L.E., Thompson, C.Z., Epp, J.K. & Neal, S.B. (1981) Chemically-induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary rat hepatocyte cultures: A comparison with bacterial mutagenicity using 218 compounds. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 11-32
- ¹³ Zetterberg, G., Busk, L., Elovson, R., Starec-Nordenhammar, I. & Ryttman, H. (1977) The influence of pH on the effects of 2,4-D (2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid, Na salt) on Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Salmonella typhimurium. Mutat. Res., 42, 3-18
- ¹⁴ Zetterberg, G. (1978) Mutagenicity of chlorinated phenoxyacetic acids in Saccharomyces cerevisiae (Abstract no. 224). Mutat. Res., 53, 285-286
- ¹⁵ Rasmuson, B. & Persson-Svahlin, H. (1978) Mutagenicity of 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid and 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid in genetically stable and unstable strains of Drosophila melanogaster. In: Ramel, C., ed., Chlorinated Phenoxy Acids and their Dioxins. Mode of Action, Health Risks and Environmental Effects (Ecological Bulletins, Vol. 27), Stockholm, pp. 190-192
- ¹⁶ Magnusson, J., Ramel, C. & Eriksson, A. (1977) Mutagenic effects of chlorinated phenoxyacetic acids in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Hereditas, 87, 121-123
- ¹⁷ Ahmed, F.E., Lewis, N.J. & Hart, R.W. (1977) Pesticide induced ouabain resistant mutants in Chinese hamster V79 cells. *Chem.-biol. Interactions*, *19*, 369-374
- ¹⁸ Khalatkar, A.S. & Bhargava, Y.R. (1982) 2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid. A new environmental mutagen. *Mutat. Res.*, *103*, 111-114

DACARBAZINE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A single case of acute leukaemia following treatment with dacarbazine in combination with other cytotoxic agents has been reported. In a small epidemiological study of short duration, no excess of subsequent neoplasms was observed in patients treated with a regimen consisting of dacarbazine, adriamycin, bleomycins and vinblastine¹. [See also the summary of data on 'Certain combined chemotherapy for lymphomas (including MOPP)'.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Following its oral or intraperitoneal administration to rats, dacarbazine produced tumours at various sites, including breast, thymus, spleen and brain, in as little as 18 weeks after initial exposure. After its intraperitoneal administration to mice, dacarbazine produced tumours at various sites, including lung, haematopoietic tissue and uterus¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (limited)

Dacarbazine is an alkylating agent. In a limited number of assays, it was negative in bacterial mutation tests¹. It induced sex-linked recessive lethal mutations in *Drosophila melanogaster*². It was mutagenic in mouse lymphoma cells *in vitro* in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system¹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		?		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+		
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

References

DAPSONE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Cases of cancer have been reported in patients treated with dapsone for dermatitis herpetiformis; but the relevant data consist in five studies¹⁻³ of patients with leprosy, the principal disorder treated with dapsone. In none of these studies was any significant excess of cancer found. In one study², mortality from cancer was examined over two time periods, before and after the introduction of dapsone; but no increase was detected.

¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 203-212, 1981

² Vogel, E. (1971) Chemical constitution and mutagenic action. VI. Induction of dominant and sex-linked recessive lethal mutations by arylalkyltriazenes in *Drosophila mela*nogaster (Ger.). Mutat. Res., 11, 397-410

DDT 105

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Dapsone has been tested by oral administration in mice and rats, by intraperitoneal administration in mice and by prenatal and lifetime oral exposure in mice and rats. In three different studies in rats, high doses of dapsone induced mesenchymal tumours of the spleen (and of the peritoneum in two studies) in males. An increased incidence of tumours of the thyroid was found in rats of both sexes in one study and in males in a further study. The experiment in mice involving intraperitoneal administration of dapsone could not be evaluated. The other two experiments did not provide evidence of carcinogenicity¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Dapsone was not mutagenic to Salmonella typhimurium¹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects			·	
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ² Kolonel, L.N. & Hirohata, T. (1977) Leprosy and cancer: A retrospective cohort study in Hawaii. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *58*, 1577-1581
- ³ Tokudome, S., Kono, S., Ikeda, M., Kuratsune, M. & Kumamaru, S. (1981) Cancer and other causes of death among leprosy patients. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *67*, 285-289

DDT (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

In four studies¹⁻³, tissue levels of DDT were reported to be higher in cancer patients than in subjects dying from other causes; no difference was found in two other studies^{1,4}. Serum DDT appeared to be elevated in another study of nine cancer patients⁵, but it is

¹ IARC Monographs, 24, 59-76, 1980

difficult to interpret. In two case-control studies of soft-tissue sarcoma and one of lymphoma⁶⁻⁸, relative risks for the association of these diseases with exposure to DDT were, respectively, 1.2, 1.3 and 1.6. Some of the men had also been exposed to phenoxyacetic acids and chlorophenols, which gave higher relative risks. A case-control study of colon cancer⁹ showed no increased relative risk for exposure to DDT. A small excess of deaths from cancer (3 observed, 1.0 expected) was found in forestry foremen exposed to DDT, 2,4-D and 2,4,5-T¹⁰.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

DDT is carcinogenic to mice following its oral administration, causing benign and malignant liver neoplasms^{1,11} and lymphomas and lung neoplasms¹¹. Following its subcutaneous injection to mice, it produced liver tumours¹¹. Oral administration to rats caused liver neoplasms^{12,13}. Two feeding studies with hamsters were negative^{1,14}, while feeding studies with dogs and monkeys were inconclusive¹. DDT slightly increased the incidence of liver neoplasms in rats previously exposed to *N*-nitrosodiethylamine¹⁵.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

DDT did not interact with DNA¹⁶ and did not produce unscheduled DNA synthesis in cultured human fibroblasts¹⁷ or rat, mouse or hamster hepatocytes^{18,19}. It was not mutagenic to *Salmonella typhimurium*²⁰⁻²², to yeast²³, to cultured rat liver epithelial cells²⁴ or to human fibroblasts in a rat hepatocyte-mediated assay²⁵. DDT did not produce chromosomal aberrations in cultured human lymphocytes²⁶. It did not produce recessive or dominant lethal mutations in wasps (*Bracon hebetor*)²⁷ or visible or lethal mutations in mice exposed for five generations²⁸. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		_		
Fungi/Green plants		-		
Insects		•		DL(-)
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-		•	
Mammals (in vivo)	Address to the second s	-		DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations

¹ IARC Monographs, 5, 83-124, 1974

² Kasai, A., Asanuma, S. & Nakamura, S. (1972) Studies on organochlorine pesticide residues in human organs. Part III (Jpn.). Nippon Noson Igakkai Zasshi, 21, 296-297

DDT 107

- ³ Unger, M. & Olsen, J. (1980) Organochlorine compounds in the adipose tissue of deceased people with and without cancer. *Environ. Res.*, *23*, 257-263
- ⁴ Maier-Bode, H. (1960) DDT in human body fat. Med. exp. (Basel), 1, 146-152
- ⁵ Caldwell, G.G., Cannon, S.B., Pratt, C.B. & Arthur, R.D. (1981) Serum pesticide levels in patients with childhood colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer*, 48, 774-778
- ⁶ Hardell, L. & Sandström, A. (1979) Case-control study: Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to phenoxyacetic acids or chlorophenols. *Br. J. Cancer*, *39*, 711-717
- ⁷ Eriksson, M., Hardell, L., Berg, N.O., Möller, T. & Axelson, O. (1981) Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to chemical substances: A case-referent study. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, 38, 27-33
- ⁸ Hardell, L., Eriksson, M., Lenner, P. & Lundgren, E. (1981) Malignant lymphoma and exposure to chemicals, especially organic solvents, chlorophenols and phenoxy acids: A case-control study. *Br. J. Cancer*, *43*, 169-176
- ⁹ Hardell, L. (1981) Relation of soft-tissue sarcoma, malignant lymphoma and colon cancer to phenoxy acids, chlorophenols and other agents. Scand. J. Work environ. Health, 7, 119-130
- ¹⁰ Hogstedt, C. & Westerlund, B. (1980) Cohort studies on causes of death of forestry workers with and without exposure to phenoxyacid preparations (Swed.). L(aêkartidningen, 77, 1828-1831
- ¹¹ Kashyap, S.K., Nigam, S.K., Karnick, A.B., Gupta, R.C. & Chatterjee, S.K. (1977) Carcinogenicity of DDT (dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane) in pure inbred Swiss mice. *Int. J. Cancer*, 19, 725-729
- ¹² Rossi, L., Ravera, M., Repetti, G. & Santi, L. (1977) Long-term administration of DDT or phenobarbital Na in Wistar rats. *Int. J. Cancer*, 19, 179-185
- ¹³ Cabral, J.R.P., Hall, R.K., Rossi, L., Bronczyk, S.A. & Shubik, P. (1982a) Effects of long-term intakes of DDT on rats. *Tumori*, *68*, 11-17
- ¹⁴ Cabral, J.R.P., Hall, R.K., Rossi, L., Bronczyk, S.A. & Shubik, P. (1982b) Lack of carcinogenicity of DDT in hamsters. *Tumori*, 68, 5-10
- Nishizumi, M. (1979) Effect of phenobarbital, dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane, and polychlorinated biphenyls on diethylnitrosamine-induced hepatocarcinogenesis. *Gann*, 70, 835-837
- ¹⁶ Griffin, D.E. III & Hill, W.E. (1978) *In vitro* breakage of plasmid DNA by mutagens and pesticides. *Mutat. Res.*, *52*, 161-169
- ¹⁷ Ahmed, F.E., Hart, R.W. & Lewis, N.J. (1977) Pesticide induced DNA damage and its repair in cultured human cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *42*, 161-174
- ¹⁸ Maslansky, C.J. & Williams, G.M. (1981) Evidence for an epigenetic mode of action in organochlorine pesticide hepatocarcinogenicity: A lack of genotoxicity in rat, mouse and hamster hepatocytes. J. Toxicol. environ. Health, 8, 121-130

- ¹⁹ Probst, G.S., McMahon, R.E., Hill, L.E., Thompson, C.Z., Epp, J.K. & Neal, S.B. (1981) Chemically-induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary rat hepatocyte cultures: A comparison with bacterial mutagenicity using 218 compounds. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 11-32
- ²⁰ Van Dijck, P. & Van de Voorde, H. (1976) Mutagenicity *versus* carcinogenicity of organochlorine insecticides. *Med. Fac. Landbouniv. Rijksuniv. Gent*, 41, 1491-1498
- ²¹ Marshall, T.C., Dorough, H.W. & Swim, H.E. (1976) Screening of pesticides for mutagenic potential using *Salmonella typhimurium* mutants. *J. agric. Food Chem.*, *24*, 560-563
- ²² Planche, G., Croisy, A., Malaveille, C., Tomatis, L. & Bartsch, H. (1979) Metabolic and mutagenicity studies on DDT and 15 derivatives. Detection of 1,1-bis(p-chlorophenyl)-2,2-dichloroethane and 1,1-bis(p-chlorophenyl)-2,2,2-trichloroethyl acetate (kelthane acetate) as mutagens in Salmonella typhimurium and of 1,1-bis(p-chlorophenyl)ethylene oxide, a likely metabolite, as an alkylating agent. Chem.-biol. Interactions, 25, 157-175
- ²³ Fahring, R. (1974) Comparative mutagenicity studies with pesticides. In: Montesano, R. & Tomatis, L., eds, Chemical Carcinogenesis Essays (IARC Scientific Publications No. 10), Lyon, pp. 161-181
- Williams, G.M. (1979) Liver cell culture systems for the study of hepatocarcinogenesis. In: Margison, G.P., ed., Advances in Medical Oncology, Research & Education, Vol. 1, Oxford, Pergamon Press, pp. 273-280
- ²⁵ Tong, C., Fazio, M. & Williams, G.M. (1981) Rat hepatocyte-mediated mutagenesis of human cells by carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons but not organochlorine pesticides. *Proc. Soc. exp. Biol. Med.*, 167, 572-575
- ²⁶ Lessa, J.M.M., Becak, W., Rabello, M.N., Pereira, C.A.B. & Ungaro, M.T. (1976) Cytogenetic study of DDT on human lymphocytes *in vitro*. *Mutat. Res.*, *40*, 131-138
- ²⁷ Grosch, D.S. & Valcovic, L.R. (1967) Chlorinated hydrocarbon insecticides are not mutagenic in *Bracon hebetor* tests. *J. econom. Entomol.*, *60*, 1177-1179
- ²⁸ Wallace, M.E. & Knights, P. (1976) Pilot study of the mutagenicity of DDT in mice. *Environ. Pollut.*. 11, 217-222

ortho-DICHLOROBENZENE AND para-DICHLOROBENZENE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

One report of a series of five cases has suggested an association between leukaemia and exposure to dichlorobenzenes¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

The one available study on *ortho*-dichlorobenzene was inadequate for evaluation. No data on *para*-dichlorobenzene were available.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Neither *ortho*- nor *para*-dichlorobenzene was mutagenic to *Salmonella typhimurium*. A single report described weak mutagenicity of *ortho*- and *para*-dichlorobenzene to *Aspergillus nidulans. para*-Dichlorobenzene caused chromosomal anomalies in the root tips of *Vicia faba*¹. No data on humans were available.

ortho-Dichlorobenzene

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		•		
Fungi/Green plants		?		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				
para-Dichlorobenzene				
	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		_		
Prokaryotes Fungi/Green plants		?	+	

Reference

Mammals (in vivo)

Humans (in vivo)

¹ IARC Monographs, 29, 213-238, 1982

3,3'-DICHLOROBENZIDINE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Three retrospective epidemiological studies of workers exposed to 3,3'-dichlorobenzidine gave no evidence of carcinogenicity, but the studies were of insufficient quality or statistical power to permit confident exclusion of this possibility. Because 3,3'-dichlorobenzidine and benzidine may be made in the same plant, dichlorobenzidine may have contributed to the incidence of bladder cancer attributed to benzidine¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

3,3'-Dichlorobenzidine was tested in mice, rats, hamster and dogs by oral administration, in rats by subcutaneous administration and in mice by transplacental exposure. Following its oral administration, it produced liver-cell tumours in mice and hepatocellular carcinomas in dogs, mammary and Zymbal-gland tumours in rats and carcinomas of the urinary bladder in hamsters and dogs. Increased incidences of leukaemias were observed in rats following its oral administration and in mice following transplacental exposure¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

3,3'-Dichlorobenzidine bound to DNA treated *in vitro*, the binding being greatly enhanced in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system². It induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in HeLa cells and was mutagenic to *Salmonella typhimu-rium*¹. It induced cell transformation (in the BHK system) in the presence of a hepatic extract³ and enhanced transformation of rat embryo cells containing Rauscher leukaemia virus¹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		A. Web. 1		
Insects			de Maria de Carlos d	****
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+			T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 29, 239-256, 1982
- ² Bratcher, S.C. & Sikka, H.C. (1982) Binding of 3,3'-dichlorobenzidine to DNA and polyribonucleotides *in vitro*. *Chem.-biol*. *Interactions*, *38*, 369-375
- ³ Styles, J.A. (1978) Appendix III. Mammalian cell transformation in vitro. Br. J. Cancer, 37, 931-936

DICHLOROMETHANE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A large, occupationally exposed population was investigated in both a proportionate mortality study, with 334 deaths, and in a 13-year cohort mortality study of 751 employees, of whom 252 had at least 20 years of work exposure. Neither method of analysis suggested any association with cancer at any site¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

Dichloromethane was tested in one experiment in male mice by intraperitoneal injection. Although the results were suggestive of an increased incidence of lung tumours, the experiment was inadequate for evaluation².

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (limited)

Dichloromethane did not induce unscheduled DNA synthesis in human or hamster cells in vitro³. It was mutagenic to Salmonella typhimurium¹,⁴ and to Drosophila melanogaster⁵ but not to hamster cells in vitro³. No significant increase in sister chromatid exchanges was seen in mammalian cells in vitro³. The micronucleus test in mouse bone-marrow cells was negative⁵. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	_	-	-	***************************************
Mammals (in vivo)			-	
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ¹ Friedlander, B.R., Hearne, T. & Hall, S. (1978) Epidemiologic investigation of employees chronically exposed to methylene chloride. Mortality analysis. *J. occup. Med.*, *20*, 657-666
- ² IARC Monographs, 20, 449-465, 1979
- ³ Jongen, W.M.F., Lohman, P.H.M., Kottenhagen, M.J., Alink, G.M., Berends, F. & Koeman, J.H. (1981) Mutagenicity testing of dichloromethane in short-term mammalian test systems. *Mutat. Res.*, *81*, 203-213
- ⁴ Nestmann, E.R., Otson, R., Williams, D.T. & Kowbel, D.J. (1981) Mutagenicity of paint removers containing dichloromethane. *Cancer Lett.*, 11, 295-302
- ⁵ Gocke, E., King, M.-T., Eckhardt, K. & Wild, D. (1981) Mutagenicity of cosmetics ingredients licensed by the European Communities. *Mutat. Res.*, *90*, 91-109

DIELDRIN (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Mean tissue levels of dieldrin were reported to be elevated in one necropsy study of 50 cancer patients and 42 comparison subjects¹. Mean serum levels were also reported to be elevated in eight cancer patients compared with seven controls². Follow-up of some 233 workmen (166 employed for more than four years and followed for 15 or more years) in a plant where aldrin and dieldrin and, later, endrin and telodrin were manufactured showed two deaths from cancer^{1,3}. [No estimate was given of the expected number of cancers, and details of follow-up were limited.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Dieldrin is carcinogenic to mice, producing benign and malignant liver neoplasms following its oral administration^{1,4,5}. No carcinogenic effect was observed in feeding studies in rats^{1,6,7}, trout⁸ or hamsters⁹. Feeding studies in dogs and monkeys were considered to be inadequate¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Dieldrin did not produce DNA breaks in an *Escherichia coli* plasmid¹⁰. It was claimed to elicit DNA repair in cultured human fibroblasts¹¹ and human lymphocytes¹², but it did not do so in cultured rat hepatocytes¹³ and did not produce DNA damage in cultured Chinese hamster cells¹⁴. It was not mutagenic to *Salmonella typhimurium*^{15,16}, to yeast¹⁷, to *Drosophila melanogaster*¹⁸ or to the wasp *Bracon hebetor*¹⁹. In a limited study²⁰, there

DIELDRIN 113

was some indication that it was mutagenic to Chinese hamster V79 cells. It produced chromosomal aberrations in human embryonic lung cells *in vitro*²⁰ and chromosomal damage to mouse bone-marrow cells *in vivo* in one study²¹ but not in another²² and not in Chinese hamster bone-marrow cells²³. It did not induce cell transformation *in vitro* (in BHK cells)²³. It was negative in the mouse dominant-lethal test and did not induce mitotic gene conversion in yeast in a host-mediated assay²². No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	-			
Fungi/Green plants		-		•
Insects		-		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-	?	?	T(-)
Mammals (in vivo)			?	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 5, 125-156, 1974
- ² Caldwell, G.G., Cannon, S.B., Pratt, C.B. & Arthur, R.D. (1981) Serum pesticide levels in patients with childhood colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer*, 48, 774-778
- ³ Van Raalte, H.G.S. (1977) Human experience with dieldrin in perspective. *Ecotoxicol. environ. Saf.*, 1, 203-210
- ⁴ Tennekes, H.A., Wright, A.S., Dix, K.M. & Koeman, J.H. (1981) Effects of dieldrin, diet, and bedding on enzyme function and tumor incidence in livers of male CF-1 mice. *Cancer Res.*, 41, 3615-3620
- ⁵ National Cancer Institute (1978) *Bioassay of Aldrin and Dieldrin for Possible Carcinogenicity (Tech. Rep. Ser. No. 21, DHEW Publ. No. (NIH) 78-821*), Bethesda, MD, Carcinogenesis Testing Program, Division of Cancer Cause and Prevention
- ⁶ Stevenson, D.E., Thorpe, E., Hunt, P.F. & Walker, A.I.T. (1976) The toxic effects of dieldrin in rats: A reevaluation of data obtained in a two-year feeding study. *Toxicol.* appl. Pharmacol., 36, 247-254
- ⁷ National Cancer Institute (1978) *Bioassay of Dieldrin for Possible Carcinogenicity in Rats (Tech. Rep. Ser. No. 22, DHEW Publ. No. (NIH) 78-822*), Bethesda, MD, Carcinogenesis Testing Program, Division of Cancer Cause and Prevention
- ⁸ Hendricks, J.D., Putnam, T.P. & Sinnhuber, R.O. (1979) Effect of dietary dieldrin on aflatoxin B₁ carcinogenesis in rainbow trout (*Salmo gardineri*). *J. environ. Pathol. Toxicol.*, *2*, 719-728

- ⁹ Cabral, J.R.P., Hall, R.K., Bronczyk, S.A. & Shubik, P. (1979) A carcinogenicity study of the pesticide dieldrin in hamsters. *Cancer Lett.*, *6*, 241-246
- ¹⁰ Griffin, D.E., III & Hill, W.E. (1978) In vitro breakage of plasmid DNA by mutagens and pesticides. Mutat. Res., 52, 161-169
- ¹¹ Ahmed, F.E., Hart, R.W. & Lewis, N.J. (1977) Pesticide induced DNA damage and its repair in cultured human cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *42*, 161-174
- ¹² Rocchi, P., Perocco, P., Alberghini, W., Fini, A. & Prodi, G. (1980) Effect of pesticides on scheduled and unscheduled DNA synthesis of rat thymocytes and human lymphocytes. *Arch. Toxicol.*, 45, 101-108
- ¹³ Probst, G.S., McMahon, R.E., Hill, L.E., Thompson, C.Z., Epp, J.K. & Neal,S.B. (1981) Chemically-induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary rat hepatocyte cultures: A comparison with bacterial mutagenicity using 218 compounds. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 11-32
- ¹⁴ Swenberg, J.A., Petzold, G.L. & Harbach, P.R. (1976) In vitro DNA damage/alkaline elution assay for predicting carcinogenic potential. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun., 72, 732-738
- ¹⁵ Van Dijck, P. & Van de Voorde, H. (1976) Mutagenicity *versus* carcinogenicity of organochlorine insecticides. *Med. Fac. Landbouniv. Rijksuniv. Gent*, *41*, 1491-1498
- ¹⁶ Marshall, T.C., Dorough, H.W. & Swim, H.E. (1976) Screening of pesticides for mutagenic potential using *Salmonella typhimurium* mutants. *J. agric. Food Chem.*, *24*, 560-563
- Fahring, R. (1974) Comparative mutagenicity studies with pesticides. In: Montesano, R.
 Tomatis, L., eds, Chemical Carcinogenesis Essays (IARC Scientific Publications No. 10), Lyon, pp. 161-181
- ¹⁸ Benes, V. & Sram, R. (1969) Mutagenic activity of some pesticides in Drosophila melanogaster. Ind. Med., 38, 50-52
- ¹⁹ Grosh, D.S. & Valcovic, L.R. (1967) Chlorinated hydrocarbon insecticides are not mutagenic in *Bracon hebetor* tests. *J. econom. Entomol.*, *60*, 1177-1179
- ²⁰ Ahmed, F.E., Lewis, N.J. & Hart, R.W. (1977) Pesticide induced ouabain resistant mutants in Chinese hamster V79 cells. *Chem.-biol. Interactions*, 19, 369-374
- ²¹ Majumdar, S.K., Kopelman, H.A. & Schnitman, M.J. (1976) Dieldrin- induced chromosome damage in mouse bone-marrow and WI-38 human lung cells. *J. Hered.*, 67, 303-307
- ²² Bidwell, K., Weber, E., Nienhold, I., Connor, T. & Legator, M.S. (1975) Comprehensive evaluation for mutagenic activity of dieldrin (Abstract no. 15). *Mutat. Res.*, *31*, 314
- ²³ Dean, B.J., Doak, S.M.A. & Somerville, H. (1975) The potential mutagenicity of dieldrin (HEOD) in mammals. *Food Cosmet. Toxicol.*, *13*, 317-323
- ²⁴ Styles, J.A. (1978) Appendix III. Mammalian cell transformation in vitro. Br. J. Cancer, 37, 931-936

DIENOESTROL (Group 2B) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

DIETHYLSTILBOESTROL (Group 1) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

DIETHYL SULPHATE (Group 2A)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited)

In a historical cohort study of 335 process workers and 408 chemical mechanics and refinery workers at a factory manufacturing isopropyl alcohol and ethanol, an excess mortality (standardized mortality ratio = 504) of upper respiratory (laryngeal) cancer was found (4 cases, 0.8 expected) among process workers and an SMR of 320 among all 743 workers. The cohort spent 20% of its time on the ethanol manufacturing process; but 70% of the time of the four cases was associated with ethanol manufacture. The strong-acid ethanol process produced high concentrations of diethyl sulphate¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Diethyl sulphate is carcinogenic to rats following its subcutaneous administration, producing local tumours; and it is carcinogenic after prenatal exposure, producing tumours of the nervous system. A few tumours of the forestomach occurred in rats given diethyl sulphate by gavage².

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Diethyl sulphate induced DNA damage in *Bacillus subtilis* and in human fibroblasts in culture and was positive in the phage-induction assay; DNA was bound to 7-ethylguanine in HeLa cells³. It was mutagenic to bacteria³, fungi³, yeast³, higher plants³, *Drosophila melanogaster*³, mammalian cells in culture³, and mice *in vivo*³. Conflicting results were obtained concerning the production of chromosomal anomalies in the bone-marrow cells of mice treated *in vivo*³. Dominant lethal mutations were induced in mice³. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+		
Mammals (in vivo)		+	?	DL(+)
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations

References

- ¹ Lynch, J., Hanis, N.M., Bird, M.G., Murray, K.J. & Walsh, J.P. (1979) An association of upper respiratory cancer with exposure to diethyl sulfate. *J. occup. Med.*, *21*, 333-341
- ² IARC Monographs, 4, 277-281, 1974
- ³ Hoffmann, G.R. (1980) Genetic effects of dimethyl sulfate, diethyl sulfate, and related compounds. *Mutat. Res.*, *75*, 63-129
- ⁴ Abraham, S.K., Goswami, V. & Kesavan, P.C. (1979) Mutagenicity of inhaled diethyl sulphate vapour in *Drosophila melanogaster* and its implications for the utility of the system for screening air pollutants. *Mutat. Res.*, *66*, 195-198

DIMETHISTERONE (Group 3) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

3,3'-DIMETHOXYBENZIDINE (ortho-DIANISIDINE) (Group 2B)

A. Evidence of carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

In an English summary of a Russian study, it was stated that there is not a single case on record of an occupational urinary bladder neoplasm produced solely by the effect of dianisidine [3,3'-dimethoxybenzidine]¹. This compound (as well as dichlorobenzidine and ortho-toluidine) has been prepared in the same plants as benzidine and may have contributed to the bladder cancer risk observed among benzidine workers². 3,3'-Dimethoxybenzidine has been found in the urine of workers exposed to it³.

B. Evidence of carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Following its oral administration, 3,3'-dimethoxybenzidine produced tumours in rats at various sites, including the bladder, intestine, skin and Zymbal gland, and produced forestomach papillomas in hamsters³.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (limited)

3,3'-Dimethoxybenzidine was negative in the pol A assay⁴ but induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in HeLa cells⁵ and in primary rat hepatocytes⁶. It was mutagenic in Salmonella typhimurium⁷⁻⁹ and transformed BHK cells in vitro¹⁰. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	_	+		
Fungi/Green plants			,	
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+			T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation

- ¹ Genin, V.A. (1974) Hygienic assessment of dianizidine-sulphate production from standpoint of carcinogenous hazard for workers. *Gig. Tr. prof. Zabol.*, *6*, 18-22
- ² Clayson, D.B. (1976) Occupational bladder cancer. Prev. Med., 5, 228-244
- ³ IARC Monographs, 4, 41-47, 1974
- ⁴ Fluck, E.R., Poirier, L.A. & Ruelius, H.W. (1976) Evaluation of a DNA polymerasedeficient mutant of *E. coli* for the rapid detection of carcinogens. *Chem.-biol. Interactions*, 15, 219-231
- ⁵ Martin, C.N., McDermid, A.C. & Garner, R.C. (1978) Testing of known carcinogens and noncarcinogens for their ability to induce unscheduled DNA synthesis in HeLa cells. *Cancer Res.*, *38*, 2621-2627
- ⁶ Probst, G.S., McMahon, R.E., Hill, L.E., Thompson, C.Z., Epp, J.K. & Neal, S.B. (1981) Chemically-induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary rat hepatocyte cultures: A comparison with bacterial mutagenicity using 218 compounds. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 11-32
- ⁷ Anderson, D. & Styles, J.A. (1978) Appendix II. The bacterial mutation test. *Br. J. Cancer*, 37, 924-930
- ⁸ Takemura, N. & Shimizu, H. (1978) Mutagenicity of some aromatic amino- and nitro-compounds (Abstract no. 35). *Mutat. Res.*, *54*, 256-257

- ⁹ Garner, R.C., Walpole, A.L. & Rose, F.L. (1975) Testing of some benzidine analogues for microsomal activation to bacterial mutagens. *Cancer Lett.*, 1, 39-42
- ¹⁰ Styles, J.A. (1978) Appendix III. Mammalian cell transformation *in vitro*. *Br. J. Cancer*, 37, 931-936

DIMETHYLCARBAMOYL CHLORIDE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A study of workers exposed to dimethylcarbamoyl chloride was considered to be inadequate due to the small number of people observed¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Dimethylcarbamoyl chloride was tested by skin application and by subcutaneous or intraperitoneal injection in female mice of one strain, in which it induced local tumours¹. It produced a high incidence of carcinomas of the nasal tract in male rats and hamsters following exposure by inhalation².

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Dimethylcarbamoyl chloride was highly active in producing DNA damage in the *Escherichia coli* pol A assay, in *rec* assays and in yeast, but negative results were reported in mammalian fibroblasts *in vitro*³. It was mutagenic in bacteria^{1,3}, yeast and mouse lymphoma cells *in vitro* but not in *Drosophila melanogaster*³. Chromosomal aberrations were observed in yeast and mammalian cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*³. It induced cell transformation (in the BHK assay)³. No chromosomal aberration was reported in 10 workers exposed to this compound for 4-17 years⁴.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants	+	+	+	
Insects		_		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-	+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			+	
Humans (in vivo)			_	

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 12, 77-84, 1976
- ² Sellakumar, A.R., Laskin, S., Kuschner, M., Rusch, G., Katz, G.V., Snyder, C.A. & Albert, R.E. (1980) Inhalation carcinogenesis by dimethylcarbamoyl chloride in Syrian golden hamsters. *J. environ. Pathol. Toxicol.*, 4, 107-115
- ³ de Serres, F.J. & Ashby, J., eds (1981) Evaluation of Short-Term Tests for Carcinogens. Report of the International Collaborative Program, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 190, 196, 197, 201, 217, 246, 264, 272, 282, 288, 416, 522, 582, 634, 639, 667
- ⁴ Fleig, I. & Thiess, A.M. (1978) Chromosome investigations of persons exposed to dimethylcarbamoyl chloride and diethylcarbamoyl chloride. *J. occup. Med.*, 20, 745-746

DIMETHYL SULPHATE (Group 2A)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Four cases of bronchial carcinoma were reported in men occupationally exposed to dimethyl sulphate¹. Additional case reports have since appeared: a case of pulmonary carcinoma in a man exposed for seven years to 'small amounts' of dimethyl sulphate but to larger amounts of dichlorodimethyl ether and monochlorodimethyl ether², and a case of choroidal melanoma in a man exposed for six years to dimethyl sulphate³.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Dimethyl sulphate is carcinogenic to rats following its inhalation or subcutaneous injection, producing mainly local tumours, and after prenatal exposure, producing tumours of the nervous system¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Dimethyl sulphate is a methylating agent and reacts with nucleic acids *in vitro* and *in vivo*⁴. It induced prophage in bacteria, and indirect evidence of DNA repair in bacteria⁴. It induced DNA repair in cultured mammalian cells^{4,5}. It bound covalently to DNA of rats treated *in vivo*⁶ and inhibited the synthesis of testicular DNA of mice treated *in vivo*⁴. It was mutagenic to viruses⁴, bacteria⁴, fungi⁴, vascular plants⁴, insects⁴, fish⁴ and cultured mammalian cells^{4,7} in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system. It induced chromosomal aberrations in vascular plants⁴, fish⁴ and cultured mammalian cells⁴, and provoked sister chromatid exchanges in cultured mammalian cells^{4,8}. Dimethyl sulphate was negative in a dominant lethal test in mice⁴. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+	+	
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+	+	
Mammals (in vivo)	+			DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 4, 271-276, 1974
- ² Bettendorf, U. (1977) Occupational lung cancer after inhalation of alkylating compounds. Dichlorodimethyl ether, monochlorodimethyl ether and dimethyl sulphate (Ger.). *Dtsch. med. Wochenschr.*, 102, 396-398
- ³ Albert, D.M. & Puliafito, C.A. (1977) Choroidal melanoma: Possible exposure to industrial toxins. *New Engl. J. Med.*, *296*, 634-635
- ⁴ Hoffmann, G.R. (1980) Genetic effects of dimethyl sulfate, diethylsulfate, and related compounds. *Mutat. Res.*, *75*, 63-129
- ⁵ Probst, G.S., McMahon, R.E., Hill, L.E., Thompson, C.Z., Epp, J.K. & Neal, S.B. (1981) Chemically-induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary rat hepatocyte cultures: A comparison with bacterial mutagenicity using 218 compounds. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 11-32
- ⁶ Lutz, W.K. (1979) *In vivo* covalent binding of organic chemicals to DNA as a quantitative indicator in the process of chemical carcinogenesis. *Mutat. Res.*, *66*, 289-356
- ⁷ Newbold, R.F., Warren, W., Medcalf, A.S.C. & Amos, J. (1980) Mutagenicity of carcinogenic methylating agents is associated with a specific DNA modification. *Nature*, 283, 596-599
- ⁸ Latt, S.,A., Allen, J., Bloom, S., Carrano, A., Falke, E., Kram, D., Schneider, E., Schreck, R., Tice, R., Whitfield, B. & Wolff, S. (1981) Sister-chromatid exchanges: A report of the Gene-Tox program. *Mutat. Res..*, 87, 17-62

1,4-DIOXANE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

In a mortality study of 165 workers who had been exposed to low concentrations of 1,4-dioxane since 1954, seven deaths had occurred as of 1975, two of them from cancer¹. [The observation is based on small numbers, short follow-up and low exposure levels.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Administration of 1,4-dioxane in drinking-water at several dose levels to rats and male guinea-pigs produced adenomas and carcinomas in the liver in rats of both sexes and hepatomas in guinea-pigs, carcinomas of the nasal cavity in male and female rats and carcinomas of the gall-bladder in guinea-pigs. No increase in the incidence of tumours was observed in rats following its inhalation. It was active as a promoter in a two-stage study on skin carcinogenesis in mice¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

1,4-Dioxane did not induce unscheduled DNA repair *in vitro* or *in vivo*². It was not mutagenic in several strains of *Salmonella typhimurium*, either in the presence or absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system²⁻⁴. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-	77.5	
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-			
Mammals (in vivo)	_			
Humans (in vivo)				

- ¹ Buffler, P.A., Wood, S.M., Suarez, L. & Kilian, D.J. (1978) Mortality follow-up of workers exposed to 1,4-dioxane. *J. occup. Med.*, *20*, 255-259
- ² Stott, W.T., Quast, J.F. & Watanabe, P.G. (1981) Differentiation of the mechanisms of oncogenicity of 1,4-dioxane and 1,3-hexachlorobutadiene in the rat. *Toxicol. appl. Pharmacol.*, 60, 287-300

- ³ Maron, D., Katzenellenbogen, J. & Ames, B.N. (1981) Compatibility of organic solvents with the *Salmonella*/microsome test. *Mutat. Res.*, *88*, 343-350
- ⁴ Hermann, M., Bedouelles, H. & Hofnung, M. (1978) Influence of solvents in the *Salmonella*/microsome assay (Abstract no. 91). *Mutat. Res.*, *53*, 199

DIRECT BLACK 38 (TECHNICAL-GRADE) (Group 2B) (See Benzidine-based dyes)

DIRECT BLUE 6 (TECHNICAL-GRADE) (Group 2B) (See Benzidine-based dyes)

DIRECT BROWN 95 (TECHNICAL-GRADE) (Group 2B) (See Benzidine-based dyes)

EPICHLOROHYDRIN (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

One study of 863 workers exposed in 1948-1965 to epichlorohydrin in two factories showed an excess of respiratory cancer (the pooled data give 10 observed, 8.74 expected). This difference is significant. Some of the workers had also been engaged in the manufacture of isopropyl alcohol, in which exposure to diisopropylsulphate may occur¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Epichlorohydrin was tested in male rats by oral administration, inducing papillomas and carcinomas of the forestomach², and by inhalation, inducing papillomas and carcinomas of the nasal cavity³. It was also tested in one strain of female mice by skin application, and by subcutaneous and intraperitoneal injection: it induced subcutaneous sarcomas and was active as an initiator for the skin⁴

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Epichlorohydrin is an alkylating agent. It provoked DNA repair in cultured mammalian cells⁵. It was mutagenic in bacteria⁴⁻⁷, fungi⁵⁻⁷, vascular plants⁷, insects^{4,6} and cultured mammalian cells⁵ in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system. It induced mutations in bacteria in the host-mediated assay in mice⁶. It induced chromosomal aberrations in vascular plants⁷ and sister chromatid exchanges^{5,8} and chromosomal aberrations^{5,9} in cultured mammalian cells. Chromosomal aberrations¹⁰ but not micronuclei⁶ were produced in bone-marrow cells of mice treated *in vivo*. It induced cell transformation (in the BHK assay⁵) and morphological abnormalities in mouse sperm⁴, but was negative in assays for dominant lethality⁴. In three studies^{6,11-14}, elevated levels of chromosomal aberrations were observed in peripheral blood lymphocytes of workers occupationally exposed to epichlorohydrin. However, the evidence was insufficient to establish a cause-and-effect relationship between exposure to epichlorohydrin and cytogenetic damage.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants	+	+	+	
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			+	DL(-) SA(+)
Humans (in vivo)			?	

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations; SA = sperm abnormalities

- ¹ Enterline, P.E. (1982) Importance of sequential exposure in the production of epichlorohydrin and isopropanol. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* (in press)
- ² Konishi, Y., Kawabata, A., Denda, A., Ikeda, T., Katada, H., Maruyama, H. & Higashiguchi, R. (1980) Forestomach tumors induced by orally administered epichlorohydrin in male Wistar rats. *Gann*, 71, 922-923
- ³ Laskin, S., Sellakumar, A.R., Kuschner, M., Nelson, N., La Mendola, S., Rusch, G.M., Katz, G.V., Dulak, N.C. & Albert, R.E. (1980) Inhalation carcinogenicity of epichlorohydrin in non inbred Sprague-Dawley rats. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, 65, 751-757
- ⁴ IARC Monographs, 11, 131-139, 1976
- ⁵ de Serres, F.J. & Ashby, J., eds (1981) Evaluation of Short-Term Tests for Carcinogens. Report of the International Collaborative Program, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 303, 321, 393, 426, 437, 530, 541, 583, 634, 639

- ⁶ Srám, R.J., Tomatis, L., Clemmesen, J. & Bridges, B.A. (1982) An evaluation of the genetic toxicity of epichlorohydrin. *Mutat. Res.*, *87*, 299-219
- ⁷ Ehrenberg, L. & Hussain, S. (1981) Genetic toxicity of important epoxides. *Mutat. Res.*, 86, 1-113
- ⁸ White, A.D. (1980) *In vitro* induction of SCE in human lymphocytes by epichlorohydrin with and without metabolic activation. *Mutat. Res.*, *78*, 171-176
- ⁹ Preston, J.R., Au, W., Bender, A.M., Brewen, J.G., Carrano, A.V., Heddle, J.A., McFee, A.F., Wolff, S. & Wasson, J.S. (1981) Mammalian *in vivo* and *in vitro* cytogenetic assays: A report of the USA EPA's Gene-Tox Program. *Mutat. Res.*, 87, 143-188
- ¹⁰ Srám, R.J., Cerná, M., Fernandez, S.I., Kocisova, J., Kodytkova, I., Novákova, J., Rössner, P., Sisková, A. & Topinková, E. (1981) Mutagenic activity of inhaled epichlorohydrin in mice and rats (Abstract). *Mutat. Res.*, 80, 287
- ¹¹ Picciano, D. (1979) Cytogenetic investigation of occupational exposure to epichlorohydrin. *Mutat. Res.*, *66*, 169-173
- ¹² Kucerová, M. (1979) Cytogenetic analysis of human chromosomes and its value for the estimation of genetic risk. *Mutat. Res.*, *41*, 123-130
- ¹³ Kucerová, M., Zhurkov, V.S., Políková, Z. & Ivanova, J.E. (1977) Mutagenic effect of epichlorohydrin. II. Analysis of chromosome aberrations in lymphocytes of persons occupationally exposed to epichlorohydrin. *Mutat. Res.*, 48, 355-360
- ¹⁴ Srám, R.J., Zudová, Z. & Kuleshov, N.P. (1980) Cytogenetic analysis of peripheral lymphocytes in workers occupationally exposed to epichlorohydrin. *Mutat. Res.*, 70, 115-120

ETHINYLOESTRADIOL (Group 2B) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

ETHYLENE DIBROMIDE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

The only epidemiological study of the carcinogenic effects of ethylene dibromide¹ investigated the mortality of 161 men exposed in two factories since the 1920s and since 1942, respectively. By 1 January 1976, 36 workers had died, seven of them from cancer (expected, 5.8). [The results are uninformative because of the small size of the study.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Ethylene dibromide is carcinogenic to mice and rats following its oral administration, producing squamous-cell carcinomas of the forestomach in animals of both species¹. It produced skin, lung and forestomach tumours in mice after topical administration³.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Ethylene dibromide bound covalently to liver DNA of rats treated *in vivo*^{4,5}. It was selectively lethal to DNA-repair-deficient bacteria^{2,6}, and provoked DNA repair in cultured mammalian cells⁶. It was mutagenic to bacteria^{2,6}, fungi^{2,6}, vascular plants⁶, insects⁷ and cultured mammalian cells^{6,8} in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system. It induced chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in cultured mammalian cells⁶. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+	+	
Mammals (in vivo)	+			
Humans (in vivo)				

- ¹ Ott, M.G., Scharnweber, H.C. & Langner, R.R. (1980) Mortality experience of 161 employees exposed to ethylene dibromide in two production units. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, 37, 163-168
- ² IARC Monographs, 15, 195-209, 1977
- ³ Van Duuren, B.L., Goldschmidt, B.M., Loewengart, G., Smith, A.C., Melchionne, S., Seidman, D. & Roth, D. (1979) Carcinogenicity of halogenated olefinic and aliphatic hydrocarbons in mice. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *63*, 1433-1439
- ⁴ Hill, D.L., Shih, T.-W., Johnston, T.P. & Struck, R.F. (1978) Macromolecular binding and metabolism of the carcinogen 1,2-dibromoethane. *Cancer Res.*, *38*, 2438-2442
- ⁵ Nachtomi, E. & Sarma, D.S.R. (1977) Repair of rat liver DNA *in vivo* damaged by ethylene dibromide. *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, *26*, 1941-1945

- ⁶ Rannug, A. (1980) Genotoxic effects of 1,2-dibromoethane and 1,2-dichloroethane. *Mutat. Res.*, *76*, 269-295
- ⁷ Kale, P.G. & Baum, J.W. (1982) Sensitivity of *Drosophila melanogaster* to low concentrations of gaseous mutagens. III. Dose-rate effects. *Mutat. Res.*, 3, 65-70
- ⁸ Tan, E.-L. & Hsie, A.W. (1981) Mutagenicity and cytotoxicity of haloethanes as studied in the CHO/HGPRT system. *Mutat. Res.*, *90*, 183-191

ETHYLENE OXIDE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Two studies of workers exposed occupationally to ethylene oxide^{1,2} have shown increased rates of leukaemia. In one study¹ of 70 workers who had been exposed to ethylene oxide for 4-10 years, three cases of leukaemia were found (0.2 expected); one case had also been exposed to benzene. The other study² dealt with the incidence and mortality experience of 89 full-time and 86 intermittently exposed men: the first group had nine tumours (expected, 3.4), including three stomach cancers (0.4 expected) and two leukaemias (0.14 expected). The men had been exposed to a variety of vapours, and hence the results cannot be attributed with certainty to ethylene oxide alone. A third study³ of 767 men with potential exposure to ethylene oxide showed no significant cancer excess, although nonsignificant excesses, based on small numbers of cases, were seen for pancreatic, bladder and brain cancer and for Hodgkin's disease. [Insufficient allowance was made for latency, and the SMR was only 58, indicating diluting errors in the design of the study.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Ethylene oxide was tested inadequately in mice by skin painting and in rats by subcutaneous injection⁴. When administered subcutaneously to female mice, it produced sarcomas at the injection site in several animals⁵.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Ethylene oxide alkylated the DNA of mammalian cells *in vitro*⁴ and *in vivo*⁶. It was mutagenic to bacteria^{4,7,8}, yeast⁴ and Chinese hamster ovary cells *in vitro*⁹ and to *Drosophila melanogaster*⁴, mice and rats *in vivo*⁴. It induced chromosomal aberrations in *Drosophila*⁴ and in rats⁴ and mice¹⁰ and induced micronuclei in bone-marrow cells of mice and rats¹¹. Dominant lethal mutations were induced in rats¹² and mice¹⁰. Increases in chromosomal aberrations were seen in peripheral blood lymphocytes of workers exposed occupationally or accidentally to ethylene oxide and other alkane oxides¹³⁻¹⁵.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects		+	+	
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+		
Mammals (in vivo)	+	+	+	DL(+)
Humans (in vivo)			+	

DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ Hogstedt, C., Malmqvist, N. & Wadman, B. (1979) Leukemia in workers exposed to ethylene oxide. *J. Am. med. Assoc.*, *241*, 1132-1133
- ² Hogstedt, C., Rohlén, O., Berndtsson, B.S., Axelson, O. & Ehrenberg, L. (1979) A cohort study of mortality and cancer incidence in ethylene oxide production workers. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, 36, 276-280
- ³ Morgan, R.W., Claxton, K.W., Divine, B.J., Kaptan, S.D. & Harris, V.B. (1981) Mortality among ethylene oxide workers. *J. occup. Med.*, 23, 767-770
- ⁴ IARC Monographs, 11, 157-167, 1976
- ⁵ Dunkelberg, H. (1979) On the oncogenic activity of ethylene oxide and propylene oxide in mice. *Br. J. Cancer*, 39, 588-589
- ⁶ Ehrenberg, L. & Osterman-Golkar, S. (1980) Alkylation of macromolecules for detecting mutagenic agents. *Teratogenesis, Carcinogenesis Mutagenesis*, 1, 105-127
- ⁷ Tanooka, H. (1979) Application of *Bacillus subtilis* spores in the detection of gas mutagens: A case of ethylene oxide. *Mutat. Res.*, 64, 433-435
- ⁸ Pfeiffer, E.H. & Dunkelberg, H. (1980) Mutagenicity of ethylene oxide and propylene oxide and of the glycols and halohydrins formed from them during the fumigation of foodstuffs. Food Cosmet. Toxicol., 18, 115-118
- ⁹ Tan, E.-L., Cumming, R.B. & Hsie, A.W. (1981) Mutagenicity and cytotoxicity of ethylene oxide in the CHO/HGPRT system. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, *3*, 683-686
- ¹⁰ Generoso, W.M., Cain, K.T., Krishna, M., Sheu, C.W. & Gryder, R.M. (1980) Heritable translocation and dominant-lethal mutation induction with ethylene oxide in mice. *Mutat. Res.*, 73, 133-142

- ¹¹ Appelgreen, L.-E., Eneroth, G., Grant, C., Landström, L.-E. & Tenhagen, K. (1978) Testing of ethylene oxide for mutagenicity using the micronucleus test in mice and rats. *Acta pharmacol. Toxicol.*, *43*, 69-71
- ¹² Embree, J.W., Lyon, J.P. & Hine, C.H. (1977) The mutagenic potential of ethylene oxide using the dominant-lethal assay in rats. *Toxicol. Pharmacol.*, *40*, 261-267
- ¹³ Garry, V.F., Hozier, J., Jacobs, D., Wade, R.L. & Gray, D.G. (1979) Ethylene oxide: Evidence of human chromosomal effects. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, *1*, 375-382
- ¹⁴ Thiess, A.M., Schwegler, H., Fleig, I. & Stocker, W.G. (1981) Mutagenicity study of workers exposed to alkylene oxides (ethylene oxide/propylene oxide) and derivatives. J. occup. Med., 23, 343-347
- ¹⁵ Anon. (1982) Chromosomal changes in workers exposed to ethylene oxide reported. *Pest. tox. chem. News*, 10, 31-32

ETHYLENE THIOUREA (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

In one incidence study¹, 1929 workers were identified as having worked at some time with ethylene thiourea in one of several rubber manufacturing companies. No case of thyroid cancer was reported from this group to the regional cancer registry between 1957 and 1971, although less than one case would have been expected.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

In three studies, ethylene thiourea produced a high incidence of follicular carcinomas of the thyroid in rats after its oral administration²⁻⁶. Animals of both sexes were affected, although male rats had a higher incidence. Lower doses produced thyroid follicular hyperplasia. In mice, oral administration of ethylene thiourea produced liver tumours⁵; the thyroids of these animals were not examined. [In dosed rats, either shortened survival due to thyroid tumours or altered body weights may have obscured a potential carcinogenic effect on the liver from ethylene thiourea administration.] A feeding study in hamsters showed no effect⁶.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (limited)

There are conflicting data on the mutagenicity of ethylene thiourea. In some studies, this compound, at high doses, induced mutation and indirect evidence of DNA repair in bacteria and fungi, in the presence or absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system⁷. Other workers obtained negative results⁷. It did not induce mutation of bacteria in the host-mediated assay⁸ and did not induce mutation (sex-linked recessive lethals) in *Drosophila melanogaster* in two separate studies^{7,9}. In multiple experiments, this chemical

did not induce mutation in cultured mammalian cells⁷, neither did it cause sister chromatid exchange⁷, chromosomal aberrations^{7,10} or, in most studies, DNA repair⁷. However, it induced cell transformation (in the BHK assay) in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system⁷. In experiments in mice *in vivo*, ethylene thiourea did not induce dominant lethal mutations^{8,10}, bone-marrow micronuclei^{7,8} or sister chromatid exchanges⁷, morphological abnormalities in sperm⁷ or inhibition of testicular DNA synthesis¹¹. It did not induce chromosomal aberrations or covalent DNA binding in the bone marrow of rats¹⁰. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	?	?		
Fungi/Green plants	?	?	+	
Insects		-		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	?	-	-	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)	-		-	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)		···········		

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ Smith, D. (1976) Ethylene thiourea a study of possible teratogenicity and thyroid carcinogenicity. *J. Soc. occup. Med.*, *26*, 92-94
- ² Graham, S.L., Hansen, W.H., Davis, K.J. & Perry, C.H. (1973) Effects of one-year administration of ethylenethiourea upon the thyroid of the rat. *J. agric. Food Chem.*, 21, 324-329
- ³ Graham, S.L., Davis, K.J., Hansen, W.H. & Graham, C.H. (1975) Effects of prolonged ethylene thiourea ingestion on the thyroid of the rat. *Food Cosmet. Toxicol.*, *13*, 493-499
- ⁴ Weisburger, E.K., Ulland, B.M., Nam, J.-M., Gart, J.J. & Weisburger, J.H. (1981) Carcinogenicity tests of certain environmental and industrial chemicals. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *67*, 75-88
- ⁵ *IARC Monographs*, *7*, 45-52, 1974
- ⁶ Gak, J.-C., Graillot, C. & Truhaut, R. (1976) Difference in sensitivity of the hamster and of the rat with regard to the effects of the long-term administration of ethylene thiourea (Fr.). *Eur. J. Toxicol.*, *9*, 303-312
- ⁷ de Serres, F.J. & Ashby, J., eds (1981) *Evaluation of Short-Term Tests for Carcinogens. Report of the International Collaborative Program*, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 303, 321, 393, 530, 541, 583, 634, 639, 655, 675, 715

- 8 Schüpbach, M. & Hummler, H. (1977) A comparative study on the mutagenicity of ethylenethiourea in bacterial and mammalian test systems. *Mutat. Res.*, 56, 111-120
- ⁹ Mollet, P. (1975) Toxicity and mutagenicity of ethylenethiourea (ETU) in *Drosophila* (Abstract no. 43). *Mutat. Res.*, *29*, 254
- ¹⁰ Teramoto, S., Moriya, M., Kato, K., Tezuka, H., Nakamura, S., Shingu, A. & Shirasu, Y. (1977) Mutagenicity testing on ethylenethiourea. *Mutat. Res.*, *56*, 121-129
- ¹¹ Seiler, J.P. (1977) Inhibition of testicular DNA synthesis by chemical mutagens and carcinogens. Preliminary results in the validation of a novel short term test. *Mutat. Res.*, 46, 305-311

ETHYNODIOL DIACETATE (Group 3) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

5-FLUOROURACIL (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

5-Fluorouracil has been associated in a few case reports with a variety of subsequent neoplasms. In almost all of the cases, the drug had been given together with other agents known or suspected of being carcinogenic¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

5-Fluorouracil was tested by intravenous administration to mice and rats and by oral administration to rats. No evidence of carcinogenicity was found, but the studies suffered from limitations with regard to duration or dose¹. It was reported that ingestion of 5-fluorouracil prevented or delayed the appearance of spontaneous mammary and pituitary tumours in old female Wistar-Furth rats².

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (limited)

5-Fluorouracil was not mutagenic and did not induce DNA repair in bacteria¹. It produced petite mutations in yeast¹. Chromosomal breakage was seen in CHO¹ and human³ cells when 5-fluorouracil was added *in vitro* at a high concentration. It induced micronuclei in mouse bone-marrow cells *in vivo*¹. Inconclusive results were obtained in a mouse specific locus test⁴, and it was negative in a sperm abnormality test⁵. Cytotoxic concentrations produced cell transformation (in C3H/10T½)¹. A metabolite, 5-fluoro-2′-deoxyuridine, also transformed cells, which produced tumours when injected into

immunosuppressed syngeneic mice¹. A slight increase in the incidence of chromosomal aberrations was seen in peripheral blood lymphocytes from patients with solid tumours treated with 5-fluorouracil¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	-	-		
Fungi/Green plants				Mt(+)
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			?	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)		?	+	SA(-)
Humans (in vivo)			?	

Mt = petite mutations in yeast; T = cell transformation; SA = sperm abnormalities

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 217-235, 1981
- ² Ferguson, T. (1980) Prevention and delay of spontaneous mammary and pituitary tumors by long- and short-term ingestion of 5-fluorouracil in Wistar-Furth rats. *Oncology*, 37, 353-356
- ³ Sokova, O.I. & Volgareva, G.M. (1979) Effect of ptorafur and 5-fluorouracil on the chromosomes of human tumour cells *in vitro*. *Genetika*, *15*, 855-861
- ⁴ Russell, L.B., Selby, P.B., Halle, E., von, Sheridan, W. & Valcovic, L. (1981) The mouse specific-locus test with agents other than radiations. Interpretation of data and recommendations for future work. *Mutat. Res.*, 86, 329-354
- ⁵ Topham, J.C. (1980) The detection of carcinogen-induced sperm head abnormalities in mice. *Mutat. Res.*, *69*, 149-155

FORMALDEHYDE (GAS) (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Three epidemiological studies of people exposed to formaldehyde have been published¹. A proportional mortality study of 1106 morticians showed an excess of skin cancer but no evidence of an elevated risk of nasal or pulmonary neoplasms. Studies of two populations in formaldehyde factories revealed an excess of prostatic cancer in one and of gastrointestinal cancer in the other. Respiratory and nasal cancer mortality was not elevated in either group. No excess of respiratory-tract tumours was noted in a population of British pathologists.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Formaldehyde was tested for carcinogenicity by inhalation exposure in two strains of rats and one strain of mice. A significant incidence of squamous-cell carcinomas of the nasal cavity was induced in both strains of rats but not in mice. Another study in mice and one in hamsters by inhalation exposure, one in rats by subcutaneous administration and one in rabbits by exposure in oral tanks were considered inadequate for evaluation¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Formaldehyde bound covalently to DNA, formed DNA-protein cross-lilnks¹ and induced single-strand DNA breaks². It gave indirect evidence for DNA repair in bacteria and fungi¹.³ and induced DNA repair in cultured mammalian cells. It was mutagenic to viruses¹, bacteria¹, vascular plants¹, fungi¹ and insects¹ in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system. It induced morphological transformation in cultured mammalian cells (C3H/10T¹) only after their treatment with a tumour-promoting agent¹. One laboratory reported that formaldehyde induced dominant lethal mutations in mice¹. In other studies in mice, it did not induce bone-marrow micronuclei¹.⁴ or chromosomal aberrations in sperm¹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants	+	+		
Insects	-	+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+		+	T(?)
Mammals (in vivo)			-	DL(?)
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 29, 345-389, 1982
- ² Fornace, A.J. (1982) Detection of DNA single-strand breaks produced during the repair of damage by DNA-protein cross-linking agents. *Cancer Res.*, 42, 145-149
- ³ Kubinski, H., Gutzke, G.E. & Kubinski, Z.O. (1981) DNA-cell-binding (DCB) assay for suspected carcinogens and mutagens. *Mutat. Res.*, 89, 95-136
- ⁴ Gocke, E., King, M.-T., Eckardt, K. & Wild, D. (1981) Mutagenicity of cosmetics ingredients licensed by the European Communities. *Mutat. Res.*, *90*, 91-109

FURNITURE MANUFACTURE (Group 1) (See Industries)

HAEMATITE (Group 3) [See Underground haematite mining (with exposure to radon)]

HEXACHLOROCYCLOHEXANE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Three cases of leukaemia were reported in men exposed to γ -hexachlorocyclohexane with or without other chemicals. Cases of aplastic anaemia have also been associated with exposure to this compound. Mean tissue levels of hexachlorocyclohexane were reported in one of three studies of cancer patients to be elevated as compared with those of other subjects at necropsy²-4. Mean serum levels of β -hexachlorocyclohexane were not appreciably higher in four cancer patients than in three controls⁵. Exposure to γ -hexachlorocyclohexane was recorded in case-control studies of soft-tissue sarcomas and of lymphomas⁶, γ , but was insufficiently frequent for any conclusion to be drawn.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Technical, α - and β -hexachlorocyclohexane and lindane (the γ isomer) are carcinogenic to mice when administered orally, producing liver tumours^{1,8}; the technical grade also produced lymphoreticular neoplasms⁸. Studies in rats^{1,9,10} and dogs¹¹ were considered to be inadequate. Technical hexachlorocyclohexane and lindane were tested inadequately by skin application^{1,8}. Hexachlorocyclohexane increased the incidence of liver neoplasms in rats previously exposed to *N*-nitrosodiethylamine¹².

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Lindane did not induce unscheduled DNA synthesis in human fibroblasts¹ or rat hepatocytes¹³ but was reported to be weakly active in human lymphocytes¹⁴. α - and β -Hexachlorocyclohexane and lindane, when tested individually or as a mixture, were not mutagenic to bacteria or yeast and did not selectively kill DNA-repair-deficient strains of bacteria¹¹,¹⁵,¹⁶. Lindane was not mutagenic to *Drosophila melanogaster*¹. It induced polyploidy, mitotic arrests and some chromosomal aberrations in a number of plant systems¹, and a low frequency of chromosomal anomalies in human lymphocytes¹ and Chinese hamster cells *in vitro*¹; β -hexachlorocyclohexane but not lindane produced some anomalies in rat bone-marrow cells *in vivo*¹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	-			
Fungi/Green plants		-	?	
Insects		-		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-		?	
Mammals (in vivo)			?	
Humans (in vivo)				

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 20, 195-239, 1979
- ² Hoffman, W.S., Adler, H., Fishbein, W.I. & Bauer, F.C. (1967) Relation of pesticide concentrations in fat to pathological changes in tissues. *Arch. environ. Health*, *15*, 758-765
- ³ Radomski, J.L., Deichmann, W.B., Clizer, E.E. & Rey, A. (1968) Pesticide concentrations in the liver, brain and adipose tissue of terminal hospital patients. *Food cosmet. Toxicol.*, 6, 209-220
- ⁴ Kasai, A., Asanuma, S. & Nakamura, S. (1972) Studies on organochlorine pesticide residues in human organs. Part III (Jpn.). *Nippon Noson Igakkai Zasshi*, *21*, 296-297
- ⁵ Caldwell, G.G., Cannon, S.B., Pratt, C.B. & Arthur, R.D. (1981) Serum pesticide levels in patients with childhood colorectal carcinoma. *Cancer*, 48, 774-778
- ⁶ Eriksson, M., Hardell, L., Berg, N.O., Möller, T. & Axelson, O. (1981) Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to chemical substances: A case-referent study. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, *38*, 27-33
- ⁷ Hardell, L., Eriksson, M., Lenner, P. & Lundgren, E. (1981) Malignant lymphoma and exposure to chemicals, especially organic solvents, chlorophenols and phenoxy acids: A case-control study. *Br. J. Cancer*, *43*, 169-176
- ⁸ Kashyap, S.K., Nigam, S.K., Gupta, R.C., Karnik, A.B. & Chatterjee, S.K. (1979) Carcinogenicity of hexachlorocyclohexane (BHC) in pure inbred Swiss mice. *J. environ. Sci. Health*, *B14*, 305-318
- ⁹ Angsubhakorn, S., Bhamarapravati, N., Romruen, K., Sahaphong, S. & Thamavit, W. (1977) Alpha benzene hexachloride inhibition of aflatoxin B₁-induced hepatocellular carcinoma. A preliminary report. *Experientia*, 34, 1069-1070
- Hiasa, Y., Ohshima, M., Ohmori, T. & Murata, Y. (1978) Effect of α-benzene hexachloride on 2-fluorenylacetamide carcinogenesis in rats. *Gann*, 69, 423-426
- ¹¹ Rivett, K.F., Chesterman, H., Kellett, D.N., Newman, A.J. & Worden, A.N. (1978) Effects of feeding lindane to dogs for periods of up to 2 years. *Toxicology*, *9*, 273-289

- ¹² Schulte-Hermann, R. & Parzefall, W. (1981) Failure to discriminate initiation from promotion of liver tumors in a long-term study with the phenobarbital-type inducer α-hexachlorocyclohexane and the role of sustained stimulation of hepatic growth and monooxygenases. *Cancer Res.*, 41, 4140-4146
- ¹³ Probst, G.S., McMahon, R.E., Hill, L.E., Thompson, C.Z., Epp, J.K. & Neal, S.B. (1981) Chemically-induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary rat hepatocyte cultures: A comparison with bacterial mutagenicity using 218 compounds. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 11-32
- ¹⁴ Rocchi, P., Perocco, P., Alberghini, W., Fini, A. & Prodi, G. (1980) Effect of pesticides on scheduled and unscheduled DNA synthesis of rat thymocytes and human lymphocytes. *Arch. Toxicol.*, 45, 101-108
- ¹⁵ Fahring, R. (1974) Comparative mutagenicity studies with pesticides. In: Montesano, R. & Tomatis, L., eds, Chemical Carcinogenesis Essays (IARC Scientific Publications, No. 10), Lyon, pp. 161-181
- ¹⁶ Van Dijck, P. & Van de Voorde, H. (1976) Mutagenicity versus carcinogenicity of organochlorine insecticides. Med. Fac. Landbouniv. Rijksuniv. Gent, 41, 1491-1498

HYDRALAZINE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Two studies suggested an association between exposure to hydralazine and human cancer. One was confined to patients with and without signs of toxicity due to hydralazine, and potential confounding factors were not controlled. The other involved a small number of subjects exposed to hydralazine, and the possibility of selection bias could not be excluded¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Hydralazine hydrochloride was tested in one experiment in mice by oral administration. A significant increase in the incidence of lung tumours was reported¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Hydralazine binds to DNA. It induced mutation and gave indirect evidence of DNA repair in bacteria in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system^{1,2}; it also induced DNA repair in cultured mammalian cells^{1,3} and in rat hepatocytes¹. Two major metabolites in man, 3-methyl-s-triazolo(3,4-a)phthalazine and its hydroxy derivative, were inactive in bacterial tests, either in the presence or absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system¹. There is also evidence that hydralazine caused chromosomal aberrations in mammalian cells *in vitro*⁴ and in rat bone marrow *in vivo*¹. Hydralazine did not induce DNA damage (as judged by a negative response in an alkaline-elution assay) in liver or lung of mice treated *in vivo*². No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+	- 101 MAY 00 MAY	
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	1	+	-
Mammals (in vivo)	-		+	
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 24, 85-100, 1980
- ² Parodi, S., de Flora, S., Cavanna, M., Pino, A., Robbiano, L., Bennicelli, C. & Brambilla, G. (1981) DNA-damaging activity in vivo and bacterial mutagenicity of sixteen hydrazine derivatives as related quantitatively to their carcinogenicity. Cancer Res., 41, 1469-1482
- ³ Williams, G.M., Mazne, G., McQueen, C.A. & Shimada, T. (1980) Genotoxicity of the antihypertensive drugs hydralazine and dihydrazine. *Science*, *210*, 329-330
- ⁴ Cavaglia, A.M.V. (1980) *In vitro* induction of sister-chromatid exchanges in human peripheral lymphocytes by hydralazine. *Mutat. Res.*, 77, 383-385

HYDRAZINE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Two reports of cancer mortality in workers exposed to hydrazine have appeared in recent years. One case of choroidal melanoma was observed in a man who had been exposed to hydrazine for six years¹. A preliminary report of an epidemiological study of men engaged in hydrazine manufacture revealed no unusual excess of cancer²; this study included 423 men, with a 64% vital status ascertainment. None of the five cancers reported (3 stomach, 1 prostate, 1 neurogenic) was in the group with highest exposure.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Hydrazine is carcinogenic to mice after its oral administration, producing lung, liver and mammary tumours, and after its intraperitoneal administration, producing lung tumours and sarcomas. It is carcinogenic to rats following oral administration, producing lung and liver tumours. In a study reported as an abstract, rats and male hamsters exposed daily by inhalation to 5 ppm (6.5 mg/m³) hydrazine in air developed nasal tumours. After repeated exposure by inhalation to 1 ppm (1.3 mg/m³) hydrazine, rats developed nasal turbinate tumours, and female mice developed pulmonary adenomas. The incidence of nasal turbinate tumours in rats was dose-related. The increased tumour incidences in mice and hamsters occurred only with the maximum tolerated dose levels⁴.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Hydrazine was mutagenic and gave indirect evidence of DNA repair in bacteria and fungi in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system⁵. It did not induce mutation in cultured mammalian cells, either in the presence or absence of metabolic activation^{5,6}, and conflicting results have been obtained with regard to the induction of chromosomal aberrations, sister chromatid exchanges and DNA repair^{5,7}. In two separate studies, hydrazine caused cell transformation (in the BHK assay)⁵. In several experiments in mice, hydrazine did not induce bone-marrow micronuclei or morphological abnormalities in sperm; in one study it did not increase the level of sister chromatid exchanges in bone marrow⁵. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants	+	+	+	
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	?	_	?	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			-	
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation

¹ Albert, D.M. & Puliafito, C.A. (1977) Choroidal melanoma: Possible exposure to industrial toxins. *New Engl. J. Med.*, *296*, 634-635

² Roe, F.J.C. (1978) Letter to the Editor. Hydrazine. Ann. occup. Hyg., 21, 323-326

- ³ IARC Monographs, 4, 127-136, 1974
- ⁴ MacEwen, J.D., Vernot, E.H. & Haun, C.C. (1980) Chronic inhalation toxicity of hydrazine: Oncogenic effects (Abstract no. 297). *Proc. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.*, *21*, 74
- ⁵ de Serres, F.J. & Ashby, J., eds (1981) *Evaluation of Short-Term Tests for Carcinogens.* Report of the International Collaborative Program, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 190, 251, 300, 325, 426, 535, 562, 571, 634, 639, 711, 720
- ⁶ Amacher, D.E., Paillet, S.C., Turner, G.N., Ray, V.A. & Salsberg, D.S. (1980) Point mutations at the thymidine kinase locus in L5178Y mousé lymphoma cells. II. Test validation and interpretation. *Mutat. Res.*, 72, 447-474
- ⁷ MacRae, W.D. & Stich, H.F. (1979) Induction of sister-chromatid exchanges in Chinese hamster ovary cells by thiol and hydrazine compounds. *Mutat. Res.*, *68*, 351-365

17α -HYDROXYPROGESTERONE CAPROATE (Group 3) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

INDUSTRIES:

BOOT AND SHOE MANUFACTURE AND REPAIR (Group 1)

Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient for certain exposures)

Three cases of mesothelioma were reported among 3806 deaths in shoe workers¹; and there was an earlier report of a female shoemaker (whose husband was also a shoemaker) who died of mesothelioma².

There is sufficient evidence that nasal adenocarcinoma has been caused by employment in the boot and shoe manufacturing and repairing industries. Relative risks well in excess of 10-fold have been reported in the boot and shoe manufacturing industry in England and Italy. The distribution of the cases within the industry suggests strongly that exposure to leather dust plays a role in the association. There is also evidence that an increased risk may exist for other types of nasal cancer for employment in the boot and shoe industries³.

There is evidence of an increased risk of bladder cancer associated with employment in the leather industry. Although boot- and shoemakers were included in these studies, it is not possible to determine whether the risk related to them in particular or to other occupational subgroups³.

The occurrence of leukaemia and aplastic anaemia among shoemakers exposed to benzene is well documented^{3,4}.

Hypothesis-generating surveys have suggested associations between boot and shoe manufacture/repair and cancers of the lung, oral cavity and pharynx and stomach. The same surveys have suggested associations between work in the leather industry (occupation not further specified) and cancer of the larynx and lymphoma. Most of these associations were positive. In view of the design of the pertinent studies, these findings could not be evaluated³.

References

- ¹ Decouflé, P. (1980) Mesothelioma among shoeworkers. Lancet, i, 259
- ² Vianna, N.J. & Polan, A.K. (1978) Non-occupational exposure to asbestos and malignant mesothelioma in females. *Lancet*, *i*, 1061-1063
- ³ IARC Monographs, 25, 249-278, 1980
- 4 IARC Monographs, 29, 93-148, 1982

CARPENTRY AND JOINERY (Group 3)

Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

In a case-control study based on an analysis of occupational data in the hospital records of 121 men seen for nasal cancer in British Columbia between 1939 and 1977¹, a relative risk of 2.5 (adjusted for smoking and ethnic origin) was associated with exposure to wood. Most histological types of epithelial tumour, except for transitional tumours, showed an increased risk. Of the 28 wood workers with nasal cancer, 16 worked in the forest industry, 7 were carpenters, 4 were construction workers and 1 was a cabinet-maker.

In France, carpenters were not found to have an increased risk of nasal cancer, but no quantitative data were given².

In a national study on the incidence of nasal cancer in England in 1963-1967³, the occupations of 925 men were studied, using postal questionnaires and data from hospital and death records. Among wood workers, the Standard Incidence Ratios (SIRs) for cabinet- and chairmakers, machinists and 'other' wood workers were, respectively, 966, 616 and 293. For carpenters and joiners, the SIR was 149.

In a study of 1070 white male model makers and pattern makers employed in the Detroit automobile industry⁴, cancer experience was studied by matching the listing to the Michigan death registry. Significant excesses of cancers of all sites (40 observed; standardized mortality ratio, 150), cancer of the colon and rectum (11 observed; SMR,

286) and cancer of the salivary gland (2 observed, 0.1 expected; SMR, 2100). Only 75.9% of the workers had been traced to the end of the follow-up period. The excesses of cancers were seen in men exposed for less than 20 years in the industry and not in those exposed for more than 20 years. No information was given about the working conditions of the men.

[The epidemiological data from these studies and those described previously⁵ are not sufficient to make a definitive assessment of the carcinogenic risks of employment as a carpenter or joiner. Several studies raise the possibility of an increased risk of Hodgkin's disease. Apart from one anecdotal report, there is no evidence of an association between nasal adenocarcinoma and work as a carpenter. A number of studies suggest an association between work as a joiner and nasal adenocarcinoma, but it is possible that the workers involved may have worked in the furniture industry. The evidence suggesting increased risks of lung, bladder, and stomach cancer comes from large population-based occupational mortality statistical studies and is inadequate to allow an evaluation of risks for these tumours. The one study of model and pattern makers suggesting an increased incidence of cancer of the colon and rectum could not be evaluated.]

References

- ¹ Elwood, J.M. (1981) Wood exposure and smoking: Association with cancer of the nasal cavity and paranasal sinuses in British Columbia. *Can. med. Assoc. J.*, *124*, 1573-1577
- ² Duclos, J.-C., Dubreuil, C., Contassot, J.C., Guinchard, R. & Arnould, G. (1979) Nasal ethmoid adenocarcinomas in woodworkers. Clinical and forensic aspects (Fr.). Arch. Mal. prof., 40, 909-917
- ³ Acheson, E.D., Cowdell, R.H. & Rang, E.H. (1981) Nasal cancer in England and Wales: An occupational survey. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, *38*, 218-224
- ⁴ Swanson, G.M. & Belle, S.H. (1982) Cancer morbidity among woodworkers in the US automotive industry. *J. occup. Med.*, *24*, 315-319
- ⁵ IARC Monographs, 25, 139-156, 1980

THE FURNITURE AND CABINET-MAKING INDUSTRY (Group 1)

Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

In a study of 25 cases of malignant nasal tumour occurring in Verona during the period 1969-1979¹, all three patients with adenocarcinomas and two of the 13 with other epithelial tumours had been employed in wood processing industries.

A case-control study was reported based on 301 cases of nasal cancer in the Connecticut Tumor Register and controls randomly selected from all deaths in men aged

35 or older in the state. Occupational data were derived from death certificates and from the *Price & Lee City Directory*. Positive associations were found with exposure to cutting oils (odds ratio, 2.8; 1.4-5.7) and wood dust (odds ratio, 4.0; 1.5-10.8). The cases in those exposed to wood dust occured in 2 cabinet-makers, 2 woodworkers, 1 sawmill owner, 2 lumber company workers and 1 pattern maker. It was suggested that cutting oils might be a factor in nasal cancer in turners².

Of 149 cases of nasal cancer in French woodworkers³, 138 were adenocarcinomas. Of the 61 cases observed, 52 were in furniture and cabinet-makers.

A study was made of the incidence and mortality of cancer in 5371 men employed in the Buckinghamshire furniture industry and followed for an average of 19 years since commencing work⁴. The incidence of nasal adenocarcinoma was about 100 times that expected in the local population, and a significant relationship was found between the incidence of the tumour and increasing dustiness of work. For cancer of the bronchus, the Standard Registration Ratio was 82 (61-107) and the Standardized Mortality Ratio (corrected for the Oxford Region) was 79 (59-105), and a significant trend of increasing SMR with increasing dustiness of work was found. A trend of increasing SMR for bronchial cancer with increasing duration of work (not significant) was also found. A sample of the workforce living in 1969 contained a lower percentage of current smokers than the general population, and there were slightly fewer smokers among the men in the dustiest jobs than in the less dusty jobs.

[Epidemiological data reported here and previously² provide sufficient evidence that nasal adenocarcinomas have been caused by employment in the furniture making industry. The excess risk occurs (mainly) among those exposed to wood dust. Although the greatest risk is in respect of adenocarcinoma (relative risks in excess of 100 have been reported from England and Denmark), there is suggestive evidence of a slight increase in the risk of other nasal cancers. One study (Esping & Axelson²) showed an increased relative risk for lung cancer (based on four cases from one factory), while another⁴ (based on 53 cases in 9 factories) showed no increased risk as compared with an external standard but found suggestive trends with increasing dustiness and duration of work. A cohort study of the Danish carpenters' and cabinet makers' union² gives SMRs for lung cancer of 96 (men aged 20-64) and 110 (men aged 65-84). Mortality statistics have, in general, shown no increase in lung cancer, and no evaluation of the risk of lung cancer is possible.]

- ¹ Merler, E., Carnevale, F., D'Andrea, F., Macaccaro, G., Pisa, R., Capitanio, A., Cavazzani, M., Gentile, A. & Fantoni, G. (1981) Neoplasia of the nasal cavities and paranasal sinuses and occupational exposure to wood dust: Cases from the O.R.L. departments of hospitals in the Province of Verona (Ital.). *Med. Lav.*, 72, 87-95
- ² IARC Monographs, 25, 99-138, 1980
- ³ Duclos, J.-C., Dubreuil, C., Contassot, J.C., Guinchard, R. & Arnould, G. (1979) Nasal ethmoid adenocarcinomas in woodworkers. Clinical and forensic aspects (Fr.). *Arch. Mal. prof.*, 40, 909-917
- ⁴ Rang, E.H. & Acheson, E.D. (1981) Cancer in furniture workers. *Int. J. Epidemiol.*, *10*, 253-261

LEATHER GOODS MANUFACTURE (Group 3)

Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A few cases of leukaemia have been reported following exposure to benzene (a known human carcinogen¹) during the manufacture of leather goods other than boots and shoes. The few cases of nasal cancer reported are insufficient to make an association with employment in the manufacture of leather goods (other than boots and shoes or tanning)².

[A positive association between bladder cancer and employment in the leather industry (not further specified) is supported by a number of studies, but the specific role of the production of leather goods (other than boots and shoes or tanning) cannot be evaluated. The suggested associations between employment in the leather industry (not further specified) and cancers of the lung, larynx, oral cavity and pharynx, kidney and lymphomas come from hypothesis-generating surveys. They do not refer specifically to workers engaged in the production of leather goods (other than boots and shoes or tanning).]

References

¹ IARC Monographs, 29, 93-148, 1982

² IARC Monographs, 25, 279-292, 1980

THE LEATHER TANNING AND PROCESSING INDUSTRIES (Group 3)

Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Very few reports of epidemiological studies or cases deal specifically with workers engaged in leather tanning and processing. There is no evidence to suggest an association between leather tanning and nasal cancer^{1,2}. The suggested associations between employment in the leather industry (not further specified) and cancer of the lung, larynx, buccal cavity, pharynx and kidney and lymphomas come from hypothesisgenerating surveys. They do not refer specifically to workers in tanneries. A positive association between employment n the leather industry (not further specified) and bladder cancer is supported by a number of studies. The only study that dealt specifically with leather tanners, however, revealed a relative risk of 1.5, which is not statistically significant¹.

References

¹ Acheson, E.D., Cowdell, R.H. & Rang, E.H. (1981) Nasal cancer in England and Wales: An occupational survey. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, *38*, 218-224

² IARC Monographs, 25, 201-248, 1980

THE LUMBER AND SAWMILL INDUSTRIES (INCLUDING LOGGING) (Group 3)

Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

In a case-control study based on an analysis of occupational data in the hospital records of 121 men seen for nasal cancer in British Columbia between 1939 and 1977, a relative risk of 2.5 (adjusted for smoking and ethnic origin) was found to be associated with exposure to wood. Most histological types of epithelial tumour, except for transitional tumours, showed an increased risk. Of the 28 wood workers with nasal cancer 16 worked in the forest industry, 7 were carpenters, 4 were construction workers and 1 was a cabinet-maker¹.

In a proportional mortality study of the causes of death of 375 of 1030 union-affiliated Swedish lumberjacks who died between 1968 and 1977, there were fewer deaths from cancer than expected (Proportional Mortality Ratio, 88; 95% confidence limits, 69-111). A marked deficiency of lung cancer deaths (Standardized Mortality Ratio, SMR, 33) and excesses of kidney cancer (SMR 193, 92-407) and of cancers of the lymphatic and haemopoietic system (SMR 191, 105-349) were found. No information was given about the histology of these two groups of tumours. The mortality experience of Swedish males during that period was used as the standard of comparison².

A case-control study of Hodgkin's disease, using death certificates from North Carolina counties with a 'significant proportion' of the population employed in the furniture industry and lumbering, showed an excess risk only among occupational groups with exposure to wood and paper. Carpenters and lumberers had a relative risk of 4.2 for Hodgkin's disease (1.4-12.5)³.

[The epidemiological data reported here and previously⁴ are not sufficient to make a definite assessment of the carcinogenic risks of employment in the lumber and sawmill industries. Some studies suggest that the incidences of nasal cancers and Hodgkin's disease may be increased. It is not known whether some nasal cancer patients described as working in lumber and sawmill industries may have worked in furniture manufacture. The hypothesized link to Hodgkin's disease is not adequately supported. Soft-tissue sarcomas and histiocytic lymphomas have been reported following exposures to chlorophenols and phenoxy herbicides; although the risk to sawmill and lumber workers was not quantified directly, the use pattern of chlorophenols suggests that sawmill workers in this study were at increased risk for both of these malignancies. Stomach cancer incidence was slightly elevated among these occupational groups in six mortality series; however, this might be related to nonoccupational factors.]

- ¹ Elwood, J.M. (1981) Wood exposure and smoking: Association with cancer of the nasal cavity and paranasal sinuses in British Columbia. *Can. med. Assoc. J.*, 15, 1573-1577
- ² Edling, C. & Granstam, S. (1980) Causes of death among lumberjacks A pilot study. *J. occup. Med.*, *22*, 403-406

- ³ Greene, M.H., Brinton, L.A., Fraumeni, J.F. & D'Amico, R. (1978) Familial and sporadic Hodgkin's disease associated with occupational wood exposure. *Lancet*, *ii*, 626-627
- ⁴ IARC Monographs, 25, 49-98, 1980

THE PULP AND PAPER INDUSTRY (Group 3)

Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A case-control study of the paternal occupations of 692 children who died of cancer in Massachusetts showed that paternal employment as a paper or pulp mill worker was associated with tumours of the brain and other parts of the nervous system (6 cases observed; relative risk, 2.8); however, as a large number of comparisons were made, this may well be a chance finding¹.

Several studies suggest that an increased risk of lymphoproliferative neoplasms, particularly Hodgkin's disease and perhaps leukaemia, may be linked to employment in the paper and pulp industries².

Excess incidences of oral and pharyngeal and/or laryngeal cancers were reported in two studies designed to generate hypotheses but have not been evaluated in independent studies. There appears to be no overall increased risk of lung cancer among paper workers; the excess risk of lung cancer observed in some subgroups of workers in two of the studies cannot be evaluated².

References

¹ Kwa, S.-L. & Fine, L.J. (1980) The association between parental occupation and childhood malignancy. *J. occup. Med.*, *22*, 792-794

²IARC Monographs, 25, 157-200, 1980

THE RUBBER INDUSTRY (Group 1)

Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient for certain exposures)

A large number of retrospective follow-up studies of cohorts of rubber workers and case-control studies of individuals with cancer have been conducted in the US, the UK, Switzerland, Canada, Sweden and Finland. These studies indicate that an excess incidence of bladder tumours occurred in the UK, which was probably associated with

exposure to aromatic amines of workers employed before 1950. The evidence is less strong for US workers. US workers, however, showed increased rates of lymphatic leukaemia, probably due to exposure to organic solvents. Stomach and lung cancer rates were elevated in both the US and UK studies. There is limited evidence that other cancers (skin, colon, prostate, lymphoma) are associated with work in the industry. Cancers of the brain, thyroid, pancreas and oesophagus have also been reported¹.

Reference

¹ IARC Monographs, 28, 1982

IRON DEXTRAN COMPLEX (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

In an early case report¹, an undifferentiated soft-tissue sarcoma developed in a woman who received multiple injections of iron dextran. In a report on diagnoses of sarcoma of the buttock², four of 196 cases had been given intramuscular injections of iron. In three of the cases, an interval of at least two years had elapsed. [A selective tendency to register cases of sarcoma preferentially, if they had received iron injections, may have introduced bias.] A review³ showed that in the 20 years since the introduction of iron dextran, nine malignancies had been described in five reports during 1960-1976. One was a metastatic carcinoma at the site of an iron injection given a few months earlier; two were thought to be foreign-body reactions to fat necrosis. It was also observed that in Greenberg's² data, each of the recorded tumours was of a different histological type. A spindle-cell fibrosarcoma of the buttock was reported 14 years after a course of four injections of iron dextran⁴.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Iron dextran complex is carcinogenic to mice and rats after repeated subcutaneous or intramuscular injections, producing local tumours at the injection site¹. [The Working Group noted that iron dextran accumulates at the site of injection in rodents, in contrast to its rapid dispersal after injection in human beings.]

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

No chromosomal anomaly was observed in human lymphocytes treated *in vitro*⁵. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes				
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			_	
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 2, 161-178, 1973
- ² Greenberg, G. (1976) Sarcoma after intramuscular iron injection. *Br. med. J.*, *ii*, 1508-1509
- ³ Fielding, J. (1977) Does sarcoma occur in man after intramuscular iron? *Scand. J. Haematol.*, *Suppl. 32*, 100-104
- ⁴ Robertson, A.G. & Dick, W.C. (1977) Intramuscular iron and local oncogenesis. *Br. med. J.*, *i*, 946
- ⁵ Paton, G.R. & Allison, A.C. (1972) Chromosome damage in human cell cultures induced by metal salts. *Mutat. Res.*, *16*, 332-336

ISONICOTINIC ACID HYDRAZIDE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Several early studies did not show a significant excess of cancer among patients treated with isonicotinic acid hydrazide (isoniazid)1. A study of tuberculosis patients, most of whom were followed for more than 19 years, showed a slight excess of respiratory cancers in patients treated with this drug [relative risk, RR, 1.4; 95% confidence interval, 1.03-1.96, calculated by the Secretariat] and a deficit in patients not treated with isoniazid [RR, 0.3; 95% confidence interval, 0.06-0.91, calculated by the Secretariat]. Although the numbers are small, the effect was similar in both groups examined and was not seen for cancers at sites other than the respiratory tract. The excess was mainly for deaths within four years of the start of therapy. No dose-response effect was seen either for total consumption or maximum daily dose. The striking differences in mortality between patients treated earlier in the study and those treated later and the uncertain relationship of tuberculosis to lung cancer in the absence of isoniazid therapy make these data difficult to evaluate2. More recent studies of mortality from cancer among patients treated with isoniazid have shown no excess of lung cancer, or of cancer as a whole, that could be attributed to treatment³⁻⁵. Of four recent studies of cancer incidence⁴⁻⁷ in patients with tuberculosis, one⁶ showed a greater excess of lung cancer among men exposed to isoniazid (RR, 3.4, based on 88 cases) than among the unexposed (RR, 2.6, based on 18 cases), but this was not statistically significant. The corresponding numbers for women

were 4.6, based on 14 cases exposed, and 0.5, based on a single case not exposed. Three other studies showed no evidence of a higher incidence of lung cancer or of cancer as a whole in patients treated with isoniazid than in those not treated^{4,5,7}. Three case-control studies concerning, respectively, bladder and kidney cancers⁸, bladder cancer⁹ and cancer in children¹⁰ showed no conclusive evidence of a risk associated with isoniazid.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Isonicotinic acid hydrazide produces lung tumours in mice after its oral, intraperitoneal or subcutaneous administration. Studies in rats and hamsters were considered to be inadequate¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (limited)

Isoniazid did not cause misincorporation of nucleotides on synthetic polyribonucleotides but induced DNA binding in vitro11. At very high doses, in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system, it induced mutation and indirect evidence of DNA repair in bacteria^{12,13} and mitotic gene conversion in fungi¹⁴. Isoniazid induced DNA repair in cultured mammalian cells only in the presence of divalent copper and manganese¹². In one study, it caused specific-locus mutations in mice treated early in embryogenesis in vivo¹³. Isoniazid did not produce dominant lethal mutations in mice¹³. It did not induce micronuclei or chromosomal aberrations in the bone marrow of rats15 or Chinese hamsters¹³, or chromosomal aberrations in the germ cells of male Chinese hamsters¹⁶. It was positive in host-mediated assays using mice, Chinese hamsters, guinea-pigs and Syrian hamsters, causing mutations in bacteria¹³; it has been concluded that this activity was due in part to the formation of hydrazine. Isoniazid (98% pure) caused DNA damage (as judged by a positive effect in an alkaline-elution test) in lung DNA (but not liver DNA) of mice treated in vivo¹⁷. There was no evidence of cytogenetic damage in the cultured peripheral lymphocytes of patients undergoing treatment or prophylaxis with isoniazid13.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-			
Mammals (in vivo)	?	+	_	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)			_	

DL = dominant lethal mutations

¹ IARC Monographs, 4, 159-172, 1974

² IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 35, 1979

- ³ Glassroth, J.L., White, M.C. & Snider, D.E., Jr (1977) An assessment of the possible association of isoniazid with human cancer deaths. *Am. Rev. resp. Dis.*, 116, 1065-1074
- ⁴ Howe, G.R., Lindsay, J., Coppock, E. & Miller, A.B. (1979) Isoniazid exposure in relation to cancer incidence and mortality in a cohort of tuberculosis patients. *Int. J. Epidemiol.*, *8*, 305-312
- ⁵ Boice, J.D. & Fraumeni, J.F., Jr (1980) Late effects following isoniazid therapy. *Am. J. publ. Health*, *70*, 987-989
- ⁶ Clemmesen, J. & Hjalgrim-Jensen, S. (1979) Is isonicotinic acid hydrazide (INH) carcinogenic to man? A 24-year follow-up of 3371 tuberculosis cases. *Ecotoxicol. environ. Saf.*, *3*, 439-450
- ⁷ Costello, H.D. & Snider, D.E., Jr (1980) The incidence of cancer among participants in a controlled, randomized isoniazid preventive therapy trial. *Am. J. Epidemiol.*, 111, 67-74
- ⁸ Glassroth, J.L., Snider, D.E. & Comstock, G.W. (1977) Urinary tract cancer and isoniazid. *Am. Rev. resp. Dis.*, 116, 331-333
- ⁹ Miller, C.T., Neutel, C.I., Nair, R.C., Marrett, L.D., Last, J.M. & Collins, W.E. (1978) Relative importance of risk factors in bladder carcinogenesis. *J. chronic Dis.*, 31, 51-56
- ¹⁰ Sanders, B.M. & Draper, G.J. (1979) Childhood cancer and drugs in pregnancy. *Br. med. J.*, *i*, 717-718
- ¹¹ Klamerth, O.L. (1976) Inhibition of transcription by isonicotinic acid hydrazide. *Mutat. Res.*, *35*, 53-64
- ¹² Wade, D.R., Lohman, P.H.M., Mattern, I.E. & Berends, F. (1981) The mutagenicity of isoniazid in *Salmonella* and its effects on DNA repair and synthesis in human fibroblasts. *Mutat. Res.*, 89, 9-20
- ¹³ Jansen, J.D., Clemmesen, J. & Sundaram, K. (1980) Isoniazid. An attempt at retrospective prediction. *Mutat. Res.*, *76*, 85-112
- ¹⁴ Zetterberg, G. & Boström, G. (1981) Mitotic gene conversion induced in yeast by isoniazid. Influence of a transition metal and of the physiological conditions of the cells. *Mutat. Res.*, 91, 215-219
- ¹⁵ Basler, A. (1978) Analysis of chromosome aberrations in bone marrow cells of rats after treatment with isoniazid. *Hum. Genet.*, *42*, 26-27
- ¹⁶ Miltenburger, H.G., Träger, H., Adler, I.-D., Schmaltz, A., Rathenberg, R., Schwegler, H., Pawlowitzki, I.H., Nautsch, C. & Müller, D. (1978) The effect of isoniazid (INH) on Chinese hamster and mouse spermatogonia. *Hum. Genet.*, 42, 44-49
- ¹⁷ Parodi, S., de Flora, S., Cavanna, M., Pino, A., Robbiano, L., Bennicelli, C. & Brambilla, G. (1981) DNA-damaging activity in vivo and bacterial mutagenicity of sixteen hydrazine derivatives as related quantitatively to their carcinogenicity. Cancer Res., 41, 1469-1482

ISOPROPYL OILS (Group 3) [See Manufacture of isopropyl alcohol (strong-acid process)]

LEAD AND LEAD COMPOUNDS (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Three epidemiological studies of workers exposed to lead and lead compounds were available¹. Excesses of digestive and respiratory cancers were seen in one study of lead smelter workers and battery plant operators and an insignificant excess of skin cancer in workers exposed to tetraethyllead. Since then, there has been a case report² of a renal carcinoma in a lead smelter worker, which was similar in appearance to lead-induced tumours in animals. A follow-up of the smelter and battery plant employees has been extended³⁻⁵, showing an excess of respiratory cancer (24 observed, 21 expected) in battery workers; information on smoking was not available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient for some salts)

Lead acetate, lead subacetate and lead phosphate are carcinogenic to rats and lead subacetate to mice, producing renal tumours after their oral or parenteral administration. Gliomas occurred in rats given lead acetate or lead subacetate by the oral route. Lead subacetate produced an increased incidence of lung adenomas in mice after its intraperitoneal administration¹. Lead dimethyldithiocarbamate was not carcinogenic to mice or rats after its oral administration⁵. Other lead salts and lead tetraalkyls have not been tested adequately¹. [The Working Group noted that although soluble lead salts have been shown to be carcinogenic to experimental animals, human beings are exposed primarily to metallic lead and lead oxide.]

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Soluble salts of lead caused misincorporation of nucleotides in an in-vitro DNA transcription assay and have been shown to form stable complexes with DNA. Mutagenicity assays of lead salts in bacteria and fungi were negative, as were assays for differential survival, an indirect measure of DNA repair. Lead salts induced mutation and chromosomal aberrations in vascular plants. Assays of soluble lead salts for chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in cultured mammalian cells gave conflicting results. Positive results were obtained in a cell-transformation assay (in Syrian hamster embryo cells). In-vivo studies of lead salts have given contradictory results: chromosomal aberrations have been reported in the bone marrow of mice and rats dosed with lead salts and in cultured peripheral lymphocytes recovered from monkeys fed lead with a lowcalcium diet. Other studies using rodents were negative. A sperm abnormality test and a dominant lethal mutation test in mice were both negative. Tetraethyllead did not induce dominant lethal mutations in mice1. Cytogenetic studies of people exposed to lead have given conflicting results: seven studies were negative and nine were positive 1,6. A single study of sister chromatid exchange in cultured peripheral lymphocytes from people exposed to lead was negative⁶.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	?	-		
Fungi/Green plants		?	?	
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			?	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			?	DL(-) SA(-)
Humans (in vivo)			?	

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations; SA = sperm abnormalities

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 23, 39-141, 325-415, 1980
- ² Baker, E.L., Goyer, R.A., Fowler, B.A., Khettry, U., Bernard, D.B., Adler, S., White, R. deV., Babayan, R. & Feldman, R.G. (1980) Occupational lead exposure, nephropathy and renal cancer. *Am. J. ind. Med.*, *1*, 139-148
- ³ Kang, H.K., Infante, P.R. & Carra, J.S. (1980) Occupational lead exposure and cancer. *Science*, 207, 935-936
- ⁴ Cooper, W.C. (1981) Mortality in employees of lead production facilities and lead battery plants, 1971-1975. In: Lynam, D.R. & Piantanida, L., eds, Environmental Lead, New York, Academic Press, pp. 111-143
- ⁵ National Cancer Institute (1979) Bioassay of Lead Dimethyldithiocarbamate for Possible Carcinogenicity (Tech. Rep. Ser. No. 151, DHEW Publ. No. (NIH) 79-1707), Washington DC
- ⁶ Mäki-Paakkanen, J., Sorsa, M. & Vainio, H. (1981) Chromosome aberrations and sister-chromatid exchanges in lead-exposed workers. *Hereditas*, 94, 269-275

LYNOESTRENOL (Group 3) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

MAGENTA (TECHNICAL-GRADE) (Group 3) (See Manufacture of magenta)

MANUFACTURE OF AURAMINE (Group 1) [See Auramine (technical-grade)]

MANUFACTURE OF ISOPROPYL ALCOHOL (STRONG-ACID PROCESS) (Group 1) and ISOPROPYL OILS (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient for manufacture of isopropyl alcohol by the strong-acid process, inadequate for isopropyl oils)

An increased incidence of cancer of the paranasal sinuses was observed in workers at factories manufacturing isopropyl alcohol by the strong-acid process^{1,2}. The risk of laryngeal cancer may also have been elevated in these workers¹. It is unclear whether the risk of cancer is due to diisopropyl sulphate, which is an intermediate in the process, to isopropyl oils, which are formed as by-products, or to other factors. Epidemiological data concerning the manufacture of isopropyl alcohol by the weak-acid process are insufficient for an evaluation of carcinogenicity¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate for isopropyl oils)

Isopropyl oils formed during the strong-acid process for synthesis of isopropyl alcohol were tested in mice by skin application, inhalation exposure and subcutaneous injection; isopropyl oils formed during the weak-acid process were tested in mice by skin application and subcutaneous injection. Although an increased incidence of lung tumours was observed following inhalation or subcutaneous injection of isopropyl oils formed during the strong-acid process, all of the studies had some limitations due to short duration or incomplete reporting and to the unknown, variable composition of the materials tested¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests

No data were available.

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 15, 223-243, 1977
- ² Alderson, M.R. & Rattan, N.S. (1980) Mortality of workers in an isopropyl alcohol plant and two MEK dewaxing plants. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, *37*, 85-89

MANUFACTURE OF MAGENTA (Group 2A) and MAGENTA (TECHNICAL-GRADE) (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (*limited* for manufacture of magenta, *inadequate* for magenta)

The manufacture of magenta (which also involves exposure to other chemicals) was shown in one study to be causally associated with an increased incidence of bladder cancer¹. The carcinogenic compound(s) involved has not been specified.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate for magenta)

Subcutaneous administration of para-magenta, a component of commercial magenta, induced local sarcomas in rats. In one limited study in mice, there was no increase in tumour incidence following oral administration of commercial magenta¹. Oral administration of magenta or para-magenta to hamsters for life at the maximum tolerated dose did not result in the development of tumours attributable to the treatment².

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate for magenta)

Magenta gave indirect evidence of DNA repair in *Escherichia coli*³. It was mutagenic in *Salmonella typhimurium* in the presence of a hamster liver microsomal activation system⁴. It did not induce cell transformation (in the Syrian hamster assay)⁵ and did not produce recombination in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*⁶. Magenta was inadequately tested for chromosomal anomalies in Chinese hamster cells *in vitro*⁷. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		•		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		······································	?	T(-)
Mammals (in vivo)			4	
Humans (in vivo)	***************************************			

T = cell transformation

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 4, 57-64, 1974
- ² Green, U., Holste, J. & Spikermann, A.R. (1979) A comparative study of the chronic effects of magenta, paramagenta, and phenyl-β-naphthylamine in Syrian golden hamsters. *J. Cancer Res. clin. Oncol.*, *95*, 51-55
- 3 Speck, W.T., Santella, R.M. & Rosenkranz, H.S. (1978) An evaluation of the prophage λ induction (inductest) for the detection of potential carcinogens. *Mutat. Res.*, *54*, 101-104
- ⁴ Dunkel, V.C. (1979) Collaborative studies on the *Salmonella*/microsome mutagenicity assay. *J. Assoc. off. anal. Chem.*, *62*, 874-882
- ⁵ Pienta, R.J., Poiley, J.A. & Lebherz, W.B., III (1977) Morphological transformation of early passage golden Syrian hamster embryo cells divided from cryopreserved primary cultures as a reliable *in vitro* bioassay for identifying diverse carcinogens. *Int. J. Cancer*, 19, 642-655
- ⁶ Simmon, V.F. (1979) *In vitro* assays for recombinogenic activity of chemical carcinogens and related compounds with *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* D3. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *62*, 901-909
- ⁷ Hu, W. & Hsu, T.C. (1979) Studies on the clastogenic effects of biologic stains and dyes. Environ. Mutagenesis, 1, 27-35

MEDROXYPROGESTERONE ACETATE (Group 3) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

MEGESTROL ACETATE (Group 3) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

MELPHALAN (Group 1)*

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Case reports of second primary malignancies (mainly acute leukaemia) have been made for patients treated with melphalan. Epidemiological studies showed substantially increased rates of leukaemia in patients treated with this drug for multiple myeloma and ovarian cancer. Some of these patients were also given other alkylating agents and ionizing radiation; however, sufficient numbers of the patients received melphalan alone for it to be implicated as a causal factor. Additionally, the incidence of acute leukaemia in patients with multiple myeloma has increased since the introduction of melphalan therapy¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Melphalan is carcinogenic to mice and rats following its intraperitoneal injection, producing lymphosarcomas and a dose-related increase in lung tumours in mice and peritoneal sarcomas in rats¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Melphalan is an alkylating agent. It reacted directly with DNA and produced mutations in bacteria in the presence or absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system². It induced chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in mammalian cells in vitro³ and in vivo⁴. Melphalan produced chromosome damage in lymphocytes of patients treated therapeutically^{4,5}.

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the earlier Working Group, and data on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+	+	
Mammals (in vivo)		+	+	
Humans (in vivo)			+	

References

- ² Matheson, D., Brusick, D. & Carrano, R. (1978) Comparison of the relative mutagenic activity for eight antineoplastic drugs in the Ames Salmonella/microsome and TK+/-mouse lymphoma assays. Drug chem. Toxicol., 1, 277-304
- ³ Banerjee, A. & Benedict, W.F. (1979) Production of sister-chromatid exchanges by various cancer chemotherapeutic agents. *Cancer Res.*, 39, 797-799
- ⁴ IARC Monographs, 9, 167-180, 1975
- ⁵ Lambert, B., Ringborg, U., Lindblad, A. & Sten, M. (1981) Sister-chromatid exchange in peripheral lymphocytes of human subjects: The effect of cigarette smoking and anticancer chemotherapy (Abstract). *Mutat. Res.*, 85, 235

6-MERCAPTOPURINE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A small number of case reports document the occurrence of acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia in patients who received 6-mercaptopurine for both neoplastic and non-neoplastic disorders¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

6-Mercaptopurine was tested by intraperitoneal administration and by skin painting (followed by croton oil) in mice and by intraperitoneal, subcutaneous and intravenous injection in rats. Limitations to the data in all the reports precluded evaluation of the possible carcinogenicity of 6-mercaptopurine¹.

¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 37, 1979

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

6-Mercaptopurine was mutagenic without metabolic activation in *Salmonella typhimu-rium*¹ and gave indirect evidence of DNA repair in bacteria². Increases in chromosomal aberrations were found in human peripheral lymphocytes exposed *in vitro*¹. It was reported in an abstract that 6-mercaptopurine was negative in the mouse heritable translocation test³. It was mutagenic to mammalian cells in culture^{4,5}. Cytotoxic concentrations did not produce cell transformation in C3H/10T¹₂ cells¹. It produced dominant lethal effects *in vivo* in male mice⁶ but not in male rats⁷, and chromosomal aberrations in rodents *in vivo*¹. Increases in chromosomal aberrations were observed in the peripheral lymphocytes of patients treated with 6-mercaptopurine¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+	+	T(-)
Mammals (in vivo)			+	DL(?)
Humans (in vivo)			+	

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 249-266, 1981
- ² Fluck, E.R., Poirier, L.A. & Ruelius, H.W. (1976) Evaluation of a DNA polymerase-deficient mutant of *E. coli* for the rapid detection of carcinogens. *Chem.-biol. Interactions*, 15, 219-231
- ³ Generoso, W.M., Huft, S.W. & Cain, K.T. (1975) Comparative inducibility by 6-mercapto-purine of dominant lethal mutations and heritable translocations in early meiotic male germ cells and differentiating spermatogonia of mice (Abstract no. 63). *Mutat. Res.*, 31, 341-342
- ⁴ Amacher, D.E., Paillet, S.C., Turner, G.N., Ray, V.A. & Salsburg, J.S. (1980) Point mutations at the thymidine kinase locus in L5178Y mouse lymphoma cells. II. Test validation and interpretation. *Mutat. Res.*, 72, 447-474
- ⁵ Shibuya, T. & Sakai, Y. (1978) Induction of 6-thioguanine resistant mutation on Chinese hamster V79 cells with base analogues (Jpn.) (Abstract no. 158). *Jpn. J. Genet.*, *53*, 448
- ⁶ Syékora, I. (1981) Dominant-lethal test of 6-mercaptopurine: Dependence on dosage, duration and route of administration. *Neoplasma*, *28*, 739-746
- Moreland, F.M., Sheu, C.W., Springer, J.A. & Green, S. (1981) Effects of prolonged chemical treatment with cyclophosphamide and 6-mercaptopurine in the dominant lethal test system. *Mutat. Res.*, 90, 193-199

MESTRANOL (Group 2B) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

METHOTREXATE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A number of cases have been reported of malignancies developing in patients treated with methotrexate, often in combination with other agents, for psoriasis¹ or previous cancer¹-5. No excess of cancer was found in two epidemiological studies of patients who received methotrexate for psoriasis or as treatment for choriocarcinoma¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

Methotrexate was tested by oral administration in mice and hamsters, by intraperitoneal injection in mice and rats, and by intravenous injection in rats. One study in mice by oral administration showed a high incidence of lung carcinomas, but the study design did not include matched controls. No other study revealed a carcinogenic effect, but the significance of several was limited because of deficiencies in experimental design or reporting of data¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Methotrexate was not mutagenic in *Salmonella typhimurium*¹ but was mutagenic in the folate-requiring organism *Streptococcus faecium*⁶. It did not induce prophage in *Escherichia coli*⁶. A three- to four-fold increase in recombination found in *E. coli* was attributed to inhibition of DNA synthesis⁶. Methotrexate also induced recombination in yeast⁶. Several studies have established that it induced chromosomal aberrations in mammalian cells, including cell cultures and mouse germ cells *in vivo*¹. It was positive in the micronucleus test in human bone marrow⁷ and in the L5178Y/TK+/- mouse cell culture mutagenesis assay⁸. It induced dominant lethal mutations in mice and transformed C3H/10T½ cells¹. Methotrexate induced chromosomal aberrations in the bone-marrow cells of treated patients¹,⁶.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	_	?		
Fungi/Green plants		+	and the second s	
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)	19.40		+	DL(+)
Humans (in vivo)			+	

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 267-292, 1981
- ² Zarrabi, M.H. & Rosner, F. (1979) Acute myeloblastic leukaemia following treatment for non-hematopoietic cancers: Report of 19 cases and review of the literature. *Am. J. Hematol.*, 7, 357-367
- ³ May, J.T., Hsu, S.D. & Costanzi, J.J. (1981) Acute leukemia following combination chemotherapy for cancer of the lung. *Oncology*, *38*, 134-137
- ⁴ Tang, T.T., Holcenberg, J.S., Duck, S.C., Hodach, A.E., Oechler, H.W. & Camitta, B.M. (1980) Thyroid carcinoma following treatment for acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer*, 46, 1572-1576
- ⁵ Eschenbach, C., Schmitz-Moormann, P. & Gutjahr, P. (1980) Liver-cell carcinoma and acute lymphoblastic leukaemia in a child (Ger.). *Helv. paediatr. Acta*, *35*, 577-584
- ⁶ Bridges, B.A., Greaves, M., Polani, P.E. & Wald, N. (1981) Do treatments available for psoriasis patients carry a genetic or carcinogenic risk? *Mutat. Res.*, *86*, 279-304
- ⁷ Jensen, M.K. & Nyfors, A. (1979) Cytogenetic effect of methotrexate on human cells *in vivo. Mutat. Res.*, *64*, 339-343
- ⁸ Clive, D., Johnson, K.O., Spector, J.F.S., Batson, A.G. & Brown, M.M.M. (1979) Validation and characterization of the L5178Y/TK^{+/-} mouse lymphoma mutagen assay system. *Mutat. Res.*, *59*, 61-108

METHOXSALEN WITH ULTRA-VIOLET A THERAPY (PUVA) (Group 1)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

This topic has been reviewed¹. Methoxsalen and long-wave ultra-violet (A) light (PUVA) treatment has been associated with the development of squamous-cell carcinoma in two patients with mycosis fungoides², with haematopoietic neoplasms in two patients, with basal-cell skin cancer in another, and with squamous-cell skin cancer in a cohort study of patients with psoriasis. In none of these reports could the possible effects of methoxsalen alone be distinguished from those of long-wave ultra-violet light or of the combination of the two. Methoxsalen alone did not alter the incidence of skin cancer over two years in two small controlled trials of its use as a putative prophylactic for this disease³. In a case-control study of patients with psoriasis treated with PUVA, the relative risk of skin carcinoma was 2.4 in comparison with unmatched controls and 4.7 in comparison with matched controls (95% confidence limits, 2.2-10.0)⁴. A follow-up study for 3.6 years of 525 patients with psoriasis treated with PUVA showed one skin cancer, which was probably already present before treatment commenced⁵. [The study lacked adequate statistical power to detect an association.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Methoxsalen has not been tested alone by skin application and was inadequately tested in mice by oral and by intraperitoneal administration. When it was tested in combination with long-wave ultra-violet light in mice by oral and intraperitoneal administration and by skin application, it increased the incidences of epidermal and dermal tumours^{3,6}.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Methoxsalen forms cyclobutane mono- and di-adducts with pyrimidine bases of DNA under ultra-violet irradiation³. Methoxsalen plus ultra-violet light (PUVA) caused DNA damage in bacteria and in mammalian and human cells *in vitro*^{3,7}. PUVA was weakly mutagenic to bacterial cells and to human cells exposed *in vitro*³. In the presence of near ultra-violet light (320-400 nm), methoxsalen was a powerful mutagen in a variety of prokaryotes and eukaryotes, including mammalian cells exposed *in vitro*^{1,3,8}. It produced chromosomal aberrations in mammalian cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*^{3,9}. Cell transformation was demonstrated in various cell systems³. There are conflicting data with regard to the induction of chromosomal aberrations in man. More point mutations (increased incidence of 6-thioguanine-resistant lymphocytes) were observed in patients treated with psoralen drugs and ultra-violet irradiation than in healthy controls³.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	<u> </u>	+ 	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)		.,	+	
Humans (in vivo)		+	?	

T = cell transformation

¹ Bridges, B.A., Greaves, M., Polani, P.E. & Wald, N. (1981) Do treatments available for psoriasis patients carry a genetic or carcinogenic risk? (ICPEMC Publ. No. 6). *Mutat. Res.*, 86, 279-304

- ² Verdich, J. (1979) Squamous cell carcinoma. Occurrence in mycosis fungoides treated with psoralens plus long-wave ultraviolet radiation. *Arch. Dermatol.*, 115, 1338-1339
- 3 IARC Monographs, 24, 101-124, 1980
- ⁴ Stern, R.S., Zierler, S. & Parrish, J.A. (1980) Skin carcinoma in patients with psoriasis treated with topical tar and artificial ultraviolet radiation. *Lancet*, *i*, 732-735
- ⁵ Lassus, A., Reunala, T., Idänpää-Heikkilä, J., Juvakoski, T. & Salo, O. (1981) PUVA treatment and skin cancer: A follow-up study. *Acta Dermatovener*, *61*, 141-145
- ⁶ Zajdela, F. & Bisagni, E. (1981) 5-Methoxypsoralen, the melanogenic additive in sun-tan preparations, is tumorigenic in mice exposed to 365 nm u.v. radiation. *Carcinogenesis*, 2, 121-127
- ⁷ Cohen, L.F., Kraemer, K.H., Waters, H.L., Kohn, K.W. & Glaubiger, D.L. (1981) DNA crosslinking and cell survival in human lymphoid cells treated with 8-methoxypsoralen and long wavelength ultraviolet radiation. *Mutat. Res.*, 80, 347-356
- ⁸ Babudri, N., Pani, B., Venturini, S., Tamaro, M., Montibragadin, C. & Bordin, F. (1981) Mutation induction and killing of V79 Chinese hamster cells by 8-methoxypsoralen plus near-ultraviolet light: Relative effects of monoadducts and crosslinks. *Mutat. Res.*, 91, 391-394
- ⁹ Sahar, E., Kittrel, C., Fulghum, S., Feld, M. & Latt, S.A. (1981) Sister-chromatid exchange induction in Chinese hamster ovary cells by 8-methoxypsoralen and brief pulses of laser light. Assessment of the relative importance of 8-methoxypsoralen-DNA monoadducts and crosslinks. *Mutat. Res.*, 83, 91-105

METRONIDAZOLE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Two epidemiological studies^{1,2} of women treated with metronidazole showed an excess of cancers of the uterine cervix, a neoplasm that has risk factors in common with vaginal trichomoniasis, the main indication in women for treatment with this drug. In one study¹, a greater excess of cervical cancer was observed in women with trichomoniasis who were not exposed to metronidazole. An excess of lung cancer (4 observed, 0.6 expected) seen in one study¹ was not found in the other² (2 observed, 2.6 expected); in neither study was there a significant excess of non-uterine cancers.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Metronidazole is carcinogenic to mice and rats. After its oral administration it significantly increased the incidence of lung tumours in mice of both sexes and of lymphomas in female mice³, and of mammary^{3,4}, pituitary, testicular and liver tumours in rats⁴.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (limited)

Following its reduction, metronidazole interacts with DNA. One or more of its metabolites was mutagenic to Salmonella typhimurium, Escherichia coli and other bacterial species^{3,5-7}; and urine from mice treated with metronidazole was mutagenic to bacteria, the activity being due largely to the metabolite 1-(2-hydroxyethyl)-2-hydroxymethyl-5-nitroimidazole8. Neither this metabolite nor the parent compound induced chromosomal damage in human lymphocytes exposed in vitro9. It did not induce mutations in conidia of Neurospora crassa, but induced mutations in growing cells and produced gene conversion in baker's yeast^{5,10}. Metronidazole was not mutagenic to Drosophila5,11. It did not induce sister chromatid exchanges in hamster BHK12, Chinese hamster CH012 or human cells exposed in vitro13; it appears to be equally ineffective in inducing chromosomal aberrations in mammalian, including human, cells in culture9,14. One report described chromosome breaks in bone-marrow cells of treated mice¹⁵, but metronidazole was ineffective in inducing micronuclei in mouse bone-marrow cells in vivo¹⁴. Urine, but not blood, from humans treated with metronidazole was mutagenic to bacteria3, the hydroxyethyl metabolite being the major active component. Studies on bone-marrow cells from 39 patients and on blood lymphocytes from more than 50 patients being treated with metronidazole for a variety of conditions showed no significant increase in chromosomal damage expressed either as sister chromatid exchange or as gross chromosomal aberrations¹⁶⁻¹⁸.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects		-		DL(-)
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	
Mammals (in vivo)			?	
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations

¹ Beard, C.M., Noller, K.L., O'Fallon, W.M., Kurland, L.T. & Dockerty, M.B. (1979) Lack of evidence for cancer due to use of metronidazole. *New Engl. J. Med.*, 301, 519-522

² Friedman, G.D. & Ury, H.K. (1980) Initial screening for carcinogenicity of commonly used drugs. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *65*, 723-733

³ IARC Monographs, 13, 113-122, 1977

- ⁴ Rustia, M. & Shukik, P. (1979) Experimental induction of hepatomas, mammary tumors, and other tumors with metronidazole in noninbred Sas:MRC(WI)BR rats. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *63*, 863-868
- ⁵ Mohn, G.R., Ong, T.-M., Callen, D.F.,Kramers, P.G.N. & Aaron, C.S. (1979) Comparison of the genetic activity of 5-nitroimidazole derivatives in *Escherichia coli*, *Neurospora crassa*, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Drosophila melanogaster*. *J. environ. Pathol. Toxicol.*, 2, 657-670
- ⁶ Chin, J.B., Sheinin, D.M.K. & Rauth, A.M. (1978) Screening for the mutagenicity of nitrogroup containing hypoxic cell radiosensitizers using *Salmonella typhimurium* strains TA 100 and TA 98. *Mutat. Res.*, *58*, 1-10
- ⁷ Dobiás, L. (1980) Mutagenicity testing of the antiparasitic drug entizol (Polfa) in the detection system of *Salmonella typhimurium* mutants. *Mutat. Res.*, *77*, 117-126
- ⁸ Connor, T.H., Stoeckel, M., Evrard, J. & Legator, M.S. (1977) The contribution of metronidazole and two metabolites to the mutagenic activity detected in urine of treated humans and mice. *Cancer Res.*, 37, 629-633
- ⁹ Lambert, B., Lindblad, A. & Ringborg, U. (1979) Absence of genotoxic effects of metronidazole and two of its urinary metabolites on human lymphocytes in vitro. Mutat. Res., 67, 281-287
- ¹⁰ Ong, T.-M. & Slade, B. (1978) Mutagenicity and mutagenic specificity of metronidazole and niridazole in *Neurospora crassa*. *J. Toxicol. environ. Health*, 4, 815-824
- ¹¹ Bost, R.G. (1977) *Metronidazole: Mammalian mutagenicity*. In: Finegold, S.M., ed., *Metronidazole*, Amsterdam, Excerpta Medica, pp. 126-131
- ¹² Mahood, J.S. & Willson, R.L. (1981) Failure to induce sister chromatid exchanges (SCE) with metronidazole. *Toxicol. Lett.*, *8*, 359-361
- ¹³ Lambert, B. & Lindblad, A. (1980) The effects of metronidazole on the frequency of sister-chromatid exchanges and chromosomal aberrations in human lymphocytes in vitro and in vivo (Abstract no. 122). Mutat. Res., 74, 230
- ¹⁴ Hartley-Asp, B. (1979) Metronidazole exhibits no cytogenetic effect in the micronucleus test in mice or on human lymphocytes *in vitro*. *Mutat. Res.*, *67*, 193-196
- ¹⁵ Vasquez-Escobosa, C. & Gómez-Estrada, H. (1981) Levamisole does not produce chromosome fractures. *Arch. Invest. M*(eéd. (Mex.), 12, 173-178
- ¹⁶ Salamanca-Gomez, F., Castaneda, G., Farfan, J., Santillan, M. del C., Munoz, O. & Armendares, S. (1980) Chromosome studies of bone marrow cells from metronidazole-treated patients. *Ann. Génét.*, 23, 63-64
- ¹⁷ Hartley-Asp, B. (1979) Mutagenicity of metronidazole. *Lancet*, i, 275
- ¹⁸ Mitelman, F., Strömbeck, B. & Ursing, B. (1980) No cytogenetic effect of metronidazole. *Lancet*, *i*, 1249-1250

MUSTARD GAS (Group 1)*

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Several studies have shown increased mortality from respiratory cancer among people exposed to mustard gas. Mortality was greater among those with chronic occupational exposure than among those exposed sporadically¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Mustard gas is carcinogenic to mice, the only species tested, producing lung tumours after its inhalation or intravenous injection and local sarcomas after its subcutaneous injection¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Mustard gas, an alkylating agent, reacts with DNA of prokaryotes and eukaryotes in vitro and in vivo^{2,3}. It was mutagenic to yeast and *Drosophila melanogaster*^{2,3}, to mouse lymphoma cells in vitro and in the mouse host-mediated assay². It produced chromosomal aberrations in lymphocytes of rats treated in vivo and in mouse lymphoma cells in the host-mediated assay². No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+			
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects	·	+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+	+	
Mammals (in vivo)	+		+	DL(+)
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the earlier Working Group, and data on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 38, 1979
- ² IARC Monographs, 9, 181-192, 1975
- ³ Hircher, M., Fleer, R., Ruhland, A. & Brendel, M. (1979) Biological and chemical effects of mustard gas in yeast. *Mutat. Res.*, *63*, 273-289

MYLERAN (Group 1) (See 1,4-Butanediol dimethanesulphonate)

1-NAPHTHYLAMINE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

An excess of bladder cancer was observed in workers exposed to commercial 1-naphthylamine for five or more years who had not also been engaged in the production of 2-naphthylamine or benzidine. However, as commercial 1-naphthylamine made at that time may have contained 4-10% 2-naphthylamine, it is not possible to assess the carcinogenicity of 1-naphthylamine alone¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

No carcinogenic effect of 1-naphthylamine was observed in hamsters following its oral administration; results obtained in mice following its oral or subcutaneous administration were inconclusive¹. No tumour was induced in rats after skin application of 1-naphthylamine². No tumour was observed in mice fed diets containing 1-naphthylamine for one year; however, the period of observation was too short, since the animals were killed at the end of treatment³. No carcinogenic effect was observed in dogs fed 1-naphthylamine for 109 months⁴; and no bladder or other tumour was observed in dogs fed 1-naphthylamine for nine years⁵.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

1-Naphthylamine was mutagenic and gave indirect evidence of DNA repair in bacteria and fungi in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system. It was not mutagenic to *Drosophila melanogaster* in two separate studies. In cultured mammalian cells supplied with an exogenous metabolizing system, 1-naphthylamine induced mutation at three different loci, sister chromatid exchanges, chromosomal aberrations and DNA repair; however, it was negative in assays for cell transformation (BHK)⁶. In four different studies, 1-naphthylamine did not induce micronuclei in the bone marrow of mice

treated *in vivo*^{6,7} and did not produce sperm abnormalities in two studies in mice^{8,9}. Results of an assay *in vivo* for sister chromatid exchanges in mice were equivocal⁶. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants	+	+		
Insects		-		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+	+	T(-)
Mammals (in vivo)			-	SA(-)
Humans (in vivo)		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

T = cell transformation; SA = sperm abnormalities

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 4, 87-96, 1974
- ² Brill, E., Radomski, J.L. & MacDonald, W.E. (1977) Failure of the *N*-oxidized metabolites of some carcinogenic amines to induce tumors in normal and wounded rat skin. *Res. Commun. chem. Pathol. Pharmacol.*, *18*, 353-360
- 3 Kondrat'eva, A.F. & Kalashnikov, S.A. (1974) Morphological changes in mouse liver under the action of β-naphthylamine and α-naphthylamine (Russ.). *Vopr. Onkol.*, *20*, 103-106
- ⁴ Purchase, I.F.H., Kalinowski, A.E., Ishmael, J., Wilson, J., Gove, C.W. & Chart, I.S. (1981) Lifetime carcinogenicity study of 1- and 2-naphthylamine in dogs. *Br. J. Cancer*, 44, 892-901
- ⁵ Radomski, J.L., Deichmann, W.B., Altman, N.H. & Radomski, T. (1980) Failure of pure 1-naphthylamine to induce bladder tumors in dogs. *Cancer Res.*, 40, 3537-3539
- ⁶ de Serres, F.J. & Ashby, J., eds (1981) Evaluation of Short-Term Tests for Carcinogens. Report of the International Collaborative Program, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 190, 201, 335, 473, 535, 554, 562, 631, 655, 669, 675, 689, 702, 711
- ⁷ Jenssen, D. & Ramel, C. (1980) The micronucleus test as part of a short-term mutagenicity test program for the prediction of carcinogenicity evaluated by 143 agents tested. *Mutat. Res.*, *75*, 191-202
- ⁸ Beikirch, H. (1977) Induction of unscheduled DNA synthesis by chemical mutagens in testicular cells of the mouse *in vitro*. *Arch. Toxicol.*, *37*, 195-201
- ⁹ Topham, J.C. (1980) Do induced sperm-head abnormalities in mice specifically identify mammalian mutagens rather than carcinogens? *Mutat. Res.*, 74, 379-387

2-NAPHTHYLAMINE (Group 1)*

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Epidemiological studies have shown that occupational exposure to 2-naphthylamine, either alone or as an impurity in other compounds, is causally associated with the occurrence of bladder cancer¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

2-Naphthylamine is carcinogenic, producing urinary bladder carcinomas in hamsters, dogs and non-human primates and hepatomas in mice, after its oral administration¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

2-Naphthylamine induced DNA damage and mutation in fungi² and in bacteria³⁻⁵ in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system. It induced mutations in *Drosophila melanogaster*⁶. In mammalian cells in culture it induced DNA damage, mutation, chromosomal aberrations, sister chromatid exchanges and transformation (BHK, hamster and rat embryo)⁷⁻⁹. Conflicting evidence was obtained in the micronucleus test in mice *in vivo*⁶. It did not induce sperm abnormalities in mice⁶. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants	+	+		
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			?	SA(-)
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation SA = sperm abnormalities

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the earlier Working Group, and data on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 38, 1979
- ² Ong, T.-M. & de Serres, F.J. (1972) Mutagenicity of chemical carcinogens in *Neurospora* crassa. Cancer Res., 32, 1890-1893
- ³ Takemura, N. & Shimizu, H. (1978) Mutagenicity of some aromatic amino- and nitrocompounds (Abstract no. 35). *Mutat. Res.*, *50*, 256
- ⁴ Simmon, V.F. (1979) *In vitro* mutagenicity assays of chemical carcinogens and related compounds with *Salmonella typhimurium*. *J. natl Cancer Res.*, *62*, 893-899
- ⁵ Ichinotsubo, D., Mower, H.F., Setliff, J. & Mandel, M. (1977) The use of *rec* bacteria for testing of carcinogenic substances. *Mutat. Res.*, *46*, 53-62
- ⁶ de Serres, F.J. & Ashby, J., eds (1981) *Evaluation of Short-Term Tests for Carcinogens.*Report of the International Collaborative Program, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 659, 669, 689, 702, 711, 719
- ⁷ Styles, J.A. (1978) Mammalian cell transformation in vitro. Br. J. Cancer, 37, 931-936
- ⁸ Pienta, R.J., Poiley, J.A. & Lebherz, W.B., III (1977) Morphological transformation of early passage golden Syrian hamster embryo cells derived from cryopreserved primary cultures as a reliable *in vitro* bioassay for identifying diverse carcinogens. *Int. J. Cancer*, 19, 642-655
- ⁹ Freeman, A.E., Weisburger, E.K., Weisburger, J.H., Wolford, R.G., Maryak, J.M. & Huebner, R.J. (1973) Transformation of cell cultures as an indication of the carcinogenic potential of chemicals. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *51*, 799-808

NICKEL AND CERTAIN NICKEL COMPOUNDS (Group 2A) and NICKEL REFINING (Group 1)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited for nickel and certain nickel compounds, sufficient for nickel refining)

Early epidemiological studies of populations of workers exposed to nickel or nickel compounds clearly demonstrated excess incidences of cancers of the nasal cavity, the lung and, possibly, the larynx. However, the carcinogen(s) responsible could not be specified. Nickel carbonyl was considered unlikely to be involved in view of experience at a South Wales refinery¹. Later studies have shed little further light. A study of 814 male workers at a gas diffusion plant who were exposed to pure nickel dust revealed no increased mortality from respiratory-tract cancers in comparison with that of a control group². Similar negative results came from a matched case referent study of aircraft engine workers exposed to oxides, chlorides and alloys of nickel³. A mortality study of nickel alloy manufacturers exposed to nickel and nickel oxides but not to nickel subsulphide was similarly negative⁶. Each of these studies involved relatively small

numbers of subjects, and follow-up exceeded 15 years in only one². Two studies of sinonasal cancer mortality did not reveal a risk from exposure to nickel in recent times^{5,6}. It is still not possible to state with certainty which specific nickel compounds are human carcinogens, although metallic nickel seems less likely to be so than nickel subsulphide or nickel oxides.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient for nickel and certain nickel compounds)

Nickel subsulphide is carcinogenic in rats after exposure by inhalation, producing lung cancer¹. It produced malignant tumours in rats also after its insertion into heterotransplanted tracheas⁷ and after its intramuscular^{1,8,9}, intrarenal^{10,11}, intratesticular¹² and intraocular¹³ administration. Nickel compounds (nickel powder, subsulphide, oxide, hydroxide and carbonate, and nickelocene and nickel-iron sulphide matte) produce local sarcomas in mice, rats, hamsters and rabbits when given intramuscularly^{1,8,14-16}. Intravenous administration of nickel carbonyl produced increased incidences of various tumours in rats¹, and inhalation of nickel carbonyl produced a low incidence of lung tumours in rats¹. Nickelous acetate administered intraperitoneally to mice produced an excess of lung adenomas and carcinomas¹⁷.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate for nickel and certain nickel compounds)

Soluble nickel salts caused infidelity of DNA synthesis and transcription in an in vitro system¹⁸. Nickel salts gave negative results in mutagenicity tests using bacteriophage and in assays for mutagenicity and differential survival (indirect tests for DNA repair) employing bacteria¹⁸. Soluble nickel salts induced cytological abnormalities in a vascular plant18, and, at high doses and after long treatment times, slight increases in chromosomal aberrations in cultured mammalian cells^{1,18}. Nickel subsulphide¹⁹ and nickelous chloride²⁰ caused slight increases in sister chromatid exchange frequencies in cultured mammalian cells. Nickel subsulphide induced cell transformation in cultured mammalian cells (C3H/10T₂¹¹⁹ and Syrian hamster embryo²¹). Nickel sulphate, subsulphide, selenite and powder caused cell transformation in Syrian hamster embryo cells21-23. In tests conducted in vivo, nickel sulphate did not induce chromosomal aberrations in the bone marrow or germ cells of male rats¹⁸. Cultured peripheral lymphocytes from workers exposed to nickel compounds in a refinery contained more chromatid gaps than lymphocytes from unexposed people, but there was no significant difference in other chromosomal aberrations or in sister-chromatid exchanges between the exposed and control groups²⁴.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants			?	
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		?	?	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			-	SA(-)
Humans (in vivo)			-	

T = cell transformation; SA = sperm abnormalities

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 11, 75-112, 1976
- ² Godbold, J.H. & Tompkins, E.A. (1979) A long-term mortality study of workers occupationally exposed to metallic nickel at the Oak Ridge Gaseous Diffusion Plant. J. occup. Med., 21, 799-806
- ³ Bernacki, E.J., Parsons, G.E. & Sunderman, F.W., Jr (1978) Investigation of exposure to nickel and lung cancer mortality. Case control study at aircraft engine factory. *Ann. clin. lab. Sci.*, 8, 190-194
- ⁴ Cox, J.E., Doll, R., Scott, W.A. & Smith, S. (1981) Mortality of nickel workers: Experience of men working with metallic nickel. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, *38*, 235-239
- ⁵ Roush, G.C., Meigs, J.W., Kelly, J., Flannery, J.T. & Burdo, H. (1980) Sinonasal cancer and occupation: A case-control study. *Am. J. Epidemiol.*, 111, 183-193
- ⁶ Acheson, E.D., Cowdell, R.H. & Rang, E.H. (1981) Nasal cancer in England and Wales: An occupational survey. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, *38*, 218-224
- ⁷ Yarita, T. & Nettesheim, P. (1978) Carcinogenicity of nickel subsulfide for respiratory tract mucosa. *Cancer Res.*, *38*, 3140-3145
- ⁸ Sunderman, F.W., Jr & Maenza, R.M. (1976) Comparisons of carcinogenicities of nickel compounds in rats. *Res. Commun. chem. pathol. Pharmacol.*, *14*, 319-330
- ⁹ Yamashiro, S., Gilman, J.P.W., Hulland, T.J. & Abandowitz, H.M. (1980) Nickel sulphide-induced rhabdomyosarcomata in rats. *Acta pathol. jpn.*, *30*, 9-22
- ¹⁰ Jasmin, G. & Riopelle, J.L. (1976) Renal carcinomas and erythrocytosis in rats following intrarenal injection of nickel subsulfide. *Lab. Invest.*, *35*, 71-78
- ¹¹ Sunderman, F.W., Jr, Maenza, R.M., Hopfer, S.M., Mitchell, J.M., Allpass, P.R. & Damjanov, I. (1979) Induction of renal cancers in rats by intrarenal injection of nickel subsulfide. *J. environ. Pathol. Toxicol.*, 21, 1511-1527
- ¹² Damjanov, I., Sunderman, F.W., Jr, Mitchell, J.M. & Allpass, P.R. (1978) Induction of testicular sarcomas in Fischer rats by intratesticular injection of nickel subsulfide. *Cancer Res.*, 38, 268-276

- ¹³ Albert, D.M., Gonder, J.R., Papale, J., Craft, J.L., Dohlman, H.G., Reid, M.C. & Sunderman, F.W., Jr (1980) *Induction of ocular neoplasms in Fischer rats by intraocular injection of nickel subsulfide*. In: Brown, S.S. & Sunderman F.W., Jr, eds, *Nickel Toxicology*, New York, Academic Press, pp. 55-58
- ¹⁴ Hildebrand, H.F. & Biserte, G. (1979) Cylindrical laminated bodies in nickel-subsulphide-induced rhabdomyosarcoma in rabbits. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.*, *19*, 276-280
- ¹⁵ Hildebrand, H.F. & Biserte, G. (1979) Nickel sub-sulphide-induced leiomyosarcoma in rabbit white skeletal muscle. *Cancer*, *43*, 1358-1374
- ¹⁶ Hildebrand, H.F. & Tetaert, D. (1981) Ni₃S₂-induced leiomyosarcomas in rabbit skeletal muscle: Analysis of the tumoral myosin and its significance in the retrodifferentiation concept. *Oncodevelopm. Biol. Med.*, 2, 101-108
- ¹⁷ Stoner, G.D., Shimkin, M.B., Troxell, M.C., Thompson, T.L. & Terry, L.S. (1976) Test for carcinogenicity of metallic compounds by the pulmonary tumor response in strain A mice. *Cancer Res.*, *36*, 1744-1747
- ¹⁸ Léonard, A., Gerber, G.B. & Jacquet, P. (1981) Carcinogenicity, mutagenicity and teratogenicity of nickel. *Mutat. Res.*, *87*, 1-15
- ¹⁹ Saxholm, H.J.K., Reith, A. & Brøgger, A. (1981) Oncogenic transformation and cell lysis in C3H/10T₂¹ cells and increased sister chromatid exchange in human lymphocytes by nickel subsulphide. Cancer Res., 41, 4136-4139
- ²⁰ Newman, S.M., Summitt, R.L. & Nunez, L.J. (1982) Incidence of nickel-induced sister-chromatid exchange. *Mutat. Res.*, *101*, 67-75
- ²¹ DiPaolo, J.A. & Casto, B.C. (1979) Quantitative studies of in vitro morphological transformation of Syrian hamster cells by inorganic metal salts. Cancer Res., 39, 1008-1013
- ²² Pienta, R.J., Poiley, J.A. & Lebherz, W.B., III (1977) Morphological transformation of early passage golden Syrian hamster embryo cells derived from cryopreserved primary cultures as a reliable in vitro bioassay for identifying diverse carcinogens. Int. J. Cancer, 19, 642-655
- ²³ Costa, M., Nye, J.S., Sunderman, F.W., Jr, Allpass, P.R. & Gondos, B. (1979) Induction of sarcomas in nude mice by implantation of Syrian hamster fetal cells exposed in vitro to nickel subsulfide. Cancer Res., 39, 3591-3597
- ²⁴ Waksvik, H. & Boysen, M. (1982) Cytogenetic analyses of lymphocytes from workers in a nickel refinery. *Mutat. Res.*, *103*, 185-190

NITROGEN MUSTARD (Group 2A)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Many cases of acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia have been reported in patients with Hodgkin's disease and other solid tumours treated with nitrogen mustard in combination with other cytotoxic drugs and/or radiation¹. Various solid tumours have been reported

in similar patients²⁻⁶. Squamous-cell carcinomas have been recorded to occur following long-term topical therapy with nitrogen mustard for mycosis fungoides⁷; some of these secondary skin malignancies appeared at sites not commonly so affected⁸. [See also the summary of data on 'Certain combined chemotherapy for lymphomas (including MOPP)'.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Nitrogen mustard, administered mainly as the hydrochloride, is carcinogenic to mice and rats. After its subcutaneous, intravenous or intraperitoneal administration, it produced mainly lung tumours and lymphomas in mice. Intravenous injection of nitrogen mustard to rats induced tumours in different organs⁹. Application by skin-painting produced local tumours in mice¹⁰.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Nitrogen mustard was mutagenic in bacteriophage in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system¹¹ and induced mutation and indirect evidence of DNA repair in bacteria^{9,11,12} and fungi^{9,11}. It was mutagenic to vascular plants^{9,11}, insects¹¹ and cultured mammalian cells¹¹. Nitrogen mustard induced chromosomal aberrations in vascular plants¹¹, and DNA repair¹³, sister chromatid exchanges¹⁴ and chromosomal aberrations¹¹ in cultured mammalian cells. It bound covalently to the DNA of various organs of mice and rats treated *in vivo*¹⁵, and gave positive results in a dominant lethal mutation assay in mice^{9,11}. It induced chromosomal aberrations in the bone marrow of mice¹¹ and rats¹¹ and bone-marrow micronuclei in mice treated *in vivo*¹⁶. It was positive in a sperm abnormality test in mice¹⁷. Nitrogen mustard induced chromosomal aberrations in cultured peripheral lymphocytes from patients undergoing chemotherapy¹⁸.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants	+	+	+	
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+	+	
Mammals (in vivo)	+		+	DL(+) SA(+)
Humans (in vivo)	, <u>, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , </u>		+	

DL = dominant lethal mutations; SA = sperm abnormalities

¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 327, 374, 1981

² Poleksic, S. & Yeung, K.-Y. (1978) Rapid development of keratoacanthoma and accelerated transformation into squamous cell carcinoma of the skin. A mutagenic effect of polychemotherapy in a patient with Hodgkin's disease? Cancer, 41, 12-16

- ³ Cehreli, C., Ruacan, S.A., Firat, D. & Kucuksu, N. (1979) Hodgkin's disease terminating in oat cell carcinoma of the lung. *Cancer*, *43*, 1507-1512
- ⁴ O'Sullivan, D.D., Raghuprasad, P. & Ezdinli, E.Z. (1979) Solid tumors complicating Hodgkin's disease. A report on two patients with immunoglobulin deficiency. *Arch. intern. Med.*, 139, 1131-1134
- ⁵ Brown, G., Li, F.P., Cohen, H., Cassady, J.R. & Goldstein, D. (1980) Endometrial carcinoma after Hodgkin's disease in childhood. *Med. pediatr. Oncol.*, *8*, 205-207
- ⁶ Niebrugge, D., Monzon, C., Perry, M.C. & Hakami, N. (1981) Osteogenic sarcoma following Hodgkin's disease. *Cancer*, *48*, 416-418
- ⁷ Kravitz, P.H. & McDonald, C.J. (1978) Topical nitrogen mustard induced carcinogenesis. *Acta dermatovener (Stockholm)*, *58*, 421-425
- ⁸ du Vivier, A., Vonderheid, E.C., van Scott, E.J. & Urbach, F. (1978) Mycosis fungoides, nitrogen mustard and skin cancer. *Br. J. Dermatol.*, *99*, 61-63
- ⁹ IARC Monographs, 9, 193-207, 1975
- ¹⁰ Zackheim, H.S. & Smuckler, E.A. (1980) Tumorigenic effect of topical mechlorethamine, BCNU and CCNU in mice. *Experientia*, *36*, 1211-1212
- ¹¹ Fox, M. & Scott, D. (1980) The genetic toxicology of nitrogen and sulphur mustard. *Mutat. Res.*, *75*, 131-168
- ¹² Kubinski, H., Gutzke, G.E. & Kubinski, Z.O. (1981) DNA-cell-binding (DCB) assay for suspected carcinogens and mutagens. *Mutat. Res.*, 89, 95-136
- ¹³ Probst, G.S., McMahon, R.E., Hill, L.E., Thompson, C.Z., Epp, J.K. & Neal, S.B. (1981) Chemically-induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary rat hepatocyte cultures: A comparison with bacterial mutagenicity using 218 compounds. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 11-32
- ¹⁴ Latt, S.A., Allen, J., Bloom, S., Carrano, A., Falke, E., Kram, D., Schneider, E., Schrek, R., Tice, R., Whitfield, B. & Wolff, S. (1981) Sister-chromatid exchanges: A report on the Gene-Tox Program. *Mutat. Res.*, 87, 17-62
- ¹⁵ Lutz, W.K. (1979) *In vivo* covalent binding of organic chemicals to DNA as a quantitative indicator in the process of chemical carcinogenesis. *Mutat. Res.*, *66*, 289-356
- ¹⁶ Jenssen, D. & Ramel, C. (1980) The micronucleus test as part of a short-term mutagenicity test program for the prediction of carcinogenicity evaluated by 143 agents tested. *Mutat. Res.*, 75, 191-202
- ¹⁷ Beikirch, H. (1977) Induction of unscheduled DNA synthesis by chemical mutagens in testicular cells of the mouse *in vitro*. *Arch. Toxicol.*, *37*, 195-201
- ¹⁸ Nasjletti, C.E. & Spencer, H.H. (1966) Chromosome damage and polyploidisation induced in human peripheral leukocytes *in vivo* and *in vitro* with nitrogen mustard, 6-mercaptopurine and A-649. *Cancer Res.*, *26*, 2437-2443

NORETHISTERONE (Group 2B) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

NORETHYNODREL (Group 3) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

NORGESTREL (Group 3) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

OESTRADIOL-17β (Group 2B) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

OESTROGENS AND PROGESTINS:

COMBINED ORAL CONTRACEPTIVES (Group 2A)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited, sufficient for liver adenomas)

General conclusions on the carcinogenicity of oral contraceptives were reached by an earlier Working Group¹.

Since benign liver tumours were first associated with use of oral contraceptives¹, more than 250 cases have been reported², particularly in relation to long-term use. These tumours tend to have distinctive histological features: in one study, hepatic-cell adenomas occurred only in users, and vascular changes were more marked than in non-users³. There have also been case reports of hepatic carcinoma, cholangiocarcinoma and angiosarcoma in users^{2,4-7}. Two instances of recurrence of hepatic cancer, after 3.5 and 6 years, were reported in women who continued to use oral contraceptives.

In epidemiological studies, four malignant and one benign *hepatic tumours* were seen during 1950-1959 before oral contraceptives were available; whereas between 1968 and 1977, two of 11 cases with malignant tumours and 10 of 15 with benign tumours were oral contraceptive users⁸. Current oral contraceptive use was reported in 13 of 18 cases of benign liver tumour and two of 11 cases of malignant liver tumour⁹.

In a case-control study, use of combination oral contraceptives for at least one year was associated with a relative risk for endometrial cancer of 0.5 (95% confidence limits,

 $0.1-1.0)^{10}$. In another such study, relative risks for endometrial cancer after use of these contraceptives for less than one year, one to two years, and three or more years were, respectively, 1.1, 0.6 and 0.3 (p < 0.05). For any use, regardless of duration, the relative risk estimate was 0.4 (95% confidence limits, 0.2-0.8)¹¹.

In a case-control study of *ovarian cancer* in patients under the age of 50, a relative risk of 0.7 was estimated for use of oral contraceptives for seven months or more 12 . In studies of use for any length of time of combination oral contraceptives, relative risks for ovarian cancer (with 95% confidence limits) were estimated as 0.8 $(0.4-1.5)^{13}$, 0.5 $(0.2-1.5)^{14}$ and 0.6 $(0.4-0.9)^{15}$. A relative risk of 0.6 (p = 0.04) was reported for women who had used these contraceptives for four or more years 16 . In general, the reduced risk was related to duration of use, but this trend was not statistically significant.

In case-control studies of breast cancer cases, relative risk estimates for oral contraceptive use were at or below unity¹⁷⁻¹⁹. In a study of breast cancer in relation to use of oral contraceptives before or after first full-term pregnancy, use following the pregnancy was not significantly associated. For use lasting 1-48 months, 49-96 months and 97 or more months before the pregnancy, the relative risks were, respectively, 1.0, 2.3 and 3.5 (p = 0.009)²⁰. [Since age at first pregnancy was not allowed for, the associations were probably confounded.] In cohort studies of cases of breast cancer who had taken oral contraceptives during the year before diagnosis and controls with breast cancer but who had never taken oral contraceptives, the recurrence rate among controls was significantly higher than that among cases, using life-table methods (p < 0.01 - <0.04)21-22. A cohort study based on computer files of a health plan, from which prescriptions and diagnoses were available, showed relative risk estimates (with 90% confidence limits) of 4.0 (1.8-9.0) and 15.5 (5.2-46.0) for premenopausal women aged 46-50 and 51-55, respectively²³. [The method used to estimate premenopausal status was considered to be inadequate.] In a recent report, relative risk estimates (with 95% confidence limits) for current and former users of oral contraceptives were 1.3 (0.7-2.2) and 1.1 (0.7-1.9), respectively. In the age group 15-34 years, these values were 2.8 (1.0-8.0)24. A further study showed the relative risk for breast cancer for use at any time of oral contraceptives to be 1.0 (95% confidence limits, 0.6-1.6)25. In a large follow-up study over 6.5 years, these values were estimated to be 0.8 (0.7-1.1), and the risk was not significantly higher in any subgroup²⁶.

In a case-control study of *fibroadenoma of the breast*, relative risks of 0.7, 1.7 and 0.7 (p = 0.4) were estimated for three grades of increasing degree of atypia²⁷.

In two follow-up studies of patients with *pituitary adenoma*, of six cases identified, one was taking an oral contraceptive at the time of diagnosis and two were former users. The periods of observation (about 120 000 person-years for current users, 43 000 for former users and 160 000 for non-users) suggest that there was no substantial increase in incidence attributable to use of oral contraceptives²⁸.

In a case-control study (by postal inquiry) of *malignant melanoma*, the overall relative risk for any use of oral contraceptives was estimated to be 1.1 (95% confidence limits, 0.7-1.8); the values for five or more years' use were 1.6 (0.8-3.0)²⁹. Analysis of data from another study²⁵ showed that the incidence of malignant melanoma was lower among users of oral contraceptives than among non-users²⁹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals

[See the summaries of data on individual compounds found in combined oral contraceptives - ethinyloestradiol, mestranol, chlormadinone acetate, dimethisterone, ethynodiol diacetate, lynoestrenol, megestrol acetate, norethisterone, norethynodrel and norgestrel.]

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

A study of 15 women taking a combined oral contraceptive (d-norgestrel/ethinyl oestradiol) indicated a 75% increase in the incidence of sister chromatid exchanges in peripheral lymphocytes when compared with those of 15 controls³⁰. [Smoking histories were not mentioned.] A study of 52 women taking combined oral contraceptives (progestins and oestrogens) in which smoking was controlled for showed no increase in sister chromatid exchanges in comparison with 63 controls³¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes				
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)			-	

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 103-129, 133-134, 1979
- ² Neuberger, J., Portmann, B., Nunnerley, H.B., Laws, J.W., Davis, M. & Williams, R. (1980) Oral contraceptive-associated liver tumours: Occurrence of malignancy and difficulties in diagnosis. *Lancet*, i, 273-276
- ³ Nime, F., Pickren, J.W., Vana, J., Aronoff, B.L., Baker, H.W. & Murphy, G.P. (1979) The histology of liver tumors in oral contraceptive users observed during a national survey by the American College of Surgeons Commission on Cancer. *Cancer*, 44, 1481-1489
- ⁴ Britton, W.J., Gallagher, N.D. & Little, J.M. (1978) Liver tumours associated with oral contraceptives. *Med. J. Aust.*, *2*, 223-227
- ⁵ Caggiano, V., Chosney, B. & Way, L.W. (1980) Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura, cholangiocarcinoma, and oral contraceptives. *Lancet*, *ii*, 365
- ⁶ Littlewood, E.R., Barrison, I.G., Murray-Lyon, I.M. & Paradinas, F.J. (1980) Cholangiocarcinoma and oral contraceptives. *Lancet*, *i*, 310-311

- ⁷ Shi, E.C.P., Fischer, A., Crouch, R. & Ham, J.M. (1981) Possible association of angiosarcoma with oral contraceptive agents. *Med. J. Aust.*, *1*, 473-474
- ⁸ Gonvers, J.-J., Fontolliet, C., Boumghar, M., Loup, P., Anani, P. & Hofstetter, J.R. (1978) Hepatic tumours and oral contraceptives (Fr.). Schweiz. med. Wochenschr., 108, 1899-1901
- ⁹ Cavin, R., Boumghar, M. & Loosli, H. (1981) Oral contraceptives and hepatic tumours (Fr.). *Schweiz. med. Wochenschr.*, *111*, 804-806
- Weiss, N.S. & Sayvetz, T.A. (1980) Incidence of endometrial cancer in relation to the use of oral contraceptives. New Engl. J. Med., 302, 551-554
- ¹¹ Kaufman, D.W., Shapiro, S., Slone, D., Rosenberg, L., Miettinen, O.S., Stolley, P.D., Knapp, R.C., Leavitt, T., Jr, Watring, W.G., Rosenshein, N.B., Lewis, J.L., Jr, Schottenfeld, D. & Engle, R.L., Jr (1980) Decreased risk of endometrial cancer among oral-contraceptive users. New Engl. J. Med., 303, 1045-1047
- ¹² Casagrande, J.T., Louie, E.W., Pike, M.C., Roy, S., Ross, R.K. & Henderson, B.E. (1979) 'Incessant ovulation' and ovarian cancer. *Lancet*, *ii*, 170-173
- Willett, W.C., Bain, C., Hennekens, C.H., Rosner, B. & Speizer, F.E. (1981) Oral contraceptives and the risk of ovarian cancer. Cancer, 48, 1684-1687
- ¹⁴ Hildreth, N.G., Kelsey, J.L., LiVolsi, V.A., Fischer, D.B., Holford, T.R., Mostow, E.D., Schwartz, P.E. & White, C. (1981) An epidemiologic study of epithelial carcinoma of the ovary. *Am. J. Epidemiol.*, 114, 398-405
- ¹⁵ Rosenberg, L., Miettinen, O.S., Stolley, P.D., Rosenshein, M.B., Schottenfeld, D. & Engle, R.L. (1982) Epithelial ovarian cancer and combination oral contraceptives. *J. Am. med. Assoc.* (in press)
- Weiss, N.S., Lyon, J.L., Liff, J.M., Vollmer, W.M. & Daling, J.R. (1981) Incidence of ovarian cancer in relation to the use of oral contraceptives. *Int. J. Cancer*, 28, 669-671
- ¹⁷ Brinton, L.A., Williams, R.R., Hoover, R.N., Stegens, N.L., Feinleib, M. & Fraumeni, J.F., Jr (1979) Breast cancer risk factors among screening program participants. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, 62, 37-44
- ¹⁸ Greenspan, A.R., Hatcher, R.A., Moore, M., Rosenberg, M.J. & Ory, H.W. (1980) The association of depo-medroxyprogesterone acetate and breast cancer. Contraception, 21, 563-569
- ¹⁹ Kelsey, J.L., Fischer, D.B., Holford, T.R., LiVolsi, V.A., Mostow, E.D., Goldenberg, I.S. & White, C. (1981) Exogenous estrogens and other factors in the epidemiology of breast cancer. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, 67, 327-333
- ²⁰ Pike, M.C., Henderson, B.E., Casagrande, J.T., Rosario, I. & Gray, G.E. (1981) Oral contraceptive use and early abortion as risk factors for breast cancer in young women. *Br. J. Cancer*, 43, 72-76

- ²¹ Spencer, J.D., Millis, R.R. & Hayward, J.L. (1978) Contraceptive steroids and breast cancer. *Br. med. J.*, *i*, 1024-1026
- ²² Matthews, P.N., Millis, R.R. & Hayward, J.L. (1981) Breast cancer in women who have taken contraceptive steroids. *Br. med. J.*, *282*, 774-776
- ²³ Jick, H., Walker, A.M., Watkins, R.N., D'Ewart, D.C., Hunter, J.R., Danford, A., Madsen, S., Dinan, B.J. & Rothman, K.J. (1980) Oral contraceptives and breast cancer. *Am. J. Epidemiol.*, *112*, 577-585
- ²⁴ Royal College of General Practitioners (1981) Breast cancer and oral contraceptives: Findings in Royal College of General Practitioners' study. *Br. med. J.*, *282*, 2089-2093
- ²⁵ Vessey, M.P., McPherson, K. & Doll, R. (1981) Breast cancer and oral contraceptives: Findings in Oxford-Family Planning Association contraceptive study. *Br. med. J.*, 282, 2093-2094
- ²⁶ Trapido, E.J. (1981) A prospective cohort study of oral contraceptives and breast cancer. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *67*, 1011-1015
- ²⁷ LiVolsi, V.A., Stadel, B.V., Kelsey, J.L. & Holford, T.R. (1979) Fibroadenoma in oral contraceptive users. A histopathologic evaluation of epithelial atypia. *Cancer*, 44, 1778-1781
- ²⁸ Wingrave, S.J., Kay, C.R. & Vessey, M.P. (1980) Oral contraceptives and pituitary adenomas. *Br. med. J.*, *i*, 685-686
- ²⁹ Adam, S.A., Sheaves, J.K., Wright, N.H., Mosser, G., Harris, R.W. & Vessey, M.P. (1981) A case-control study of the possible association between oral contraceptives and malignant melanoma. *Br. J. Cancer*, 44, 45-50
- ³⁰ Murthy, P.B. & Prema, K. (1979) Sister-chromatid exchanges in oral contraceptive users. *Mutat. Res.*, *68*, 149-152
- ³¹ Husum, B., Wulf, H.C. & Niebuhr, E. (1982) Normal sister-chromatid exchanges in oral contraceptive users. *Mutat. Res.*, 103, 161-164

SEQUENTIAL ORAL CONTRACEPTIVES (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited)

There is some evidence of an excess of endometrial cancer in women who use sequential oral contraceptives, and particularly a preparation that contains a relatively large amount of the most potent oestrogen (100 μ g ethinyloestradiol) and only a weak progestogen (25 mg dimethisterone)¹. A relative risk of 7.3 (95% confidence limits, 1.4-38.8) was reported for use of the same preparation². [This finding is in contrast to a reduction in the risk of endometrial cancer found in association with use of combination oral contraceptives. See above.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals

No data were available.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests

No data were available.

References

¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 111-112, 1979

² Weiss, N.S. & Sayvetz, T.A. (1980) Incidences of endometrial cancer in relation to the use of oral contraceptives. *New Engl. J. Med.*, *302*, 551-554

OTHER OESTROGEN-PROGESTIN COMBINATIONS (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A group of 168 hospitalized postmenopausal women were divided into 84 matched pairs. One group was treated with 2.5 mg conjugated oestrogen and 10 mg medroxyprogesterone daily for seven days of each month for 10 years. At the end of the study, no excess of either breast or endometrial cancer had been noted¹. [The power of the study to detect an excess was limited.] Similar conclusions were reached in two other studies^{2,3}.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals

No data were available.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests

No data were available.

- ¹ Nachtigall, L.E., Nachtigall, R.H., Nachtigall, R.D. & Beckman, E.M. (1979) Estrogen replacement therapy. II: A prospective study in the relationship to carcinoma and cardiovascular and metabolic problems. *Obstet. Gynecol.*, 54, 74-79
- ² Wilson, R.A. (1962) The roles of estrogen and progesterone in breast and genital cancer. *J. Am. med. Assoc.*, 182, 327-331
- ³ Leis, H.P., Jr (1966) Endocrine prophylaxis of breast cancer with cyclic estrogen and progesterone. *Int. Surg.*, *45*, 496-503

CONJUGATED OESTROGENS (Group 1)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

An earlier working group concluded that studies in humans strongly suggest that the administration, specifically of conjugated oestrogens, is causally related to an increased incidence of endometrial carcinoma. The evidence as to whether the risk of breast cancer is also increased was considered to be inconclusive¹.

Cases of *liver tumour* have been reported to be associated with use of non-contraceptive oestrogens. A hepatic adenoma was reported in a 52-year-old woman who took conjugated oestrogens daily for three years; a haemangioendothelial sarcoma of the liver was reported in a man who received stilboestrol daily for nine years as treatment for prostatic cancer³.

In two case-control studies of endometrial cancer, similar rates of use of intravaginal oestrogen creams were reported by cases (7%) and controls (8%)4. Evaluation of specimens of endometrial cancers showed that those from oestrogen users were more highly differentiated than those from non-users5. The association between endometrial cancer and oestrogen use was present within strata classified according to weight, blood pressure, parity, smoking status, age at menopause and history of cholecystectomy⁶. An overall relative risk for use of conjugated oestrogens was estimated to be 3.9 (95% confident limits, 2.5-6.2); for use that ceased at least two years before diagnosis and that lasted at least five years, the estimate was 3.3 (1.4-8.0)7. When oestrogen use had lasted more than 3.5 years, relative risks (with 95% confidence limits) in comparisons with community and hospital controls were 3.6 (1.9-6.8) and 4.1 (1.8-9.6), respectively⁸. An overall relative risk of 2.9 (1.7-5.1) was also reported for any use of conjugated oestrogens; for use that lasted five or more years, the estimate was 8.6 (3.2-23)9. In a study of slides from patients with endometrial cancer, oestrogen use was highest (63%) when the endometrium distant from the cancer was proliferative, lowest when it was secretory or atrophic (0%) and intermediate for other endometrial findings (25%) (p < 0.001)10. An evaluation of necropsies performed on 8998 women showed the prevalence of unsuspected endometrial cancer to be 27 per 10 000, considerably higher than the incidence rate of five cases per 10 000 per year recorded in the Connecticut State Tumor Registry¹¹. [The study was considered to be invalid because a prevalence rate was compared with an incidence rate¹².]

A relative risk for *epithelial ovarian cancer* from any use of oestrogen replacement therapy was estimated to be 0.9 (95% confidence limits, 0.5-1.6)¹³.

Use mainly of conjugated oestrogens for seven or more years resulted in a relative risk for *breast cancer* of 1.8 (p = 0.02); in women with intact ovaries, a total cumulative dose of more than 1500 mg gave a relative risk of 2.5 (95% confidence limits, 1.2-5.6), but no association was evident for lower doses. For women whose ovaries had been removed no association was seen, regardless of the total dose¹⁴. A case-control study was made of patients with breast cancer and controls drawn from a breast cancer screening programme and who had undergone menopause either naturally or surgically. For those who were naturally menopausal, the overall relative risk estimate (with 95% confidence limits) for oestrogen use (mostly conjugated oestrogens) was 1.2 (0.9-1.5); for those who were menopausal because of bilateral oophorectomy, the estimate was 1.5 (0.9-2.8). Among the latter, the relative risk estimates for use of oestrogens for less than 5 years,

5 to 9 years and 10 or more years were 1.4, 1.6 and 1.7, respectively (p = 0.08)¹⁵. [It was considered that the data may have been biased by selective recruitment for screening.] Another study reported that all relative risks for breast cancer from oestrogen use that were based on studies of reasonable numbers were at or below unity regardless of dosage, duration of use, menopausal status or type of menopause¹⁶. The medical records of cases of breast cancer and of controls who were members of a health plan were abstracted by reviewers who were unaware of whether a subject was a case or a control. The relative risk for any use of conjugated oestrogens was 1.4 (95% confidence limits, 1.0-2.0). The risk was approximately doubled for ten or more recorded prescriptions, for intervals of five or more years between the first and last prescription, and for a usual daily dose of 1.25 mg or more¹⁷.

In a cohort study, women treated for five or more years with replacement oestrogens (mostly conjugated oestrogens) and untreated women were followed up. Expected numbers were derived from the Third National Cancer Survey. There were 11 cases of uterine cancer, which yielded a relative risk of 9.3 (95% confidence limits, 4.7-16.7). For breast cancer, the relative risk was 1.1 (not significant)18. Computer files on members of a health plan were used to identify prescriptions of replacement oestrogens and cases of breast cancer in women between the ages of 45 and 64 years. Among those with a natural menopause, the relative risk estimate for current oestrogen use was 3.4 (90% confidence limits, 2.1-5.6). In the age group 45-54 years, the corresponding estimate was 10.2 (4.5-23), and that for 55-64 years was 1.9 (1.0-3.5). No analogous association was present among surgically menopausal women¹⁹. [The method used to estimate menopausal status was considered to be inadequate.] The same health plan membership was analysed in another study: Among women of all ages, the incidence of breast cancer was stable until 1977, after which it declined among those between the ages of 45 and 54. The decline corresponded with a drop in oestrogen prescriptions after 197720. In 31 oestrogen users, six oestrogen and progestogen users and 79 non-hormone users followed up over a three-year period, breast cancer rates were found to be highest among the latter21. [Important confounding factors were not controlled for.] Of diabetic women who participated in a randomized controlled trial during pregnancy, 80 were given large doses of stilboestrol and ethisterone, and 76 were given a placebo. After 27 years, 14 (18%) of the exposed and two (3%) of the non-exposed had developed tumours, mainly benign, of the reproductive tract. Breast cancer developed in four of the exposed and in none of the non-exposed women²².

In a case-control study of testicular cancer, the relative risk for a history of hormone treatment during the mother's pregnancy was 5.0 (one-sided p=0.11). The cancers included embryonal-cell carcinomas, seminomas, teratomas, choriocarcinomas and interstitial-cell carcinomas²³.

A large number of studies of adenocarcinoma of the endometrium thus suggest that use of conjugated oestrogens causes the disease. For breast cancer, the evidence is conflicting, both overall and within subgroups.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

Conjugated oestrogens have been tested in only one experiment in rats by oral administration. The data were judged insufficient to evaluate their carcinogenicity¹.

A commercial preparation of conjugated oestrogens was not mutagenic to bacteria. It did not induce chromosomal aberrations in human lymphoblastoid cells *in vitro* or in Chinese hamster V79 cells exposed in diffusion chambers implanted into mice after oestrogen treatment²⁴. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		=		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 147-159, 1979
- ² Aungst, C.W. (1978) Benign liver tumors and oral contraceptives. N.Y. State J. Med., 78, 1933-1934
- ³ Ham, J.M., Pirola, R.C. & Crouch, R.L. (1980) Hemangioendothelial sarcoma of the liver associated with long-term estrogen therapy in a man. *Dig. Dis. Sci.*, *25*, 879-883
- ⁴ Horwitz, R.I. & Feinstein, A.R. (1979) Intravaginal estrogen creams and endometrial cancer. No causal association found. *J. Am. med. Assoc.*, 241, 1266-1267
- ⁵ Robboy, S.J. & Bradley, R. (1979) Changing trends and prognostic features in endometrial cancer associated with exogenous estrogen therapy. *Obstet. Gynecol.*, 54, 269-277
- ⁶ Weiss, N.S., Farewell, V.T., Szekely, D.R., English, D.R. & Kiviat, N. (1980) Oestrogens and endometrial cancer: Effect of other risk factors on the association. *Maturitas*, 2, 185-190
- ⁷ Shapiro, S., Kaufman, D.W., Slone, D., Rosenberg, L., Miettinen, O.S., Stolley, P.D., Rosenshein, N.B., Watring, W.G., Leavitt, T., Jr & Knapp, R.C. (1980) Recent and past use of conjugated estrogens in relation to adenocarcinoma of the endometrium. *New Engl. J. Med.*, 303, 485-489
- ⁸ Hulka, B.S., Fowler, W.C., Jr, Kaufman, D.G., Grimson, R.C., Greenberg, B.G., Hogue, C.J.R., Berger, G.S. & Pulliam, C.C. (1980) Estrogen and endometrial cancer: Cases and two control groups from North Carolina. *Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol.*, 137, 92-101

- ⁹ Spengler, R.F., Clarke, E.A., Woolever, C.A., Newman, A.M. & Osborn, R.W. (1981) Exogenous estrogens and endometrial cancer: A case-control study and assessment of potential biases. Am. J. Epidemiol., 114, 497-506
- ¹⁰ Horwitz, R.I., Feinstein, A.R., Vidone, R.A., Sommers, S.C. & Robboy, S.J. (1981) Histopathologic distinctions in the relationship of estrogens and endometrial cancer. *J. Am. med. Assoc.*, *246*, 1425-1427
- ¹¹ Horwitz, R.I., Feinstein, A.R., Horwitz, S.M. & Robboy, S.J. (1981) Necropsy diagnosis of endometrial cancer and detection-bias in case/control studies. *Lancet*, *ii*, 66-68
- ¹² Merletti, F. & Cole, P. (1981) Detection bias and endometrial cancer. Lancet, ii, 579-580
- ¹³ Hildreth, N.G., Kelsey, J.L., LiVolsi, V.A., Fischer, D.B., Holford, T.R., Mostow, E.D., Schwartz, P.E. & White, C. (1981) An epidemiologic study of epithelial carcinoma of the ovary. *Am. J. Epidemiol.*, 114, 398-405
- ¹⁴ Ross, R.K., Paganini-Hill, A., Gerkins, V.R., Mack, T.M., Pfeffer, R., Arthur, M. & Henderson, B.E. (1980) A case-control study of menopausal estrogen therapy and breast cancer. *J. Am. med. Assoc.*, *243*, 1635-1639
- ¹⁵ Brinton, L.A., Hoover, R.N., Szklo, M. & Fraumeni, J.F., Jr (1981) Menopausal estrogen use and risk of breast cancer. *Cancer*, *47*, 2517-2522
- ¹⁶ Kelsey, J.L., Fischer, D.B., Holford, T.R., LiVolsi, V.A., Mostow, E.D., Goldenberg, I.S. & White, C. (1981) Exogenous estrogens and other factors in the epidemiology of breast cancer. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, 67, 327-333
- ¹⁷ Hoover, R., Glass, A., Finkle, W.D., Azevedo, D. & Milne, K. (1981) Conjugated estrogens and breast cancer risk in women. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *67*, 815-820
- ¹⁸ Hammond, C.B., Jelovsek, F.R., Lee, K.L., Creasman, W.T. & Parker, R.T. (1979) Effects of long-term estrogen replacement therapy. II. Neoplasia. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol., 133, 537-547
- ¹⁹ Jick, H., Walker, A.M., Watkins, R.N., D'Ewart, D.C., Hunter, J.R., Danford, A., Madsen, S., Dinan, B.J. & Rothman, K.J. (1980) Replacement estrogens and breast cancer. Am. J. Epidemiol., 112, 586-594
- ²⁰ Lawson, D.H., Jick, H., Hunter, J.R. & Madsen, S. (1981) Exogenous estrogens and breast cancer. *Am. J. Epidemiol.*, *114*, 710-713
- ²¹ Gambrell, R.D., Masseý, F.M., Castaneda, T.A. & Boddie, A.W. (1980) Estrogen therapy and breast cancer in postmenopausal women. *J. Am. Geriatrics Soc.*, *28*, 251-257
- ²² Beral, V. & Colwell, L. (1980) Randomised trial of high doses of stilboestrol and ethisterone in pregnancy: Long-term follow-up of mothers. *Br. med. J.*, 281, 1098-1101
- ²³ Henderson, B.E., Benton, B., Jing, J., Yu, M.C. & Pike, M.C. (1979) Risk factors for cancer of the testis in young men. *Int. J. Cancer*, *23*, 598-601

²⁴ Sirianni, S.R., Hale, P., Brown, M., Huang, C.C., Paigen, B. & Ambrus, J.L. (1978) Study on the mutagenicity of conjugated estrogens in human, animal and bacterial systems. *J. Med.*, 9, 423-432

OESTROGENS:

DIENOESTROL (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited)

An earlier working group considered that the administration of oestrogens is causally related to an increased incidence of endometrial carcinoma and that there was no evidence that dienoestrol is different from other oestrogens in this respect¹. Herbst *et al.*² first reported in 1979 on the types of oestrogen to which cases in the Registry of Clear Cell Adenocarcinoma of the Genital Tract in Young Females had been exposed. Diethylstilboestrol, dienoestrol (very closely related compounds chemically) and hexoestrol had been prescribed to almost two-thirds of the mothers during the index pregnancies. Survey data²,³ suggest that exposure to these oestrogens in a putative group of controls would have been well below 5%. Other reports from the registry have broadly confirmed the original observations⁴-6. [The Working Group considered that the fact that dienoestrol is structurally related to diethylstilboestrol and is also a metabolite of that compound added to the weight of evidence from epidemiological studies that dienoestrol should be classified as having 'limited' evidence of carcinogenicity.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

Dienoestrol was tested in female guinea-pigs by subcutaneous injection and in female mice by intravaginal administration. Although pointing to the induction of 'uterine tumours' in guinea-pigs and ovarian tumours in mice, these experiments were insufficient to evaluate the carcinogenicity of this compound¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Dienoestrol was not mutagenic to bacteria. One paper reported a small increase in sister chromatid exchanges in cultured human fibroblasts, but this has not been confirmed¹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		**		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			?	
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 161-168, 1979
- ² Herbst, A.L., Scully, R.E. & Robboy, S.J. (1979) Prenatal diethylstilbestrol exposure and human genital tract abnormalities. *Natl Cancer Inst. Monogr.*, *51*, 25-35
- ³ Heinonen, O.P. (1973) Diethystilbestrol in pregnancy: Frequency of exposure and usage patterns. *Cancer*, *31*, 573-577
- ⁴ Herbst, A.L., Scully, R.E., Robboy, S.J. & Welch, W.R. (1978) Complications of prenatal therapy with diethylstilbestrol. *Pediatrics*, *62* (*Suppl*), 1151-1159
- ⁵ Welch, W.R., Prat, J., Robboy, S.J. & Herbst, A.L. (1978) Pathology of prenatal diethylstilbestrol exposure. *Pathol. Annual*, *13*, 201-216
- ⁶ Herbst, A.L. (1981) The epidemiology of vaginal and cervical clear cell adenocarcinoma. In: Herbst, A.L. & Bern, H.A., eds, Developmental Effects of Diethylstilbestrol (DES) in Pregnancy, New York, Thieme-Stratton, Inc., pp. 63-70

DIETHYLSTILBOESTROL (Group 1)*

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Diethylstilboestrol causes clear-cell carcinoma of the vagina in females exposed in utero. The evidence for an association with other types of cancer is either limited (endometrium) or inadequate (breast, ovary)¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Diethylstilboestrol is carcinogenic to mice, rats, hamsters, frogs and squirrel monkeys, producing tumours principally in oestrogen-responsive tissues¹.

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the earlier Working Group, and data on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

Diethylstilboestrol did not elicit unscheduled DNA synthesis in a variety of mammalian cells^{2,3} and did not induce mutations in a wide variety of bacterial systems³ or in mammalian cells in culture^{4,5}. Studies on mutation in fungi are equivocal². There is a single report that it produced chromosomal anomalies in yeast². Conflicting data have been reported with regard to the induction of chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in mammalian cells *in vitro* and of chromosomal anomalies in mouse bone-marrow *in vivo*^{2,3,6}. Diethylstilboestrol induced cell transformation in a variety of cell systems², and dominant lethal mutations were induced in mice by the diphosphate³. Sperm abnormalities were induced in mice⁷. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants		?	?	
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-	-	?	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			?	DL(+) SA(+)
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations; SA = sperm abnormalities

¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 32, 1979

² de Serres, F.J. & Ashby, J., eds (1981) *Evaluation of Short-Term Tests for Carcinogens. Report of the International Collaborative Program*, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 473, 495, 521, 530, 541, 562, 571, 583, 634, 675

³ IARC Monographs, 21, 173-231, 1979

⁴ Barrett, J.C., Wong, A. & McLachlan, J.A. (1981) Diethylstilbestrol induces neoplastic transformation without measurable gene mutation at two loci. *Science*, *212*, 1402-1404

⁵ Drevon, C., Piccoli, C. & Montesano, R. (1981) Mutagenicity assays of estrogenic hormones in mammalian cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *89*, 83-90

- ⁶ Ivett, J.L. & Tice, R.R. (1981) Diethylstilbestrol-diphosphate induces chromosomal aberrations but not sister chromatid exchanges in murine bone marrow cells *in vivo*. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, *3*, 445-452
- ⁷ Topham, J.C. (1980) The detection of carcinogen-induced sperm head abnormalities in mice. *Mutate Res.*, *69*, 149-155

ETH I NYLOESTRADIOL (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Ethinyloestradiol was tested in mice, rats, dogs and monkeys by oral administration and in rats by subcutaneous injection; in most studies it was administered in combination with progestins. When administered alone to mice, it increased the incidence of pituitary tumours and of malignant mammary tumours in both males and females and produced malignant tumours of the uterus and its cervix in females. In rats, it increased the incidence of benign liver-cell tumours in both males and females and produced malignant liver-cell tumours in females. When it was given in combination with certain progestins, excess incidences of malignant tumours of the uterine fundus were observed in female mice and of benign and/or malignant mammary tumours in male rats; in female rats, the combinations reduced but did not prevent the incidence of malignant liver-cell tumours when compared with that produced by ethinyloestradiol alone. In dogs, no tumour that could be attributed to the treatment was found. The study in monkeys was still in progress at the time of reporting: no tumour had been found after five years of observation. Mammary fibroadenomas were produced in female rats following subcutaneous injection of a combination of ethinyloestradiol with megestrol acetate¹.

Rats fed 0.06-0.08 mg/kg ethinyloestradiol in the diet for two years (about 100 times the human dose) had no overall increase in tumour incidence; however, both males and females had increased incidences of liver neoplastic nodules and pituitary chromophobe adenomas, and males had an increased incidence of mammary tumours². Mammary adenocarcinomas were observed in 90% of rats given 1 mg ethinyloestradiol implanted as a pellet. Concomitant exposure to X-rays synergistically increased the number of tumours per rat and shortened the latency of their appearance³. Dietary administration to rats of daily doses of 0.075 mg ethinyloestradiol and 6 mg norethindrone for 12 months starting at four weeks of age resulted in hyperplastic nodules of the liver in all animals and hepatocellular carcinomas in 5.6%⁴. Oral administration of ethinyloestradiol to male rats promoted the development of preneoplastic liver lesions initiated by *N*-nitrosodiethylamine⁵.

Ethinyloestradiol did not induce mutations in *Salmonella typhimurium* or *Escherichia coli* K12 in the presence of a liver microsomal system 1,6, in *Drosophila melanogaster* 7, or in mice treated *in vivo* 8. No chromosomal effect was observed in treated human lymphocyte cultures 1 or Chinese hamster V79 cells 9. Increases of up to 75% were seen in sister chromatid exchanges in blood lymphocytes of women taking oral contraceptives containing 150 μg d-norgestrel and 30-50 μg ethinyloestradiol 10. [Such small increases observed in a study in which smoking history was not controlled for are not considered to be indicative of an action of a mutagen.]

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects		-		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	
Mammals (in vivo)		-		
Humans (in vivo)			-	

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 233-255, 1979
- ² Schardein, J.L. (1980) Studies of the components of an oral contraceptive agent in albino rats. I. Estrogenic component. *J. Toxicol. environ. Health*, *6*, 885-894
- ³ Holtzman, S., Stone, J.P. & Shellabarger, C.J. (1981) Synergism of estrogens and X-rays in mammary carcinogenesis in female ACI rats. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *67*, 455-459
- ⁴ Higashi, S., Tomita, T., Mizumoto, R. & Nakakuki, K. (1980) Development of hepatoma in rats following oral administration of synthetic estrogen and progestogen. *Gann*, 71, 576-577
- ⁵ Cameron, R., Imaida, K. & Ito, N. (1981) Promotive effects of ethinyl estradiol in hepatocarcinogenesis initiated by diethylnitrosamine in male rats. *Gann*, *72*, 339-340
- ⁶ Dayan, J., Crajer, M.C., Bertozzi, S. & Lefrancois, S. (1980) Application of the Salmonella typhimurium microsome test to the study of 25 drugs belonging to 5 chemical series. Mutat. Res., 77, 301-306
- ⁷ Parádi, E. (1981) Mutagenicity of some contraceptive drugs in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Mutat. Res.*, *88*, 175-178

- ⁸ Wallace, M.E., Badr, F.M. & Badr, R.S. (1979) Studies in mice on the mutagenicity of two contraceptive drugs. *J. med. Genet.*, *16*, 206-209
- ⁹ Drevon, C., Piccoli, C. & Montesano, R. (1981) Mutagenicity assays of estrogenic hormones in mammalian cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *89*, 83-90
- ¹⁰ Krishna Murthy, P.B. & Prema, K. (1979) Sister-chromatid exchanges in oral contraceptive users. *Mutat. Res.*, *68*, 149-152

MESTRANOL (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Mestranol was tested in mice, rats, dogs and monkeys by oral administration; in most studies it was administered in combination with progestins. When administered alone, it increased the incidences of pituitary tumours in both sexes of one strain of mice and increased the incidence of malignant mammary tumours in castrated males of two further strains and in males and females of another strain. It also produced an increased incidence of malignant mammary tumours in female rats. Studies in monkeys are still in progress; although no tumours have been observed after seven years, no conclusive evaluation can yet be made. In experiments in which mestranol was administered to female mice in combination with norethynodrel, pituitary tumours and vaginal and cervical squamous-cell carcinomas were produced; in male mice, an increased incidence of mammary tumours was observed following administration of mestranol in combination with norethynodrel or ethynodiol diacetate. Combinations with norethynodrel or norethisterone resulted in an excess of benign liver-cell tumours in male rats and increased the incidence of malignant mammary tumours in rats of both sexes. In monkeys given these combinations as well as combinations with norethynodrel or ethynodiol diacetate, no mammary nodule was observed after five and seven years of experimentation, respectively. This experiment is still in progress. It was also tested in combination with norethynodrel by subcutaneous administration in mice, rats and hamsters; it produced an increased incidence of mammary tumours in female mice1.

Feeding of mestranol or mestranol plus norethynodrel to rats following partial hepatectomy and treatment with *N*-nitrosodiethylamine promoted the development of putative preneoplastic lesions in the liver observed after four or nine months. On the basis of experiments with norethynodrel alone, the authors ascribed this effect to mestranol². No significant increase in mammary tumour occurrence was seen in dogs treated with mestranol³. Oral administration to dogs of daily doses of 0.02 or 0.05 mg/kg bw for seven years did not produce malignant mammary tumours. When given in various combinations with progestins, it induced malignant mammary tumours after five years of treatment^{1,4}.

Mice injected subcutaneously with Enovid (mestranol and norethynodrel) developed small cervical cancers. When mixed in the diet, Enovid caused cervical cancers in one strain of mice and pituitary tumours in another⁵. Rats fed *ortho*-Novum (mestranol and norethisterone) for eight months did not develop liver tumours. Tumours occurred when the animals were fed a non-tumorigenic dose of *N*-2-acetylaminofluorene for one month before administration of the contraceptive for seven months.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

No mutation was induced in *Drosophila melanogaster*⁷ or in mice *in vivo*⁸ after treatment with mestranol. It has been reported to be ineffective in inducing chromosomal aberrations in human leucocytes exposed in culture¹. Dominant lethal mutations were induced in female mice treated with mestranol¹. No cytogenetic change was reported in lymphocytes obtained from women taking oestrogen/progestin contraceptives containing mestranol¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes				
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects		-		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	
Mammals (in vivo)		-		DL(+)
Humans (in vivo)			-	

DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 257-278, 1979
- ² Yager, J.D., Jr & Yager, R. (1980) Oral contraceptive steroids as promoters of hepatocarcinogenesis in female Sprague-Dawley rats. *Cancer Res.*, 40, 3680-3685
- ³ El Etreby, M.F. & Gräf, K.-J. (1979) Effect of contraceptive steroids on mammary gland of beagle dog and its relevance to human carcinogenicity. *Pharmacol. Ther.*, *5*, 369-402
- ⁴ Kawapien, R.P., Giles, R.C., Geil, R.G. & Casey, H.W. (1980) Malignant mammary tumors in beagle dogs dosed with investigational oral contraceptive steroids. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, 65, 137-144
- ⁵ Dunn, T.B. (1979) Cancer and other lesions in mice receiving estrogens. *Recent Results Cancer Res.*, *66*, 175-192

- ⁶ Klein, K.M. (1979) Oral contraceptive administration and hepatocellular neoplasms in the rat (Abstract). *Gastroenterology*, 76, 1288
- ⁷ Parádi, E. (1981) Mutagenicity of some contraceptive drugs in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Mutat. Res.*, *88*, 175-178
- ⁸ Wallace, M.E., Badr, F.M. & Badr, R.S. (1979) Studies in mice on the mutagenicity of two contraceptive drugs. *J. med. Genet.*, *16*, 206-209

OESTRADIOL-17β (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Oestradiol-17 β and its esters were tested in mice, rats, hamsters, guinea-pigs and monkeys by subcutaneous injection or implantation and in mice by oral administration. Its subcutaneous administration resulted in increased incidences of mammary, pituitary, uterine, cervical, vaginal and lymphoid tumours and interstitial-cell tumours of the testis in mice. In rats, there was an increased incidence of mammary and/or pituitary tumours. In hamsters, a high incidence of malignant kidney tumours occurred in intact and castrated males and in ovariectomized females, but not in intact females. In guinea-pigs, diffuse fibromyomatous uterine and abdominal lesions were observed. Oral administration of oestradiol-17 β to mice led to an increased mammary tumour incidence. Subcutaneous injections in neonatal mice resulted in precancerous and cancerous cervical and vaginal lesions in later life and an increased incidence of mammary tumours¹.

Implantation of a pellet of oestradiol-17 β into the spleen of mice in proximity to a transplanted one-day-old testis in a castrated isologous recipient induced Leydig-cell tumours in the grafts. Pellets placed subcutaneously in six-week-old mice caused Leydig-cell tumours in testes in situ and in testes transplanted into the spleen and mammary glands². Feeding of oestradiol-17 β to mice for two years resulted in the development of osteosarcomas in the calvaria of three; one of the tumours metastasized³. Dietary administration of this oestrogen to female mice bearing the mammary tumour virus shortened the time to appearance of mammary tumours and induced cervical adenosis and carcinomas⁴.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

No mutation was induced in Chinese hamster V79 cells⁵, and no chromosomal anomaly was observed in mouse bone-marrow cells *in vivo* or in human lymphocytes *in vitro*¹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes				
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		-	-	
Mammals (in vivo)			-	
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 279-326, 1979
- ² Huseby, R.A. (1980) Demonstration of a direct carcinogenic effect of estradiol on Leydig cells of the mouse. *Cancer Res.*, 40, 1006-1013
- ³ Highman, B., Roth, S.I. & Greenman, D.L. (1981) Osseous changes and osteosarcomas in mice continuously fed diets containing diethylstilbestrol or 17β-estradiol. *J. natl* Cancer Inst., 67, 653-662
- ⁴ Highman, B., Greenman, D.L., Norvell, M.J., Farmer, J. & Shellenberger, E. (1980) Neoplastic and preneoplastic lesions induced in female C3H mice by diets containing diethylstilbestrol or 17β-estradiol. *J. environ. Pathol. Toxicol.*, 4, 81-95
- ⁵ Drevon, C., Piccoli, C. & Montesano, R. (1981) Mutagenicity assays of estrogenic hormones in mammalian cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *89*, 83-90

OESTRONE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Oestrone was tested in mice by oral administration; in mice, rats and hamsters by subcutaneous injection and implantation; and in mice by skin painting. Its administration resulted in an increased incidence of mammary tumours in mice; in pituitary, adrenal and mammary tumours, as well as bladder tumours in association with stones, in rats; and in renal tumours in both castrated and intact male hamsters. Oestrone benzoate increased the incidence of mammary tumours in mice following its subcutaneous injection¹.

Chromosomal aberrations were observed in bone-marrow cells of rats given intraperitoneal injections of oestrone². No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		·		
Fungi/Green plants	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)			+	
Humans (in vivo)				

References

PROGESTINS:

CHLORMADINONE ACETATE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to anima's (limited)

Chlormadinone acetate was tested in mice, rats and dogs by oral administration. When given alone to dogs, it produced mammary tumours. When given to mice in combination with mestranol, it increased the incidence of pituitary tumours in animals of both sexes; in combination with ethinyloestradiol, it increased the incidence of mammary tumours in intact and castrated male mice of one hybrid strain¹.

¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 343-362, 1979

² Sharma, G.P., Sobti, R.C. & Sahi, K. (1981) Clastogenicity of estrone in the rat bone-marrow cells. *Current Sci.*, *50*, 425-426

No chromosomal effect was observed in human lymphocytes treated with chlormadinone acetate *in vitro*¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		***************************************		
Fungi/Green plants	18 P. C.			
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)		***************************************		

Reference

¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 365-375, 1979

DIMETHISTERONE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

Dimethisterone was tested in dogs in combination with ethinyloestradiol by oral administration. No increase in the incidence of mammary tumours was found¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

No chromosomal effect was observed in human lymphocytes treated with dimethisterone in vitro1.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes				
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

Reference

¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 377-385, 1979

ETHYNODIOL DIACETATE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Ethynodiol diacetate was tested in mice, rats and monkeys alone or in combination with oestrogens by oral administration. In castrated male mice, it increased the incidence of mammary tumours, and in male rats it produced benign mammary tumours. In combination with oestrogens, it increased the incidence of pituitary tumours in mice and of malignant mammary tumours in male and female rats. The study in monkeys is still in progress¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

No chromosomal damage was seen in rats fed ethynodiol diacetate, and no chromosomal anomaly was seen in lymphocytes from women who had taken oral contraceptives containing ethynodiol diacetate and mestranol. No significant effect on the frequency of abnormal karyotypes or on sex ratio was seen in abortuses of women who had taken oral contraceptives containing ethynodiol diacetate¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes				
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)			-	
Humans (in vivo)			_	

Reference

¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 387-398, 1979

17α -HYDROXYPROGESTERONE CAPROATE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

 17α -Hydroxyprogesterone caproate was tested in rabbits by repeated subcutaneous injection, with inconclusive results¹. It was reported in an abstract to have accelerated the growth of cervical tumours in mice².

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests

No data were available.

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 399-406, 1979
- ² Urmancheeva, A.F., Novikova, A.I. & Anicimov, V.N. (1981) Stimulating effect of pregnancy on the growth of cervical cancer (Russ.). *Akush. Ginekol. (Moscow)*, 1, 53-55

LYNOESTRENOL (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

Lynoestrenol was tested by oral administration in mice and rats, alone or in combination with mestranol. It did not increase the incidence of tumours¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Dominant lethal mutations were induced when mice were fed lynostrenol with mestranol. No significant effect on the frequency of abnormal karyotypes or on sex ratio was seen in abortuses of women who had taken oral contraceptives containing lynoestrenol¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes				
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)				DL(+)
Humans (in vivo)			-	

DL = dominant lethal mutations

Reference

¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 407-415, 1979

MEDROXYPROGESTERONE ACETATE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

The results of one epidemiological study of the development of breast nodules and two others of dysplasia and of carcinoma *in situ* of the uterine cervix in women given medroxyprogesterone acetate were conflicting and difficult to interpret because of methodological problems¹. In a study of 30 patients with breast cancer and 179 controls enrolled at a family planning clinic, use at some time of medroxyprogesterone acetate was reported by five cases (17%) and 32 controls (18%), giving a relative risk of 1². [No confidence limits were given. Potential confounding was not controlled for.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Medroxyprogesterone acetate produced mammary tumours in dogs following its intramuscular injection¹. After four years of treatment with the human contraceptive dose, a dose-related incidence of mammary nodules was seen in dogs. The incidence of mammary dysplasia at that time was comparable with that in dogs given progesterone at 25 times the luteal phase levels³. Female dogs treated with medroxyprogesterone acetate for at least one year had a distinct increase in incidence of large and small mammary nodules as compared with control animals. The large nodules were usually identified as neoplastic on histological examination⁴. In a review of published and unpublished data on the effects of medroxyprogesterone acetate, malignant mammary tumours, other breast pathology and liver adenoma were reported to have occurred in dogs⁵.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

No chromosomal aberration was seen in bone-marrow cells of rats treated *in vivo*¹, or in peripheral lymphocytes of women taking this compound⁶.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	And the second s			
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	***************************************			
Mammals (in vivo)			-	
Humans (in vivo)		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	•	

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 417-429, 1979
- ² Greenspan, A.R., Hatcher, R.A., Moore, M., Rosenberg, M.J. & Ory, H.W. (1980) The association of depo-medroxyprogesterone acetate and breast cancer. *Contraception*, *21*, 563-569
- ³ Frank, D.W., Kirton, K.T., Murchison, T.E., Quinlan, W.J., Coleman, M.E., Gilbertson, T.J., Feenstra, E.S. & Kimball, F.A. (1979) Mammary tumors and serum hormones in the bitch treated with medroxyprogesterone acetate or progesterone for four years. *Fertil. Steril.*, 31, 340-346
- ⁴ Van Os, J.L., van Laar, P.H., Oldenkamp, E.P. & Verschoor, J.S.C. (1981) Oestrus control and the incidence of mammary nodules in bitches, a clinical study with two progestogens. *Vet. Sci.*, *3*, 46-56

- ⁵ Minkin, S. (1980) Depo-Provera: A critical analysis. Women Health, 5, 49-69
- ⁶ Matton-Van Leuven, M.-T., Thierry, M. & de Bie, S. (1974) Cytogenetic evaluation of patients in relation to the use of oral contraception. *Contraception*, *10*, 25-38

MEGESTROL ACETATE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Megestrol acetate was tested alone or with ethinyloestradiol in mice, rats and dogs by oral administration and in rats by subcutaneous administration. It produced mammary tumours in dogs when tested alone and in mice when tested in combination with ethinyloestradiol. Experiments in which it was tested in rats in combination with ethinyloestradiol were negative or inadequate¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

No chromosomal effect was observed in human lymphocytes treated with megestrol acetate *in vitro*. No significant effect on the frequency of abnormal karyotypes or on sex ratio was seen in abortuses of women who had taken oral contraceptives containing this progestin¹.

Insects Mammalian cells (in vitro) - Mammals (in vivo)		DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Insects Mammalian cells (in vitro) - Mammals (in vivo)	Prokaryotes				
Mammals (in vivo)	Fungi/Green plants				
Mammals (in vivo)	Insects				
	Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	
	Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo) -	Humans (in vivo)			-	

¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 431-439, 1979

NORETHISTERONE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Norethisterone and its acetate, alone or in combination with oestrogens, were tested in mice, rats and dogs by oral administration and in mice by subcutaneous implantation. When administered alone to mice, norethisterone increased the incidence of benign livercell tumours in males and of pituitary tumours in females and produced granulosa-cell tumours of the ovary in females. Administration of norethisterone acetate alone increased the incidence of benign liver-cell tumours in male mice. In male rats, administration of norethisterone alone increased the incidence of benign liver-cell tumours. Norethisterone in combination with mestranol, or the acetate in combination with ethinyloestradiol. increased the incidence of pituitary tumours in mice of both sexes; norethisterone in combination with ethinyloestradiol increased the incidence of pituitary tumours in female mice. In combination with mestranol it increased the incidence of benign liver-cell tumours in male rats and of malignant mammary tumours in animals of both sexes. Norethisterone acetate in combination with ethinyloestradiol increased the incidence of benign mammary tumours in male rats in one study and increased the incidence of benign liver-cell and mammary tumours in rats of both sexes in a further study. A study in dogs in which norethisterone acetate is being given in combination with ethinyloestradiol is still in progress1. Rats fed 3-4 mg/kg norethisterone acetate (about 100 times the human dose) for two years had an increase in neoplastic nodules of the liver; an increased incidence of uterine polyps was seen in females². In rats given weekly intramuscular injections for 104 weeks of norethisterone enanthate at doses of 10, 30 or 50 mg/kg bw (20, 60 and 100 times the human contraceptive dose), there was a doserelated increase in tumours of the pituitary glands in males, whereas in females there was no effect with the lowest dose and even a reduction of tumours with the higher doses. The incidence of benign mammary tumours was increased in males at all doses. but there was little effect on the females; malignant mammary tumour incidence was greatly increased in both males and females given the two higher dose levels, and the increase was related to dose. A dose-related increase in the incidence of liver tumours was also seen in both males and females. Oral administration of norethisterone acetate in the diet at 100 times the usual human dose for 104 weeks resulted in a slight increase in the incidence of carcinomas of the uterus. The effect was greatly increased if ethinyloestradiol was also added to the diet3.

Administration to female rats of norethisterone plus mestranol at a dose calculated to be 100 times the human contraceptive dose for eight months did not produce liver tumours. Multiple neoplastic nodules of the liver and hepatocellular carcinomas occurred when animals were fed a non-tumorigenic dose of *N*-2-acetylaminofluorene for one month before administration of the contraceptive for seven months⁴. Administration to female rats of daily oral doses of 6 mg norethisterone acetate and 0.075 mg ethinyloestradiol for 12 months starting at four weeks of age resulted in hyperplastic nodules of the liver in all animals and a hepatocellular carcinoma in one⁵.

No chromosomal abnormality was seen in bone-marrow cells of mice treated with norethisterone *in vivo*. Dominant lethal mutations were seen in mice given norethisterone acetate but not in mice given short-term treatment with norethisterone and ethinyloestradiol. No chromosomal effect was seen in cultured human lymphocytes or in lymphocytes from women who had taken oral contraceptives containing norethisterone¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes			anomanes	
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			-	
Mammals (in vivo)			-	DL(?)
Humans (in vivo)			-	

DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 441-460, 1979
- ² Schardein, J.L. (1980) Studies of the component of an oral contraceptive agent in albino rats. II. Progestogenic component and comparison of effects of the components and the combined agent. *J. Toxicol. environ. Health*, *6*, 895-906
- ³ El Etreby, M.F. & Neumann, F. (1980) *Influence of sex steroids and steroid antagonists on hormone-dependent tumors in experimental animals*. In: Iacobelli, S., King, R.J.B., Lindner, H.R. & Lippman, M.E., eds, *Hormones and Cancer*, New York, Raven Press, pp. 321-336
- ⁴ Klein, K.M. (1979) Oral contraceptive administration and hepatocellular neoplasms in the rat: Preliminary results (Abstract). *Gastroenterology*, *76*, 1288
- ⁵ Higashi, S., Tomita, T., Mizumoto, R. & Nakakuki, K. (1980) Development of hepatoma in rats following oral administration of synthetic estrogen and progestogen. *Gann*, *71*, 576-577

NORETHYNODREL (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Norethynodrel was tested in mice, rats and monkeys, alone or in combination with mestranol, by oral administration. It was also tested alone in mice by subcutaneous implantation, and in combination with mestranol in mice, rats and hamsters by subcutaneous injection. When given alone, it increased the incidence of pituitary tumours in mice of both sexes and of mammary tumours in castrated males of one strain; it also increased the incidence of liver-cell, pituitary and mammary tumours in male rats. When given in combination with mestranol, it increased the incidences of pituitary, mammary, vaginal and cervical tumours in female mice, of pituitary tumours in male mice, of mammary tumours in castrated male mice, of benign liver-cell tumours in male rats and of malignant mammary tumours in rats of both sexes. The study in hamsters was of too short duration to be considered for evaluation. Oral administration of norethynodrel in combination with mestranol to *Macaca mulatta* monkeys for five years did not increase the incidence of mammary tumours; the study is still in progress¹.

Feeding of norethynodrel to rats following partial hepatectomy and treatment with *N*-nitrosodiethylamine (5 mg/kg bw) by gavage 24 hours later increased the number of putative precursor lesions of hepatocarcinogenesis four months later, but there was no significant difference by nine months. One hepatocellular carcinoma was found at nine months in a rat that received this treatment².

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Norethynodrel did not induce mutations in bacteria, and no chromosomal anomaly was seen in human lymphocytes treated *in vitro* or in bone-marrow cells of rats treated *in vivo*. A significant increase in chromosomal anomalies was seen in the lymphocytes of infants whose mothers had taken oral contraceptives containing norethynodrel¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		-		
Mammals (in vivo)		-		-
Humans (in vivo)		,	+	

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 461-477, 1979
- ² Yager, J.D., Jr & Yager, R. (1980) Oral contraceptive steroids as promoters of hepatocarcinogenesis in female Sprague-Dawley rats. *Cancer Res.*, 40, 3680-3685

NORGESTREL (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

Norgestrel was tested in mice and rats, alone or in combination with ethinyloestradiol, by oral administration. There was no increase in the incidence of tumours in either species¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests

No data were available.

Reference

¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 479-490, 1979

PROGESTERONE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans

No data were available.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Progesterone was tested by subcutaneous and by intramuscular injection in mice, rats, rabbits and dogs and by subcutaneous implantation in mice and rats. It was tested alone in mice and dogs; in rats and rabbits it was given in combination with other sex hormones. When given alone, progesterone increased the incidences of ovarian, uterine and mammary tumours in mice. Neonatal treatment with progesterone enhanced the

occurrence of precancerous and cancerous lesions of the genital tract and increased mammary tumorigenesis in female mice¹. Dogs treated with progesterone for four years at 1-25 times the luteal phase levels in that species developed mammary dysplasia and a dose-related incidence of mammary gland nodules².

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Chromosomal abnormalities were induced in meiotic germ cells of female hamsters and of male dogs treated with progesterone *in vivo*, and in cultured human embryonic fibroblasts and renal epithelia treated *in vitro*. No anomaly was seen in human lymphocytes treated *in vitro*¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes				
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			?	
Mammals (in vivo)			+	
Humans (in vivo)				

References

OESTRONE (Group 2B) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

OXYMETHOLONE (Group 2A)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited)

Although ten cases of liver-cell tumour have been reported in patients with aplastic anaemia, Fanconi's anaemia or paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria treated for long periods with oxymetholone alone or in combination with other androgenic drugs, a causal relationship could not be established¹.

¹ IARC Monographs, 21, 491-515, 1979

² Frank, D.W., Kirton, K.T., Murchison, T.E., Quinlan, W.J., Coleman, M.E., Gilbertson, T.J., Feenstra, E.S. & Kimball, F.A. (1979) Mammary tumors and serum hormones in the bitch treated with medroxyprogesterone acetate or progesterone for four years. *Fertil. Steril.*, 31, 340-346

Multiple hepatomas were reported in a patient with Fanconi's anaemia treated for nine months with oxymetholone; cases of benign hepatoma, peliosis hepatis, primary hepatocellular carcinoma and hepatic cholangiosarcoma have also been linked to use of androgens, mostly oxymetholone. The majority of the reports have involved patients with Fanconi's anaemia²⁻⁶, but liver tumours have also occurred following treatment for aplastic anaemia^{4,7,8}, panmyelopathy⁹ and refractory megaloblastic anaemia¹⁰. Usually androgens were given for years, but cancer has occurred after as little as two months⁶. There have been well-documented instances of remission following the withdrawal of oxymetholone^{8,9,11}. In one case, multiple hepatomas, peliosis hepatis, multiple pancreatic islet-cell tumours, and a renal medullary interstitial tumour were found at autopsy after a five-year course of therapy with androgens [type unspecified] and prednisone⁷. Myeloid leukaemia complicating Fanconi's anaemia has also been reported in association with oxymetholone use¹¹⁻¹³, and there has been one case report of paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria in which a myeloproliferative disorder developed after oxymetholone therapy¹⁴.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals

No data were available.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests

No data were available.

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 13, 131-140, 1977
- ² Port, R.B., Petasnick, J.P. & Ranniger, K. (1971) Angiographic demonstration of hepatoma in association with Fanconi's anemia. *Am. J. Roentgenol.*, 113, 82-83
- ³ Kew, M.C., Van Coller, B., Prowse, C.M., Skikne, B., Wolfsdorf, J.I., Isdale, J., Krawitz, S., Altman, H., Levin, S.E. & Bothwell, T.H. (1976) Occurrence of primary hepatocellular cancer and peliosis hepatis after treatment with androgenic steroids. S.A. med. J., 50, 1233-1237
- ⁴ Sweeney, E.C. & Evans, D.J. (1976) Hepatic lesions in patients treated with synthetic anabolic steroids. *J. clin. Pathol.*, *29*, 626-633
- ⁵ Shapiro, P., Ikeda, R.M., Ruebner, B.H., Connors, M.H., Halsted, C.C. & Abildgaard, C.F. (1977) Multiple hepatic tumors and peliosis hepatis in Fanconi's anemia treated with androgens. *Am. J. Dis. Child.*, *131*, 1104-1106
- ⁶ Mokrohisky, S.T., Ambruso, D.R. & Hathaway, W.E. (1977) Fulminant hepatic neoplasia after androgen therapy. *New Engl. J. Med.*, *296*, 1411-1412
- ⁷ Sale, G.E. & Lerner, K.G. (1977) Multiple tumors after androgen therapy. *Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med.*, *101*, 600-603

- ⁸ Montgomery, R.R., Ducore, J.M., Githens, J.H., August, C.S. & Johnson, M.L. (1980) Regression of oxymetholone-induced hepatic tumors after bone marrow transplantation in aplastic anemia. *Transplantation*, *30*, 90-96
- ⁹ Treuner, J., Niethammer, D., Flach, A., Fischbach, H. & Schenck, W. (1980) Hepatocellular carcinoma following oxymetholone treatment (Ger.). *Med. Welt.*, 31, 952-955
- ¹⁰ Stromeyer, F.W., Smith, D.H. & Ishak, K.G. (1979) Anabolic steroid therapy and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. *Cancer*, *43*, 440-443
- ¹¹ Obeid, O.A., Hill, F.G.H., Harnden, D., Mann, J.R. & Wood, B.S.B. (1980) Fanconi anemia. Oxymetholone hepatic tumors, and chromosome aberrations associated with leukemic transition. *Cancer*, *46*, 1401-1404
- ¹² Sarna, G., Tomasulo, P., Lotz, M.J., Bubinak, J.F. & Shulman, N.R. (1975) Multiple neoplasms in two siblings with a variant form of Fanconi's anemia. *Cancer*, 36, 1029-1033
- ¹³ Bourgeois, C.A. & Hill, F.G.H. (1977) Fanconi anemia leading to acute myelomonocytic leukemia. Cytogenic studies. *Cancer*, 39, 1163-1167
- ¹⁴ Boyd, A.W., Parkin, J.D. & Castaldi, P.A. (1979) A case of paroxysmal nocturnal haemoglobinuria terminating in a myeloproliferative syndrome. *Aust. N.Z.J. Med.*, 9, 181-183

PENTACHLOROPHENOL (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Pentachlorophenol has been mentioned specifically only in reports of two cases of Hodgkin's disease¹ and seven cases of leukaemia² in individuals who used it as a wood preservative or handled wood to which it had been applied and of two cases of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma of the skin in men employed in its manufacture³. Generic reference to chlorophenols (which probably included pentachlorophenol⁴) has also been made in three case-control studies which showed relative risks of 6.6 and 3.3 for soft-tissue sarcomas and of 7.6 (heavy exposure) and 2.2 (light exposure) for lymphomas in association with exposure to chlorophenols⁵-7. In none of these studies could exposure to pentachlorophenol be distinguished from exposure to dioxins. In some, exposure to other related and unrelated chemicals also occurred.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

Pentachlorophenol was tested in one experiment in two strains of mice and in one experiment in rats by oral administration at dose levels sufficiently high to cause mild toxicity; no carcinogenic effect was seen in either species. Pentachlorophenol was also tested in two strains of mice by subcutaneous injection of single doses; it produced hepatomas in males of one strain⁸.

Pentachlorophenol was not mutagenic in a host-mediated assay in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system or in *Drosophila melanogaster*, but mutagenicity was elicited in fungi⁸. There was some indication of a positive response in a spot test for somatic mutation⁹. In a single study of six workers exposed to pentachlorophenol, there was no evidence for the induction of chromosomal aberrations⁸.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects		-		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		······································		
Mammals (in vivo)		?	M-94-1	
Humans (in vivo)			-	

- ¹ Greene, M.H., Brinton, L.A., Fraumeni, J.F. & D'Amico, R. (1978) Familial and sporadic Hodgkin's disease associated with occupational wood exposure. *Lancet*, *ii*, 626-627
- ² Anon. (1980) Leukemia from pentachlorophenol? BIBRA Bull., 19, 107
- ³ Bishop, C.M. & Jones, A.H. (1981) Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma of the scalp in workers exposed to dioxins. *Lancet*, *ii*, 369
- ⁴ Hardell, L. (1981) Epidemiological Studies on Soft-tissue Sarcoma and Malignant Lymphoma and their Relation to Phenoxy Acid or Chlorophenol Exposure (Umeå University Medical Dissertations. New Series No. 65), Umeå, Centraltryckeriet
- ⁵ Hardell, L. & Sandström, A. (1979) Case-control study: Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to phenoxyacetic acids or chlorophenols. *Br. J. Cancer*, *39*, 711-717
- ⁶ Eriksson, M., Hardell, L., Berg, N.O., Möller, T. & Axelson, O. (1981) Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to chemical substances: A case-referent study. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, 38, 27-33
- ⁷ Hardell, L., Eriksson, M., Lenner, P. & Lundgren, E. (1981) Malignant lymphoma and exposure to chemicals, especially organic solvents, chlorophenols and phenoxy acids: A case-control study. *Br. J. Cancer*, 43, 169-176
- 8 IARC Monographs, 20, 303-325, 1979
- ⁹ Fahrig, R., Nilsson, C.-A. & Rappe, C. (1978) *Genetic activity of chlorophenols and chlorophenol impurities*. In: Rao, K.R., ed., *Pentachlorophenol: Chemistry, Pharmacology and Environmental Toxicology*, New York, Plenum Press, pp. 325-338

PHENACETIN (Group 2A) (See Analgesic mixtures containing phenacetin)

PHENAZOPYRIDINE (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

In one limited epidemiological study, no significant excess of any cancer was observed among 2214 patients receiving phenazopyridine and followed for periods of three to seven-and-a-half years¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Phenazopyridine hydrochloride was tested in mice and rats by oral administration and in mice by intraperitoneal administration. After its oral administration, it significantly increased the incidence of hepatocellular adenomas and carcinomas in female mice. In male and female rats, it induced tumours of the colon and rectum¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests

No data were available.

Reference

¹ IARC Monographs, 24, 163-173, 1980

PHENELZINE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A liver angiosarcoma was reported in one person who had taken phenelzine for six vears preceding tumour diagnosis¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Phenelzine sulphate was tested in mice by oral administration of 0.015% in the drinking-water for life. Incidences of lung and blood vessel tumours were significantly increased in female but not in male mice¹.

Phenelzine produced indirect evidence of DNA damage¹ and mutation in bacteria¹⁻³. It did not induce DNA damage (as judged by lack of activity in the alkaline elution test) in liver or lung of mice treated *in vivo*³. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+	7447F-074	
Fungi/Green plants			****	
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)	-		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
Humans (in vivo)				**

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 24, 175-184, 1980
- ² De Flora, S. (1981) Study of 106 organic and inorganic compounds in the *Salmonella*/microsome test. *Carcinogenesis*, *2*, 283-298
- ³ Parodi, S., de Flora, S., Cavanna, M., Pino, A., Robbiano, L., Bennicelli, C. & Brambilla, G. (1981) DNA damaging activity in vivo and bacterial mutagenicity of sixteen hydrazine derivatives as related quantitatively to their carcinogenicity. Cancer Res., 41, 1469-1482

PHENOBARBITAL (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Phenobarbital has been associated with an increased frequency of several cancers, but epidemiological data to evaluate its carcinogenicity to humans were considered to be limited¹.

Excesses of brain cancer have now been reported in three studies of epileptics, most of whom were treated with phenobarbital, often in combination with phenytoin or other drugs²⁻⁴. The role of anticonvulsant therapy in the origin of brain cancer is not clear, however, since the tumours may be related to the underlying medical condition rather than to use of the drugs *per se*. In the largest study^{2,5}, the relative brain cancer excess within the first 10 years of admission to an epilepsy clinic was 12-fold (based on 45 cases observed, 3.8 expected), but it decreased steadily with duration of follow-up to 1.3-fold

(2 observed, 1.5 expected) for cancers occurring 30 or more years after admission, suggesting that the therapy was unlikely to have initiated the tumour development. A case/control study⁶ involving 84 children with brain cancer reported a two-fold increase in these tumours associated with prenatal or childhood exposure to barbiturates (mostly phenobarbital⁷). In a survey⁸ of 11 169 pairs, consisting of childhood cancer cases and matched controls, epilepsy was reported more frequently among the mothers of cancer cases (39 cases, compared with 22 controls). Review of available antenatal records indicated use of phenobarbital by two-thirds and phenytoin by somewhat more than one-third of the epileptic mothers during pregnancy. The number of brain tumours among the 39 cancers was not reported.

Lung cancer was reported in significant excess (standardized mortality ratio, 1.7, based on 87 cases) during 1969-1976 among members of a prepaid health plan identified as users of phenobarbital, phenobarbital sodium or secobarbital sodium during 1969-19739. Increases were associated with the three drugs separately, were found in both men and women, were only partly accounted for by cigarette smoking, and remained when tumours diagnosed within two years of prescription of the drugs were excluded. There was no apparent relation with duration of use. Increases in lung cancer incidence have also been observed in the two cohort studies of epileptics that reported data on this cancer^{2,4}, but the effects of smoking were not known. The elevations in risk in these cohort studies were smaller than in the first study (relative risk, 1.3, based on 65 cases [p < 0.05] in one², and 1.4, based on 23 deaths in the other⁴).

Liver cancers occurred excessively (13 observed, 3.4 expected) in one study of epileptics². All but three of the tumours, mostly angiosarcomas or cholangiocarcinomas^{2,5}, occurred in individuals who had been exposed to thorotrast, a known liver and biliary carcinogen, during angiography. Whether the concomitant anticonvulsant therapy enhanced the development of thorotrast-induced malignancies is unknown.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Phenobarbital is carcinogenic, producing benign and malignant hepatocellular neoplasms in mice and benign hepatocellular neoplasms in rats after its oral administration¹. Experiments with mice and rats in which phenobarbital was studied for its promoting activity included comparison groups given phenobarbital alone. Oral administration of phenobarbital enhanced the incidence of liver neoplasms in mice previously administered *N*-nitrosodimethylamine¹⁰ and in rats previously administered *N*-2-acetylamino-fluorene^{11,12}, *N*-nitrosodiethylamine^{13,14}, 2-methyl-*N*,*N*-dimethyl-4-aminoazobenzene¹⁵ or benzo[a]pyrene¹⁶.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Phenobarbital was not mutagenic in *Salmonella typhimurium*¹ and did not elicit DNA repair in cultured rat liver cells¹⁷. There is a single report that it has weak mutagenicity in *Drosophila melanogaster*¹. It did not induce cell transformation (in the BHK assay)¹⁸. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects		?		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-			T(-)
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 13, 157-183, 1977
- ² Clemmesen, J. & Hjalgrim-Jensen, S. (1981) Does phenobarbital cause intracranial tumors? A follow-up through 35 years. *Ecotoxicol. environ. Saf.*, 5, 255-260
- ³ Annegers, J.F., Kurland, L.T. & Hauser, W.A. (1979) Brain tumors in children exposed to barbiturates. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *63*, 3
- ⁴ White, S.J., McLean, A.E.M. & Howland, C. (1979) Anticonvulsant drugs and cancer. A cohort study in patients with severe epilepsy. *Lancet*, ii, 458-461
- ⁵ Clemmesen, J. & Hjalgrim-Jensen, S. (1981) Is phenobarbital carcinogenic? A follow-up of 8078 epileptics. *Ecotoxicol. environ. Saf.*, *1*, 457-470
- 6 IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 39-40, 1979
- ⁷ Gold, E., Gordis, L., Tonascia, J.A. & Szklo, M. (1979) [Answer to Annegers et al.]. J. natl Cancer Inst., 63, 3-4
- ⁸ Sanders, B.M. & Draper, G.J. (1979) Childhood cancer and drugs in pregnancy. *Br. med. J.*, *ii*, 717-718
- ⁹ Friedman, G.D. (1981) Barbiturates and lung cancer in humans. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *67*, 291-295
- ¹⁰ Uchida, E. & Hirono, I. (1979) Effect of phenobarbital on induction of liver and lung tumors by dimethylnitrosamine in newborn mice. *Gann*, 70, 639-644
- Watanabe, K. & Williams, G.M. (1978) Enhancement of rat hepatocellular altered foci by the liver tumor promoter phenobarbital: Evidence that foci are precursors of neoplasms and that the promoter acts on carcinogenic-induced lesions. J. natl Cancer Inst., 61, 1311-1314
- ¹² Peraino, C., Staffeldt, E.F., Haugen, D.A., Lombard, L.S., Stevens, F.J. & Fry, R.J.M. (1980) Effects of varying the dietary concentration of phenobarbital on its enhan-

- cement of 2-acetylaminofluorene-induced hepatic tumorigenesis. Cancer Res., 40, 3268-3273
- ¹³ Farwell, D.C., Nolan, C.E. & Herbst, E.J. (1978) Liver ornithine decarboxylase during phenobarbital promotion of nitrosamine carcinogenesis. *Cancer Lett.*, *5*, 139-144
- ¹⁴ Nishizumi, M. (1979) Effect of phenobarbital, dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane, and polychlorinated biphenyls on diethylnitrosamine-induced hepatocarcinogenesis. *Gann.* 70, 835-837
- ¹⁵ Kitagawa, T., Pitot, H.C., Miller, E.C. & Miller, J.A. (1979) Promotion by dietary phenobarbital of hepatocarcinogenesis by 2-methyl-*N*,*N*-dimethyl-4-aminoazobenzene in the rat. *Cancer Res.*, *39*, 112-115
- ¹⁶ Kitagawa, T., Hirakawa, T., Ishikawa, T., Nemoto, N. & Takayama, S. (1980) Induction of hepatocellular carcinoma in rat liver by initial treatment with benzo[a]pyrene after partial hepatectomy and promotion by phenobarbital. *Toxicol. Lett.*, 6, 167-171
- ¹⁷ Williams, G.M. (1979) Liver cell culture systems for the study of hepatocarcinogenesis. In: Margison, G.P., ed., Advances in Medical Oncology, Research and Education, Vol. 1, Oxford, Pergamon Press, pp. 273-280
- ¹⁸ Styles, J.A. (1978) Appendix III. Mammalian cell transformation *in vitro*. *Br. J. Cancer*, 37, 931-936

PHENOXYACETIC ACID HERBICIDES (OCCUPATIONAL EXPOSURE TO) (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited)

In two case-control studies of soft-tissue sarcoma^{1,2} and one of lymphoma³, exposure to phenoxyacetic acids (mainly 2,4,5-T, 2,4-D and MCPA) was associated with five- to eight-fold increases in risk of these diseases. Exposure to 2,4-D and/or MCPA, but not 2,4,5-T, also gave increased relative risks. (TCDD was said not to be a contaminant in these exposures^{2,3}.) Cases of soft-tissue sarcoma have also been reported in men involved in or associated with the manufacture of 2,4,5-T^{4,5}. In most of these studies, exposure to 2,4,5-T probably also involved exposure to TCDD. [See also the summaries of data on 2,4-D, 2,4,5-T and TCDD.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals

[See the summaries of data on 2,4-D and 2,4,5-T.]

[Phenoxyacetic acid herbicides have been shown to cause peroxisome proliferation in Chinese hamsters⁶. Certain agents known to cause this proliferation are carcinogenic, and the phenomenon has been suggested to have mechanistic significance in the induction of tumours.]

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests

[See the summaries of data on 2,4-D and 2,4,5-T.]

References

- ¹ Hardell, L. & Sandström, A. (1979) Case-control study: Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to phenoxyacetic acids or chlorophenols. *Br. J. Cancer*, *39*, 711-717
- ² Eriksson, M., Hardell, L., Berg, N.O., Möller, T. & Axelson, O. (1981) Soft tissue sarcomas and exposure to chemical substances: A case-referent study. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, 38, 27-33
- ³ Hardell, L., Eriksson, M., Lenner, P. & Lundgren, E. (1981) Malignant lymphoma and exposure to chemicals, especially organic solvents, chlorophenols and phenoxy acids: A case-control study. *Br. J. Cancer*, *43*, 169-176
- ⁴ Honchar, P.A. & Halperin, W.E. (1981) 2,4,5-T, trichlorophenol, and soft tissue sarcoma. *Lancet*, *i*, 268-269
- ⁵ Moses, M. & Selikoff, I.J. (1981) Soft tissue sarcoma, phenoxy herbicides and chlorinated phenols. *Lancet*, *i*, 1370
- ⁶ Vainio, H., Nickels, J. & Linnainmaa, K. (1982) Phenoxy acid herbicides cause peroxisome proliferation in Chinese hamsters. *Cancer Lett.* (in press)

PHENYLBUTAZONE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Cases have been reported of leukaemia occurring in patients following phenylbutazone therapy, but their significance cannot be evaluated, given the widespread use of phenylbutazone¹. No significant excess of leukaemia during 1969-1976 was observed among 3660 members of a prepaid health plan prescribed phenylbutazone during 1969-1973².

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals

No data were available.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Phenylbutazone would appear to be inactive in inducing mutations in bacteria^{1,3}, and it did not induce non-disjunction or crossing-over in *Aspergillus nidulans* in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system¹. There are conflicting data as to its ability

to induce chromosomal damage in mammalian, including human, cells cultured *in vitro*^{1,4}. There are consistent reports of an absence of any chromosome-damaging effect on the bone-marrow cells of hamsters or rats and on germ cells of male mice *in vivo*¹. It was inactive in a dominant lethal test in mice¹. There are two reports that it did not cause chromosomal damage in bone-marrow cells of treated patients and one report of the presence of chromosomal aberrations in lymphocytes from such patients¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants			<u>.</u>	
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			?	
Mammals (in vivo)			-	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)			?	

DL = dominant lethal mutations

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 13, 183-200, 1977
- ² Friedman, G.D. & Ury, H.K. (1980) Initial screening for carcinogenicity of commonly used drugs. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *65*, 723-733
- ³ Kawachi, T., Yahagi, T., Kada, T., Tazima, Y., Ishidate, M., Sasaki, M. & Sugiyama, T. (1980) Cooperative programme on short-term assays for carcinogenicity in Japan. In: Montesano, R., Bartsch, H. & Tomatis, L., eds, Molecular and Cellular Aspects of Carcinogen Screening Tests (IARC Scientific Publications, No. 27), Lyon, pp. 323-330
- ⁴ Wissmüller, H.F. (1972) Cytogenetic action of butazolidine in human lymphocyte cultures dependent on the protein concentration of the culture medium (Ger.). *Mutat. Res.*, 14, 83-94

N-PHENYL-2-NAPHTHYLAMINE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

No excess of bladder tumours was found among men in a rubber processing factory with known exposure to N-phenyl-2-naphthylamine (which contained small amounts of 2-naphthylamine); however, another study of rubber workers (who were not exposed to 2-

naphthylamine) did show an increased incidence of bladder tumours. In the latter study, the men were exposed to several compounds, which probably included *N*-phenyl-2-naphthylamine. There is limited evidence from one study of 19 human volunteers that up to 0.03% of a single 10-mg dose of *N*-phenyl-2-naphthylamine is converted to 2-naphthylamine, a known bladder carcinogen¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

N-Phenyl-2-naphthylamine was tested in mice by oral and by single subcutaneous administration and in a small number of dogs by oral administration. Oral administration in mice produced a statistically significant increase in the incidence of all tumours, and in particular of hepatomas, in males of one of the two strains tested. Subcutaneous administration of this compound produced a significant increase in the total incidence of tumours in females of one strain and of hepatomas in males of the other strain¹. Hamsters administered N-phenyl-2-naphthylamine intragastrically for life at the maximum tolerated dose did not develop tumours that could be attributed to treatment². Pregnant mice were given the compound intragastrically from the 1st to the 18th day of pregnancy, and the offspring were then treated postnatally for 7 or 13 months. The tumour incidences were 8% in controls and 5-22% in treated groups³. [The Working Group noted the short period of observation.] In a biotransformation study in dogs, 0.02% of a measured dose of N-phenyl-2-naphthylamine was converted metabolically to 2-naphthylamine¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

N-Phenyl-2-naphthylamine was not mutagenic to Salmonella typhimurium in the presence or absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system⁴. It was reported in an abstract to be mutagenic to S. typhimurium in the presence of norharman⁵. It did not induce cell transformation (in the BHK assay)⁶. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				T(-)
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 16, 325-341, 1978
- ² Green, U., Holste, J. & Spikermann, A.R. (1979) A comparative study of the chronic effects of magenta, paramagenta, and phenyl-β-naphthylamine in Syrian golden hamsters. *Cancer Res. clin. Oncol.*, *95*, 51-55
- ³ Salnikova, L.S., Vorontsov, R.S., Pavlenko, G.I. & Katosova, L.D. (1979) Problem of the mutagenic, embryotropic, and blastomogenic action of Neozone D (Russ.). *Gig. Tr. prof. Zabol.*, 9, 57
- ⁴ Anderson, D. & Styles, J.A. (1978) Appendix II. The bacterial mutation test. *Br. J. Cancer*, 37, 924-930
- ⁵ Shimizu, H., Hayashi, K. & Takemura, N. (1980) Comutagenic action of norharman to *N*-phenyl-beta-naphthylamine (Jpn.). *Jpn. J. med. Health*, *22*, 50-51
- ⁶ Styles, J.A. (1978) Mammalian cell transformation in vitro. Br. J. Cancer, 37, 931-936

PHENYTOIN (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (limited)

Cancer, mostly neuroblastoma and tumours of neural crest origin, has been reported in six children aged three years or less who had been diagnosed as having an unusual constellation of congenital abnormalities (foetal hydantoin syndrome) thought to be induced by prenatal exposure to phenytoin¹⁻⁶. Although the number of patients is small, the concordance of rare events suggests that phenytoin may be a transplacental carcinogen in humans. There is also one report of malignant mesenchymoma in a patient with phenytoin-associated malformations⁷. In a large case-control study⁸ of 11 169 pairs, consisting of childhood cancer cases (about 8% of which would have been neuroblastomas⁹) and matched controls, epilepsy was reported among the mothers of 39 cancer cases compared with 22 controls. Review of available antenatal records indicated use during pregnancy of phenytoin by 37% and of phenobarbital by 67% of the case mothers, but no information on the number of neuroblastomas among the cases was given.

There have been several case reports of lymphomas among individuals under phenytoin therapy, and several reviews of series of lymphoma patients have revealed increased mention of prior phenytoin use¹. No significant excess of lymphoma, however, was reported in two follow-up studies of epilepsy patients: the observed and expected numbers of lymphoma-leukaemia were 23 and 23.7 in the larger survey¹⁰, and 6 and 4.7 in the smaller survey¹¹. An excess of brain and other neurological tumours during 1969-1976 (8 observed, 0.5 expected) was reported among people prescribed phenytoin during 1969-1973¹². The excess is similar to that reported among epileptics [see summary of data on phenobarbital] and may reflect the underlying disease rather than use of the drug *per se*.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Phenytoin and its sodium salt are carcinogenic in mice after their oral or intraperitoneal administration, producing lymphomas and leukaemias^{1,13,14}. The effects of oral administration varied with the strain of mouse: no effect was observed in the resistant C3Hf strain; in C57BL strain, thymic lymphomas were produced in 12% of the treated mice, starting at about eight months of age, as compared with 4% in control mice starting at about 18 months of age; 25% of SJL/J mice had thymic lymphomas early in the study, but late in the study the majority of both treated and control SJL/J mice had extrathymic tumours. The experiments were complicated by the use of a liquid diet. Studies by oral administration in rats were considered to be inadequate¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Phenytoin did not cause structural chromosomal anomalies in rats treated *in vivo* and did not induce dominant lethal mutations in mice. There are conflicting reports with regard to the induction of chromosomal aberrations in human lymphocytes exposed *in vitro* to toxic levels of phenytoin¹. No chromosomal damage was found in lymphocytes or bone-marrow cells from a large series of patients receiving phenytoin^{15,16}. [Conflicting findings of small, but significant, increases in aberration frequencies in cultured blood lymphocytes from patients treated with phenytoin may reflect the actions of other drugs, or be the indirect consequence of folate deficiency, which is a known side effect and which is itself a condition that increases aberration frequencies¹.]

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Fungi/Green plants	9 Miles		1000	
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	-	
Mammals (in vivo)			~	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)			_	

DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 13, 201-225, 1977
- ² Seeler, R.A., Israel, J.N., Royal, J.E., Kaye, C.I., Rao, S. & Abulaban, M. (1979) Ganglioneuroblastoma and fetal hydantoin-alcohol syndromes. *Pediatrics*, 63, 524-527
- ³ Allen, R.W., Ogden, B., Bently, F.L. & Jung, A.L. (1980) Fetal hydantoin syndrome, neuroblastoma, and hemorrhagic disease in a neonate. *J. Am. med. Assoc.*, 244, 1464-1465

- ⁴ Ehrenbard, L.T. & Chaganti, R.S.K. (1981) Cancer in the fetal hydantoin syndrome. Lancet, ii, 97
- ⁵ Taylor, W.F., Myers, M. & Taylor, W.R. (1980) Extrarenal Wilms' tumour in an infant exposed to intrauterine phenytoin. *Lancet*, *ii*, 481-482
- ⁶ Jimenez, J.F., Brown, R.E., Seibert, R.W., Seibert, J.J. & Char, F. (1981) Melanotic neuroectodermal tumors of infancy and fetal hydantoin syndrome. *Am. J. pediatr. Haematol./Oncol.*, 3, 9-15
- ⁷ Blattner, W.A., Henson, D.E., Young, R.C. & Fraumeni, J.F., Jr (1977) Malignant mesenchymoma and birth defects. Prenatal exposure to phenytoin. *J. Am. med. Assoc.*, 238, 334-335
- ⁸ Sanders, B.M. & Draper, G.J. (1979) Childhood cancer and drugs in pregnancy. *Br. med. J.*, *i*, 717-718
- ⁹ Bithell, J.F. & Stewart, A.M. (1975) Pre-natal irradiation and childhood malignancy: A review of British data from the Oxford survey. Br. J. Cancer, 31, 271-287
- ¹⁰ Clemmesen, J. & Hjalgrim-Jensen, S. (1981) Does phenobarbital cause intracranial tumors? A follow-up through 35 years. *Ecotoxicol. environ. Saf.*, *5*, 255-260
- ¹¹ White, S.J., McLean, A.E.M. & Howland, C. (1979) Anticonvulsant drugs and cancer. A cohort study in patients with severe epilepsy. *Lancet*, *ii*, 458-461
- ¹² Friedman, G.D. & Ury, H.K. (1980) Initial screening for carcinogenicity of commonly used drugs. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *65*, 723-733
- ¹³ Krueger, G.R.F. & Bedoya, V.A. (1978) Hydantoin-induced lymphadenopathies and lymphomas: Experimental studies in mice. *Recent Res. Cancer Res.*, 64, 265-270
- ¹⁴ Bedoya, V. & Krueger, G.R.F. (1978) Ultrastructural studies on hydantoin induced lymphomas in mice. Z. Krebsforsch., 91, 195-204
- ¹⁵ Esser, K.J., Kotlarek, F., Habedank, M., Mühler, U. & Mühler, E. (1981) Chromosomal investigations in epileptic children during long-term therapy with phenytoin or primidone. *Hum. Genet.*, 56, 345-348
- ¹⁶ Knuutila, S., Siimes, M., Simell, O., Tammisto, P. & Weber, T. (1977) Long-term use of phenytoin: Effects on bone-marrow chromosomes in man. *Mutat. Res.*, *43*, 309-312

POLYCHLORINATED BIPHENYLS (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A slight increase in the incidence of cancer, particularly melanoma of the skin, was reported in a small group of men exposed to Aroclor 1254, a mixture of polychlorinated biphenyls¹. A study² of 2567 workers employed in two electrical capacitor manufacturing

plants where polychlorinated biphenyls were used (39 018 person-years) and which had been in operation since 1938 and 1946, respectively, showed no excess of all cancers (39 observed, 43.8 expected). However, there were slight, non-significant excesses of rectal cancer (4 observed, 1.19 expected) and liver cancer (3 observed, 1.07 expected). No case of melanoma was reported. A study of 1310 workers with at least six months' exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls in a capacitor manufacturing plant showed an excess of all cancers among male workers (8 observed, 3.3 expected; p < 0.04). The excess was due mainly to cancers of the digestive system and of the lymphatic and haematopoietic tissues. Among female workers, there were six cases of cancer (2.3 expected, not significant), of which two were lymphatic or haematopoietic cancers (0.45 expected) 3 .

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Certain polychlorinated biphenyls are carcinogenic to mice and rats after their oral administration, producing benign and malignant liver neoplasms¹. Oral administration of polychlorinated biphenyls increased the incidence of liver neoplasms in rats previously exposed to *N*-nitrosodiethylamine^{4,5}.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

4-Chlorobiphenyl and Aroclor 1221 were mutagenic to *Salmonella typhimurium*; other mixtures of polychlorinated biphenyls were inactive^{1,6,7}. Clophen 30 and Clophen 50 produced no genetic effect in *Drosophila melanogaster*¹. Aroclor 1254 did not produce dominant lethal mutations in rats, and Aroclor 1242 did not produce chromosomal abnormalities in rat bone marrow or spermatogonia¹. Aroclor 1254 did not elicit unscheduled DNA synthesis in cultured rat hepatocytes⁷ and did not produce chromosomal aberrations in cultured human lymphocytes¹. Kaneclor-500 did not induce micronuclei in mouse bone marrow *in vitro*⁸. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		?		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects		-		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	**		-	
Mammals (in vivo)			-	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations

¹ IARC Monographs, 18, 43-103, 1978

² Brown, D.P. & Jones, M. (1981) Mortality and industrial hygiene study of workers exposed to polychlorinated biphenyls. *Arch. environ. Health*, *36*, 120-129

- ³ Bertazzi, P.A., Zocchetti, C., Guercilena, S., Della Foglia, M., Pesatori, A. & Riboldi, L. (1982) Mortality study of male and female workers exposed to PCB's. In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Prevention of Occupational Cancer, Helsinki, 1981, Geneva, International Labour Office (in press)
- ⁴ Nishizumi, M. (1979) Effect of phenobarbital, dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane, and polychlorinated biphenyls on diethylnitrosamine-induced hepatocarcinogenesis. *Gann*, 70, 835-837
- ⁵ Preston, B.D., Van Miller, J.P., Moore, R.W. & Allen, J.R. (1981) Promoting effects of polychlorinated biphenyls (Aroclor 1254) and polychlorinated dibenzofuran-free Aroclor 1254 on diethylnitrosamine-induced tumorigenesis in the rat. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, 66, 509-515
- ⁶ Shahin, M.M., Andrillon, P., Goetz, N., Boré, P., Bugaut, A. & Kalopissis, G. (1979) Studies on the mutagenicity of *p*-phenylenediamine in *Salmonella typhimurium*. *Mutat. Res.*, *68*, 327-336
- ⁷ Probst, G.S., McMahon, R.E., Hill, L.E., Thompson, C.Z., Epp, J.K. & Neal, S.B. (1981) Chemically-induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary rat hepatocyte cultures: A comparison with bacterial mutagenicity using 218 compounds. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 11-32
- ⁸ Watanabe, M., Honda, S., Hayashi, M. & Matsuda, T. (1982) Mutagenic effects of combinations of chemical carcinogens and environmental pollutants in mice as shown by the micronucleus test. *Mutat. Res.*, *97*, 43-48

PREDNISONE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

An increased risk of cancer has been linked to combination chemotherapy, which often includes prednisone [see the summary of data on 'Certain combined chemotherapy for lymphomas (including MOPP)'], but no adequate data were available to evaluate the carcinogenicity of prednisone alone¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

Prednisone was tested in mice and rats by intraperitoneal administration. Little or no carcinogenic effect was observed, but the studies suffered from limitations in design and reporting¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Prednisone was not mutagenic in *Escherichia coli*; it caused no chromosomal damage when administered to rats. No chromosomal damage was detected in peripheral lymphocytes of patients treated with prednisone¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)			-	
Humans (in vivo)			-	

Reference

¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 293-309, 1981

PROCARBAZINE (Group 2A)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

An increased risk of cancer has been linked to combination chemotherapy, which often includes procarbazine [see the summary of data on 'Certain combined chemotherapy for lymphomas (including MOPP)'], but no adequate data were available to evaluate the carcinogenicity of procarbazine alone¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Procarbazine hydrochloride is carcinogenic to mice and rats. Repeated intraperitoneal injections produced malignant tumours of the nervous system and haematopoietic system in mice and rats of both sexes and adenocarcinomas of the mammary gland in rats only. Repeated intravenous injections induced malignant tumours in different organs of rats. Oral administration produced pulmonary tumours and leukaemias in mice and mammary tumours in rats. Leukaemias were induced in rhesus and cynomolgus monkeys after administration of procarbazine by multiple routes in the same animal¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Procarbazine was positive in the phage-induction test. It was mutagenic in bacteria^{1,2}, yeast¹, *Drosophila melanogaster*^{1,3}, mouse lymphoma cells *in vitro*¹ and mammalian cells *in vivo*¹. It was positive in the heritable translocation test in mice⁴ and in the specific-locus somatic mutation assay (spot test) in mice⁵. It produced chromosomal abnormalities in

Drosophila^{1,6} and in mammalian cells in vivo^{1,7}. It induced dominant lethal mutations in Drosophila¹ and in mice, and sperm abnormalities in mice^{1,7}. Chromosomal aberrations were observed in bone-marrow and lymph-node cells from patients treated with procarbazine¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects		+	+	DL(+)
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+		
Mammals (in vivo)		+	+	DL(+) SA(+)
Humans (in vivo)			+	

DL = dominant lethal mutations; SA = sperm abnormalities

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 311-339, 1981
- ² Lackner, F. & Schüpbach, M.E. (1981) The influence of procarbazine (MIH) on the induction of prophage lambda in *Escherichia coli* K12 and toxic effects on *Salmonella typhimurium*. *Mutat. Res.*, 90, 247-254
- ³ Blijleven, W.G.H. (1979) Metabolic activation of DEN and procarbazine in germ-free *Drosophila. Mutat. Res.*, *63*, 413-415
- ⁴ Generoso, W.M., Bishop, J.B., Gosslee, D.G., Newell, G.W., Shen, C.-J. & von Halle, E. (1980) Heritable translocation test in mice. *Mutat. Res.*, 76, 191-215
- ⁵ Russel, L.B., Selby, P.B., von Halle, E., Sheridan, W. & Valcovic, L. (1981) The mouse specific-locus test with agents other than radiations. Interpretation of data and recommendations for future work. *Mutat. Res.*, 86, 329-354
- ⁶ Zimmering, S. (1981) Review of the current status of the *mei-9*^a test for chromosome loss in *Drosophila melanogaster*: An assay with radically improved detection capacity for chromosome lesions induced by methyl methanesulfonate (MMS), dimethylnitrosamine (DMN), and especially diethylnitrosamine (DEN) and procarbazine. *Mutat. Res.*, 83, 69-80
- ⁷ Sharma, R.K., Roberts, G.T., Johnson, F.M. & Malling, H.V. (1979) Translocation and sperm abnormality assays in mouse spermatogonia treated with procarbazine. *Mutat. Res.*, *67*, 385-388

PROGESTERONE (Group 2B) (See Oestrogens and progestins)

PROPYLTHIOURACIL (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

In one survey of 331 hyperthyroid patients treated with antithyroid drugs, including propylthiouracil, and later with thyroidectomy, four thyroid cancers (an excess of unspecified proportion) were diagnosed more than one year after the beginning of drug therapy¹. There has been one case report of acute myeloblastic leukaemia following propylthiouracil treatment².

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Propylthiouracil produced thyroid tumours in mice, rats, hamsters and guinea-pigs and pituitary adenomas in mice after its oral administration³.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests

No data were available.

References

- Dobyns, B.M., Sheline, G.E., Workman, J.B., Tompkins, E.A., McConahey, W.M. & Becker, D.V. (1974) Malignant and benign neoplasms of the thyroid in patients treated for hyperthyroidism: A report of the cooperative thyrotoxicosis therapy follow-up study. *J. clin. Endocrinol. Metab.*, 38, 976-998
- ² Aksoy, M., Erdem, S., Tezel, H. & Tezel, T. (1974) Acute myeloblastic leukaemia after propylthiouracil. *Lancet*, *i*, 928-929
- 3 IARC Monographs, 7, 67-76, 1974

RESERPINE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Fourteen case-control and two cohort studies on the relationship of reserpine to breast cancer were available to the Working Group¹⁻³. Between and within studies, estimates of

relative risk for different measures of reserpine use varied from as low as 0.6 to over 3. Many of the positive findings were not coherent with one another; and the studies considered to be the most satisfactory, methodologically, showed little or no evidence of an increased risk.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Reserpine was tested in two experiments in mice by oral administration; in one experiment it induced malignant mammary tumours in females and carcinomas of the seminal vesicles in males. It was tested in three experiments in rats by oral administration; in one experiment, it increased the incidence of pheochromocytomas in males¹. When reserpine was administered either prior to and concurrent with or following treatment with 3-methylcholanthrene, it had a protective effect against the induction of mammary tumours in rats⁴.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Reserpine was negative in the *rec*-assay⁵ and was not mutagenic in *Salmonella typhimurium*^{1,5}. It did not elicit unscheduled DNA synthesis in cultured rat hepatocytes⁶ and did not produce chromosomal aberrations in human lymphocyte cultures^{1,5,6}, in Chinese hamster cells *in vitro* or in bone-marrow cells from rats treated *in vivo*^{5,6}. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	_	_		
Fungi/Green plants	THE STATE OF THE S			**
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-		-	
Mammals (in vivo)	400.000		-	
Humans (in vivo)				

¹ IARC Monographs, 24, 211-241, 1980

² Labarthe, D.R. & O'Fallon, W.M. (1980) Reserpine and breast cancer. A community-based longitudinal study of 2,000 hypersensitive women. *J. Am. med. Assoc.*, 243, 2304-2310

³ Kewitz, H., Jesdinsky, H.-J., Kreutz, G. & Schulz, R. (1980) Reserpine and breast cancer. Arch. int. Pharmacodynam. Ther., Suppl., 22-24

- ⁴ Gerard, S.S., Gardner, B., Patti, J., Husain, V., Shouten, J. & Alfonso, A.E. (1980) Effects of triiodothyronine and reserpine on induction and growth of mammary tumors in rats by 3-methylcholanthrene. *J. surg. Oncol.*, 14, 213-218
- ⁵ Kawachi, T., Yahagi, T., Kada, T., Tazima, Y., Ishidate, M., Sasaki, M. & Sugiyama, T. (1980) Cooperative programme on short-term assays for carcinogenicity in Japan. In: Montesano, R., Bartsch, H. & Tomatis, L., eds, Molecular and Cellular Aspects of Carcinogen Screening Tests (IARC Scientific Publications No. 27), Lyon, pp. 323-330
- ⁶ Probst, G.S., McMahon, R.E., Hill, L.E., Thompson, C.Z., Epp, J.K. & Neal, S.B. (1981) Chemically-induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in primary rat hepatocyte cultures: A comparison with bacterial mutagenicity using 218 compounds. *Environ. Mutagenesis*, 3, 11-21

SACCHARIN (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

There is no consistent evidence that the risk of cancer is increased among users of saccharin¹. Three case-control studies have shown no overall excess of bladder cancer in association with use of artificial sweeteners, nearly all of which contained saccharin2-4. The largest of these studies was a population-based survey in 10 areas of the US, involving interviews with 3010 bladder cancer patients and 5783 controls randomly selected from the areas in which the patients resided2. The relative risk of bladder cancer associated with any use of artificial sweeteners was 0.99 (95% confidence limits, 0.89-1.10) among men and 1.07 (0.89-1.29) among women, compared with a risk of 1.0 among non-users. However, significant trends of increasing risk with increasing average daily consumption and with duration of use were observed in certain subgroups, namely female non-smokers (with a low baseline risk of bladder cancer) and male heavy smokers (with a high baseline risk). Since these subgroups were considered a priori to be worthy of special attention on the basis of hypotheses derived from animal experimentation, the findings raise the possibility that saccharin may act as a weak carcinogen and/or promoter. In one of the other two studies, a population-based survey of 592 patients with lower-urinary-tract cancer3, the relative risk among women associated with any use of diet drinks or sugar substitutes was 1.6 and exceeded by two-fold that for non-smokers. The risk for any use among men was 0.8.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Saccharin or sodium saccharin has been tested, either alone or in combination with other chemicals, by several routes of administration. (a) It was tested by oral administration of several dose levels to different strains of mice and rats, including several multigeneration studies¹. In one study in mice and in one in rats the tumour incidence was similar in treated and control animals. In one single-generation study and two two-generation studies in rats, a significant increase in the incidence of bladder tumours was

observed in males treated with high doses^{1,5}. Several experiments in mice, rats, hamsters and monkeys were considered inadequate for evaluation. A 10:1 mixture of sodium cyclamate:sodium saccharin was given in one multigeneration experiment in mice and in two experiments in rats¹. Transitional-cell carcinomas of the bladder were induced only in male rats of one strain given the highest dose. Pretreatment with a single instillation into the bladder of a low dose of *N*-nitroso-*N*-methylurea or feeding of *N*-[4-(5-nitro-2-furyl)-2-thiazolyl]formamide and subsequent oral administration of saccharin increased the incidence of bladder neoplasms in female and male rats, respectively¹. Commercial saccharin preparations enhanced lung tumour induction in mice when given before or during urethane administration⁵. (b) Saccharin and sodium saccharin were also tested by insertion into the urinary bladder of mice, inducing bladder neoplasms¹. (c) Experiments in which it was given by skin application or intraperitoneal administration could not be evaluated¹.

ortho-Toluenesulphonamide increased the incidence of bladder neoplasms in one out of three experiments in rats following its oral administration¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Saccharin was not mutagenic^{1,6-8} and did not induce DNA repair in bacteria⁹. It produced genetic effects in yeast¹⁰; it was not mutagenic to *Drosophila melanogaster*⁶; it was reported to be mutagenic in mouse lymphoma cells in the presence of a liver homogenate¹. Conflicting results were obtained with regard to chromosomal anomalies in cells *in vitro*^{1,11}: saccharin caused chromosomal aberrations in cultured Chinese hamster cells¹ and a low level of sister chromatid exchanges in cultured lymphocytes and hamster cells^{1,12}. No anomaly was seen in cells from animals treated *in vivo*^{1,6}. It showed no covalent binding to DNA of rat bladder or liver¹. It did not produce transformation in mouse embryo fibroblasts (C3H/10T½)¹¹, but at high concentrations it enhanced the transformation of these cells by 3-methylcholanthrene¹. No sperm abnormality was seen in mice¹³. There were conflicting data concerning the production of dominant lethal mutations in mice¹, and conflicting results in the specific-locus somatic mutation test (spot-test) conducted in mice *in vivo*: in one study¹⁴, positive but non-dose related effects were obtained; while negative results were obtained in single-dose experiments reported in another study¹⁵. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	=	_		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects		_		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		?	?	T(-)
Mammals (in vivo)		?	-	DL(?) SA(-)
Humans (in vivo)			9444	

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 22, 111-186, 1980
- ² Hoover, R.N. & Strasser, P.H. (1980) Artificial sweeteners and human bladder cancer. Preliminary results. *Lancet*, *i*, 837-840
- ³ Morrison, A.S. & Buring, J.E. (1980) Artificial sweeteners and cancer of the lower urinary tract. *New Engl. J. Med.*, *302*, 537-541
- ⁴ Wynder, E.L. & Stellman, S.D. (1980) Artificial sweetener use and bladder cancer: A case-control study. *Science*, 207, 1214-1216
- ⁵ Theiss, J.C., Arnold, L.J. & Shimkin, M.B. (1980) Effect of commercial saccharin preparations on urethan-induced lung tumorigenesis in strain A mice. *Cancer Res.*, 40, 4322-4324
- ⁶ Eckhardt, K., King, M.-T., Gocke, E. & Wild, D. (1980) Mutagenicity study of Remsen-Fahlberg saccharin and contaminants. *Toxicol. Lett.*, 7, 51-60
- ⁷ Kawachi, T., Yahagi, T., Kada, T., Tazima, Y., Ishidate, M., Sasaki, M. & Sugiyama, T. (1980) Cooperative programme on short-term assays for carcinogenicity in Japan. In: Montesano, R., Bartsch, H. & Tomatis, L., eds, Molecular and Cellular Aspects of Carcinogen Screening Tests (IARC Scientific Publications No. 27), Lyon, pp. 323-330
- ⁸ De Flora, S. (1981) Study of 106 organic and inorganic compounds in the *Salmo-nella*/microsome test. *Carcinogenesis*, *2*, 283-298
- ⁹ Rosenkranz, H.S. & Leifer, Z. (1980) Determining the DNA-modifying activity of chemicals using DNA-polymerase-deficient Escherichia coli. In: de Serres, F.J. & Hollaender, A., eds, Chemical Mutagens. Principles and Methods for their Detection, Vol. 6, New York, Plenum Press, pp. 109-147
- ¹⁰ Moore, C.W. & Schmick, A. (1979) Recombinogenicity and mutagenicity of saccharin in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mutat. Res., 67, 215-219
- ¹¹ Saxholm, H.J.K., Iversen, O.H., Reith, A. & Brøgger, A. (1978) Carcinogenesis testing of saccharin. No transformation or increased sister chromatid exchange observed in two mammalian cell systems. *Eur. J. Cancer*, 15, 509-513
- ¹² Renner, H.W. (1979) Possible mutagenic activity of saccharin. *Experientia*, *35*, 1364-1365
- ¹³ Topham, J.C. (1980) Do induced sperm-head abnormalities in mice specifically identify mammalian mutagens rather than carcinogens? *Mutat. Res.*, *74*, 379-387
- ¹⁴ Mahon, G.A.T. & Dawson, G.W.P. (1982) Saccharin and the induction of presumed somatic mutations in the mouse. *Mutat. Res.*, 103, 49-52
- ¹⁵ Fahrig, R. (1982) Effects in the mammalian spot test: Cyclamate versus saccharin. Mutat. Res., 103, 43-47

SOOTS, TARS AND OILS (Group 1)* and BENZO[a]PYRENE (Group 2A)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient for soots, tars and oils; inadequate for benzo[a]pyrene)

Occupational exposure to coal-soot, coal-tar and pitch, coal-tar fumes and some impure mineral oils causes cancer at several sites including skin, lung, bladder and gut. Recent epidemiological studies support these conclusions¹.

Mineral oils vary in their carcinogenicity and in their composition². Most of the studies linking cancer, including skin cancer and especially of the scrotum, with exposure to mineral oils were undertaken at a time before solvent-refined oils were in common use. Three more recent studies have shown no increased cancer risk among people exposed to mineral oil mists³⁻⁵.

The carcinogenic effects of soots, tars and oils may be due to the presence of polycyclic aromatic hydrocrbons, of which benzo[a]pyrene has been the most widely studied. Assessment of the risk due to exposure to benzo[a]pyrene, however, is difficult, since human populations are also exposed simultaneously to mixtures of other compounds of known or possible carcinogenicity, including (but not limited to) other polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Therefore, although there are several studies in which benzo[a]pyrene was measured as an indication of exposure to the mixture of compounds in soots, tars and oils, the epidemiological data were considered inadequate to evaluate the carcinogenicity of benzo[a]pyrene itself.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient for soots, tars and oils and for benzo[a]pyrene)

Soots, coal-tars, creosote oils, shale oils and cutting oils are carcinogenic to experimental animals after administration by skin painting or subcutaneous injection¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient for benzo[a]pyrene)

The complexity of the mixtures constituting soots, tars and oils precluded any useful evaluation of their activity in short-term tests.

Benzo[a]pyrene, an indirect carcinogen which undergoes metabolism to a reactive electrophile capable of binding covalently to DNA⁶, has been used extensively as a model carcinogen and as a positive control in a variety of short-term tests^{7,8}. It was active in assays for bacterial DNA repair, bacteriophage induction and bacterial mutation^{7,8}; mutation in *Drosophila melanogaster*⁸; DNA binding, DNA repair, sister chromatid exchange, chromosomal aberration, point mutation and transformation in mammalian

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the earlier Working Group, and data on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

cells in culture^{7,8}; and in tests in mammals *in vivo*, including DNA binding, sister chromatid exchange, chromosomal aberration, sperm abnormality and the somatic specific locus (spot) test^{7,8}.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)	+	+	+	SA(+)
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation; SA = sperm abnormalities

- ¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 43, 1979
- ² IARC Monographs, 3, 22-42, 1973
- ³ Pasternack, B. & Ehrlich, L. (1972) Occupational exposure to an oil mist atmosphere. *Arch. environ. Health*, *25*, 286
- ⁴ Decoufle, P. (1976) Cancer mortality among workers exposed to cutting-oil mist. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.*, *271*, 94-101
- ⁵ Jarvolm, B., Lillienberg, L., Sallsten, G., Thringer, G. & Azelson, O. (1981) Cancer morbidity among men exposed to oil mist in the metal industry. *J. occup. Med.*, 23, 333
- ⁶ Lutz, W.K. (1979) *In vivo* covalent binding of organic chemicals to DNA as a quantitative indication in the process of chemical carcinogenesis. *Mutat. Res.*, *65*, 289-356
- ⁷ de Serres, F. & Ashby, J., eds (1981) Evaluation of Short-Term Tests for Carcinogens. Report of the International Collaborative Program, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 180, 190
- ⁸ Hollstein, M. & McCann, J. (1979) Short-term tests for carcinogens and mutagens. *Mutat. Res.*, *65*, 133-226

SPIRONOLACTONE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Five cases of breast cancer were reported in women who had used a drug containing spironolactone. Four analytical studies, however, showed no consistent evidence of an association¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Spironolactone was tested by oral administration in two experiments in rats. An increased incidence of thyroid and testicular tumours was reported in one experiment but not in another experiment of longer duration with lower doses¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests

No data were available.

Reference

¹ IARC Monographs, 24, 259-274, 1980

STYRENE (Group 3) and

STYRENE OXIDE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate for styrene and for styrene oxide)

Some studies have suggested an association between leukaemia and, possibly, lymphomas and exposure to styrene. In a mortality analysis of 2904 workers exposed to low or moderate levels of styrene (not exceeding 100 ppm), 6 cases of leukaemia (3.4 expected; standardized mortality ratio, 176) and 7 cases of lymphoma (5.3 expected; SMR, 132) were observed. When the incidence was analysed, 7 cases of lymphatic leukaemia (1.64 expected), 4 cases of 'all other leukaemia' (2.89 expected) and 4 cases of multiple myeloma (1.55 expected) were found. However, 6 of the leukaemia cases occurred in a group with concomitant exposure to colourants; moreover, a subset of the cohort had also been exposed to benzene in the past¹. There is an anecdotal report of three deaths from leukaemia and two from lymphoma among a group of workers exposed to styrene, benzene and butadiene, but the study population was ill defined². Two other studies that attempted to investigate this problem³.⁴ are uninformative because of diluting errors in design and analysis.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited for styrene and for styrene oxide)

Styrene has been tested by oral administration to mothers and offspring of two strains of mice and one strain of rats. In mice, it increased the incidence of lung tumours in offspring of one strain after administration of high doses, and slightly increased the incidence of liver-cell tumours in male offspring of the other strain after use of a low dose. In rats, no statistically significant increase in tumour incidence was observed². In experiments by oral administration to young adult mice and another strain of rats, a positive, dose-related association between exposure to styrene and frequency of lung tumours was observed only in male mice⁵. A solution of 30% β -nitrostyrene and 70% styrene was tested by oral administration in one strain of rats and one strain of mice at several dose levels. It increased the incidence of lung tumours in the group of male mice given the low dose⁶.

Styrene oxide induced neoplasms of the forestomach following its oral administration at two dose levels in one strain of rats⁷. In skin painting experiments, no increase in the incidence of skin tumours was observed in two strains of mice⁸.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient for styrene and for styrene oxide

Conflicting results have been obtained with styrene in bacterial mutation assays2,9-11; positive results were obtained in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system and in experiments in which the chemical was applied as a vapour. Styrene did not induce DNA repair in human EUE cells in vitro and did not induce mutation or gene conversion in fungi9, even when they were supplied with an exogenous metabolizing system, unless the dose of styrene was very high. Very high doses of styrene also gave positive results in host-mediated assays using mice2. It induced chromosomal aberrations in a vascular plant12. In cultured mammalian cells supplied with a metabolizing system, styrene did not induce DNA repair9 or mutation2, but did produce chromosomal aberrations^{12,13} and sister chromatid exchanges¹⁴, the latter only in the presence of an epoxide hydrase inhibitor. Styrene induced mutation in Drosophila melanogaster15, the mutation yield being increased by pretreating the flies with phenobarbital. Inhalation of styrene by mice resulted in the formation of sister chromatid exchanges in alveolar macrophages and bone-marrow and in regenerating liver cells16; however, no chromosomal aberration was induced in the bone marrow of mice exposed to single doses given by gavage or in Chinese hamsters exposed by inhalation¹⁷.

Several studies have shown an increase in chromosomal aberrations in cultured peripheral lymphocytes of workers exposed to high levels of styrene^{2,18-23}. In one study, a slight increase in sister chromatid exchanges was also noted¹⁸. No increase in chromosomal aberrations was seen in workers exposed to low levels of styrene²⁰.

Styrene oxide was mutagenic in bacteria^{8,24,25} and fungi⁸ in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system; it induced chromosomal aberrations in a vascular plant¹² and mutation in *Drosophila melanogaster*¹⁵. In a host-mediated assay in mice, it induced gene conversion but not point mutation in a yeast⁸. In cultured mammalian cells, styrene oxide induced mutation^{8,9,26}, sister chromatid exchanges¹⁴, chromosomal aberrations^{12,27} and DNA repair⁹. In one study, styrene oxide given to mice at a dose approaching the maximum tolerated failed to induce dominant lethal mutation, bonemarrow chromosomal aberrations or micronuclei, or translocations in premeiotic germ cells²⁷. In another study, it induced chromosomal aberrations in the bone marrow of mice⁹, but not in hamsters²⁸. No data on humans were available.

Styrene

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+		
Fungi/Green plants		?	+	
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	-	-	+	
Mammals (in vivo)			?	
Humans (in vivo)			+	

Styrene oxide

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+		
Fungi/Green plants		+	+	
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+	+	
Mammals (in vivo)			?	DL(?)
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ Ott, M.G., Kolesar, R.C., Scharnweber, H.C., Schneider, E.J. & Venable, J.R. (1980) A mortality survey of employees engaged in the development or manufacture of styrene-based products. *J. occup. Med.*, *22*, 445-460
- ² IARC Monographs, 19, 231-274, 1979
- ³ Nicholson, W.J., Selikoff, I.J. & Seidman, H. (1978) Mortality experience of styrene-polystyrene polymerization workers. Initial findings. *Scand. J. Work environ. Health*, 4, Suppl. 2, 247-252
- Frentzel-Beyme, R., Thiess, A.M. & Wieland, R. (1978) Survey of mortality among employees engaged in the manufacture of styrene and polystyrene at the BASF Ludwigshafen works. *Scand. J. Work environ. Health*, *4*, Suppl. 2, 231-239

- ⁵ National Cancer Institute (1979) *Bioassay of Styrene for Possible Carcinogenicity* (*Tech. Rep. Ser. No. 185, DHEW Publ. No. (NIH) 79-1741*), Washington DC, US Government Printing Office, p. 46
- ⁶ National Cancer Institute (1979) Bioassay of a Solution of β-Nitrostyrene and Styrene for Possible Carcinogenicity (Tech. Rep. Ser. No. 170, DHEW Publ. No. (NIH) 79-1726), Washington DC, US Government Printing Office, p. 44
- ⁷ Maltoni, C., Failla, G. & Kassapidis, G. (1979) First experimental demonstration of the carcinogenic effects of styrene oxide. Long-term bioassays on Sprague-Dawley rats by oral administration. *Med. Lav.*, *5*, 358-362
- 8 IARC Monographs, 19, 275-283, 1979
- ⁹ Loprieno, N., Presciuttini, S., Sbrana, I., Stretti, G., Zaccaro, L., Abbondandalo, A., Bonatti, S., Fiori, R. & Mazzaccaro, A. (1978) Mutagenicity of industrial compounds VII: II, Styrene and styrene oxide. Point mutations, chromosome aberrations and DNA-repair induction analysis. *Scand. J. Work environ. Health*, 4, Suppl. 2, 169-178
- ¹⁰ De Flora, S. (1981) Study of 106 organic and inorganic compounds in the Salmonella/microsome test. Carcinogenesis, 2, 283-298
- ¹¹ de Meester, C., Duverger-van Bogaert, M., Lambotte-Vandepaer, M., Mercier, M. & Poncelet, F. (1981) Mutagenicity of styrene in the Salmonella typhimurium test system. Mutat. Res., 90, 443-450
- ¹² Linnainmaa, K., Meretoja, T., Sorsa, M. & Vainio, H. (1978) Cytogenetic effects of styrene and styrene oxide. *Mutat. Res.*, 58, 277-286
- ¹³ Matsuoka, A., Hayashi, M. & Ishidate, M., Jr (1979) Chromosome aberration tests on 29 chemicals combined with S9 mix *in vitro*. *Mutat. Res.*, *66*, 277-290
- ¹⁴ de Raat, W.K. (1978) Induction of sister-chromatid exchanges by styrene and its presumed metabolite styrene oxide in the presence of rat-liver homogenate. *Chem.-biol. Interactions*, 20, 163-170
- ¹⁵ Donner, M., Sorsa, M. & Vainio, H. (1979) Recessive lethals induced by styrene and styrene oxide in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Mutat. Res.*, *67*, 373-376
- ¹⁶ Conner, M.K., Alarie, Y. & Dombroske, R.L. (1980) Sister-chromatid exchanges in murine alveolar macrophages, bone-marrow and regenerating liver cells induced by styrene inhalation. *Toxicol. appl. Pharmacol.*, 55, 37-42
- ¹⁷ Norppa, H., Sorsa, M. & Vainio, H. (1980) Chromosomal aberrations in bone marrow of Chinese hamsters exposed to styrene and ethanol. *Toxicol. Lett.*, *5*, 241-244
- ¹⁸ Andersson, H.C., Tranberg, E.A., Uggla, A.H. & Zetterberg, G. (1980) Chromosomal aberrations and sister-chromatid exchanges in lymphocytes of men occupationally exposed to styrene in a plastic-boat factory. *Mutat. Res.*, 73, 387-401
- ¹⁹ Fleig, I. & Theiss, A.M. (1978) Mutagenicity study of workers employed in the styrene and polystyrene processing and manufacturing industry. Scand. J. Work environ. Health, 4, Suppl. 2, 254-258

- ²⁰ Theiss, A.M. & Fleig, I. (1978) Chromosome investigations on workers exposed to styrene/polystyrene. *J. occup. Med.*, *20*, 747-749
- ²¹ Theiss, A.M., Schwegler, H. & Fleig, I. (1980) Chromosome investigations in lymphocytes of workers employed in areas in which styrene-containing unsaturated polyester resins are manufactured. *Am. J. ind. Med.*, 1, 205-210
- ²² Meretoja, T., Vainio, H. & Sorsa, M. (1978) Clastogenic activity of styrene in occupational exposure (Abstract no. 39). *Mutat. Res.*, *53*, 229
- ²³ Norppa, H., Vainio, H. & Sorsa, M. (1981) Chromosome aberrations in lymphocytes of workers exposed to styrene. *Am. J. ind. Med.*, *2*, 299-304
- ²⁴ Sugiura, K., Kimura, T. & Goto, M. (1978) Mutagenicities of styrene oxide derivatives on Salmonella typhimurium (TA100). Relationship between mutagenic potencies and chemical reactivity. Mutat. Res., 58, 159-165
- ²⁵ Sugiura, K. & Goto, M. (1981) Mutagenicities of styrene oxide derivatives on bacterial test systems: Relationship between mutagenic potencies and chemical reactivity. *Chem.-biol. Interactions*, *35*, 71-91
- ²⁶ Bonnatti, S., Abbondandalo, A., Corti, G., Fiori, R. & Mazzaccaro, A. (1978) The expression curve of mutants induced by styrene oxide at the HGPRT locus in V79 cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *52*, 295-300
- ²⁷ Fabry, L., Léonard, A. & Roberfroid, M. (1978) Mutagenicity tests with styrene oxide in mammals. *Mutat. Res.*, *51*, 377-381
- Norppa, H., Elovaara, E., Husgafvel-Pursianinen, K., Sorsa, M. & Vainio, H. (1979) Effecs of styrene oxide on chromosome aberrations, sister chromatid exchange and hepatic drug biotransformation in Chinese hamsters in vivo. Chem.-biol. Interactions, 26, 305-315

SULFAFURAZOLE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

No significant association with cancer at any site was observed during 1969-1976 among 11 659 members of a prepaid health plan prescribed sulfafurazole during 1969-1973, but no other epidemiological data to evaluate its carcinogenic potential to humans were available¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

Sulfafurazole was tested in rats by oral administration; no increase in tumour incidence was observed¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

No adequate data were available.

Reference

¹ IARC Monographs, 24, 275-284, 1980

SULFAMETHOXAZOLE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Increased incidences of nasopharyngeal carcinoma (3 observed, 0.1 expected) and cervical cancer (7 observed, 2.2 expected) were observed during 1969-1976 among 1709 members of a prepaid health plan who had been prescribed sulfamethoxazole during 1969-1973, but the study was conducted to generate hypotheses rather than to make inferences about the relationship of the use of a wide variety of drugs and the development of cancer¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Sulfamethoxazole produced thyroid tumours in rats following its oral administration; no information on other tumour types was reported¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Sulfamethoxazole, tested in combination with trimethoprim, did not induce chromosomal aberrations in cultured human cells. Lymphocytes from children and adults treated with sulfamethoxazole in combination with trimethoprim showed no increase in chromosomal aberrations¹.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes				
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			_	
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)			_	

Reference

¹ IARC Monographs, 24, 285-295, 1980

2,4,5-T AND ESTERS (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

2,4,5-T and its esters were mentioned specifically (in association with 2,4-D) in case reports of soft-tissue sarcomas and lymphomas related to exposure to phenoxyacetic acids1,2 and in subsequent case-control studies3-5 that showed increased risks of these tumours with exposure to 2,4,5-T and 2,4-D, both with and without concomitant exposure to chlorophenols. The relative risks associated with exposure to phenoxyacetic acid herbicides (mainly 2,4,5-T and 2,4-D) were 5.3 (95% confidence limits, 2.4-11.5) and 6.8 (2.6-17.3) for soft-tissue sarcomas and 4.8 (2.9-8.1) for lymphomas. The 2,4,5-T was almost certainly contaminated with tetrachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (TCDD). The effects of exposure to 2,4,5-T (in association with 2,4,5-trichlorophenol, TCDD and usually other chemicals) were also assessed in several cohort studies of chemical manufacturers and other exposed workers⁶⁻⁹. In the last three studies, a total of 18 cancers were observed and 18.5 expected in workers exposed to 2,4,5-T, with or without other chemicals. One was a lymphoma (Hodgkin's disease), and none was a soft-tissue sarcoma. Exposure to 2,4,5-T in association with 2,4,5-trichlorophenol and TCDD has been related to the occurrence of a neurogenic sarcoma and a liposarcoma in two further case reports. [See also the summaries of data on 'Phenoxyacetic acid herbicides (occupational exposure to) and on 'Tetrachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (TCDD)'.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

2,4,5-T was tested in mice in three studies by oral and subcutaneous administration. All of these studies had limitations due to the small numbers of animals used. Therefore, although an increased incidence of tumours at various sites was observed in one study in which 2,4,5-T (containing less than 0.05 ppm chlorinated dibenzodioxins) was given orally, no evaluation of the carcinogenicity of this compound could be made on the basis of the available data¹². In groups of male and female rats fed diets containing 3, 10 or 30 mg/kg bw per day for up to two years, the incidences of all tumour types were comparable in the treated and control groups, with the exception that interfollicular C-cell adenomas of the thyroid were increased significantly in female rats receiving the lowest dose. The increase was not dose-related, however, and was not considered to be related to treatment¹³. Mice of C3Hf and XVII/G strains were given 2,4,5-T containing less than 0.05 ppm dioxins by two different routes. After four subcutaneous injections of 10 mg/kg bw during the neonatal period, there was no significant difference in the frequency of tumours in treated and control mice, although a few tumours appeared earlier in those of the XVII/G strain. A significant increase in the incidence of neoplastic lesions was found in C3Hf mice that received 2,4,5-T by continuous oral administration (80 mg/kg in the diet), but no further information was provided. No significant difference was found for the XVII/G strain; but rare forms [unspecified] of tumour that were not observed in the controls were present in treated C3Hf mice14. [The Working Group noted the lack of detail in this report.]

[Phenoxyacetic acid herbicides have been shown to cause peroxisome proliferation in Chinese hamsters¹⁵. Certain agents known to cause this proliferation are carcinogenic, and the phenomenon has been suggested to have mechanistic significance in the induction of tumours.]

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

2,4,5-T was not mutagenic to a range of bacterial species and strains after treatment in vitro or in host-mediated assay systems^{12,16}. Results obtained using Saccharomyces cerevisiae are conflicting, but in experiments conducted at low pH 2,4,5-T was a mild mutagen^{12,17,18}. The substance was also a mild mutagen for sex-linked recessive lethals in Drosophila melanogaster exposed to high dose levels, but was negative for non-disjunction and sex chromosome loss or exchange^{12,19,22}. There are few data on the effects of 2,4,5-T on chromosomes of mammalian cells exposed in vitro, and studies of bone-marrow cells in vivo are inadequate and conflicting^{12,23,24}. One study on the induction of dominant lethal mutations in the mouse was negative¹². Small increases in chromosomal aberration frequencies have been noted in individuals occupationally exposed to mixtures of compounds including 2,4,5-T, but these increases could not be attributed specifically to exposure to 2,4,5-T^{25,26}. One large study of workers exposed to 2,4,5-T during its manufacture and studies on soldiers and civilians exposed to 'Agent Orange' reveal no evidence for a chromosome damaging effect of 2,4,5-T in humans^{27,28}.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants		?		
Insects		+	•	
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			?	
Mammals (in vivo)			?	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)			-	

DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ Hardell, L. (1977) Malignant mesenchymal tumours and exposure to phenoxy acids a clinical observation (Swed.). *Läkartidningen*, 74, 2753-2754
- ² Hardell, L. (1979) Malignant lymphoma of histiocytic type and exposure to phenoxyace-tic acids or chlorophenols. *Lancet*, *i*, 55-56
- ³ Hardell, L. & Sandström, A. (1979) Case-control study: Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to phenoxyacetic acids or chlorophenols. *Br. J. Cancer*, 39, 711-717

- ⁴ Eriksson, M., Hardell, L., Berg, N.O., Möller, T. & Axelson, O. (1981) Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to chemical substances: A case-referent study. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, 48, 27-33
- ⁵ Hardell, L., Eriksson, M., Lenner, P. & Lundgren, E. (1981) Malignant lymphoma and exposure to chemicals, especially organic solvents, chlorophenols and phenoxy acids: A case-control study. *Br. J. Cancer*, *43*, 169-176
- ⁶ Pazderova-Vejlupkova, J., Lukas, E., Nemcova, M., Pickova, J. & Jirasek, L. (1980) Chronic poisoning by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (Czech.) *Pracov Lek.*, *32*, 204-209
- ⁷ Axelson, O., Sundell, L., Andersson, K., Edling, C., Hogstedt, C. & Kling, H. (1980) Herbicide exposure and tumor mortality. An updated epidemiologic investigation on Swedish railroad workers. *Scand. J. Work environ. Health*, 6, 73-79
- ⁸ Ott, M.G., Holder, B.B. & Olson, R.D. (1980) A mortality analysis of employees engaged in the manufacture of 2,4,5-trichlorophpenoxyacetic acid. *J. occup. Med.*, *22*, 47-50
- ⁹ Hogstedt, C. & Westerlund, B. (1980) Cohort study on causes of death of forestry workers with and without exposure to phenoxyacid preparations (Swed.). Läkartidningen, 77, 1828-1831
- ¹⁰ Moses, M. & Selikoff, I.J. (1981) Soft tissue sarcomas, phenoxy herbicides and chlorinated phenols. *Lancet*, *i*, 1370
- ¹¹ Cook, R.R. (1981) Dioxin, chloracne and soft tissue sarcoma. Lancet, i, 618-619
- ¹² IARC Monographs, 15, 273-299, 1977
- ¹³ Kociba, R.J., Keyes, D.G., Lisowe, R.W., Kalnins, R.P., Dittenber, D.D., Wade, C.E., Gorzinski, S.J., Mahle, N.H. & Schwetz, B.A. (1979) Results of a two-year chronic toxicity and oncogenic study of rats ingesting diets containing 2,4,5-trichloropheno-xyacetic acid (2,4,5-T). Food Cosmet. Toxicol., 17, 205-221
- ¹⁴ Muranyi-Kovacs, I., Rudali, G. & Imbert, J. (1977) Study on the carcinogenicity of 2,4,5-T in mice (Abstract no. 4.2). In: Dové, J.F., ed., Proceedings of the Fourth Meeting of the European Association for Cancer Research, Lyon, 1977, Lyon, Faculté de Médecine Alexis Carrel, p. 64
- ¹⁵ Vainio, H., Nickels, J. & Linnainmaa, K. (1982) Phenoxy acid herbicides cause peroxisome proliferation in Chinese hamsters. *Cancer Lett.* (in press)
- ¹⁶ Grant, W.F. (1979) The genotoxic effects of 2,4,5-T. Mutat. Res., 65, 83-119
- ¹⁷ Zetterberg, G. (1978) Mutagenicity of chlorinated phenoxyacetic acids in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (Abstract no. 224). *Mutat. Res.*, *53*, 285-286
- ¹⁸ Zetterberg, G. (1979) Mechanism of the lethal and mutagenic effects of phenoxyacetic acids in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mutat. Res.*, *60*, 291-300
- ¹⁹ Magnusson, J., Ramel, C. & Eriksson, A. (1977) Mutagenic effects of chlorinated phenoxyacetic acids in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Hereditas*, *87*, 121-123

- ²⁰ Dävring, L. & Sunner, M. (1971) Cytogenetic effects of 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid on oogenesis and early embryogenesis in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Hereditas*, 68, 115-122
- ²¹ Dävring, L. (1975) Effects of a 2,4,5-T ester on early oogenesis, fertility and development in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Hereditas*, *80*, 255-262
- ²² Rasmuson, B. & Persson-Svahlin, H. (1978) Mutagenicity of 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid and 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid in genetically stable and unstable strains of Drosophila melanogaster. In: Ramel, C., ed., Chlorinated Phenoxy Acids and their Dioxins. Mode of Action, Health Risks and Environmental Effects (Ecological Bulletins No. 27), Stockholm, pp. 190-192
- ²³ Ramel, C. (1978) Genetic effects of phenoxyacetic acids in animals. In: Ramel, C., ed., Chlorinated Phenoxy Acids and their Dioxins. Mode of Action, Health Risks and Environmental Effects, (Ecological Bulletins No. 27), Stockholm, pp. 182-185
- ²⁴ Dävring, L. & Hultgren, K. (1977) Cytogenetic effects on in vivo bone-marrow cells of Mus musculus induced by a commercial 2,4,5-T ester product. Hereditas, 85, 123-134
- ²⁵ Yoder, J., Watson, M. & Benson, W.W. (1973) Lymphocyte chromosome analysis of agricultural workers during extensive occupational exposure to pesticides. *Mutat. Res.*, 21, 335-340
- ²⁶ Czeizel, E. & Király, J. (1976) Chromosome examinations in workers producing klorinol and buvinol (Hung.). In: Bánki, L., ed., The Development of a Pesticide as a Complex Scientific Task, Budapest, Medicina, pp. 239-256
- ²⁷ National Academy of Sciences (1974) *The Effect of Herbicides in South Vietnam*, Part A, *Summary and Conclusions*, Washington DC
- ²⁸ Mulcahy, M.T. (1980) Chromosome aberrations and 'Agent Orange'. *Med. J. Aust.*, *iv*, 74

TETRACHLORODIBENZO-para-DIOXIN (TCDD) (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

There is no report of human exposure only to TCDD. Three case-control studies¹⁻³ have shown relative risks of 5.7 (95% confidence limits, 2.9-11.3) and 5.1 (2.5-10.4) for soft-tissue sarcoma and 6.0 (3.7-9.7) for lymphoma in association with exposure to phenoxyacetic acids or chlorophenols, in which TCDD was a likely contaminant. In six⁷⁻¹³ of seven⁴⁻¹³ cohort studies, 37 deaths from cancer were observed with 33.3 expected in some 869 men exposed to TCDD during the manufacture or use of 2,4,5-trichlorophenol and/or 2,4,5-T. There was an appreciable deficit of deaths from all causes (135 observed, 157.3 expected). Two of the deaths were from lymphoma (both Hodgkin's disease) and two from

TCDD 239

soft-tissue sarcomas. Three additional cases of soft-tissue sarcoma^{14,15} (and possibly two more¹⁶) have been reported in men associated with the manufacture of 2,4,5-trichlorophenol or 2,4,5-T, and therefore possibly exposed to TCDD. Two of the three case-control studies referred to above^{2,3} gave evidence of an increased risk of soft-tissue sarcoma or lymphoma in association with exposure to phenoxyacetic acids not usually contaminated with TCDD.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

TCDD and other chlorinated dibenzodioxins were tested in mice and rats by oral administration and in mice by skin application, but no evaluation of their carcinogenicity could be made on the basis of the available data¹⁷. Rats were maintained for two years on diets calculated to provide 0.1, 0.01 or 0.001 μ g/kg bw per day of TCDD. The level of 0.1 μ g caused an increased incidence of hepatocellular carcinomas and squamous-cell carcinomas of the lung, hard palate/nasal turbinates or tongue. With 0.01 μ g, signs of toxicity, including hepatocellular nodules, were found^{18,19}. When rats were fed diets containing 0.001 μ g/kg to 1 mg/kg TCDD for 78 weeks, doses equal to and greater than 50 μ g/kg produced acute toxicity in all animals. Increased incidences of tumours in a variety of organs were observed at all dietary levels greater than 0.005 μ g/kg; the control rats and those receiving the lowest dose were reported to have no neoplasm at the time of death²⁰.

Mice were given TCDD intragastrically alone and in various combinations with 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyethanol (TCPE). A level of 0.7 μ g/kg bw significantly enhanced liver tumour incidence, while 0.007 μ g/kg bw did not. Spontaneous and induced liver tumours were not histologically different, and the ratios of benign to malignant liver tumours were the same in the control and treated groups²¹. A maximum tolerated dietary level of 70 mg/kg bw TCPE containing 7 ng/kg bw TCDD doubled the incidence of liver tumours in treated mice over that in controls²².

TCDD was a weak tumour initiator in a conventional two-stage assay for skin carcinogenesis in mice: animals were treated topically with a single dose of TCDD (2 μ g/mouse) followed by twice-weekly topical applications of the skin tumour promoter 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate²³. TCDD was also cocarcinogenic with 3-methylcholanthrene as an initiator of subcutaneous tumours²⁴. However, it inhibited skin carcinogenesis by polycyclic hydrocarbons, including 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene, benzo[a]pyrene, 3-methylcholanthrene and a diol epoxide of tetrahydrobenzo[a]pyrene in a time-dependent manner²⁵.

TCDD also has varying activities as a tumour promoter. In a conventional two-stage mouse skin tumorigenesis assay, there was no detectable promoting activity by twice-weekly topical applications of TCDD (0.1 μ g) to female mice initiated by 7,12-dimethyl-benz[a]anthracene²⁶. In a rat liver tumour promotion assay, however, TCDD was highly effective: in female rats that received a single dose of 10 mg/kg bw *N*-nitrosodiethylamine, followed 24 hours later by partial hepatectomy and then by treatments with TCDD (0.14 and 1.4 μ g/kg bw subcutaneously once every two weeks for seven months), there was a marked increase in enzyme-altered foci; with the higher dose level, hepatocellular carcinomas were present in five out of seven rats. Neither the nitrosamine treatment alone nor a single dose of TCDD resulted in significant numbers of enzyme-altered foci or liver carcinomas. Thus, it was concluded that TCDD enhances hepatocarcinogenesis²⁷.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Two early reports that TCDD induced frameshift mutations in *Salmonella typhimurium* in the absence of a metabolizing system¹⁷ have not been confirmed; and a large number of later experimenters concluded that TCDD was not mutagenic in the bacteria studied, whether exposed in the presence or absence of a mixed function oxidáse system²⁸⁻³¹. There is a single positive report of mutagenic effects in yeast³² and conflicting evidence of chromosomal damage in bone-marrow cells of rats following long-term exposure by gavage to high doses^{17,33}. One study on dominant lethal mutation in rats was negative, despite the fact that a toxic effect of TCDD treatment was evident in the testes of exposed animals³⁴. Small increases have been reported in aberration frequencies in lymphocytes from workers exposed to herbicides contaminated with small amounts of TCDD, but no aberration was observed in a large population of workers exposed to TCDD and suffering from chloracne^{17,35}. Extensive studies on workers and on adults, children and foetuses exposed to TCDD in the Seveso incident have not revealed any increase in chromosomal aberration frequencies³⁶⁻³⁸.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		•		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)			?	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)			-	

DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ Hardell, L. & Sandstrom, A. (1979) Case-control study: Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to phenoxyacetic acids or chlorophenols. *Br. J. Cancer*, *39*, 711-717
- ² Eriksson, M., Hardell, L., Berg, N.O., Moller, T. & Axelson, O. (1981) Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to chemical substances: A case-referent study. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, 38, 27-33
- ³ Hardell, L., Eriksson, M., Lenner, P. & Lundgren, E. (1981) Malignant lymphoma and exposure to chemicals, especially organic solvents, chlorophenols and phenoxy acids: A case-control study. *Br. J. Cancer*, *43*, 169-176
- ⁴ Jirasek, L., Kalinsky, J. & Kubeck, K. (1973) Acne chlorina and porphyria cutanea tarda during the manufacture of herbicides (Czech.). Cs. Dermatol., 48, 306-317

TCDD 241

- ⁵ Jirasek, L., Kalensky, J., Kubeck, K., Pazderova, J. & Lukas, E. (1974) Acne chlorina, porphyria cutanea tarda and other manifestations of general intoxication during the manufacture of herbicides. II. Cs. Dermatol., 49, 145-157
- ⁶ Pazderova-Vejlupkova, J., Lukas, E., Nemcova, M., Pickova, J. & Jirasek, L. (1980) Chronic poisoning by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (Czech.). *Pracov. Lek.*, *32*, 204-209
- ⁷ Thiess, A.M. & Goldmann, P. (1976) Follow-up report on the trichlorphenol-dioxin accident in the BASF AG on 13 November 1953. In: Proceedings of the Medichem Kongress, Haifa, 1976 (in press)
- ⁸ Thiess, A.M., Frentzel-Beyme, R. & Link, R. (1982) Mortality study of persons exposed to dioxin in a trichlorophenol-process accident which occurred in the BASF AG on November 17, 1953. *Am. J. ind. Med.* (in press)
- ⁹ Axelson, O., Sundell, L., Andersson, K., Edling, C., Hogstedt, C. & Kling, H. (1980) Herbicide exposure and tumor mortality An updated epidemiologic investigation on Swedish railroad workers. *Scand. J. Work environ. Health*, *6*, 73-79
- ¹⁰ Cook, R.R., Townsend, J.C., Ott, M.G. & Silverstein, L.G. (1980) Mortality experience of employees exposed to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD). *J. occup. Med.*, 22, 530-532
- ¹¹ Zack, J.A. & Suskind, R.R. (1980) The mortality experience of workers exposed to tetrachlorodibenzodioxin and trichlorophenol process accident. *J. occup. Med.*, 22, 11-14
- ¹² Ott, M.G., Holder, B.B. & Olson, R.D. (1980) A mortality analysis of employees engaged in the manufacture of 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid. *J. occup. Med.*, *22*, 47-50
- ¹³ Hogstedt, C. & Westerlund, B. (1980) Cohort study on causes of death of forestry workers with and without exposure to phenoxyacid preparations (Swed.). Läkartidningen, 77, 1828-1831
- ¹⁴ Cook, R.R. (1981) Dioxin, chloracne and soft tissue sarcoma. *Lancet*, i, 618-619
- ¹⁵ Moses, M. & Selikoff, I.J. (1981) Soft tissue sarcoma, phenoxy herbicides and chlorinated phenols. *Lancet*, *i*, 1370
- ¹⁶ Johnson, F.E., Kugler, M.A. & Brown, S.M. (1981) Soft tissue sarcomas and chlorinated phenols. *Lancet*, *ii*, 40
- ¹⁷ IARC Monographs, 15, 41-102, 1977
- ¹⁸ Kociba, R.J., Keyes, D.G., Beyer, J.E., Carreon, R.M., Wade, C.E., Dittenber, D.A., Kalnins, R.P., Frauson, L.E., Park, C.N., Barnard, S.D., Hummel, R.A. & Humiston, C.G. (1978) Results of a two-year chronic toxicity and oncogenicity study of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin in rats. *Toxicol. appl. Pharmacol.*, 46, 279-303

- ¹⁹ Kociba, R.J., Keyes, D.G., Beyer, J.E. & Carreon, R.M. (1979) Toxicologic studies of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) in rats. In: Deichmann, W.B., ed., Toxicology and Occupational Medicine, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 281-287
- ²⁰ Van Miller, J.P., Lalich, J.J. & Allen, J.R. (1977) Increased incidence of neoplasms in rats exposed to low levels of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin. *Chemosphere*, *6*, 537-544
- ²¹ Tóth, K., Somfai-Relle, S., Sugár, J. & Bence, J. (1979) Carcinogenicity testing of herbicide 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyethanol containing dioxin and of pure dioxin in Swiss mice. *Nature*, 278, 548-549
- ²² Tóth, K., Sugár, J., Somfai-Relle, S. & Bence, J. (1978) Carcinogenic bioassay of the herbicide, 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyethanol (TCPE) with different 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodi-benzo-p-dioxin (dioxin) content in Swiss mice. *Prog. Biochem. Pharmacol.*, 14, 82-93
- ²³ DiGiovanni, J., Viaje, A., Berry, D.L., Slaga, T.J. & Juchau, M.R. (1977) Tumor-initiating ability of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) and Aroclor 1254 in the two-stage system of mouse skin carcinogenesis. *Bull. environ. Contam. Toxicol.*, 18, 552-557
- ²⁴ Kouri, R.E., Rude, T.H., Joglekar, R., Dansette, P.M., Jerina, D.M., Atlas, S.A., Owens, I.S. & Nebert, D.W. (1978) 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin as cocarcinogen causing 3-methylcholanthrene-initiated subcutaneous tumors in mice genetically 'nonresponsive' at Ah locus. Cancer Res., 38, 2777-2783
- ²⁵ DiGiovanni, J., Berry, D.L., Gleason, G.L., Kishore, G.S. & Slaga, T.J. (1980) Time-dependent inhibition by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin of skin tumorigenesis with polycyclic hydrocarbons. *Cancer Res.*, 40, 1580-1587
- ²⁶ Berry, D.L., DiGiovanni, J., Juchau, M.R., Bracken, W.M., Gleason, G.L. & Slaga, T.J. (1978) Lack of tumor-promoting ability of certain environmental chemicals in a two-stage mouse skin tumorigenesis assay. *Res. Commun. Chem. Pathol. Pharmacol.*, 20, 101-108
- ²⁷ Pitot, H.C., Goldsworthy, T., Campbell, H.A. & Poland, A. (1980) Quantitative evaluation of the promotion by 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin of hepatocarcinogenesis from diethylnitrosamine. *Cancer Res.*, 40, 3616-3620
- ²⁸ Wassom, J.S., Huff, J.E. & Loprieno, N. (1978) A review of the genetic toxicology of chlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxins. *Mutat. Res.*, 47, 141-160
- ²⁹ Commoner, B. (1976) Reliability of Bacterial Mutagenesis Techniques to Distinguish Carcinogenic and Non-carcinogenic Chemicals (Environmental Protection Agency Report No. EPA-600/1-76-022), Washington DC, Environmental Protection Agency, pp. 1-103
- Nebert, D.W., Thorgeirsson, S.S. & Felton, J.S. (1976) Genetic differences in mutagenesis, carcinogenesis and drug toxicity. In: de Serres, F.J., Fouts, J.R., Bend, J.R. & Philpot, R.M, eds, In vitro Metabolic Activation in Mutagenesis Testing, Amsterdam, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 105-124

- ³¹ Geiger, L.E. & Neal, R.A. (1981) Mutagenicity testing of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin in histidine auxotrophs of Salmonella typhimurium. Toxicol. appl. Pharmacol., 59, 125-129
- ³² Bronzetti, G., Lee, I., Zeiger, E., Malling, H. & Susuki, S. (1980) Genetic effects of TCDD in vitro and in vivo using D7 strain of S. cerevisiae (Abstract No. 75). Mutat. Res., 74, 206-207
- ³³ Green, S., Moreland, F. & Sheu, C. (1977) Cytogenetic effects of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin on rat bone marrow cells. *FDA By-Lines No. 6*, 292-294
- ³⁴ Khera, K.S. & Ruddick, J.A. (1973) Polychlorodibenzo-p-dioxins: Perinatal effects and the dominant lethal test in Wistar rats. In: Blair, E.H., ed., Chlorodioxins - Origin and Fate (Advances in Chemistry Series No. 120), Washington DC, American Chemical Society, pp. 70-84
- ³⁵ Czeizel, E. & Király, J. (1976) Chromosome examinations in workers producing Klorinol and Buvinol (Hung.). In: Bánki, L., ed., The Development of a Pesticide as a Complex Scientific Task, Budapest, Medicina, pp. 239-256
- ³⁶ Hay, A. (1978) Vietnam's dioxin problem. *Nature*, 271, 597-598
- ³⁷ Tenchini, M.L., Crimaudo, C., Simoni, G., De Carli, L., Giorgi, R. & Nuzzo, F. (1979) Approaches to the evaluation of genetic damage after a major hazard in chemical industry: Preliminary cytogenetic findings on TCDD-exposed subjects after the Seveso accident. In: Berg, K., ed., Genetic Damage in Man Caused by Environmental Agents, New York, Academic Press, pp. 301-316
- ³⁸ Mottura, A., Zei, G., Nuzzo, F., Crimaudo, C., Giorgi, R., Veneroni, P., Paggini, L., Mocarelli, P., Fraccaro, M., Nicoletti, B. & De Carli, L. (1981) Evaluation of results of chromosome analyses on lymphocytes of TCDD exposed subjects after the Seveso accident (Abstract). *Mutat. Res.*, 80, 238-239

TETRACHLOROETHYLENE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A proportionate mortality study¹ comprising 330 death certificates of former laundry workers, mostly women, revealed 87 deaths from cancer with 67.9 expected; the proportions of cancers of lung, cervix and skin were elevated, and there was also a slight excess of leukaemia and primary liver cancer. Although tetrachloroethylene was the predominant cleaning fluid used, exposure to other solvents such as carbon tetrachloride and benzene must have occurred. [Laundry workers belong to a low socio-economic class, which may explain the increased incidences of lung and cervical cancer.] A retrospective cohort study showed a slight excess of colonic cancer (11 observed, 6.98 expected)². [However, in view of the short follow-up period and the possibility of there having been mixed exposure, the result must be considered inconclusive.] Two studies summarized in connection with trichloroethylene³.⁴ also involved some exposure to tetrachloroethylene, but the data do not allow a separation of the effects.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Tetrachloroethylene is carcinogenic to mice, producing malignant liver neoplasms. One experiment in rats by oral administration was considered to be inadequate. Tetrachloroethylene was also inadequately tested by inhalation exposure in rats and by intraperitoneal injection in mice⁵.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Tetrachloroethylene was not mutagenic to bacteria^{5,6}, but at high doses it produced genetic effects in yeast⁷. It did not produce chromosomal anomalies in the bone-marrow cells of mice treated *in vivo* and did not bind to the liver DNA of mice exposed *in vivo*⁸. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)	-		-	
Humans (in vivo)				

- ¹ Blair, A., Decoufle, P. & Grauman, D. (1979) Causes of death among laundry and dry cleaning workers. *Am. J. publ. Health*, *69*, 508-511
- ² Kaplan, S.D. (1980) Dry Cleaner Workers Exposed to Perchloroethylene. A Retrospective Cohort Mortality Study (US DHEW Contract No. 210-77-0094), Cincinnati, OH, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health
- ³ Blair, A. (1980) Mortality among workers in the metal polishing and plating industry, 1951-1969. *J. occup. Med.*, *22*, 158-162
- ⁴ Blair, A. & Mason, T.J. (1980) Cancer mortality in United States counties with metal electroplating industries. *Arch. environ. Health*, *35*, 92-94
- ⁵ IARC Monographs, 20, 491-514, 1979
- ⁶ Bartsch, H., Malaveille, C., Barbin, A. & Planche, G. (1979) Mutagenic and alkylating metabolites of halo-ethylenes, chlorobutadienes and dichlorobutenes produced by rodent or human liver tissues. Evidence for oxirane formation by P450-linked microsomal mono-oxygenases. *Arch. Toxicol.*, 41, 249-277

- ⁷ Callen, D.F., Wolf, C.R. & Philpot, R.M. (1980) Cytochrome P-450 mediated genetic activity and cytotoxicity of seven halogenated aliphatic hydrocarbons in *Saccharo-myces cerevisiae*. *Mutat. Res.*, 77, 55-63
- ⁸ Reitz, R.H., Quast, J.F., Schumann, A.M., Watanabe, P.G. & Gehring, P.J. (1980) Nonlinear pharmacokinetic parameters need to be considered in high dose/low dose extrapolation. *Arch. Toxicol.*, *Suppl. 3*, 79-94

ortho-TOLUIDINE (Group 2A)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

There are numerous studies of dyestuffs workers, dating back to the classical cohort studies in 1954. Although an excess of bladder tumours has often been found in workers exposed to varying combinations of dyestuffs and dyestuff intermediates, no population of workers exposed to *ortho*-toluidine alone has been described. Occasional cases of bladder tumour have been noted in workers classified as being exposed primarily to *ortho*-toluidine, but either insufficient data or follow-up time have prevented a clear association being made with the exposure². An excess of bladder tumours was noted in workers exposed to toluene, *ortho*-nitrotoluene, *ortho*-toluidine and 4,4′-methylenebis(2-methylaniline) during the manufacture of Fuchsine and Safranine T¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

ortho-Toluidine (hydrochloride) is carcinogenic to mice and rats after its oral administration, producing a variety of malignant tumours¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

ortho-Toluidine gave indirect evidence of DNA repair in bacteria and yeast and induced unscheduled DNA synthesis in mammalian cells in vitro^{1,2}. It gave conflicting results with regard to mutagenicity in bacteria^{1,2} and yeast². It induced chromosomal anomalies in yeast and sister chromatid exchanges in mammalian cells in vitro². It was negative in the micronucleus test in mice in vivo, but it induced cell transformation (in the BHK assay)². No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	?		
Fungi/Green plants	+	?	+	
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+		+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)			_	
Humans (in vivo)	111111111111111111111111111111111111111			

T = cell transformation

References

¹ IARC Monographs, 27, 155-175, 1982

² de Serres, F.J. & Ashby, J., eds (1981) *Evaluation of Short-Term Tests for Carcinogens.*Report of the International Collaborative Program, New York, Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, pp. 344, 437, 473, 562, 634, 690

TREOSULPHAN (Group 1)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

In one epidemiological study of 553 patients with ovarian cancer treated only with treosulphan and followed for one to eight years after treatment (1159 patient-years), seven patients developed acute non-lymphocytic leukaemia 21-58 (median, 50) months after the start of chemotherapy; the expected number of cases among the patients was 0.04, giving a relative risk of 175. There was a correlation between cumulative dose of treosulphan and risk of leukaemia, although it was not statistically significant¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals

No data were available.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Treosulphan is an alkylating agent. The only available short-term studies showed that it produced chromosomal aberrations in plants¹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes				
Fungi/Green plants			+	
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

Reference

TRICHLOROETHYLENE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Three studies showed no excess of cancers in workers exposed to trichloroethylene¹⁻³. [No conclusion can be drawn because of small sample size, short follow-up or insufficient time since onset of exposure.] Mixed exposure to trichloroethylene, tetrachloroethylene and some other solvents in the electroplating industry resulted in elevated proportions of oesophageal cancer (proportional mortality ratio, 185) and primary liver cancer (278) and slight increases in the incidences of lymphomas and of buccal cavity and pharynx, rectal, pancreatic and laryngeal cancers⁴. [There was no increase in lung cancer, which suggests that chromates or nickel were not the causative agents for the observed excesses. This study is inconclusive because proportional mortality ratios are vulnerable to error, because there was mixed exposure and because the study did not allow analysis of causes of deaths for those leaving work while active.] Another attempt to analyse mortality within the metal electroplating industry by comparing figures from counties in which there were many electroplating factories with those from other counties was uninformative⁵.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Trichloroethylene is carcinogenic to mice after its oral administration, producing liver and lung neoplasms. An experiment by oral administration in rats was considered to be inadequate¹. Administration by inhalation was associated with an increased incidence of lymphomas in female mice, but not in rats or hamsters⁶.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Trichloroethylene was weakly mutagenic to bacteria^{1,7}, but strongly so to yeast^{1,8}. In a mouse host-mediated assay, it induced point mutations and gene conversions in yeast recovered from liver and kidneys¹. It was claimed in an abstract to be mutagenic in spot tests for somatic mutations in mice¹. It did not induce dominant lethal mutations in mice⁹

¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 341-347, 1981

or rats¹⁰. Trichloroethylene bound to macromolecules *in vivo* and *in vitro*^{1,11}. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		?		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	?			
Mammals (in vivo)	?	?		DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 20, 545-572, 1979
- ² Málek, B., Krcmárová, B. & Rodová, O. (1979) An epidemiological study of hepatic tumour incidence in subjects working with trichloroethylene. II. Negative result of retrospective investigations in dry cleaners (Czech.). *Prakov. Lék., 31*, 124-126
- ³ Tola, S., Vilhunen, R., Järvinen, E. & Korkala, M.-L. (1980) A cohort study on workers exposed to trichloroethylene. *J. occup. Med.*, *22*, 737-740
- ⁴ Blair, A. (1980) Mortality among workers in the metal polishing and plating industry, 1951-1969. *J. occup. Med.*, *22*, 158-162
- ⁵ Blair, A. & Mason, T.J. (1980) Cancer mortality in United States counties with metal electroplating industries. *Arch. environ. Health*, *35*, 92-94
- ⁶ Henschler, D., Romen, W., Elsässer, H.M., Reichert, D., Eder, E. & Radwan, Z. (1980) Carcinogenicity study of trichloroethylene by longterm inhalation in three animal species. *Arch. Toxicol.*, 43, 237-248
- ⁷ Bartsch, H., Malaveille, C., Barbin, A. & Planche, G. (1979) Mutagenic and alkylating metabolites of halo-ethylenes, chlorobutadienes and dichlorobutenes produced by rodent or human liver tissues. *Arch. Toxicol.*, 41, 249-277
- ⁸ Callen, D.F., Wolf, C.R. & Philpot, R.M. (1980) Cytochrome P-450 mediated genetic activity and cytotoxicity of seven halogenated aliphatic hydrocarbons in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Mutat. Res., 77, 55-63
- ⁹ Slacik-Erben, R., Roll, R., Franke, G. & Uehleke, H. (1980) Trichloroethylene vapours do not produce dominant lethal mutations in male mice. *Arch. Toxicol.*, 45, 37-44

- ¹⁰ Industrial Bio-Test Laboratories Inc. (1977) Dominant Lethal Study with Trichloroethylene in Albino Rats Exposed via Inhalation (Report to PPG Industries, Inc.), North-Brook, IL
- ¹¹ Laib, R.J., Stöckle, G., Bolt, H.M. & Kunz, W. (1979) Vinyl chloride and trichloroethylene: Comparison of alkylating effects of metabolites and induction of preneoplastic enzyme deficiencies in rat liver. J. Cancer Res. clin. Oncol., 94, 139-147

2,4,5-TRICHLOROPHENOL (Group 3) and 2,4,6-TRICHLOROPHENOL (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate for 2,4,5- and 2,4,6-trichlorophenols)

Specific mention of trichlorophenols (probably mainly, if not entirely, 2,4,5-trichlorophenol) was made in one case report of retroperitoneal neurogenic sarcoma in a man employed in cartage and maintenance work in a chemical plant where trichlorophenols (isomer unspecified, but probably 2,4,5) and 2,4,5-T were manufactured¹, and in four cohort studies of a total of 460 men involved in the manufacture of 2,4,5-trichlorophenol or of 2,4,5-T from 2,4,5-trichlorophenol2-5. The latter studies provide an aggregate of 20 deaths from cancer with 18.4 expected. Each study (except that of Thiess et al.2) showed a deficit of deaths from all causes - in total, 68 deaths observed and 94 expected. There were two deaths from soft-tissue sarcoma among the 20 deaths from cancer in the followup reports. An additional case of soft-tissue sarcoma has since been reported from one of the cohorts⁶. Reference to chlorophenols generically (mainly 2,4,6-trichlorophenol, 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol and pentachlorophenol⁷) is made in three case-control studies, which showed relative risks of 6.6 and 3.3 for soft-tissue sarcomas and 7.6 (heavy exposure) or 2.2 (light exposure) for lymphomas in association with exposure to chlorophenols⁸⁻¹⁰. In none of these studies could exposure to trichlorophenols be distinguished with any certainty from exposure to tetrachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (TCDD). In some, exposure to other related and unrelated chemicals also occurred.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (*inadequate* for 2,4,5-trichlorophenol; *sufficient* for 2,4,6-trichlorophenol)

2,4,6-Trichlorophenol was tested in one experiment in two strains of mice by oral administration, and 2,4,5- and 2,4,6-trichlorophenols were tested in one experiment by subcutaneous injection in two strains of mice. 2,4,5-Trichlorophenol was also tested in one experiment for its promoting activity in female mice. All three experiments were considered to be inadequate¹¹.

Groups of 50 male mice were fed 5000 or 10 000 mg/kg 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (96-97% pure) in the diet for 105 weeks; groups of 50 female mice were given 10 000 or 20 000 mg/kg in the diet for 38 weeks, then 2500 or 5000 mg/kg for 67 weeks. Survival was 80% or more in all groups. Hepatocellular carcinomas or adenomas occurred in statistically significant incidences in both male and female mice. Groups of 50 rats of each sex were

fed 5000 or 10 000 mg/kg 2,4,6-trichlorophenol in the diet for 106-107 weeks. Survival by the end of the experiment was 68% or more in all groups. Statistically significant increased incidences of lymphomas and leukaemias occurred in male rats¹².

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests

No data were available.

- ¹ Moses, M. & Selikoff, I.J. (1981) Soft tissue sarcomas, phenoxy herbicides and chlorinated phenols. *Lancet*, *i*, 1370
- ² Thiess, A.M., Frentzel-Beyme, R. & Link, R. (1982) Mortality study of persons exposed to dioxin in a trichlorophenol-process accident which occurred in the BASF AG on November 17, 1953. *Am. J. ind. Med.* (in press)
- ³ Cook, R.R., Townsend, J.C., Ott, M.G. & Silverstein, L.G. (1980) Mortality experience of employees exposed to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD). *J. occup. Med.*, 22, 530-532
- ⁴ Zack, J.A. & Suskind, R.R. (1980) The mortality experience of workers exposed to tetrachlorodibenzodioxin in a trichlorophenol process accident. *J. occup. Med.*, *22*, 11-14
- ⁵ Ott, M.G., Holder, B.B. & Olson, R.D. (1980) A mortality analysis of employees engaged in the manufacture of 2,4,5-trichlorophenoxyacetic acid. *J. occup. Med.*, *22*, 47-50
- ⁶ Cook, R.R. (1981) Dioxin, chloracne and soft tissue sarcoma. Lancet, i, 618-619
- ⁷ Hardell, L. (1981) Epidemiological Studies on Soft-tissue Sarcoma and Malignant Lymphoma and their Relation to Phenoxy Acid or Chlorophenol Exposure (Umegoa University Medical Dissertations. New Series No. 65), Umegoa, Centraltryckeriet
- ⁸ Hardell, L. & Sandström, A. (1979) Case-control study: Soft-tissue sarcomas and exposure to phenoxyacetic acids or chlorophenols. *Br. J. Cancer*, *39*, 711-717
- ⁹ Eriksson, M., Hardell, L., Berg, N.O., Möller, T. & Axelson, O. (1981) Soft tissue sarcomas and exposure to chemical substances: A case-referent study. *Br. J. ind. Med.*, 38, 27-33
- ¹⁰ Hardell, L., Eriksson, M., Lenner, P. & Lundgren, E. (1981) Malignant lymphoma and exposure to chemicals, especially organic solvents, chlorophenols and phenoxy acids: A case-control study. *Br. J. Cancer*, 43, 169-176
- ¹¹ IARC Monographs, 20, 349-367, 1979
- ¹² National Cancer Institute (1979) Bioassay of 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol for Possible Carcinogenicity (Tech. Rep. Ser. No. 155; DHEW Publ. No. (NIH) 79-1711), Washington DC, US Department of Health, Education, & Welfare

TRIS(AZIRIDINYL)-para-BENZOQUINONE (TRIAZIQUONE) (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

The four available case reports were inadequate to evaluate the carcinogenicity to humans of triaziquone¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Tris(aziridinyl)-para-benzoquinone is carcinogenic to rats after repeated intravenous injections or after repeated intravenous injections followed by repeated intraperitoneal injections, producing a variety of malignant tumours¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Triaziquone is an alkylating agent and caused DNA alkylation *in vitro*¹. It was mutagenic to bacteria², yeast¹, *Drosophila melanogaster*¹ and mouse lymphoma cells *in vitro*³. It caused chromosomal anomalies in plants⁴, *Drosophila*¹, rodent cells and human lymphocytes *in vitro*¹. It was positive in the micronucleus test in various rodent species and in rhesus monkeys treated *in vivo*¹. Dominant lethal mutations and heritable translocations were observed in mice¹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+	+	
Insects		+	+	
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+	+	
Mammals (in vivo)			+	DL(+)
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations

¹ IARC Monographs, 9, 67-73, 1975

² Propping, P., Röhrborn, G. & Buselmaier, W. (1972) Comparative investigations on the chemical induction of point mutations and dominant lethal mutations in mice. *Mol. gen. Genet.*, 117, 197-209

- ³ Müller, D. (1980) Validity of test systems used in the detection of mutagenic and carcinogenic properties of chemical substances. In: Norpoth, K.H. & Garner, R.C., eds, Short-Term Test Systems for Detecting Carcinogens, Berlin, Springer, pp. 141-159
- ⁴ Nicoloff, H., Rieger, R., Künzel, G. & Michaelis, A. (1975) Non-random intrachromosomal distribution of chromatid aberrations induced by alkylating agents in barley. *Mutat. Res.*, 30, 149-152

TRIS(1-AZIRIDINYL)PHOSPHINE SULPHIDE (THIOTEPA) (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A number of case reports describe the occurrence of acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia in patients treated with thiotepa, usually in combination with other therapeutic agents, for ovarian and other malignant tumours¹⁻⁵. A study of 5455 ovarian cancer patients, diagnosed between 1935 and 1971, found 13 cases (0.62 expected) of acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia in those who had received therapeutic doses of alkylating agents. Of these, one had received thiotepa for 46 months without other therapies⁶. In a clinical trial of adjuvant thiotepa after radical mastectomy, 90 patients who received the drug for one year were compared with 77 controls. After an average of at least five years of follow up, no increase in the incidence of second primary cancers was observed in the group that received thiotepa, and no case of acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia was observed in either group⁷.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Tris(1-aziridinyl)phosphine sulphide is carcinogenic to mice after its intraperitoneal injection and to rats after its intraperitoneal or intravenous injection, producing a variety of malignant tumours^{1,8,9}.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Tris(1-aziridinyl)phosphine sulphide, an alkylating agent, was mutagenic to Salmonella typhimurium¹⁰ and to Drosophila melanogaster¹ and to mouse lymphoma cells in vitro¹¹. It induced chromosomal aberrations in rodent^{12,13} and human cells in vitro¹ and in mice¹⁴ and hamsters¹⁵ in vivo, and sister chromatid exchanges in hamster cells in vitro¹⁶. Dominant lethal mutations were observed in mice treated in vivo^{1,15,17-19} and in rabbits whose sperm were treated in vitro¹; sperm abnormalities were induced in mice²⁰. It induced cell transformation (in C3H/10T₂)²¹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		+		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+	+	T(+)
Mammals (in vivo)		194 <u>0</u> - 1940 -	+	DL(+) SA(+)
Humans (in vivo)		1. <u> </u>		

T = cell transformation; DL = dominant lethal mutations; SA = sperm abnormalities

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 9, 85-94, 1975
- ² Haque, T., Lutcher, C., Faguet, G. & Talledo, O. (1976) Case report. Chemotherapy-associated acute myelogenous leukemia and ovarian carcinoma. *Am. J. med. Sci.*, 272, 225-228
- ³ Nakanuma, Y., Ohta, G., Saiki, S., Ohta, M., Hisazumi, H. & Matsubara, F. (1976) An autopsy case of atypical leukemia occurred during thio-tepa administration. *Jpn. J. clin. Hematol.*, 17, 75-81
- ⁴ Cavalli, F., Gerber, A., Mosimann, W., Sonntag, R. & Tschopp, L. (1977) Acute myeloid leukaemia in the course of Hodgkin's disease (Ger.). *Dtsch. med. Wochenschr.*, 102, 1019-1024
- ⁵ Chan, K.W., Miller, D.R. & Tan, C.T.C. (1980) Osteosarcoma and acute myeloblastic leukemia after therapy for childhood Hodgkin disease A case report. *Med. Pediatr. Oncol...* 8, 143-149
- ⁶ Reimer, R.R., Hoover, R., Fraumeni, J.F., Jr & Young, R.C. (1977) Acute leukemia after alkylating-agent therapy of ovarian cancer. *New Engl. J. Med.*, 297, 177-181
- ⁷ Kardinal, C.G. & Donegan, W.L. (1980) Second cancers after prolonged adjuvant thiotepa for operable carcinoma of the breast. *Cancer*, 45, 2042-2046
- ⁸ National Cancer Institute (1978) *Bioassay of Thio-tepa for Possible Carcinogenicity* (*Carcinog. tech. Rep. Ser. No. 58, DHEW Publ. No. (NIH) 78-1308*), Washington DC, US Government Printing Office
- ⁹ Schmähl, H. (1975) Experimental investigations with anti-cancer drugs for carcinogenicity with special reference to immunodepression. *Recent Results Cancer Res.*, 52, 18-28
- ¹⁰ Hanna, P.J. & Dyer, K.F. (1975) Mutagenicity of organophosphorous compounds in bacteria and *Drosophila*. *Mutat. Res.*, *28*, 405-420

- ¹¹ Lee, S.Y. (1973) Current status of the host-mediated L5178Y system for detecting chemical mutagens. *Environ. Health Perspect.*, *6*, 145-149
- ¹² Lekevichus, R., Krivitch, T. & Gasparian, G. (1978) Pulse and continuous exposure by thiotepa on chromosomes of cells leaving stationary stage and cells of proliferating cultures (Abstract no. 123). *Mutat. Res.*, *53*, 217-218
- ¹³ Hartley-Asp, B. & Hansson, K. (1980) Potentiation by hydroxyurea during G2 of the thiotepa induced chromosome aberration yield in mammalian cells (Abstract no. 25). *Mutat. Res.*, 74, 180
- ¹⁴ Hansson, K. (1978) Caffeine enhancement of chromosomal aberrations induced by thiotepa in bone marrow cells of mice. *Hereditas*, *89*, 129-131
- ¹⁵ Müller, D. (1980) Validity of test systems used in the detection of mutagenic and carcinogenic properties of chemical substances. In: Norpoth, K.H. & Garner, R.C., eds, Short-Term Test Systems for Detecting Carcinogens, Berlin, Springer, pp. 141-159
- ¹⁶ Banerjee, A. & Benedict, W.F. (1979) Production of sister chromatid exchanges by various cancer chemotherapeutic agents. *Cancer Res.*, *39*, 797-799
- ¹⁷ Srám, R.J. (1976) Relationship between acute and chronic exposures in mutagenicity studies in mice. *Mutat. Res.*, *41*, 25-42
- ¹⁸ Malashenko, A.M. & Surkova, N.I. (1975) Mutagenic effect of thio-TEPA in laboratory mice. V. The effect of genotype of females in the realization of dominant lethal mutations induced in spermatids of males (Russ.). *Genetics*, 11, 103-111
- ¹⁹ Malashenko, A.M., Semenov, K.K., Selezneva, G.P. & Surkova, N.I., (1978) Studies of mutagenic effect of chemical compounds in laboratory mice (Russ.). *Genetics*, 14, 52-61
- ²⁰ Wyrobek, A.J. & Bruce, W.R. (1975) Chemical induction of sperm abnormalities in mice. *Proc. natl Acad. Sci. USA*, *72*, 4425-4429
- ²¹ Benedict, W.F., Banerjee, A., Gardner, A. & Jones, P.A. (1977) Induction of morphological transformation in mouse C3H/10TR clone 8 cells and chromosome damage in hamster A(T1)C1-3 cells by cancer chemotherapeutic agents. *Cancer Res.*, *37*, 2202-2208

UNDERGROUND HAEMATITE MINING (WITH EXPOSURE TO RADON) (Group 1) and HAEMATITE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (*sufficient* for underground haematite mining (with exposure to radon), *inadequate* for haematite)

Underground haematite miners have a high incidence of lung cancer, whereas surface haematite miners do not. It is not known whether this excess risk is due to radioactivity in the air of the mines (radon is a known lung carcinogen), the inhalation of ferric oxide

or silica, or to a combination of these and other factors¹. Some studies of metal workers exposed to ferric oxide dusts have shown an increased incidence of lung cancer^{1,2}, but the influence of factors in the workplace other than ferric oxide cannot be discounted. In other studies of metal and chemical workers exposed to ferric oxide, the incidence of lung cancer has generally not been increased^{1,3}.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate for haematite)

No carcinogenic effect was observed in mice, hamsters or guinea-pigs given ferric oxide intratracheally¹. Repeated intratracheal instillation to hamsters of benzo[a]pyrene bound to equal quantities of ferric oxide induced squamous-cell carcinomas that resembled certain human bronchogenic carcinomas⁴. In a similar study, there was no increase in tumour yield in animals administered a constant dose of 3 mg benzo[a]pyrene and increasing amounts of ferric oxide (3, 6 and 9 mg per dose), indicating that beyond a certain ratio of benzo[a]pyrene to ferric oxide, the latter does not affect tumour yield⁵. In a third study of the same design, administration of ferric oxide particles alone induced nonspecific epithelial alterations, interstitial-cell proliferation and a few granulomatous changes but no respiratory-tract tumours, indicating that ferric oxide particles act as cofactors in this system⁶.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate for haematite)

Ferric oxide did not cause cell transformation in Syrian hamster embryos⁷. No data on humans were available.

Haematite

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes				
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)				T(-)
Mammals (in vivo)				
Humans (in vivo)				

T = cell transformation

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 1, 29-39, 1972
- ² Tola, S., Koskela, R.-S., Hernberg, S. & Järvinen, E. (1979) Lung cancer mortality among iron foundry workers. *J. occup. Med.*, *21*, 753-760
- ³ Axelson, O. & Sjöberg, A. (1979) Cancer incidence and exposure to iron oxide dust. *J. occup. Med.*, *21*, 419-422

- ⁴ Saffiotti, U. (1969) Experimental respiratory tract carcinogenesis. *Prog. exp. Tumor Res.*, 11, 302-333
- ⁵ Sellakumar, A.R., Montesano, R., Saffiotti, U. & Kaufman, D.G. (1973) Hamster respiratory carcinogenesis induced by benzo[a]pyrene and different dose levels of ferric oxide. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *50*, 507-510
- ⁶ Stenbäck, F. & Rowland, J. (1979) Experimental respiratory carcinogenesis in hamsters: Environmental, physicochemical and biological aspects. *Oncology*, *36*, 63-71
- ⁷ DiPaolo, J.A. & Casto, B.C. (1979) Quantitative studies of *in vitro* morphological transformation of Syrian hamster cells by inorganic metal salts. *Cancer Res.*, 39, 1008-1013

URACIL MUSTARD (Group 2B)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

A study of 5455 ovarian cancer patients diagnosed between 1935 and 1971 showed 13 cases (0.62 expected) of acute nonlymphocytic leukaemia in patients who had received therapeutic doses of alkylating agents. Of these, one had received uracil mustard plus 5-fluorouracil for 19 months¹.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Intraperitoneal administration of uracil mustard to mice of two strains induced lung adenomas and adenocarcinomas in a dose-dependent incidence; in one of the strains, liver, ovarian and lymphatic tumours were also observed. In rats, intraperitoneal administration induced peritoneal sarcomas and lymphomas and tumours in the pancreas, ovary and mammary gland².

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Uracil mustard is an alkylating agent; it induced DNA damage in prokaryotes and in rats *in vivo*². It was mutagenic to *Salmonella typhimurium* in the presence or absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system^{3,4} and produced mutations in yeast⁵ and in mouse lymphoma cells *in vitro*⁶. It caused 'minute' chromosomal anomalies in *Drosophila melanogaster*⁷. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects			+	
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		+		
Mammals (in vivo)	+			
Humans (in vivo)				

References

- ¹ Reimer, R.R., Hoover, R., Fraumeni, J.F., Jr & Young, R.C. (1977) Acute leukemia after alkylating-agent therapy of ovarian cancer. *New Engl. J. Med.*, 297, 177-181
- ² IARC Monographs, 9, 235-241, 1975
- ³ McCann, J., Choi, E., Yamasaki, E. & Ames, B.N. (1975) Detection of carcinogens as mutagens in the Salmonella/microsome test: Assay of 300 chemicals. *Proc. natl Acad. Sci. USA*, 72, 5135-5139
- ⁴ Rosenkranz, H.S. & Poirier, L.A. (1979) Evaluation of the mutagenicity and DNA-modifying activity of carcinogens and noncarcinogens in microbial systems. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *62*, 873-892
- ⁵ Simmon, V.F. (1979) *In vitro* assays for recombinogenic activity of chemical carcinogens and related compounds with *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* D3. *J. natl Cancer Inst.*, *62*, 901-909
- ⁶ Clive, D., Johnson, K.O., Spector, J.F.S., Batson, A.-G. & Brown, M.M.M. (1979) Validation and characterization of the L5178Y/TK^{+/-} mouse lymphoma mutagen assay system. *Mutat. Res.*, *59*, 61-108
- ⁷ Fahmy, D.G. & Fahmy, M.J. (1970) Gene elimination in carcinogenesis: Reinterpretation of the somatic mutation theory. *Cancer Res.*, *30*, 195-205

VINBLASTINE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Treatment with vinblastine, mainly in combination therapy, has been associated in case reports with the subsequent development of leukaemias. In a small epidemiological study of short duration, no excess of subsequent neoplasms was observed in patients treated with a regimen including vinblastine, adriamycin, bleomycins and dacarbazine¹. [See also the summary of data on 'Certain combined chemotherapy for lymphomas (including MOPP)'.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

No evidence of carcinogenicity was found after intraperitoneal administration of vinblastine to mice and rats or after its intravenous administration to rats, but it has not been adequately tested at high doses¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Vinblastine was not mutagenic to Salmonella typhimurium^{1,2} or to yeasts^{3,4}. It was reported to produce dose- and time-dependent increases in the incidences of various chromatid aberrations in Don Chinese hamster lung cells in vitro¹; however, no mutation was seen in V79 Chinese hamster cells⁵. Vinblastine also produced increases in bone-marrow micronucleus formation and sperm abnormalities in mice¹; but it is a well-known spindle inhibitor, and these abnormalities have been considered to be related to spindle effects and not to mutagenicity. Vinblastine did not induce dominant lethal mutations in mice; chromosomal translocations were observed in male mice⁶. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)			?	
Mammals (in vivo)			?	DL(-) SA(?)
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations; SA = sperm abnormalities

¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 349-363, 1981

² Styles, J.A. (1973) Cytotoxic effects of various pesticides *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Mutat. Res.*, 21, 50-51

³ Degraeve, N. (1973) Search for mutagenic action of the alkaloid vinblastine (Abstract). *Mutat. Res.*, 21, 28

⁴ Degraeve, N. (1978) Genetic and related effects of *Vinca rosea* alkaloids. *Mutat. Res.*, 55, 31-42

- ⁵ Suter, W., Brennand, J., McMillan, S. & Fox, M. (1980) Relative mutagenicity of antineoplastic drugs and other alkylating agents in V79 Chinese hamster cells, independence of cytotoxic and mutagenic responses. *Mutat. Res.*, 73, 171-181
- ⁶ Savkovic, N., Pecevski, J., Radivojevic, D., Vuksanovic, L. & Djuricic, E. (1981) Mutagenicity of vinblastine and vincristine in mice (Abstract). *Mutat. Res.*, *80*, 299

VINCRISTINE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

Treatment with vincristine, mainly in combination therapy, has been associated in case reports with the subsequent development of leukaemias¹. [See also the summary of data on 'Certain combined chemotherapy for lymphomas (including MOPP)'.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (inadequate)

In limited studies in mice and rats, no evidence of carcinogenicity was found after intraperitoneal administration of vincristine¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (inadequate)

Vincristine was not mutagenic to *Salmonella typhimurium*^{1,2}. It was mutagenic to the mouse lymphoma line L5178Y, at high concentrations³, although negative results were obtained using the same cell system *in vitro*, and in a host-mediated assay⁴ and in Chinese hamster V79 cells *in vitro*⁵. No chromosomal aberration was seen in CHO cells or in Syrian hamster fibroblasts exposed to vincristine *in vitro*¹. Vincristine increased the incidence of micronuclei in bone-marrow cells of Chinese hamsters⁶ and produced a dose-dependent increase in micronuclei of bone-marrow cells of mice¹; but it is a well-known spindle inhibitor, and these abnormalities have been considered to be related to spindle effects and not to mutagenicity. Although small increases in sister chromatid exchange frequency were reported in a hamster cell line and in human lymphocytes cultured *in vitro*¹, more extensive studies using human lymphocytes showed that vincristine does not affect the yield of sister chromatid exchanges⁷. It did not induce morphological transformations in C3H/10T¹₂ clone 8 cells, even when added at highly toxic doses¹. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes		-		
Fungi/Green plants				
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)		?	?	T(-)
Mammals (in vivo)			?	
Humans (in vivo)	10			

T = cell transformation

References

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 26, 365-384, 1981
- ² Styles, J.A. (1973) Cytotoxic effects of various pesticides *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Mutat. Res.*, 21, 50-51
- ³ Matheson, D., Brusick, D. & Carrano, R. (1978) Comparison of the relative mutagenic activity for eight antineoplastic drugs in the Ames *Salmonella*/microsome and TK^{+/-} mouse lymphoma assays. *Drug chem. Toxicol.*, 1, 277-304
- ⁴ Müller, D., Arni, P., Fritz, H., Langauer, M. & Strasser, F.F. (1978) Comparative studies of 14 mutagenic or carcinogenic substances in seven mutagenicity test systems (point mutation tests, cytogenetic test and the dominant lethal test) (Abstract). *Mutat. Res.*, 53, 235
- ⁵ Suter, W., Brennand, J., McMillan, S. & Fox, M. (1980) Relative mutagenicity of antineoplastic drugs and other alkylating agents in V79 Chinese hamster cells, independence of cytotoxic and mutagenic responses. *Mutat. Res.*, 73, 171-181
- ⁶ Langauer, M. & Müller, D. (1980) Comparative studies with the nucleus anomaly test and the micronucleus test. *Mutat. Res.*, 74, 159-160
- Morgan, W.F. & Crossen, P.E. (1980) Mitotic spindle inhibitors and sister-chromatid exchange in human chromosomes. *Mutat. Res.*, 77, 283-286

VINYL CHLORIDE (Group 1)*

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (sufficient)

Vinyl chloride causes angiosarcomas of the liver; it has also been associated with tumours of the brain and lung and of the haematopoietic and lymphatic systems in humans. Reports of increased incidences of tumours of the digestive system, urinary tract and breast (in women) are inadequate to evaluate the carcinogenicity of vinyl chloride for these sites¹.

^{*} Categorized as Group 1 by the previous Working Group, and data on humans and on animals not reevaluated by the present Group.

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (sufficient)

Vinyl chloride is carcinogenic to mice, rats and hamsters after its administration orally or by inhalation, producing tumours at several sites, including angiosarcomas of the liver¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Vinyl chloride induced DNA damage in prokaryotes and in mammalian cells in vitro2. It was mutagenic to Salmonella typhimurium in the absence of an exogenous metabolic activation system³ and to Escherichia coli, Schizosaccharomyces pombe³ and Saccharomyces cerevisiae4 but not to Neurospora crassa3. It was mutagenic to Drosophila melanogaster, inducing sex-linked recessive lethal mutations³ and to hamster cells in vitro5. It induced chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in Chinese hamsters exposed in vivo⁶. It did not induce dominant lethal³ or somatic mutations in mice7. Vinyl chloride alkylated the liver DNA of rats treated in vivo8. Chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges were induced in workers exposed to vinyl chloride^{3,10-12}. Most such data were obtained when exposure was to levels of 25 ppm. In follow-up studies, in which workers were exposed to levels that had been reduced to 15 ppm and lower, no aberration or sister chromatid exchange was reported^{12,13}. Sister chromatid exchange incidence dropped to a normal level shortly after termination of exposure to higher levels; however, the incidence of chromosomal aberrations returned to normal only after two years 10. [Thus, although sister chromatid exchanges were not observed in some studies, sampling may have occurred after the level returned to normal.]

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	+	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects		+		
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	+		
Mammals (in vivo)	+	•	+	DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)			+	

DL = dominant lethal mutations

¹ IARC Monographs, Suppl. 1, 45, 1979

² Leifer, Z., Kada, T., Mandel, M., Zeiger, E., Stafford, R. & Rosenkranz, H.S. (1981) An evaluation of tests using DNA repair deficient bacteria for predicting genotoxicity

- and carcinogenicity. A report of the US EPA's Gene-Tox Program. *Mutat. Res.*, 87, 211-297
- ³ IARC Monographs, 19, 377-438, 1979
- ⁴ Eckhardt, F., Muliawan, H., de Ruiter, N. & Kappus, H. (1981) Rat hepatic vinyl chloride metabolites induce gene conversion in the yeast strain D7RAD *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Mutat. Res.*, *91*, 381-390
- ⁵ Drevon, C. & Kuroki, T. (1979) Mutagenicity of vinyl chloride, vinylidene chloride and chloroprene in V79 Chinese hamster cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *67*, 173-182
- ⁶ Basler, A. & Ro"hrborn, G. (1980) Vinyl chloride: An example for evaluating mutagenic effects in mammals *in vivo* after exposure to inhalation. *Arch. Toxicol.*, 45, 1-7
- ⁷ Peter, S. & Ungvary, G. (1980) Lack of mutagenic effect of vinyl chloride monomer in the mammalian spot test. *Mutat. Res.*, *77*, 193-196
- ⁸ Laib, R.J., Gwinner, L.M. & Bolt, H.M. (1981) DNA alkylating by vinyl chloride metabolites: Etheno derivatives or 7-alkylation of guanine? *Chem.-biol. Interactions*, 37, 219-231
- ⁹ Anderson, D., Richardson, C.R., Purchase, I.F.H., Evans, H.J. & O'Riordan, M.L. (1981) Chromosomal analysis in vinyl chloride exposed workers: Comparison of the standard technique with the sister-chromatid exchange technique. *Mutat. Res.*, 83, 137-144
- ¹⁰ Kucerová, M., Polívková, Z. & Bátora, J. (1979) Comparative evaluation of the frequency of chromosomal aberrations and the SCE numbers in peripheral lymphocytes of workers occupationally exposed to vinyl chloride monomer. *Mutat. Res.*, 67, 97-100
- ¹¹ Purchase, I.F.H., Richardson, C.R., Anderson, D., Paddle, G.M. & Adams, W.G.G. (1978) Chromosomal analyses in vinyl chloride-exposed workers. *Mutat. Res.*, *57*, 325-334
- ¹² Rössner, P., Srám, R.J., Nováková, J. & Lambl, V. (1980) Cytogenetic analysis in workers occupationally exposed to vinyl chloride. *Mutat. Res.*, 73, 425-427
- ¹³ Hansteen, I.-L., Hillestad, L., Thiis-Evensen, E. & Heldaas, S.S. (1978) Effects of vinyl chloride in man. A cytogenetic follow-up study. *Mutat. Res.*, *51*, 271-278

VINYLIDENE CHLORIDE (Group 3)

A. Evidence for carcinogenicity to humans (inadequate)

In one epidemiological study of 138 workers exposed to vinylidene chloride (with no concomitant exposure to vinyl chloride), no excess of cancer was found, but follow-up was incomplete and nearly 40% of the workers had less than 15 years' latency since first exposure¹. A study of 447 German and 182 foreign workers exposed to vinyl chloride,

reported seven deaths from cancer, which was not in excess of expected values. Two cases of bronchial carcinoma were found in workers both of whom were 37 years old, whereas 0.07 were expected for persons aged 35-39 years. [The Working Group noted that this study has severe methodological weaknesses, e.g., no allowance for latency, no information on smoking habits, 76% loss from follow-up for the guest workers, young age structure of the cohort, and a reference category that can be considered valid only for the German workers.]

B. Evidence for carcinogenicity to animals (limited)

Vinylidene chloride was tested by oral administration to female rats and mice and to their offspring. In rats, liver and meningeal tumours, and in mice, liver and gastric tumours, were seen more frequently in treated than in control animals, although the differences were not statistically significant³. It was also tested in one experiment by inhalation in mice, rats and hamsters, inducing adenocarcinomas of the kidney in male mice and an increased incidence of mammary fibroadenomas and carcinomas in rats (although with no dose-response relationship). In hamsters exposed for 52 weeks, no tumour had occurred by 74 weeks, but the study was still in progress at the time of reporting¹.

C. Evidence for activity in short-term tests (sufficient)

Vinylidene chloride was mutagenic to bacteria in the presence of an exogenous metabolic activation system¹ and to yeast¹,⁴, but it was not mutagenic to V79 Chinese hamster cells *in vitro*⁵. It alkylated DNA in mammalian cells *in vitro*⁶, and, at tumorigenic doses in mice, it produced minimal amounts of DNA alkylation and repair but massive amounts of tissue damage⁶. It did not induce dominant lethal mutations in mice⁴. No data on humans were available.

	DNA damage	Mutation	Chromosomal anomalies	Other
Prokaryotes	And the second s	+		
Fungi/Green plants		+		
Insects				
Mammalian cells (in vitro)	+	-		
Mammals (in vivo)				DL(-)
Humans (in vivo)				

DL = dominant lethal mutations

- ¹ IARC Monographs, 19, 439-459, 1979
- ² Thiess, A.M., Frentzel-Beyme, R. & Penning, E. (1981) Mortality study of vinylidene

- chloride exposed persons. In: Proceedings of the Fifth Medichem Congress, San Francisco, 1977, pp. 270-278
- ³ Ponomarkov, V. & Tomatis, L. (1980) Long-term testing of vinylidene chloride and chloroprene for carcinogenicity in rats. *Oncology*, *37*, 136-141
- ⁴ Bronzetti, G., Bauer, C., Corsi, C., Leporini, C., Nieri, R. & del Carratore, R. (1981) Genetic activity of vinylidene chloride in yeast. *Mutat. Res.*, *89*, 179-185
- ⁵ Drevon, C. & Kuroki, T. (1979) Mutagenicity of vinyl chloride, vinylidene chloride and chloroprene in V79 Chinese hamster cells. *Mutat. Res.*, *67*, 173-182
- ⁶ Reitz, R.H., Watanabe, P.G., McKenna, M.J., Quast, J.F. & Gehring, P.J. (1980) Effects of vinylidene chloride on DNA synthesis and DNA repair in the rat and mouse: A comparative study with dimethylnitrosamine. *Toxicol. appl. Pharmacol.*, 52, 357-370

APPENDIX 1

OF THE CARCINOGENIC RISK OF CHEMICALS TO HUMANS

Some Inorganic Substances, Chlorinated Hydrocarbons, Aromatic Amines N-Nitroso Compounds, and Natural Products

Some Inorganic and Organometallic Compounds

Certain Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons and Heterocyclic Compounds

Some Aromatic Amines, Hydrazine and Related Substances, N-Nitroso Compounds and Miscellaneous Alkylating Agents

Some Organochlorine Pesticides

Sex Hormones

Some Anti-thyroid and Related Substances, Nitrofurans and Industrial Chemicals

Some Aromatic Azo Compounds

Some Aziridines, N-, S- and O-Mustards and Selenium

Some Naturally Occurring Substances

Cadmium, Nickel, Some Epoxides, Miscellaneous Industrial Chemicals and General Considerations on Volatile Anaesthetics

Some Carbamates, Thiocarbamates and Carbazides

Some Miscellaneous Pharmaceutical Substances

Asbestos

Some Fumigants, the Herbicides 2,4-D and 2,4,5-T Chlorinated Dibenzodioxins and Miscellaneous Industrial Chemicals

Volume 1, 1972; 184 pages (out of print) Volume 2, 1973; 181 pages

Volume 3, 1973; 271 pages

Volume 4, 1974; 286 pages Volume 5, 1974; 241 pages Volume 6, 1974; 243 pages

Volume 7, 1974; 326 pages Volume 8, 1975; 357 pages Volume 9, 1975; 268 pages Volume 10, 1976; 353 pages

Volume 11, 1976; 306 pages Volume 12, 1976; 282 pages Volume 13, 1977; 255 pages Volume 14, 1977; 106 pages

Volume 15, 1977; 254 pages

Some Aromatic Amines and Related Nitro Compounds — Hair Dyes, Colouring Agents and Miscellaneous Industrial	
Chemicals	Volume 16, 1978;
Como N. Nitrono Compoundo	400 pages
Some N-Nitroso Compounds	Volume 17, 1978; 365 pages
Polychlorinated Biphenyls and Polybrominated Biphenyls	Volume 18, 1978;
1 diyonlormated Diphenyis and 1 diyoronmated Diphenyis	140 pages
Some Monomers, Plastics and Synthetic Elastomers, and	o pagoo
Acrolein	Volume 19, 1979;
	513 pages
Some Halogenated Hydrocarbons	Volume 20, 1979;
	609 pages
Chemicals and Industrial Processes Associated with	
Cancer in Humans	Supplement 1, 1979;
	71 pages
Sex Hormones (II)	Volume 21, 1979;
	583 pages
Some Non-nutritive Sweetening Agents	Volume 22, 1980;
A second of the state of the st	208 pages
Long-term and Short-term Screening Assays for	Cumplement 0, 1000.
Carcinogens: A Critical Appraisal	Supplement 2, 1980;
Some Metals and Metallia Compounds	426 pages Volume 23, 1980;
Some Metals and Metallic Compounds	438 pages
Some Pharmaceutical Drugs	Volume 24, 1980;
Some i marmaceuticai brugs	337 pages
Wood, Leather and Some Associated Industries	Volume 25, 1980;
Trood, Edulior and Como Accessica induction	412 pages
Some Anticancer and Immunosuppressive Drugs	Volume 26, 1981;
теления и политический и под	411 pages
Some Aromatic Amines, Anthraguinones, Nitroso	1 5
Compounds and Inorganic Fluorides Used in Drinking-	
Water and Dental Preparations	Volume 27, 1982;
	341 pages
The Rubber Industry	Volume 28, 1982;
	486 pages
Some Industrial Chemicals and Dyestuffs	Volume 29, 1982;
	416 pages

APPENDIX 2

CHEMICALS EVALUATED IN *IARC MONOGRAPHS*, VOLUMES 1-29, FOR WHICH THERE IS CONSIDERED TO BE *SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE* OF CARCINOGENICITY IN EXPERIMENTAL ANIMALS^a

Acrylonitrile

Adriamycin

Aflatoxins

ortho-Aminoazotoluene

4-Aminobiphenyl

2-Amino-5-(5-nitro-2-furyl)-1,3,4-thiadiazole

Amitrole

ortho-Anisidine

Aramite^R

Asbestos

Azaserine

Benz[a]anthracene

Benzidine

Benzo[b]fluoranthene

Benzo[a]pyrene

Benzotrichloride

Benzyl violet 4B

Beryllium metal

Beryllium oxide

Beryllium sulphate

Bischloroethyl nitrosourea (BCNU)

Bis(chloromethyl)ether and technical-grade chloromethyl methyl ether

β-Butyrolactone

Cadmium chloride

Cadmium oxide

Cadmium sulphate

Cadmium sulphide

Calcium chromate

Carbon tetrachloride

Chlorambucil

Chlordecone (Kepone)

1-(2-Chloroethyl)-3-cyclohexyl-1-nitrosourea (CCNU)

Chloroform

4-Chloro-ortho-phenylenediamine

Citrus Red No. 2

para-Cresidine

Cycasin

Cyclophosphamide

Dacarbazine

^a Chemicals for which data on cancer in humans are available are shown in italics

Daunomycin

DDT

N,N'-Diacetylbenzidine

2,4-Diaminoanisole sulphate

4,4'-Diaminodiphenyl ether

2.4-Diaminotoluene

Dibenz[a,h]acridine

Dibenz[a,j]acridine

Dibenz[a,h]anthracene

7H-Dibenzo[c,g]carbazole

Dibenzo[a,e]pyrene

Dibenzo[a,h]pyrene

Dibenzo[a,i]pyrene

1,2-Dibromo-3-chloropropane

3.3'-Dichlorobenzidine

3,3'-Dichloro-4,4'-diaminodiphenyl ether

1,2-Dichloroethane

Diepoxybutane

Di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate

1,2-Diethylhydrazine

Diethylstilboestrol

Diethyl sulphate

Dihydrosafrole

3,3'-Dimethoxybenzidine (ortho-Dianisidine)

para-Dimethylaminoazobenzene

trans-2[(Dimethylamino)methylimino]-5-[2-(5-nitro-2-furyl)vinyl]-1,3,4-oxadiazole

3,3'-Dimethylbenzidine (ortho-Tolidine)

Dimethylcarbamovl chloride

1,1-Dimethylhydrazine

1,2-Dimethylhydrazine

Dimethyl sulphate

1,4-Dioxane

Direct Black 38 (technical-grade)

Direct Blue 6 (technical-grade)

Epichlorohydrin

Ethinyloestradiol

Ethylene dibromide

Ethylene thiourea

Ethyl methanesulphonate

Formaldehyde gas

2-(2-Formylhydrazino)-4-(5-nitro-2-furyl)thiazole

Glycidaldehyde

Hexachlorobenzene

Hexamethylphosphoramide

Hydrazine

Indeno[1,2-cd]pyrene

Iron dextran complex

Isosafrole

Lasiocarpine

Lead acetate

Lead chromate

Lead phosphate

Lead subacetate

Melphalan

Merphalan

Mestranol

Methoxsalen with ultra-violet A therapy (PUVA)

2-Methylaziridine

Methylazoxymethanol and its acetate

4,4'-Methylene bis(2-chloroaniline)

4,4'-Methylene bis(2-methylaniline)

Methyl iodide

Methyl methanesulphonate

2-Methyl-1-nitroanthraquinone (of uncertain purity)

N-Methyl-N'-nitro-N-nitrosoguanidine

Methylthiouracil

Metronidazole

Mirex

Mitomycin C

Monocrotaline

5-(Morpholinomethyl)-3[(5-nitrofurfurylidene)amino]-2-oxazolidinone

Nafenopin

2-Naphthylamine

Nickel subsulphide

Niridazole

5-Nitroacenaphthene

1-[(5-Nitrofurfurylidene)amino]-2-imidazolidinone

N-[4-(5-Nitro-2-furyl)-2-thiazolyl]acetamide

Nitrogen mustard

Nitrogen mustard N-oxide

2-Nitropropane

N-Nitrosodi-n-butylamine

N-Nitrosodiethanolamine

N-Nitrosodiethylamine

N-Nitrosodimethylamine

N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine

N-Nitroso-N-ethylurea

N-Nitrosomethylethylamine

N-Nitroso-N-methylurea

N-Nitroso-N-methylurethane

N-Nitrosomethylvinylamine

N-Nitrosomorpholine

N'-Nitrosonornicotine

N-Nitrosopiperidine

N-Nitrosopyrrolidine

N-Nitrososarcosine

Norethisterone

Oestradiol-178

Oestrone

Oil orange SS

Panfuran S (Dihydroxymethylfuratrizine)

Phenacetin

Phenazopyridine

Phenoxybenzamine and its hydrochloride

Polychlorinated biphenyls

Ponceau MX

Ponceau 3R

Procarbazine

Progesterone

1,3-Propane sultone

β-Propiolactone

. Propylthiouracil

Safrole

Sintered calcium chromate

Sintered chromium trioxide

Sodium saccharin

Soots, tars and oils

Sterigmatocystin

Streptozotocin

Strontium chromate

Testosterone and its esters

Tetrachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin (TCDD)

Thioacetamide

4,4'-Thiodianiline

Thiourea

ortho-Toluidine

Toxaphene (polychlorinated camphenes)

2,4,6-Trichlorophenol

Tris(1-aziridinyl)phosphine sulphate (Thiotepa)

Tris(2,3-dibromopropyl)phosphate

Trypan blue (commercial grade)

Uracil mustard

Urethane

Vinyl chloride

Zinc beryllium silicate

Zinc chromate

APPENDIX 3
Summary table of results from short-term tests

	DNA damage				Mut	ation		Chromosomal anomalies						(Othe	r			
	Prokaryotes	Fungi and plants	Insects Mammalian cells (in vitro)	Mammals (in vivo)	Prokaryotes	Fungi and plants	Insects	Mammalian cells (in vitro)	Humans (in vivo)	Fungi and plants	Insects	Mammalian cells (in vitro)	Mammals (in vivo)	Humans (in vivo)	Petite mutation	Domin.lethal (insect)	Cell transformation	Domin.lethal (mamm.)	Sperm anomalies
Acrylonitrile			+		+	+	+					++	?	-			+		-
Actinomycin D	.1.				+	7	T	+				+	+	+			+		
Adriamycin Aflatoxins	++		+			+	+	+				+	+				+		
Aldrin	T		_			Ċ		•				?	_						
4-Aminobiphenyl	•		+		+	+						-							
Amitrole	_		•			·	_			+		-					+		
Anaesthetics, volatile	_				_	+	?			?		_	_					-	
Halothane																			
Cyclopropane					_														
Methoxyflurane					_							-							
Isoflurane					_							_							
Nitrous oxide					_	+	+	_				-							
Enflurane					_			_				_							
Fluroxene					+							+							
Divinyl ether					+							+							
Diethyl ether							-					-							
Analgesic mixtures containing phenacetin					i.														
Phenacetin					+		_			1		+	?						
Aniline	_		_		?	_	_	+		1		-	_				-		
Arsenic and certain arsenic	_				'			•		1									
compounds	+				_			-			+	+	?	+				-	
Asbestos	•				-			_				?			1				
Auramine (technical-grade)	+		+		?	+						+	-				+		
Azathioprine	•		•		+	+	+					?	+	_		+		?	4

Benzene					. -		+ + + ?	+		?	Ŋ
Benzidine	+	?	+ -	+ ?	+	+	+ ?		+	f	272
Benzidine-based dyes			+					1			
Beryllium and certain beryllium					•		•				
compounds		-	-		?		?	1	+		
N,N-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-2-											
naphthylamine											
(Chlornaphazine)			+	+				1			
Bischloroethyl nitrosourea											
(BCNU)	+		+	+	+		+				
Bis(chloromethyl)ether	+		+								
Technical-grade chloromethyl											
methyl ether			+			1					
Bleomycins	+	+		+ +		1	+ +	+	+		
1,4-Butanediol											₽
dimethanesulphonate											ದ
(Myleran)	+		+ ·	+ +	+	+	+ +	+	+ +	•	Ž
Cadmium and certain cadmium			_	_							ō
compounds	?		? '	? -			+	?	+ -	-	Ž
Carbon tetrachloride		-	- '	?			-				ARC MONOGRAPHS SUPPLEMENT 4
Chlorambucil		+	+	+			+ +	?			Ħ
Chloramphenicol	-		-				? -		-		≥
Chlordane/Heptachlor											Ĭ
Chlordane	-	-	-		-		_		-		S
Heptachlor	-	-	-	-	-		?		-		S
1-(2-Chloroethyl)-3-cyclohexyl-			İ								7
1-nitrosourea (CCNU)	+		+		+		•	+			Ď
Chlorinated toluenes											Ш
Benzyl chloride	+	+ +	+	+ ?	+		+ -		+ -		_
Benzoyl chloride	-		-					ł			罗
Benzal chloride	+		+					ļ			=
Benzotrichloride	+		+						•		4
Chloroform	_		. .						?		
Chloroprene			+	+	-		?	+	+ ?		
Chromium and certain											
chromium compounds						ŀ					
Hexavalent chromium	+			+	+ +		+ +	+	+ +	-	
Trivalent chromium			?	?	?		?		?		
Cisplatin	+		+	+	+		+ +		+ -		
Clofibrate			-								

		DI	NA dama	age			Mut	ation	1				nosor alies	mai		Other				
	Prokaryotes	Fungi and plants	Insects Mammalian cells (in vitro)	Mammals (in vivo)	Prokaryotes	Fungi and plants	Insects	Mammalian cells (in vitro)	Mammals (in vivo)	Humans (in vivo)	Fungi and plants	Insects	Mammalian cells (in vitro)	Mammals (in vivo)	Humans (in vivo)	Petite mutation	Domin.lethal (insect)	Cell transformation	Domin.lethal (mamm.)	Sperm anomalies
Cyclamates													+	_				_	_	_
Cyclophosphamide	+		+		+	+	+	+	+		+		+	+	+		_	+	+	
2,4-D and esters	•		?		_	?	?	+			?		?	?					_	
Dacarbazine			•		?		+	+												
Dapsone					-															
DDT	_		-		_	_	_	-	_				-				-		-	
ortho-Dichlorobenzene					_	?														
para-Dichlorobenzene					_	?					+									
3,3'-Dichlorobenzidine	+		+		+													+		
Dichloromethane			_		+		+	_					_	-						
Dieldrin	-		-		-	-	_	?					?	?				-	-	
Diethyl sulphate	+		+		+	+	+	+	+					?					+	
3,3'-Dimethoxybenzidine																				
(<i>ortho</i> -Dianisidine)	-		+		+													+		
Dimethylcarbamoyl chloride	+	+	-		+	+	-	+			+		+	+	-			+		
Dimethyl sulphate	+		+	+	+	+	+	+			+		+						-	
1,4-Dioxane			-	-	-															
Epichlorohydrin	+	+	+		+	+	+	+			+		+	+	?			+	_	+
Ethylene dibromide	+		+	+	+	+	+	+					+							
Ethylene oxide			+	+	+	+	+	+	+			+		+	+				+	
Ethylene thiourea	?	?	?	-	?	?	-	-			+		-	-				+	-	
5-Fluorouracil	_				-				?		1		?	+	?	+		+	-	
Formaldehyde (gas)	+	+	+		+	+	+				1		+	-				?	?	
Hexachlorocyclohexane	-		-		-	-	-				?		?	?						
Hydralazine ^	+		+	-	+						1		+	+						
Hydrazine	+	+	?		+	+		-			+		?	-				+		
Iron dextran complex													-							

Isonicotinic acid hydrazide	+		-	?	+	+			+				-	-			-	
Lead and certain lead													_					
compounds	?				-	?					?	?	?	?		+	-	•
Magenta	+		+	-				?						l		-		
Melphalan	+				+			+	+		1	+	+	+				
6-Mercaptopurine	+				+			+				+	+	+		-	?	
Methotrexate	-				?	+		+				+	+	+		+	+	
Methoxsalen with ultra-violet A														ľ				
therapy (PUVA)	+		+		+	+		+		+	İ	+	+	?		+		
Metronidazole	+				+	+	-					-	?	-	-			
Mustard gas	+		+	+		+	+	+				+	+				+	
1-Naphthylamine	+	+	+		+	+	_	+				+	-	1		-	-	
2-Naphthylamine	+	+	+		+	+	+	+				+	?	l		+	-	
Nickel and certain nickel																		
compounds	_				-			?			?	?	-	-		+	-	
Nitrogen mustard	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+			+	+	+	+			+	+
Oestrogens and progestins:																		
Combined oral																		
contraceptives														-				
Conjugated oestrogens					_							-						
					_							?						
Oestrogens: Dienoestrol																		
Diethylstilboestrol			_		_	?		-			?	?	?	l		+	+	+
Ethinyloestradiol					-		-		-			-		-				
Mestranol							-		-			_		-			+	
Oestradiol-17β							•	_				-	-					
Oestrone					1								+					
Chlormadinone																		
acetate											1	_						
Progestins: Dimethisterone												-						
Ethynodiol																		
diacetate													_	-				
Lynoestrenol														_			+	
Ly 1003 ti 61101																		
Medroxyprogesteror	ne ar	etate											_	_				
Megestrol acetate	ut											_		_				
Norethisterone												_	-	_			?	
Norethynodrel								_	_					+			-	
Progesterone					-			-	-			?	+	•				
						_	_		?		1	•	•					
Pentachlorophenol					-	~	-		•		1							

274

IARC MONOGRAPHS SUPPLEMENT 4

\triangleright
ס
פ
Ш
\leq
\Box
×
ယ

	DNA damage					Mut	atio	n	***************************************	Chromosomal anomalies					Other						
	Prokaryotes	Fungi and plants	Insects Mammalian cells	(in vitro)	Mammals (in vivo)	Prokaryotes	Fungi and plants	Insects	Mammalian cells (in vitro)	Mammals (in vivo)	Humans (in vivo)	Fungi and plants	Insects	Mammalian cells (in vitro)	Mammals (in vivo)	Humans (in vivo)	Petite mutation	Domin lethal (insect)	Cell transformation	Domin lethal (mamm.)	Sperm anomalies
Phenelzine																					
Pheneizine Phenobarbital	+				-	+		?											_		
Phenylbutazone			•	•				•				_		?	_	?				_	
N-Phenyl-2-naphthylamine						_								•		•			_		
Phenytoin												ĺ		_	_	_				_	
Polychlorinated biphenyls						?		-						_	_					_	
Prednisone						_									_	_					
Procarbazine	+					+	+	+	+	+			+		+	+		+		+	+
Reserpine	_			_		-								-	-						
Saccharin	_				-	-	+	-	?	?				?	-				-	?	-
Soots, tars and oils and																					
benzo[a]pyrene												ŀ					1				
Benzo[a]pyrene	+			+	+	+	+	+	+	+				+	+				+		+
Styrene and styrene oxide																					
Styrene				-		+	?	+	-			+		+	?	+					
Styrene oxide				+		+	+	+	+			+		+	?					?	
Sulfamethoxazole														-		-					
2,4,5-T and esters						-	?	+					-	?	?	-				-	
Tetrachlorodibenzo-para-dioxin															_						
(TCDD)						-	+								?	-				-	
Tetrachloroethylene					-	-	+								-						
ortho-Toluidine	+	+		+		?	?					+		+	-		l		+		
Treosulphan				_	_					_		+					l				
Trichloroethylene			•	?	?	?	+			?		1								-	
Tris(aziridinyl)-para-																				_	
benzoquinone (Triaziquone)	+					+	+	+	+			+	+	+	+					+	

Tris(1-aziridinyl)phosphine sulphide (Thiotepa)				+		+	+				+	+		+	+	+	7
Underground haematite mining Haematite														-			C
Uracil mustard	+		+	+	+		+			+	_	_				_	
Vinblastine				-	-					•	?	?			-	?	
Vincristine				-			?			•	?	?		-			
Vinyl chloride	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-				+	+		-		
Vinylidene chloride		+		+	+		-		1						-		

CUMULATIVE INDEX TO IARC MONOGRAPHS ON THE EVALUATION OF THE CARCINOGENIC RISK OF CHEMICALS TO HUMANS

Numbers in bold indicate volume, and other numbers indicate page. References to corrigenda are given in parentheses. Compounds marked with an asterisk (*) were considered by the working groups, but monographs were not prepared because adequate data on carcinogenicity were not available.

Α	
Acetamide	<i>7</i> , 197
Acetylsalicylic acid*	.,
Acridine orange	<i>16</i> , 145
Acriflavinium chloride	<i>13</i> , 31
Acrolein	19, 479
Acrylic acid	19, 47
Acrylic fibres	19, 86
Acrylonitrile	19, 73
Acrylonitrile-butadiene-styrene copolymers	<i>19,</i> 91
Actinomycin C*	
Actinomycins	10, 29 (corr. 29, 399)
Adipic acid*	
Adriamycin	<i>10</i> , 43
Aflatoxins	1, 145 (corr. 7, 319) (corr. 8,
	349)
****	<i>10</i> , 51
Aldrin	<i>5</i> , 25
Amaranth	<i>8</i> , 41
5-Aminoacenaphthene	<i>16,</i> 243
2-Aminoanthraquinone	<i>27</i> , 191
para-Aminoazobenzene	<i>8</i> , 53
ortho-Aminoazotoluene	8, 61 (corr. 11, 295)
para-Aminobenzoic acid	<i>16,</i> 249
4-Aminobiphenyl	1, 74 (corr. 10, 343)
1-Amino-2-methylanthraquinone	<i>27</i> , 199
2-Amino-5-(5-nitro-2-furyl)-1,3,4-thiadiazole	7, 143
4-Amino-2-nitrophenol	<i>16</i> , 43
2-Amino-4-nitrophenol*	
2-Amino-5-nitrophenol*	
6-Aminopenicillanic acid* Amitrole	7 04
Amobarbital sodium*	7, 31
	11 005
Anaesthetics, volatile Aniline	11, 285
Almilie	4, 27 (corr. 7, 320)
	<i>27,</i> 39

Aniline hydrochloride ortho-Anisidine and its hydrochloride para-Anisidine and its hydrochloride Anthranilic acid Apholate Aramite Arsenic and arsenic compounds	27, 40 27, 63 27, 65 16, 265 9, 31 5, 39 1, 41 2, 48 23, 39
Arsanilic acid Arsenic pentoxide Arsenic sulphide Arsenic trioxide Arsine Calcium arsenate Dimethylarsinic acid Lead arsenate Methanearsonic acid, disodium salt Methanearsonic acid, monosodium salt Potassium arsenate Potassium arsenate Sodium arsenate Sodium arsenate	
Sodium cacodylate Asbestos	2, 17 (corr. 7, 319) 14 (corr. 15, 341) (corr. 17, 351)
Actinolite Amosite Anthophyllite Chrysotile Crocidolite Tremolite	551)
Asiaticoside* Auramine Aurothioglucose 5-Azacytidine Azaserine Azathioprine Aziridine 2-(1-Aziridinyl)ethanol Aziridyl benzoquinone Azobenzene	1, 69 (corr. 7, 319) 13, 39 26, 37 10, 73 (corr. 12, 271) 26, 47 9, 37 9, 47 9, 51 8, 75
B Benz[c]acridine Benzal chloride Benz[a]anthracene Benzene Benzidine and its salts	3, 241 29, 65 3, 45 7, 203 (corr. 11, 295) 29, 93 1, 80 29, 149

CUMULATIVE INDEX

Benzo[b]fluoranthene	<i>3,</i> 69
Benzo[/]fluoranthene	3, 82
Benzo[a]pyrene	<i>3</i> , 91
Benzo[e]pyrene	<i>3</i> , 137
para-Benzoquinone dioxime	<i>29,</i> 185
Benzotrichloride	29, 73
Benzoyl chloride	<i>29</i> , 83
Benzyl chloride	11, 217 (corr. 13, 243) 29, 49
Benzyl violet 4B	<i>16</i> , 153
Beryllium and beryllium compounds	1, 17
	23, 143 (corr. 25, 391)
Bertrandite	
Beryllium acetate	
Beryllium acetate, basic	
Beryllium-aluminium alloy	
Beryllium carbonate	
Beryllium chloride	
Beryllium-copper alloy	
Beryllium-copper-cobalt alloy	
Beryllium fluoride	
Beryllium hydroxide	
Beryllium-nickel alloy	
Beryllium oxide	
Beryllium phosphate	
Beryllium silicate	
Beryllium sulphate and its tetrahydrate	
Beryl ore	
Zinc beryllium silicate	0 55
Bis(1-aziridinyl)morpholinophosphine sulphide	<i>9</i> , 55
Bis (2-chloroethyl)ether	9, 117
N,N-Bis(2-chloroethyl)-2-naphthylamine	<i>4,</i> 119 <i>26</i> , 79
Bischloroethyl nitrosourea (BCNU)	20, 19
Bis-(2-chloroisopropyl)ether*	15 21
1,2-Bis(chloromethoxy)ethane	<i>15,</i> 31
1,4-Bis(chloromethoxymethyl)benzene	15, 37
Bis(chloromethyl)ether	4, 231 (corr. 13, 243)
Bleomycins	<i>26</i> , 97 <i>16</i> , 163
Blue VRS	25, 249
Boot and shoe manufacture and repair	25, 24 5 16, 171
Brilliant blue FCF diammonium and disodium salts	4, 247
1,4-Butanediol dimethanesulphonate (Myleran)	<i>4, 247</i> <i>29</i> , 194
Butyl benzyl phthalate	<i>29,</i> 194
Butyl-cis-9,10-expoxystearate*	11, 225
ß-Butyrolactone	11, 225 11, 231
γ-Butyrolactone	11, 231
C	0.74
Cadmium and cadmium compounds	2, 74
	11, 39 (corr. 27, 321)
Cadmium acetate	
Cadmium chloride	
Cadmium oxide	

IARC MONOGRAPHS SUPPLEMENT 4

Cadmium sulphate	
Cadmium sulphide	
Calcium cyclamate	22, 58 (corr. 25, 391)
Calcium saccharin	22, 120 (corr. 25, 391)
Cantharidin	10, 79
Caprolactam	<i>19</i> , 115
Carbaryl	12, 37
Carbon tetrachloride	1, 53
	<i>20,</i> 371
Carmoisine	8, 83
Carpentry and joinery	<i>25</i> , 139
Carrageenans (native)	•
Catechol	10, 181 (corr. 11, 295)
Chlorambucil	<i>15</i> , 155
Chiorambuch	<i>9</i> , 125
Chloremphanical	<i>26</i> , 115
Chloramphenicol	10, 85
Chlordane	20, 45 (corr. 25, 391)
Chlordecone (Kepone)	<i>20,</i> 67
Chlorinated dibenzodioxins	<i>15,</i> 41
Chlormadinone acetate	<i>6,</i> 149
	<i>21,</i> 365
Chlorobenzilate	<i>5,</i> 75
1-(2-Chloroethyl)-3-cyclohexyl-1-nitrosourea (CCNU)	<i>26</i> , 137
Chloroform	1, 61
	<i>20</i> , 401
Chloromethyl methyl ether	4, 239
4-Chloro- <i>ortho</i> -phenylenediamine	<i>27</i> , 81
4-Chloro- <i>meta</i> -phenylenediamine	<i>27,</i> 82
Chloroprene	<i>19,</i> 131
Chloropropham	
Chloroquine	<i>12,</i> 55
	13, 47
para-Chloro-ortho-toluidine and its hydrochloride	16, 277
5-Chloro-ortho-toluidine*	04 400
Chlorotrianisene	<i>21</i> , 139
Chlorpromazine*	
Cholesterol	<i>10,</i> 99
Chromium and chromium compounds	<i>2</i> ,_100
	<i>23</i> , 205
Barium chromate	
Basic chromic sulphate	
Calcium chromate	
Chromic acetate	
Chromic chloride	
Chromic oxide	
Chromic phosphate	
Chromite ore	
Chromium carbonyl	
Chromium potassium sulphate	
Chromium sulphate	
Chromium trioxide	
Cobalt-chromium alloy	
Ferrochromium	
FEHOGINOHIMI	

Lead chromate Lead chromate oxide Potassium chromate Potassium dichromate Sodium chromate Sodium dichromate Strontium chromate Zinc chromate Zinc chromate hydroxide Zinc potassium chromate	
Zinc yellow	0.450
Chrysene	<i>3</i> , 159
Chrysoidine	8, 91
C.I. Disperse Yellow 3 Cinnamyl anthranilate	<i>8,</i> 97 16, 287
Cisplatin	26, 151
Citrus Red No. 2	8, 101 (corr. 19, 495)
Clofibrate	24, 39
Clomiphene and its citrate	<i>21,</i> 551
Conjugated oestrogens	<i>21</i> , 147
Copper 8-hydroxyquinoline	<i>15</i> , 103
Coumarin	<i>10</i> , 113
meta-Cresidine	<i>27,</i> 91
para-Cresidine	<i>27,</i> 92
Cycasin	<i>1,</i> 157 (corr. <i>7,</i> 319) <i>10,</i> 121
Cyclamic acid	22, 55 (corr. 25, 391)
Cyclochlorotine	<i>10</i> , 139
Cyclohexylamine	22, 59 (corr. 25, 391)
Cyclophosphamide	<i>9,</i> 135 <i>26,</i> 165
·	
D	
Dacarbazine	<i>26</i> , 203
2,4-D and esters	<i>15,</i> 111
D and C Red No. 9	8, 107
Dapsone	<i>24,</i> 59
Daunomycin	10, 145
DDT and associated substances DDD (TDE) DDE	5, 83 (corr. 7, 320)
Diacetylaminoazotoluene	<i>8,</i> 113
N,N'-Diacetylbenzidine	16, 293
Diallate	12, 69
2,4-Diaminoanisole and its sulphate	16, 51
·	<i>27,</i> 103
2,5-Diaminoanisole*	40.004
4,4'-Diaminodiphenyl ether	<i>16</i> , 301
1.2 Diamino 4 nitrobanzana	<i>29,</i> 203
1,2-Diamino-4-nitrobenzene 1,4-Diamino-2-nitrobenzene	<i>16,</i> 63 <i>16,</i> 73
2,4-Diaminotoluene	16, 73 16, 83
my i market in to to to to	70, 00

IARC MONOGRAPHS SUPPLEMENT 4

2,5-Diaminotoluene and its sulphate Diazepam Diazomethane Dibenz[a,h]acridine Dibenz[a,j]acridine Dibenz[a,h]anthracene 7H-Dibenzo[c,g]carbazole Dibenzo[h,rst]pentaphene Dibenzo[a,e]pyrene Dibenzo[a,l]pyrene Dibenzo[a,l]pyrene Dibenzo[a,l]pyrene 1,2-Dibromo-3-chloropropane	16, 97 13, 57 7, 223 3, 247 3, 254 3, 178 3, 260 3, 197 3, 201 3, 207 3, 215 3, 224
ortho-Dichlorobenzene	<i>15,</i> 139 <i>20,</i> 83 <i>7,</i> 231
para-Dichlorobenzene	<i>29</i> , 213 <i>7</i> , 231 <i>29</i> , 215
3,3'-Dichlorobenzidine and its dihydrochlorid	
trans-1,4-Dichlorobutene 3,3'-Dichloro-4,4'-diaminodiphenyl ether 1,2-Dichloroethane Dichloromethane Dichlorvos Dicyclohexylamine Dieldrin Dienoestrol Diepoxybutane Di-(2-ethylhexyl) adipate Di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate 1,2-Diethylhydrazine Diethylstilboestrol Diethylstilboestrol Diethylstilboestrol dipropionate Diethyl sulphate Diglycidyl resorcinol ether Dihydroxybenzenes Dihydroxymethylfuratrizine Dimethisterone	15, 149 16, 309 20, 429 20, 449 20, 97 22, 60 (corr. 25, 391) 5, 125 21, 161 11, 115 (corr. 12, 271) 29, 257 29, 269 4, 153 6, 55 21, 173 (corr. 23, 417) 21, 175 4, 277 11, 125 1, 170 10, 233 15, 155 24, 77 6, 167 21, 377
Dimethoate* Dimethoxane 3,3'-Dimethoxybenzidine (ortho-Dianisidine) para-Dimethylaminoazobenzene para-Dimethylaminobenzenediazo sodium sulphonate	15, 177 4, 41 8, 125 8, 147
trans-2[(Dimethylamino)methylimino]-5- [2-(5-nitro-2-furyl)vinyl]-1,3,4-oxadiazole	<i>7,</i> 147

CUMULATIVE INDEX

3,3'Dimethylbenzidine (ortho-Tolidine) Dimethylcarbamoyl chloride 1,1-Dimethylhydrazine 1,2-Dimethylhydrazine Dimethyl sulphate Dimethylterephthalate* Dinitrosopentamethylenetetramine 1,4-Dioxane 2,4'-Diphenyldiamine Diphenylthiohydantoin* Direct Black 38 Direct Blue 6 Direct Brown 95 Disulfiram Dithranol Dulcin	1, 87 12, 77 4, 137 4, 145 (corr. 7, 320) 4, 271 11, 241 11, 247 16, 313 29, 295 29, 311 29, 321 12, 85 13, 75 12, 97
E	
Endrin Enflurane* Eosin and its disodium salt	5, 157 15, 183
Epichlorohydrin	11, 131 (corr. 18, 125) (corr. 26, 387)
1-Epoxyethyl-3,4-epoxycyclohexane 3,4-Epoxy-6-methylcyclohexylmethyl-3,4-epoxy- 6-methylcyclohexane carboxylate cis-9,10-Expoxystearic acid Ethinyloestradiol	11, 141 11, 147 11, 153 6, 77
Ethionamide Ethyl acrylate Ethylene	21, 233 12, 83 19, 57 19, 157
Ethylene dibromide Ethylene oxide Ethylene sulphide	<i>15</i> , 195 11, 157 11, 257 7, 45
Ethylenethiourea Ethyl methanesulphonate Ethyl selenac Ethyl tellurac Ethynodiol diacetate	7, 245 12, 107 12, 115 6, 173
Evans blue	21, 387 8, 151
F	
Fast green FCF Ferbam Fluorescein and its disodium salt*	16, 187 12, 121 (corr. 13, 243)
Fluorides (inorganic, used in drinking-water and dental preparations)	27, 237

IARC MONOGRAPHS SUPPLEMENT 4

Fluorspar Fluosilic ic acid Sodium fluoride Sodium monofluorophosphate Sodium silicofluoride Stannous fluoride 5-Fluorouracil Formaldehyde 2-(2-Formylhydrazino)-4(5-nitro-2-furyl)- thiazole	26,217 29, 345 7, 151 (corr. 11, 295)
The furniture and cabinet-making industry Fusarenon-X	25, 99 11, 169
G	
Glycidaldehyde Glycidyl oleate Glycidyl stearate Griseofulvin Guinea green B	11, 175 11, 183 11, 187 10, 153 16, 199
Н	
Haematite Haematoxylin* Hair dyes, epidemiology of	1, 29 16, 29
•	<i>27</i> , 307
Halothane* Heptachlor and its epoxide	5, 173 20, 129
Hexachlorobenzene Hexachlorobutadiene Hexachlorocyclohexane (α -, β -, δ -, ϵ -, technical HCH and lindane) Hexachloroethane	20, 155 20, 179 5, 47 20, 195
Hexachlorophene Hexamethylenediamine*	<i>20,</i> 467 <i>20,</i> 241
Hexamethylphosphoramide Hycanthone and its mesylate Hydralazine and its hydrochloride Hydrazine Hydroquinone 4-Hydroxyazobenzene 17\alpha-Hydroxyprogesterone caproate 8-Hydroxyquinoline Hydroxysenkirkine	15, 211 13, 91 24, 85 4, 127 15, 155 8, 157 21, 399 13, 101 10, 265
I Indeno[1,2,3- <i>cd</i>]pyrene	3, 229
Iron-dextran complex Iron-dextrin complex Iron oxide	2, 161 2, 161 (corr. 7, 319) 1, 29

CUMULATIVE INDEX

Iron sorbitol-citric acid complex Isatidine Isoflurane*	<i>2,</i> 161 <i>10,</i> 269
Isonicotinic acid hydrazide Isophosphamide Isoprene*	<i>4,</i> 159 <i>26,</i> 237
Isopropyl alcohol Isopropyl oils Isosafrole	15, 223 15, 223 1, 169 10, 232
J	
Jacobine	10, 275
L	
Lasiocarpine Lead and lead compounds	10, 281 1, 40 (corr. 7, 319) 2, 52 (corr. 8, 349) 2, 150 23, 39, 205, 325
Lead acetate and its trihydrate Lead carbonate Lead chloride Lead naphthenate Lead nitrate Lead oxide Lead phosphate Lead subacetate Lead tetroxide Tetraethyllead The leather goods manufacturing industry (other than	
boot and shoe manufacture and tanning) The leather tanning and processing industries Ledate Light green SF Lindane	25, 279 25, 201 12, 131 16, 209 5, 47 20, 196
The lumber and sawmill industries (including logging) Luteoskyrin Lynoestrenol Lysergide*	25, 49 10, 163 21, 407
M Magenta Maleic hydrazide Maneb Mannomustine and its dihydrochloride Medphalan	4, 57 (corr. 7, 320) 4, 173 (corr. 18, 125) 12, 137 9, 157 9, 168

Medroxyprogesterone acetate	<i>6</i> , 157
,,	21, 417 (corr. 25, 391)
Megestrol acetate	21, 431
Melphalan	9, 167
6-Mercaptopurine	<i>26</i> , 249
Merphalan	<i>9</i> , 169
Mestranol	<i>6</i> , 87
	21, 257 (corr. 25, 391)
Methacrylic acid*	,
Methallenoestril*	
Methotrexate	<i>26,</i> 267
Methoxsalen	<i>24,</i> 101
Methoxychlor	<i>5,</i> 193
	<i>20</i> , 259
Methoxyflurane*	
Methyl acrylate	19, 52
2-Methylaziridine	<i>9</i> , 61
Methylazoxymethanol	<i>10</i> , 121
Methylazoxymethanol acetate	1, 164
Mothyd byomida t	<i>10,</i> 131
Methyl bromide*	10 1=1
Methyl carbamate	<i>12</i> , 151
N-Methyl-N,4-dinitrosoaniline	1, 141
4,4'-Methylene bis(2-chloroaniline) 4,4'-Methylene bis (N,N-dimethyl)benzenamine	4, 65 (corr. 7, 320)
4,4'-Methylene bis(2-methylaniline)	<i>27</i> , 119
4,4'-Methylenedianiline	4, 73
4,4'-Methylenediphenyl diisocyanate	4, 79 (corr. 7, 320)
Methyl iodide	<i>19,</i> 314
Methyl methacrylate	<i>15</i> , 245
Methyl methanesulphonate	<i>19</i> , 187
2-Methyl-1-nitroanthraquinone	<i>7,</i> 253 <i>27,</i> 205
N-Methyl-N'-nitro-N-nitrosoguanidine	4, 183
Methyl protoanemonin*	4, 103
Methyl red	<i>8</i> , 161
Methyl selenac	<i>12,</i> 161
Methylthiouracil	7, 53
Metronidazole	<i>13</i> , 113
Mirex	<i>5,</i> 203
	<i>20</i> , 283
Mitomycin C	<i>10,</i> 171
Modacrylic fibres	19, 86
Monocrotaline	10, 291
Monuron	12, 167
5-(Morpholinomethyl)-3-[(5-nitrofurfurylidene)amino]-2-	-, · · ·
oxazolidinone	<i>7,</i> 161
Mustard gas	9, 181 (corr. 13, 243)
	(**************************************
N	
Nafenopin	<i>24</i> , 125
1,5-Naphthalenediamine	<i>27</i> , 127
1,5-Naphthalene diisocyanate	<i>19</i> , 311

CUMULATIVE INDEX

1-Naphthylamine	4, 87 (corr. 8, 349) (corr. 22,
	187)
2-Naphthylamine	4, 97
Nickel and nickel compounds	2, 126 (corr. 7, 319) 11, 75
Nickel acetate and its tetrahydrate	
Nickel ammonium sulphate	
Nickel carbonate	
Nickel carbonyl	
Nickel chloride	
Nickel-gallium alloy	
Nickel hydroxide	
Nickelocene	
Nickel oxide	
Nickel subsulphide	
Nickel sulphate	
Niridazole	<i>13</i> , 123
5-Nitroacenaphthene	<i>15</i> , 319
5-Nitro- <i>ortho</i> -anisidine	<i>27</i> , 133
4-Nitrobiphenyl	<i>4</i> , 113
5-Nitro-2-furaldehyde semicarbazone	<i>7</i> , 171
1[(5-Nitrofurfurylidene)amino]-2-imidazolidinone	<i>7</i> , 181
N-[4-(5-Nitro-2-furyl)-2-thiazolyl]acetamide	<i>1</i> , 181
Tr [Tr (O Trial O E Tall) I a mail or) i justicimus	<i>7</i> , 185
Nitrogen mustard and its hydrochloride	<i>9</i> , 193
Nitrogen mustard <i>N</i> -oxide and its hydrochloride	9, 209
2-Nitropropane	<i>29</i> , 332
Nitrosatable drugs	<i>24</i> , 297
N-Nitrosodi-n-butylamine	4, 197
77 Tital October 77 Batty and 110	<i>17,</i> 51
N-Nitrosodiethanolamine	17, 77
N-Nitrosodiethylamine	1, 107 (corr. 11, 295)
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	17, 83 (corr. 23, 419)
N-Nitrosodimethylamine	1, 95
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	17, 125 (corr. 25, 391)
N-Nitrosodiphenylamine	<i>27</i> , 213
para-Nitrosodiphenylamine	<i>27</i> , 227
N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine	<i>17</i> , 177
N-Nitroso-N-ethylurea	<i>1</i> , 135
,	<i>17</i> , 191
N-Nitrosofolic acid	<i>17</i> , 217
N-Nitrosohydroxyproline	17, 304
N-Nitrosomethylethylamine	<i>17</i> , 221
N-Nitroso-N-methylurea	1, 125
Transfer of the angle of the an	17, 227
N-Nitroso-N-methylurethane	<i>4</i> , 211
N-Nitrosomethylvinylamine	17, 257
N-Nitrosomorpholine	17, 263
N'-Nitrosonornicotine	<i>17</i> , 281
N-Nitrosopiperidine	17, 287
N-Nitrosoproline	17, 303
N-Nitrosopyrrolidine	<i>17</i> , 313
14-14th Ogobyti Olionio	, •.•

288

IARC MONOGRAPHS SUPPLEMENT 4

N-Nitrososarcosine N-Nitrosarcosine ethyl ester* Nitroxoline* Nivalenol	17, 327
Norethisterone and its acetate	<i>6,</i> 179 <i>21,</i> 441
Norethynodrel	6, 191 21, 461 (corr. 25, 391)
Norgestrel	6, 201 21, 479
Nylon 6 Nylon 6/6*	<i>19</i> , 120
O Cabratavia A	10 101
Ochratoxin A Oestradiol-17ß	<i>10</i> , 191 <i>6</i> , 99
Oestradiol 3-benzoate	<i>21</i> , 279 <i>21</i> , 281
Oestradiol dipropionate Oestradiol mustard	<i>21</i> , 283
Oestradiol-17B-valerate	<i>9</i> , 217 <i>21</i> , 284
Oestriol	<i>6</i> , 117
Oestrone	<i>21,</i> 327 <i>6,</i> 123
Octobra to a cost	21, 343 (corr. 25, 391)
Oestrone benzoate Oil Orange SS	<i>21,</i> 345 <i>8,</i> 165
Orange I	8, 173
Orange G	<i>8</i> , 181
Oxazepam	<i>13</i> , 58
Oxymetholone	<i>13</i> , 131
Oxyphenbutazone	<i>13</i> , 185
Р	
Panfuran S (Dihydroxymethylfuratrizine)	<i>24</i> , 77
Parasorbic acid	10, 199 (corr. 12, 271)
Patulin Penicillic acid	<i>10</i> , 205 <i>10</i> , 211
Pentachlorophenol	<i>20,</i> 303
Pentobarbital sodium*	,
Phenacetin	<i>13</i> , 141
Phenazopyridine (2,6-Diamino-3-(phenylazo)pyridine) and	<i>24,</i> 135
its hydrochloride	<i>8</i> , 117
·	24, 163 (corr. 29, 399)
Phenelzine and its sulphate	<i>24</i> , 175
Phenicarbazide Phenobarbital and its sodium salt	<i>12,</i> 177
Phenoxybenzamine and its hydrochloride	13, 157 9, 223
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	<i>24</i> , 185
Phenylbutazone	<i>13</i> , 183
ortho-Phenylenediamine*	

meta-Phenylenediamine and its hydrochloride para-Phenylenediamine and its hydrochloride N-Phenyl-2-naphthylamine N-Phenyl-para-phenylenediamine*	16, 111 16, 125 16, 325 (corr. <i>25</i> , 391)
Phenytoin and its sodium salt	<i>13</i> , 201
Piperazine oestrone sulphate	<i>21</i> , 148
Polyacrylic acid	<i>19,</i> 62
Polybrominated biphenyls	<i>18,</i> 107
Polychlorinated biphenyls	<i>7</i> , 261
Debughleyenyene	<i>18</i> , 43
Polychloroprene Relychlylone (low density and high density)	<i>19,</i> 141 <i>19,</i> 164
Polyethylene (low-density and high-density) Polyethylene terephthalate*	19, 104
Polyisoprene*	
Polymethylene polyphenyl isocyanate	19, 314
Polymethyl methacrylate	<i>19</i> , 195
Polyoestradiol phosphate	21, 286
Polypropylene	<i>19,</i> 218
Polystyrene	19, 245
Polytetrafluoroethylene	<i>19</i> , 288
Polyurethane foams (flexible and rigid)	<i>19</i> , 320
Polyvinyl acetate	<i>19</i> , 346
Polyvinyl alcohol	<i>19</i> , 351
Polyvinyl chloride	7, 306
Polyvinylidene fluoride*	19, 402
Polyvinylidene ildoride Polyvinyl pyrrolidone	19, 463
Ponceau MX	8, 189
Ponceau 3R	8, 199
Ponceau SX	<i>8</i> , 207
Potassium bis(2-hydroxyethyl)dithiocarbamate	<i>12</i> , 183
Prednisone	<i>26</i> , 293
Procarbazine hydrochloride	<i>26</i> , 311
Proflavine and its salts	<i>24</i> , 195
Progesterone	<i>6</i> , 135
Property and a late of the color and the color	<i>21</i> , 491
Pronetalol hydrochloride	13, 227 (corr. 16, 387)
1,3-Propane sultone	4, 253 (corr. 13, 243)
Propham	(corr. <i>20,</i> 591) <i>12</i> , 189
B-Propiolactone	4, 259 (corr. 15, 341)
n-Propyl carbamate	<i>12</i> , 201
Porpylene	<i>19,</i> 213
Propylene oxide	11, 191
Propylthiouracil	<i>7</i> , 67
The pulp and paper industry	<i>25</i> , 157
Pyrazinamide*	·
Pyrimethamine	<i>13</i> , 233
Pyrrolizidine alkaloids	10, 333

Q Quinoestradol*

Quinoestrol* para-Quinone Quintozene (Pentachloronitrobenzene)	<i>15</i> , 255 <i>5</i> , 211
R Reserpine Resorcinol Retrorsine Rhodamine B Rhodamine 6G Riddelliine Rifampicin The rubber industry	10, 217 24, 211 (corr. 26, 387) 15, 155 10, 303 16, 221 16, 233 10, 313 24, 243
S Saccharated iron oxide Saccharin Safrole Scarlet red Selenium and selenium compounds Semicarbazide hydrochloride Seneciphylline Senkirkine Sodium cyclamate Sodium diethyldithiocarbamate Sodium diethyldithiocarbamate Sodium equilin sulphate Sodium saccharin Soot, tars and minerals oils Spironolactone Sterigmatocystin Streptozotocin Styrene Styrene-acrylonitrile copolymers Styrene-butadiene copolymers Styrene oxide Succinic anhydride Sudan I Sudan II Sudan III Sudan prown RR Sudan red 7B Sulfafurazole (sulphisoxazole) Sulfamethoxazole Sunset yellow FCF	2, 161 22, 111 (corr. 25, 391) 1, 169 10, 231 8, 217 9, 245 (corr. 12, 271) 12, 209 (corr. 16, 387) 10, 319 10, 327 22, 56 (corr. 25, 391) 12, 217 21, 148 21, 147 22, 113 (corr. 25, 391) 3, 22 24, 259 1, 175 10, 245 4, 221 17, 337 19, 231 19, 97 19, 252 11, 201 19, 275 15, 265 8, 225 8, 233 8, 241 8, 249 8, 253 24, 275 24, 285 8, 257

CUMULATIVE INDEX

Т	
2,4,5-T and esters	<i>15</i> , 273
Tannic acid	10, 253 (corr. 16, 387)
Tannins	10, 254
Terephthalic acid*	
Terpene polychlorinates (Strobane ^R)	<i>5</i> , 219
Testosterone	<i>6</i> , 209
	<i>21</i> , 519
Testosterone oenanthate	<i>21</i> , 521
Testosterone propionate	21, 522
2,2',5,5'-Tetrachlorobenzidine	<i>27</i> , 141
1,1,2,2,-Tetrachloroethane	20, 477
Tetrachloroethylene	<i>20</i> , 491
Tetrafluoroethylene	<i>19</i> , 285
Thioacetamide	7, 77
4,4'-Thiodianiline	<i>16,</i> 343
	<i>27</i> , 147
Thiouracil	7, 85
Thiourea	7, 95
Thiram	12, 225
2,4-Toluene diisocyanate	19, 303
2,6-Toluene diisocyanate	19, 303
ortho-Toluenesulphonamide	<i>22,</i> 121
ortho-Toluidine and its hydrochloride	<i>16,</i> 349
	<i>27</i> , 155
Toxaphene (polychlorinated camphenes)	<i>20</i> , 327
Treosulphan	<i>26</i> , 341
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	<i>20</i> , 515
1,1,2-Trichloroethane	<i>20</i> , 533
Trichloroethylene	11, 263
	<i>20</i> , 545
2,4,5-and 2,4,6-Trichlorophenols	<i>20</i> , 349
Trichlorotriethylamine hydrochloride	9, 229
Trichlorphon*	11 200
Triethylene glycol diglycidyl ether	11, 209
2,4,5-Trimethylaniline and its hydrochloride	<i>27</i> , 177
2,4,6-Trimethylaniline and its hydrochloride	<i>27</i> , 178 <i>9</i> , 67
Tris(aziridinyl)-para-benzoquinone (Triaziquone)	9, 75
Tris(1-aziridinyl)phosphine oxide	9, 75 9, 85
Tris(1-aziridinyl)phosphine sulphide (Thiotepa)	9, 95
2,4,6-Tris(1-aziridinyl)-s-triazine	<i>15</i> , 301
1,2,3-Tris(chloromethoxy)propane	<i>20</i> , 575
Tris(2,3-dibromopropyl) phosphate	<i>9</i> , 107
Tris(2-methyl-1-aziridinyl)phosphine oxide	8, 267
Trypan blue	0, 207
U	0.005
Uracil mustard	<i>9</i> , 235
Urethane	<i>7</i> , 111
V	00.040
Vinblastine sulphate	<i>26</i> , 349

IARC MONOGRAPHS SUPPLEMENT 4

Vincristine sulphate Vinyl acetate Vinyl bromide Vinyl chloride	26, 365 19, 341 19, 367 7, 291
Vinyl chloride-vinyl acetate copolymers	<i>19,</i> 377 <i>7,</i> 311 <i>19,</i> 412
4-Vinylcyclohexene Vinylidene chloride Vinylidene chloride-vinyl chloride copolymers Vinylidene fluoride* N-Vinyl-2-pyrrolidone	11, 277 19, 439 19, 448 19, 461
X 2,4-Xylidine and its hydrochloride 2,5-Xylidine and its hydrochloride 2,6-Xylidine*	16, 367 16, 377
Y Yellow AB Yellow OB	8, 279 8, 287
Z Zectran Zineb Ziram	12, 237 12, 245 12, 259

292